
   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

City Council 

 

 
 
SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  

Date:   7/19/2016 
Time:  6:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers 
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

    
      
6:00 p.m. Closed Session (City Hall Administration Building, 1st floor conference room) 
   
 Public comment will be taken on this item prior to adjourning to Closed Session.  

CL1. Closed Session pursuant to Government Code Section §54957 to confer regarding employee 
performance evaluation: City Manager 

7:00 p.m.  Regular Session 

A.  Call To Order 

B.  Roll Call 

C.  Pledge of Allegiance  

D.  Report from Closed Session 

E.  Presentations and Proclamations 

E1. Proclamation and presentation regarding Parks and Recreation Month 

F.  Study Session 

F1. Study Session to review draft Nexus Studies for Below Market Rate Housing Impact Fees         (Staff 
Report# 16-134-CC) 

G.  Public Comment 

Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the City Council on any subject not listed on the 
agenda. Each speaker may address the City Council once under Public Comment for a limit of three 
minutes. Please clearly state your name and address or political jurisdiction in which you live. The 
City Council cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the City Council cannot 
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 

H.  Consent Calendar 

H1. Authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with IEC for the Emergency Wells 2 & 3  
project (Staff Report# 16-125-CC) 

H2. Adopt a resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract with the State of California 



   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Agenda Page 2 

 

Department of Education to reimburse the City up to $796,890 for child care services at the Belle 
Haven Child Development Center for fiscal year 2016-17 (Staff Report# 16-124-CC) 

H3. Authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract with Cardinal Rules in an amount not to exceed 
$68,013.00 for youth and adult sports officials for fiscal year 2016-17 (Staff Report# 16-123-CC) 

H4. Adopt a resolution requesting action from the Federal Aviation Administration to reduce aircraft noise 
in Menlo Park (Staff Report# 16-131-CC)    

H5. Approve a resolution to amend the City-wide salary schedule effective July 10, 2016                   
(Staff Report# 16-132-CC) 

H6. Approve minutes for the City Council meetings of June 1, June 21 and July 12, 2016 (Attachment) 

I.  Regular Business 

I1. Provide direction on Facebook Campus Expansion Project and ConnectMenlo (General Plan and M-
2 Area Zoning update) schedules (Staff Report# 16-133-CC) 

I2. Consider the Term Sheet for the Development Agreement for the Facebook Campus Expansion 
Project located at 301-309 Constitution Drive and authorize City Manager to modify Project 
Schedule and execute contracts with EIR consultants (Staff Report# 16-127-CC) 

I3. Appoint a City Council Subcommittee to assist with negotiation of a development agreement for the 
Station 1300 Project, and provide direction for the consideration of the subcommittee                 
(Staff Report# 16-129-CC) 

J.  Informational Items 

J1. Update on proposed process to establish a new citywide crosswalk policy                                     
(Staff Report# 16-128-CC) 

J2. Update on Willow Road transportation improvement options (Staff Report# 16-130-CC) 

J3. Update on the Oak Grove Avenue, Crane Street and University Drive bicycle improvement project                 
(Staff Report# 16-126-CC) 

K.  City Manager's Report 

L.  Councilmember Reports 

L1. Confirm voting delegate for the League of California Cities Annual Conference (Attachment)  

M.  Adjournment 

Agendas are posted in accordance with Government Code Section 54954.2(a) or Section 54956. Members of the public 
can view electronic agendas and staff reports by accessing the City website at www.menlopark.org and can receive e-mail 
notification of agenda and staff report postings by subscribing to the “Notify Me” service at menlopark.org/notifyme. 
Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by contacting City Clerk at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 07/14/2016) 
 
At every Regular Meeting of the City Council, in addition to the Public Comment period where the public shall have the 
right to address the City Council on any matters of public interest not listed on the agenda, members of the public have the 
right to directly address the City Council on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the Mayor, either before 

http://www.menlopark.org/
http://www.menlopark.org/notifyme


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Agenda Page 3 

 

or during the City Council’s consideration of the item.  
 
At every Special Meeting of the City Council, members of the public have the right to directly address the City Council on 
any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the Mayor, either before or during consideration of the item.  
 
Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the City Council by any person in connection with an agenda item is a public 
record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available for inspection at the City Clerk’s Office, 
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 during regular business hours.  
 
Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or participating in City Council meetings, may 
call the City Clerk’s Office at 650-330-6620. 
 
 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



City Manager's Office 

 

 City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 

 
STAFF REPORT 

City Council    
Meeting Date:   7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number:  16-134-CC 
 
Study Session:  Study Session to review draft Nexus Studies for 

Below Market Rate Housing Impact Fees   
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council review and provide general feedback regarding the draft 
Commercial Linkage Fee Nexus Study and Residential Impact Fee Nexus Study, which have been 
prepared specifically for Menlo Park, based on the Grand Nexus Study that was prepared for San Mateo 
County through the 21 Elements planning project.   
 

Policy Issues 
The draft nexus studies support the City’s existing Below Market Rate (BMR) Program, are consistent with 
the approved Housing Element, and approved City Council work plan.     
 

Background 
Current BMR Housing Program 

The BMR Housing Program was established in 1987 to increase the housing supply for people who live 
and/or work in Menlo Park and have very low, low, or moderate incomes as defined by income limits set 
by San Mateo County. The primary objective of the program is to create actual housing units rather than 
generate a capital fund. Developers who build five or more housing units enter into BMR Agreements with 
the City concerning the BMR units’ location, size and other details, including deed restrictions to preserve 
the BMR units’ affordability. 

Currently, for-sale residential developments of five or more units must comply with the City’s inclusionary 
zoning requirements to include a percentage of BMR units along with their market-rate units. The City has 
the discretion to allow a developer to meet their BMR requirement through accepting an in-lieu fee.  In-lieu 
fees are calculated as 3 percent of the sale price for the number of required BMR units. The BMR 
requirements are summarized in Table 1. 

Table 1: Inclusionary Requirements 
# of Units Required BMR Units 

0-4 exempt 

5-9 1 unit 

10-19 10% 

20 or more 15% 

AGENDA ITEM F-1



Staff Report #: 16-134-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 

There is an important distinction to note between an impact fee, which is typically charged per unit or 
square foot of the total development, versus the in-lieu fee, which is based solely on the number of 
required BMR units.  The Council will be asked to provide input on whether the City should establish an 
impact fee on new residential development, rather than simply allowing the payment of in-lieu fees for 
BMR units.   

The BMR Housing Program also applies to new commercial developments of 10,000 square feet or more. 
The current in-lieu fees to mitigate the demand for affordable housing are $16.15 per square foot of net 
new gross floor area for most commercial uses and $8.76 per square foot of net new gross floor area for 
defined uses that generate fewer employees. Collected in-lieu fees are deposited into the BMR Housing 
Fund. The fee is adjusted annually on July 1.  

The City partnered with other San Mateo County jurisdictions through the 21 Elements planning project to 
issue a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the preparation of affordable housing fee nexus and feasibility 
studies. The draft Commercial Linkage Fee Nexus Study (Attachment A) and Residential Impact Fee 
Nexus Study (Attachment B) are results of this this partnership.  Participation in this process helps the City 
comply with Housing Element program H4.D: 

Update the BMR Fee Nexus Study. Coordinate the update of the BMR nexus fee study with 
other jurisdictions in San Mateo County as part of the Countywide 21 Elements project, 
which is a collaborative effort among all 21 jurisdictions in San Mateo County to provide 
assistance and collaborate on housing element implementation. Modify fees accordingly 
following the nexus study. 

Nexus Studies 

The City contracted with Strategic Economics to prepare two nexus studies specific to the City of Menlo 
Park, which build on the Grand Nexus Study that they prepared for 21 Elements.  These nexus studies 
provide justification for adjusting some of the City’s existing BMR fees, establishing a fee to assist with 
mitigating the impacts of new rental residential projects and confirm that fees for some development types 
are within the recommended range.  

 
Analysis 
The methodology for establishing the recommended fee revisions is detailed within the nexus studies and 
will be explained as part of the presentation during the July 19th study session.  The recommended fee 
revisions are summarized in Tables 2 and 3 by development type.  The table of commercial fees 
compares the recommended fees to existing fees.  The table of residential fees shows the recommended 
options of new per square foot or per unit fees.  

Table 2: Commercial Fees 
Development Type Existing Fee Recommended Fee 

Range per SF 
Hotel $8.76 $10 - $15 

Retail/Restaurants/Services $8.76 $5 - $10 

Office/Medical Office/R&D $16.15 $25 - $50 

 



Staff Report #: 16-134-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 Table 3: Residential Fees 
Development Type Recommended 

Fee per SF 
 Recommended Fee 

per Unit 
Single-Family Detached  $25 - $50 -or- $75,000 - $150,000 

Single-Family Attached $25 - $50 -or- $42,000 - $85,000 

Condominium $35 - $50 -or- $45,000 - $63,000 

Apartments $25 - $50 -or- $22,900 - $45,800 

 

Projects within the Development Pipeline 

As with anytime a City establishes a new fee for development, it is important for the City Council to provide 
feedback and direction on what stage in the development process a project must complete to be 
considered grandfathered under the current fee schedule versus those which will be subject to the new fee 
schedule.  

Policy Questions  

At this time Staff is looking for feedback and general direction on a number of policy questions.   

Threshold Question: 

1. Does the City Council feel that our BMR program fee schedule needs to be revised?   

If so, feedback on the following questions regarding commercial and residential development is critical to 
crafting revisions to the BMR Program.   

Commercial Questions:  

1. Is the Council comfortable with the different types of commercial development?  Should the City 
continue with 2 different fees based the type of commercial development or should there be more 
as detailed in the nexus study? 

2. What is the City Council’s general direction for revising the BMR fee schedule?  Are the 
recommended fees ranges appropriate and where within the range does the Council feel 
comfortable setting various fees?  

3. At what point in the development process should a development project be subject to the new fee 
schedule? 

Residential Questions: 

1. Should the City establish an impact fee for residential development?  If so, is the Council 
comfortable with the recommended ranges for different types of residential units? 

2. Does the Council prefer a fee structure that is per unit or per square foot? 

Next Steps 

1. Following the Study Session, staff will work with the consultant to develop recommendations for 
Council action and any necessary revisions to the City’s current BMR program.   

2. Menlo Park is affected by the regionally record-high demand for housing that is driving-up home 
prices and rents. While not the subject of this memo, staff intends to work with the City Council to 



Staff Report #: 16-134-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park 701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

schedule a study session in the coming months to address the concerns expressed the Council 
related to the existing challenges with housing affordability.  

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 
Attachments 
Attachment A: Commercial Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
Attachment B: Residential Impact Fee Nexus Study 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Jim Cogan, Housing and Economic Development Manager 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Draft Report  

Commercial Linkage Fee  

Nexus Study 

 
 
 
 

July 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

prepared for: 

City of Menlo Park 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 
 

VWA 

ATTACHMENT A



 

Table of Contents 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................ 4 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

Background ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

Report Organization ......................................................................................................................... 4 

Nexus Analysis Results.................................................................................................................... 5 

Policy Considerations ....................................................................................................................... 8 

II. INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY .....................................................................12 

The Nexus Concept ....................................................................................................................... 12 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................... 12 

III. COMMERCIAL LINKAGE FEE NEXUS ANALYSIS .....................................................15 

Nexus Analysis Steps .................................................................................................................... 15 

IV. HOUSING AFFORDABILITY GAP ...............................................................................48 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................... 48 

Estimating Affordable Rents and Sales Prices .............................................................................. 49 

Estimating Housing Development Costs........................................................................................ 56 

Calculating the Housing Affordability Gap ..................................................................................... 61 

V. MAXIMUM LINKAGE FEES ..........................................................................................64 

Maximum Fee Calculation.............................................................................................................. 64 

Summary of Conservative Assumptions ........................................................................................ 65 

VI. FEASIBILITY AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS .........................................................66 

Prototypes and Fee Levels ............................................................................................................ 66 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................... 67 

Key Inputs ...................................................................................................................................... 67 

Results ........................................................................................................................................... 72 

Policy Considerations ..................................................................................................................... 76 

VII. GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ACRONYMS .................................................................84 

Glossary of terms ........................................................................................................................... 84 

Definition of Acronyms ................................................................................................................... 87 
 
  



 

List of Figures 

 
Figure I-1. Commercial Prototypes ............................................................................................................... 6 
Figure I-2. Calculation of Worker Household Income by Prototype ............................................................ 7 
Figure I-3. Affordable Housing Gap ............................................................................................................. 7 
Figure I-5. Comparison of Commercial Linkage Fees in Other Jurisdictions .............................................. 9 
Figure I-6. Comparison of Maximum and Feasible Fee Levels by Prototype .............................................. 9 
Figure I-7. Commercial Linkage Fee Scenarios as Percent of Total Development Costs .......................... 11 
Figure I-8. Total Fees and Permits per Square Foot ................................................................................... 11 
Figure III-1. Description of Commercial Prototypes .................................................................................. 16 
Figure III-2. Employment Density Data and Sources ................................................................................. 18 
Figure III-3. Employment Density by Prototype ........................................................................................ 19 
Figure III-4. Number of Worker Households by Prototype ........................................................................ 19 
Figure III-5. Definition of Industries for Hotel Prototype .......................................................................... 19 
Figure III-6. Definition of Industries for Retail/ Restaurants/ Services Prototype ..................................... 20 
Figure III-7. Definition of Industries for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office Prototype .................................... 21 
Figure III-8. Average Annual Wage by Prototype ...................................................................................... 22 
Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry .................................................... 23 
Figure III-10. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Retail/ Restaurants/ Services ........................... 32 
Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office .......................... 38 
Figure III-12. Household Income Categories.............................................................................................. 46 
Figure III-13. Number of Worker Households by Income Category .......................................................... 47 
Figure IV-1. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 ................ 52 
Figure IV-2. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 ......................... 53 
Figure IV-3. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 ...... 54 
Figure IV-4. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 ............... 55 
Figure IV-5. Affordable Housing Project Pro Forma Data ......................................................................... 57 
Figure IV-6. Sales of Vacant Lands in San Mateo County, 2014 ............................................................... 58 
Figure IV-7. Condominium Sales: Average Unit Characteristics and Prices for Selected Cities in San Mateo 
County (2008-2012) .................................................................................................................................... 59 
Figure IV-8. Estimate of Development Costs of Hypothetical Condominium Project ............................... 59 
Figure IV-9. Rental Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs .............................................................. 60 
Figure IV-10. For-Sale Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs ......................................................... 60 
Figure IV-11. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for Rental Housing ............................................... 62 
Figure IV-12. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for For-Sale Condominium Housing .................... 63 
Figure IV-13. Average Housing Affordability Gap by Income Group ....................................................... 63 
Figure V-1. Maximum Commercial Linkage Fees ..................................................................................... 64 
Figure VI-1. Description of Commercial Prototypes .................................................................................. 66 
Figure VI-2. Linkage Fee Scenarios by Prototype ...................................................................................... 67 
Figure VI-3. Pro Forma Revenue Inputs by Prototype ............................................................................... 69 
Figure VI-4. Direct and Indirect Cost Inputs .............................................................................................. 70 
Figure VI-5. Recent Commercial Vacant Land Transactions in San Mateo County .................................. 71 
Figure VI-6. Feasibility Thresholds for Return on Cost ............................................................................. 72 
Figure VI-7. Pro Forma Analysis Results ................................................................................................... 75 
Figure VI-8. Existing County Fees on Commercial Development by Prototype ........................................ 77 
Figure VI-9. Comparison to Linkage Fees in Neighboring Cities .............................................................. 78 
Figure VI-10. Existing Linkage Fees in Bay Area Cities ........................................................................... 79 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-4- 

INTRODUCTION 

This report is part of the 21 Elements multi-city nexus study, a collaborative effort to mitigate the impacts 
of new development on the demand for affordable housing in San Mateo County. In February 2014, the 
local jurisdictions of San Mateo County hired Strategic Economics and Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. to 
develop nexus studies for commercial linkage fees and housing impact fees.1 The project was initiated by 
21 Elements, a countywide collaboration among all the cities in San Mateo County on housing issues. Some 
jurisdictions elected to conduct both fee studies, while others did not. The preparation of these fee studies 
may result in the adoption of new impact fees on either residential, commercial or both types of 
developments.  This draft report describes the methodology, data sources, and analytical steps required for 
the nexus analysis. 

BACKGROUND  

The City of Menlo Park is considering updating its existing commercial linkage fee that is charged on new 
non-residential development. The purpose of the linkage fee is to mitigate the impacts of an increase in 
affordable housing demand from new worker households associated with new commercial development. 
When a city or county adopts impact fees on new development, it must establish a reasonable relationship 
or connection between the development project and the fee that is charged. Studies undertaken to 
demonstrate this connection are called nexus studies. This linkage fee nexus study quantifies the connection 
between the development of commercial hotel, retail/restaurants/services, and office/R&D/medical office 
projects and the demand for affordable housing units. The funds raised by the linkage fees are deposited 
into a housing fund specifically reserved for use by a local jurisdiction to increase the supply of affordable 
housing for the workforce. Commercial linkage fees are one of several funding sources that jurisdictions 
can use to help meet the affordable housing needs of new workers. 

REPORT ORGANIZATION 

This executive summary provides an overview of the commercial linkage fee nexus analysis methodology, 
results, and recommendations. The subsequent chapters of the report contain more detailed information 
regarding the methodology, data sources and analysis. The report is organized into six sections. Following 
this executive summary, Section II provides an introduction to the purpose of the study, and an overview 
of the methodology. Section III presents each of the steps of the commercial linkage fee analysis in detail. 
Section IV covers the housing affordability gap analysis. Section V presents the maximum fee calculation 
based on the nexus analysis and affordability gap results. The final section, Section VI, discusses financial 
feasibility and other policy considerations that jurisdictions typically weigh before implementing a nexus 
fee.  
  

                                                      
1 Participating jurisdictions include: Atherton, Belmont, Brisbane, Burlingame, Colma, Daly City, East Palo Alto, Foster 
City, Half Moon Bay, Hillsborough, Menlo Park, Millbrae, Pacifica, Portola Valley, Redwood City, San Bruno, San 
Carlos, San Mateo City, San Mateo County, South San Francisco, and Woodside. 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-5- 

IMPLEMENTATION OPTIONS 

The per-square-foot maximum linkage fees are $154 for the hotel prototype, $265 for the 
restaurant/retail/services prototype, and $255 for the office/medical office/R&D prototype. If Menlo Park 
elects to update its linkage fees on commercial development, the recommended fee levels are as follows: 
$10 to $15 per square foot for hotels; $5 to $10 per square foot for retail/restaurants/services; and between 
$25 and $50 per square foot for office/R&D/medical office. These recommendations are based on the 
findings of the financial feasibility analysis, a comparison of fees in neighboring jurisdictions, and other 
factors as explained in the Policy Considerations section, below. The maximum and recommended fee 
ranges for each prototype are shown in Figure I-1. 
 
Figure I-1. Maximum and Recommended Fee Levels by Prototype 

Prototype 
Maximum 

Justified Fee 
Recommended 

Linkage Fee 
Hotel $154  $10 - $15 
Retail/ Restaurants / Services $265  $5 - $10 
Office/ Medical Office/ R&D $255  $25 - $50 
Source: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 

NEXUS ANALYSIS RESULTS 

The principal findings of the nexus analysis are presented below. More detail on each step can be found in 
other sections of this report.  

Prototypes 
The first step in this nexus analysis is to establish prototypes of typical commercial development in Menlo 
Park. These typical developments are called prototypes. This study examined the jobs-housing linkage for 
three commercial development prototypes:  
 

1. Hotel - includes full-service hotels, limited-service hotels, motels, and other lodging.  
 
2. Retail/ Restaurants/ Services - includes a range of buildings, including retail stores, restaurants, and 

personal care spaces accommodating businesses like nail salons and drycleaners. 
 

3. Office/ R&D/ Medical Office - includes a range of office and research and development (R&D) 
uses, including traditional office buildings, medical offices, and specialized spaces for highly 
advanced manufacturing and research. 
 

The definition of the commercial prototypes was informed by a review of recently completed and 
proposed development projects in San Mateo County, as well as discussions with City staff. The 
prototype information is summarized in Figure I-2. 
 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-6- 

Figure I-2. Commercial Prototypes 

  Hotel 

Retail/ 
Restaurants/ 

Services 

Office/R&D/ 
Medical 
Office 

Prototype Description    
Gross Building Area (GBA) 100,000 100,000 100,000 
Podium Parking Area 11,970 30,000 63,000 
Gross Building Area including Podium Parking (SF) 111,970 130,000 163,000 
Efficiency Ratio (a) N/A 0.95 0.9 
Net Leasable Sq. Ft. (NSF) N/A 95,000 90,000 
Hotel Rooms 133   
Parking Spaces 160 400 300 

Podium Parking 40 100 210 
Surface Parking 120 300 90 

Floor Area Ratio (b) 1.1 0.5 2.0 
Land Area (Acres) 2.3 6.0 1.9 
Land Area (SF) 101,791 260,000 81,500 
Notes:    

(a) Refers to ratio of gross building area to net leasable area. An efficiency ratio of 0.9 means that 90% of the gross building 
area is leasable. 

(b) The floor-area-ratio (FAR) is often used as a measure of density. In this analysis, it is calculated as the gross building area 
(including podium parking) divided by the total land area.  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015.   

 

Employment Density 
The next step is to determine how many employees will work in each of the three prototypes. While these 
numbers will vary from building to building, there are sources of information that help researchers define 
employment “densities.” The employment density measures the number of employees who work in a given 
amount of space. For each building prototype, an average employment density was defined based on a 
review of national survey data for existing commercial buildings and a review of recently completed linkage 
fee nexus studies in the Bay Area. The densities selected were at the lower end of each range. By using 
slightly lower employment estimates, the conclusions from this study are more conservative. The study 
uses a slightly lower number of future employees in calculating affordable housing needs.  
 

Worker Household Incomes 
Using these prototypes, the nexus analysis estimates the wages of future workers based on industry and 
occupation data. After the average wage of workers is calculated, the next step is to compute the average 
household income of worker households. Assuming that there are multiple wage-earners per household, the 
household income of worker households is estimated. Each worker-household is then classified into area 
median income (AMI) categories to determine the number of households that would require affordable 
housing. Figure I-3 summarizes the estimated worker-household incomes for each prototype. 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-7- 

Figure I-3. Calculation of Worker Household Income by Prototype 

Prototype 
Number of 
Employee 

Households 
Hotel  

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) 22.8 
Low Income (51-80% AMI) 35.2 
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) 3.2 
Above Moderate (>=120%)  4.2 

Total 65.4 
Retail, Restaurants and Personal Services  

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) 84.4 
Low Income (51-80% AMI) 10.0 
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) 2.3 
Above Moderate (>=120%)  1.4 

Total 98.0 
Office, R&D and Medical Office Land Use  

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) 34.7 
Low Income (51-80% AMI) 52.0 
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) 18.7 
Above Moderate (>=120%)  90.7 

Total 196.1 
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 

Affordability Gap 
Many of the new worker households will be unable to afford market-rate housing. In order to measure this 
shortfall, this study has calculated the housing affordability gap, shown in Figure I-4. The housing 
affordability gap measures the difference between what very low, low, and moderate income households 
can afford to pay for housing and the cost of building new, modest rental and for-sale housing units. 
 

Figure I-4. Affordable Housing Gap  

Income Level Rental Gap Ownership Gap 
Average 

Affordability Gap 
Very Low Income (50% AMI) $280,783 N/A $280,783 
Low Income (70% - 80% AMI) (a) $240,477 N/A $240,477 
Moderate Income (90% - 110% AMI) (b) $187,066 $164,049 $175,558 
Notes: 
   (a) Low income households are defined at 70 percent of AMI for renters and 80 percent of AMI for owners.  
   (b) Moderate income households are defined at 90 percent of AMI for renters and 110 percent AMI for owners.  
 Acronyms:  AMI: Area median income.   
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
 

Maximum Nexus-Based Fee 
To calculate the maximum commercial impact fee, the Consultant Team began by calculating the total 
affordability gap by prototype, which is obtained by multiplying the average affordability gap at each 
income level by the number of very low, low and moderate income households for each prototype. The 
total affordability gap by prototype is then divided by the size of the prototype to obtain the maximum 
nexus-based fee per square foot (Figure I-5). 
 
The maximum per-square-foot linkage fees are $154 for hotel, $265 for retail/restaurants/services, 
and $255 for office/R&D/medical office. The maximum fees are not the recommended fees for 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-8- 

adoption. They are the nexus-justified fees that represent the maximum that the City of Menlo Park 
could charge to mitigate affordable housing demand related to commercial development. 
 
Figure I-5. Maximum Linkage Fees by Prototype 

Prototype Hotel 

Retail/ 
Restaurants/ 

Personal Services 
Office/ R&D/ 

Medical Office 
Square Footage 100,000 100,000 100,000 
Total Affordability Gap $15,411,161  $26,497,820  $25,538,453  
Maximum Fee per SF $154  $265  $255  

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.  
 

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

There are a number of policy considerations that should be taken into account when the City of Menlo Park 
considers whether to update its commercial linkage fees on new non-residential development. These may 
include factors such as: the likely financial impact of the proposed linkage fees on development; the 
additional cost of the new fees on the existing City fee structure; a comparison of the fee scenarios to 
existing linkage fees in nearby cities; the role of the fee in the City’s overall strategy for affordable housing 
implementation; and the potential overlap with a residential impact fee, if it is adopted. This section 
provides a discussion of each of these policy questions for the City of Menlo Park. 
 
Comparison to Neighboring Jurisdictions – A comparison of the nexus fee scenarios to current 
commercial linkage fees charged in nearby cities is an important element of the policy analysis (Figure I-
6). At present, Menlo Park has fees of $8.76 per square foot for hotel and retail/restaurants/personal 
services, and a fee of $16.15 per square foot for office/R&D/medical office development. Menlo Park’s 
existing fees are similar to the linkage fees adopted in Sunnyvale, San Francisco and Cupertino, which 
range from $7.50 to $24 per square foot, depending on the land use. Similar to Menlo Park, most cities have 
adopted higher fee levels for office/ R&D/ medical office uses than for retail and hotel uses. For example, 
in Cupertino, the commercial linkage fee for hotel and retail/ restaurants/ services is $10 per square foot, 
compared to $20 per square foot for office/ R&D/ medical office uses.  Menlo Park’s maximum linkage 
fees, ranging from $154 to $265 per square foot, are significantly higher than the existing linkage fees in 
Bay Area jurisdictions. However, adopting the recommended fee scenarios would place Menlo Park at a 
somewhat comparable fee level to several neighboring jurisdictions.    
 

 For the hotel prototype, adopting a fee of between $5 and $15 per square foot would be comparable 
to Sunnyvale and Cupertino, but lower than Palo Alto and San Francisco’s fees.  

 
 For the retail/restaurants/services prototype, adopting a fee between $5 and $10 per square foot 

would be fairly similar to the current linkage fee level, and comparable with Sunnyvale’s fee of 
$7.50 per square foot and Cupertino’s fee of $10 per square foot.  

 
 For the office/R&D/medical office prototype, adopting a fee between $25 and $50 per square foot 

would be comparable to Mountain View and San Francisco.  
 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-9- 

Figure I-6. Comparison of Commercial Linkage Fees in Other Jurisdictions 

Jurisdiction Hotel 
Retail/ Restaurant/ 

Services 
Office/R&D/ 

Medical Office 
Date Fee Was 

Adopted 
Menlo Park (a) $8.76  $8.76  $16.15  2000 
Cupertino  $10  $10  $20  2015 
Mountain View (b) $2.50  $2.50  $25  2015 
Palo Alto $19.31  $19.31  $19.31  2002 
San Francisco (c)  $18  $22  $16-$24  2015 
Sunnyvale (d)  $7.50  $7.50  $15  2015 

Notes:     
(a) Churches, schools, public facilities, and commercial buildings of 10,000 SF and under are exempt from fees. 
(b) New gross floor area under 25,000 SF pays 50 percent of full fee. 
(c) The fee for R&D is $16.01 and the fee for office is $24.03. The fee for a small enterprise is $18.89. 
(d) The fee on the first 25,000 SF, for all three commercial uses, is discounted by 50 percent.  

Sources: City staff and websites; Nonprofit Housing Association of Northern California, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & 
Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 
 
Financial Feasibility – Financial feasibility is just one of several factors to consider in making a decision 
regarding updating an existing fee. In order to provide the City of Menlo Park with guidance on how 
different fee levels could influence development, the Consultant Team conducted a pro forma feasibility 
analysis that tested the impact of the maximum fee and three reduced fee scenarios on developer profit for 
all the commercial prototypes. The analysis showed that establishing a fee at the maximum fee levels was 
not financially feasible at this time for any of the prototypes. However, reduced fee scenarios are financially 
feasible for the hotel and office/ R&D/ medical office prototypes (Figure I-7). The hotel prototype can 
support a commercial linkage fee of between $10 and $15 per square foot. Fee levels between $25 and $50 
per square foot were found to be financially feasible for the office/ R&D/ medical office prototype. 
 
For the retail/ restaurants/ services prototype, none of the fee scenarios tested was deemed financially 
feasible under today’s market conditions. However, it is possible that the prototype could be feasible if 
land, construction, or soft costs were slightly lower. The ground-floor retail component of a mixed-use 
project would also have stronger financial feasibility results, because it would share land costs with the 
residential or office component.   
 
Figure I-7. Comparison of Existing, Maximum and Feasible Fee Levels by Prototype 

Prototype 
Existing Linkage Fee 

per SF 
Maximum Justified 

Fee per SF 
Feasible Fee Levels 

per SF 
Hotel $8.76  $154  $10 - $15 
Restaurants/Retail/Services $8.76  $265  $5 - $10 
Office/Medical Office/R&D $16.15  $255  $25 - $50 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.  
 
Total Development Costs – Currently, the total development costs (including land, building and onsite 
improvements, parking, indirect costs, financing costs, and developer profit, but excluding the current 
linkage fee) are $407 per net square foot for the hotel prototype, $573 per net square foot for the 
retail/restaurants/services prototype and $473 per net square foot for the office/ R&D/ medical office 
prototype. The maximum nexus-based linkage fee represents approximately 27 percent of total 
development costs for the hotel prototype, almost 32 percent of total development costs for the retail/ 
restaurants/ services prototype, and 35 percent of total development costs for the office/ R&D/ medical 
office prototype (Figure I-8). The existing linkage fees of $8.76 and $16.15 per square foot makes up 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-10- 

between 1.5 and three percent of development costs for the prototypes. A fee of $15 per square foot for the 
hotel prototype, which is at the higher end of the recommended fee range, represents four percent of total 
development costs. A fee of $50 per square foot for the office/R&D/medical office prototype, which is the 
higher end of the recommended fee range, would represent 9.6 percent of total development costs. A fee of 
$10 per square foot for retail/restaurants/services, which is at the high end of the recommended fee range, 
is equivalent to 1.7 percent of total development costs, which is a modest cost factor for this prototype. 
 
Comparison to Existing City Fees – In addition to the existing commercial linkage fee, the City of Menlo 
Park has other permits and fees on new development. The City may wish to consider the amount that total 
fees would increase with an updated commercial linkage fee. Existing permits and fees in Menlo Park for 
the commercial prototypes (including the existing linkage fees of $8.76 per square foot for hotel and 
restaurant/retail/personal services development and $16.15 per square foot for office/R&D/medical office) 
are estimated to be $18 per square foot for the hotel prototype, $20 per square foot for the retail/ restaurants/ 
services prototype, and $26 per square foot for the office/ R&D/ medical office prototype.2 If the maximum 
linkage fees were adopted, the total development fees and permits would be $172 per square foot for hotel, 
$285 per square foot for retail, and $281 for office, as shown in Figure I-9. Fee scenarios of $15 per square 
foot for hotels and $10 per square foot for retail/restaurants/services would increase total fees to $32 and 
$30 per square foot, respectively. A fee of $25 per square foot for office/R&D/medical office would 
increase total fees to $50 per square foot.  
 
Role of Fee in Menlo Park’s Overall Housing Strategy – Menlo Park currently charges a commercial 
linkage fee of $16.15 per square foot on office/R&D development and $8.76 per square foot on all other 
non-residential development. Churches, schools, public facilities, and projects under 10,000 square feet are 
exempt.  These fees are payable at the time that the building permit is issued. Fee revenues are used to 
provide financial assistance for affordable housing developments and preservation.  The City also has an 
inclusionary housing program for for-sale residential development. The program requires that 10 percent 
of the units in market-rate developments of five to 20 housing units must be sold at affordable sales prices. 
For projects over 20 units, 15 percent of units must be sold at affordable prices. In some cases, developers 
have the option of paying an in-lieu fee. Revenues from the updated commercial linkage fees (and from 
residential impact fees, if they are adopted) would continue to support the City’s existing affordable housing 
programs. It should be noted that revenues from a commercial linkage fee need to be spent on housing that 
benefits the workforce since the funds stem from affordable housing impacts related to new employment. 
 
Overlap with Residential Impact Fees - In addition to the commercial linkage fee update described in 
this report, the City of Menlo Park is also considering implementing new residential impact fees on housing 
development. There may be a small share of jobs counted in the residential nexus analysis that are also 
included in this commercial linkage fee analysis. Thus, the two programs may have some overlap in 
mitigating the affordable housing demand from the same worker households. In order to reduce the potential 
for overlap between the two programs, it is advisable to set both the commercial linkage fees and housing 
impact fees at below 100 percent of the nexus-based maximum. In this way, when combined, the programs 
would mitigate less than 100 percent of the impact even if there were overlap in the jobs counted in the two 
nexus analyses. 
 

                                                      
2 These fee estimates are the best approximations available, and do not represent the actual cost of a proposed new 
development project.    



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study -11- 

Figure I-8. Commercial Linkage Fee Scenarios as Percent of Total Development Costs 

  Hotel Retail/Restaurants/Services Office/R&D/Medical Office 
Fee Scenario Fee Amount Fee as % of TDC Fee Amount Fee as % of TDC Fee Amount Fee as % of TDC 

Existing Linkage Fee $8.76  2.11% $8.76  1.51% $16.15  3.30% 
Scenario 1: Max Fee $154  27.48% $265  31.61% $255  35.06% 
Scenario 2 $15  3.56% $15  2.55% $50  9.56% 
Scenario 3 $10  2.40% $10  1.71% $35  6.89% 
Scenario 4 $5  1.21% $5  0.86% $25  5.02% 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.      
 
Figure I-9. Total Fees and Permits per Square Foot 

  Hotel Retail/Restaurants/Services Office/R&D/Medical Office 

Fee Scenario 
Linkage Fee 

per SF 
Total Permits 

and Fees 
Linkage Fee 

per SF 
Total Permits 

and Fees 
Linkage Fee 

per SF 
Total Permits 

and Fees 
Existing Permits and Fees $9  $18  $9  $20  $16  $26  
Scenario 1 (Maximum Fee) $154  $163  $265  $277  $255  $265  
Scenario 2 $15  $24  $15  $27  $50  $60  
Scenario 3 $10  $19  $10  $22  $35  $45  
Scenario 4 $5  $14  $5  $17  $25  $35  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.      

 
 
 
  
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study -12- 

A commercial linkage fee is an impact fee that is charged on new, commercial development to address the 
affordable housing demand from new workers. The City of Menlo Park currently has a commercial linkage 
fee of $8.76 per square foot on new hotel and restaurant/retail/personal services development, and of $16.15 
per square foot on new office/R&D/medical office development. The purpose of this study is to provide a 
new nexus analysis in the event that Menlo Park decides to adopt an updated commercial linkage fee. The 
funds raised by the linkage fees are deposited into a housing fund specifically reserved for use by a local 
jurisdiction to increase the supply of affordable housing for the workforce. Linkage fees are one of several 
funding sources that jurisdictions can use to help meet the affordable housing needs of new workers. For 
more than thirty years, California cities and counties have imposed commercial linkage fees on new, non-
residential developments. 

THE NEXUS CONCEPT  

In order to adopt a commercial linkage fee, a nexus study is required to determine the reasonable 
relationship between the fee's use and the impact of the development project on which the fee is imposed. 
This commercial linkage fee nexus study establishes and quantifies the linkages or “nexus” between new 
commercial development and the need for additional housing affordable to new workers. Some of the new 
workers will have household incomes that qualify them for income-restricted affordable housing. This study 
quantifies the demand for very low income, low income, and moderate income housing that is created by 
new development of commercial buildings.   

METHODOLOGY 

When a city or county adopts a development impact fee, it must establish a reasonable relationship between 
the development project and the fee being charged. Studies undertaken to demonstrate this connection are 
called nexus studies. Nexus studies for school impact fees, traffic mitigation fees, and parks are common. 
For commercial linkage fees, a methodology exists that establishes a connection between the development 
of commercial space and the need to expand the supply of affordable housing. This study is based on this 
established methodology.   
 
The purpose of a commercial linkage fee nexus analysis is to quantify the increase in demand for affordable 
housing that accompanies new non-residential development. There will be a net gain in employment when 
new commercial space is built. The ability of new workers to pay for housing costs is linked to their 
occupations (and hence salaries). Given anticipated incomes, there may be an affordability "gap" between 
what worker households can afford to pay (to rent or to buy) and the actual costs of new housing.   
 
A nexus analysis calculates the relationship between new commercial development and household incomes 
of employees and then determines the employees' need for affordable housing. These steps provide the 
rationale for calculating the maximum justified commercial linkage fee that could be levied on non-
residential development. These steps are presented in more detail below, and the subsequent sections of this 
report present the results of each of these steps. 
 
Step 1. Define the commercial prototypes that represent new commercial development in Menlo 
Park.  
The prototypes are defined based on recently completed and proposed development projects in Menlo Park. 
The purpose of defining prototypes is to estimate future employment linked to the new commercial space. 
Three prototypes were selected and include Hotels (133 rooms or 100,000 SF), Retail/ Restaurants/ Services 
(100,000 SF), and Office/ R&D/ Medical Office (100,000 SF). The prototype definitions include 
information on gross and leasable area, number of rooms (for hotel only), parking, and floor-area-ratio. 

II. INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study -13- 

Step 2. Estimate the number of workers that will work in the new commercial space. 
Based on a national survey data on employment density for commercial land uses, as well as recently 
completed linkage fee nexus studies in the Bay Area, the estimated employment density in hotels is 
approximately 0.75 workers per room (average room size of 750 SF), one worker per 667 SF for retail/ 
restaurants/ services, and one worker per 333 SF for office/ R&D/ medical office. By dividing the square 
footage of the prototype developments by the employment density figures, the number of workers for each 
prototype is estimated.   
 
Step 3. Estimate the number of new households represented by these new workers. 
Since there are multiple wage earners in a household, the number of new workers will be higher than the 
number of new households moving into Menlo Park. Therefore, it is necessary to go from projected growth 
in the number of workers to household growth. This adjustment is based on the average number of wage-
earners per worker household for Menlo Park (1.53) according to the U.S. Census Bureau American 
Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, 2010-2012.   
 
Step 4. Estimate wages of new workers. 
The first step in calculating employee wages is to establish a list of the industries that can be associated 
with each prototype. Using industry data from QCEW, industries (defined by NAICS Codes) were 
identified that are associated with each prototype, or land use. The next step is to identify all the occupations 
that are associated with each industry based on data provided by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). 
The national BLS occupational matrix is then calibrated to match the county’s employment mix by 
weighting the national employment distribution to reflect the distribution of employment by industry within 
San Mateo County. Finally, the average wage by worker is calculated using data on average annual wages 
by occupation in the San Francisco-Redwood City-San Mateo Metro Division from the California 
Employment Development Department.  
 
Step 5. Estimate household income of worker households. 
Worker wage estimates from the previous step are then converted to household incomes. This step assumes 
that the income of the second wage-earner is similar to the wage of the first wage-earner.  According to the 
U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, 2010-2012, there are 1.53 wage-
earners per worker household in the City of Menlo Park. Individual worker wages are multiplied by 1.53 
to represent household incomes. 
 
Step 6. Calculate the number of households that would be eligible for affordable housing divided into 
three categories: very low, low, and moderate income. 
The average household size in the City of Menlo Park is estimated to be 2.5, based on the US Census, 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 2008-2012.  Thus, the income groups are defined for a 
household size of three persons based on the income categories established by California Department of 
Housing and Community Development (HCD) for San Mateo County. Households with above-moderate 
income are removed to determine the number that would require below market rate affordable housing.  
 
Step 7. Estimate the affordability gap of new households requiring affordable housing.  
The affordability gap represents the difference between what households can afford to pay for housing and 
the development cost of a modest housing unit. For very low and low income households, a rental housing 
gap is used. For moderate income households, the housing affordability gap is calculated separately for 
renter and owner households, and then the two gaps are combined to derive an average affordability gap 
for moderate income households. 
 
Step 8. Estimate the total housing affordability gap of new households requiring affordable housing. 
The total number of very low, low, and moderate income new worker households for each land use 
prototype is multiplied by the corresponding affordable housing gap figure. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study -14- 

 
Step 9. Calculate maximum commercial linkage fees for each prototype. 
The total affordability gap is then divided by 100,000 SF, the size of each commercial prototype to generate 
a maximum fee per square foot.   
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study -15- 

This section discusses each step of the commercial linkage analysis calculations and the maximum nexus-
based fees. The analysis presented in this section should be interpreted within the context of the previous 
sections establishing the overall methodology for this study. 

NEXUS ANALYSIS STEPS 

Using the methodology described in Section II, the following describes each of the steps to calculate the 
linkage fees in more detail. 

Commercial Prototypes  
This study examined the jobs-housing linkage for three commercial development prototypes, which are 
described below.  
 

1. Hotel – This building prototype includes full-service hotels, limited-service hotels, motels, and 
other lodging.  

 
2. Retail/ Restaurants/ Services – This building prototype includes a broad range of buildings, 

including retail stores, restaurants, and personal care spaces accommodating businesses like nail 
salons and drycleaners. 

 
3. Office/ R&D/ Medical Office – This category includes a wide range of office and R&D users, 

including traditional office buildings, open floor-plan offices, medical offices, and specialized 
spaces for highly advanced manufacturing and research commonly found in San Mateo County.  

 
The prototypes defined above represent the types of new commercial buildings recently constructed or 
proposed in San Mateo County. Each prototype was assumed to be 100,000 square feet in size. The building 
size is not prescriptive; it is only averaged to illustrate the overall numbers of workers and households 
associated with new development projects. Many linkage fee nexus studies use the 100,000 square foot 
number because it can easily be converted into per-square-foot calculations. The per-square-foot linkage 
fee can be applied to a project of any size.  For example, the small ground-floor retail component in a 
mixed-use building would be charged the same per-square-foot retail linkage fee as a large “big-box” 
project. 
 
Figure III-1 below describes the building characteristics of each prototype, including factors like floor-area-
ratios (FARs) and parking ratios, which were established based on a review of recent commercial 
development projects in the county. 
 
  

III. COMMERCIAL LINKAGE FEE NEXUS ANALYSIS 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study -16- 

Figure III-1. Description of Commercial Prototypes 

  Hotel 

Retail/ 
Restaurants/ 

Services 

Office/R&D/ 
Medical 
Office 

Prototype Description    
Gross Building Area (GBA) 100,000 100,000 100,000 
Podium Parking Area 11,970 30,000 63,000 
Gross Building Area including Podium Parking (SF) 111,970 130,000 163,000 
Efficiency Ratio (a) N/A 0.95 0.9 
Net Leasable Sq. Ft. (NSF) N/A 95,000 90,000 
Hotel Rooms 133   
Parking Spaces 160 400 300 

Podium Parking 40 100 210 
Surface Parking 120 300 90 

Floor Area Ratio (b) 1.1 0.5 2.0 
Land Area (Acres) 2.3 6.0 1.9 
Land Area (SF) 101,791 260,000 81,500 
Notes:    

(a) Refers to ratio of gross building area to net leasable area. An efficiency ratio of 0.9 means that 90% of the gross building 
area is leasable. 
(b) The floor-area-ratio (FAR) is often used as a measure of density. In this analysis, it is calculated as the gross building area 
(including podium parking) divided by the total land area.  

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015.   
 

Average Employment Density and Number of Workers 
For each building prototype, an average employment density was defined based on a review of national 
survey data for existing commercial buildings and a review of recently completed linkage fee nexus studies 
in the Bay Area. The densities selected were at the lower end of each range. While there is some anecdotal 
evidence that Silicon Valley technology firms occupy office space at higher densities than those selected in 
this study, these lower employment estimates are based on published data sources and surveys in order to 
ensure that the calculated nexus fees are more conservative. Furthermore, the office/R&D/medical office 
prototype includes a range of building types in addition to technology office space, including R&D 
buildings and medical offices, which typically have a large amount of building space dedicated to labs and 
clinics, thereby attaining low overall employment densities. Figure III-2 summarizes the building density 
data that formed the basis for establishing average employment density for each prototype. 
 
Figure III-3 describes the density for each prototype, measured by the average number of square feet per 
worker for each prototype. This factor is multiplied by the size of the building (100,000 square feet) to 
calculate the total number of workers in each commercial prototype.  The density factors represent the 
average density for the prototypes; individual projects and buildings may actually be more or less dense.  
The hotel prototype is assumed to be the lowest density followed by retail/ restaurant/ services and office/ 
R&D/ medical office. The density assumption generates the total number of direct workers occupying the 
commercial space in each prototype.  
 

 Hotel – The hotel employment density assumption is 1,000 square feet per worker (or 0.75 workers 
per room).  This density is at the mid-range of the densities shown in Figure III-2, and consistent 
with the Vallen and Vallen estimate for limited service mid-scale hotels, which are in between full-
service “luxury” properties and economy properties.  Given that many of the recently constructed 
and proposed hotel projects in San Mateo County are limited service mid-scale hotels, this density 
is aligned with market trends. For a 100,000-square-foot hotel (roughly equivalent to 133 rooms), 
this density assumption results in a total number of 100 workers. 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study -17- 

 Retail/ Restaurants/ Services – The average density for retail/ restaurants/ services is estimated at 
667 square feet of space per worker. This figure represents a lower density than the figures used in 
many other commercial linkage fee studies in the Bay Area, but a higher density than national data 
sources. Using this density, the number of workers in a 100,000 square foot prototype is estimated 
at 150. 
 

 Office/ R&D/ Medical Office – The average density assumption for office/R&D/medical office is 
estimated at 333 square feet per worker. This density estimate is slightly lower than some recent 
linkage fee nexus studies, but higher than the national Energy Information Administration survey. 
The resulting number of total workers in this prototype is estimated at 300. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -18- 

Figure III-2. Employment Density Data and Sources 

Employee Density Figure Source 
Hotel  

1.5 workers per full-service (luxury) hotel room Vallen and Vallen, "Chapter 1: The Traditional Hotel Industry," Check-In, Check-Out, 2012  
0.5 to 1.0 workers per room for "in-between" 
hotels Vallen and Vallen, "Chapter 1: The Traditional Hotel Industry," Check-In, Check-Out, 2012  
As few as 0.25 workers per room for "budget" 
hotels Vallen and Vallen, "Chapter 1: The Traditional Hotel Industry," Check-In, Check-Out, 2012  

2,074 square feet per worker 
Energy Information Administration, 2003 Commercial Buildings Energy Consumption Survey, Revised 
June 2006 

720 square feet per worker A.C. Nelson, "Reshaping Metropolitan America" (based on calculations from EIA survey) 
450 square feet per worker Jobs Housing Impact Fee Draft Nexus Study: City of Napa, CA, Vernazza Wolfe Associates Inc., 2011 
2,000 square feet per worker Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study: Mountain View, CA, KMA, 2012 

Retail/ Restaurants/ Services  
528 -1,246 square feet per worker in retail and 
services 

Energy Information Administration, 2003 Commercial Buildings Energy Consumption Survey, Revised 
June 2006 

605 square feet per worker A.C. Nelson, "Reshaping Metropolitan America," 2013 
300 square feet per worker San Mateo County Housing Needs Study, Economic & Planning Systems, 2006 
350 square feet per worker Jobs Housing Impact Fee Draft Nexus Study: City of Napa, CA, Vernazza Wolfe Associates Inc., 2011 
384.6 square feet per worker Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study: Mountain View, CA, KMA, 2012 

Office/ R&D/ Medical Office  
185-340 square feet per employee Norm Miller, "Estimating Office Space per Worker: Implications for Future Office Space Demand," 2012  
306 square feet per worker Building Owners and Managers Association Survey, 2012 

434 square feet per worker 
Energy Information Administration, 2003 Commercial Buildings Energy Consumption Survey, Revised 
June 2006 

300 square feet per worker A.C. Nelson, "Reshaping Metropolitan America," 2013 
250-350 square feet per worker  San Mateo County Housing Needs Study, Economic & Planning Systems, 2006 
300 square feet per worker Jobs Housing Impact Fee Draft Nexus Study: City of Napa, CA, Vernazza Wolfe Associates Inc., 2011 
312.5 square feet per worker Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study: Mountain View, CA, KMA, 2012 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-19- 

Figure III-3. Employment Density by Prototype 

Commercial Prototype Prototype Size 
(SF) Average Density 

Number of 
Workers in 
Prototype 

Hotel  100,000 SF  
133 rooms 

1,000 SF per worker  
0.75 workers per room 100 workers 

Retail/ Restaurant/  
Personal Services 100,000 SF 667 square feet per 

worker 150 workers 

Office/ R&D/ Medical Office 100,000 SF 333 square feet per 
worker 300 workers 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015. 

Number of Worker Households 
Based on the total number of workers directly employed in the prototypes, the total number of worker 
households is estimated. The number of worker households is calculated by dividing the number of workers 
by the average number of wage-earners per household in Menlo Park. Based on data from the U.S. Census 
American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, 2010-2012, there is an average of 1.53 workers per 
household in Menlo Park. The calculation of total new worker households is demonstrated in Figure III-4 
below. The number of worker households associated with the prototypes is 65 for hotels, 98 for retail/ 
restaurants/ services; and 196 for office/R&D/medical office. 
 
Figure III-4. Number of Worker Households by Prototype 

Commercial Prototype 
Number of New 

Workers 
Workers Per 
Household 

Number of New 
Worker 

Households 
Office/R&D/Medical Office 300 1.53 196 
Retail/Restaurant/Personal 
Services 150 1.53 98 
Hotel 100 1.53 65 

 Sources: US Census, American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, 2010-2012; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic 
Economics, 2015. 
 

Calculate Worker Wages and Household Income 
The first step in calculating employee wages is to establish a list of the industries that can be associated 
with each prototype.  Using industry data from Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW), 
industries (defined by NAICS Codes) were identified that are associated with each prototype, or land use. 
Figure III-5 below describes the industries that are associated with the hotel, retail/ restaurants/ services 
and office/ R&D/ medical office prototypes. The hotel category shown in Figure III-5 has only one industry 
attached to it, while the other land uses are associated with a larger number of industries. The industries 
associated with the retail/ restaurants/ services prototype are defined in Figure III-6. The office/R&D/ 
medical office industries are shown in Figure III-7. 
Figure III-5. Definition of Industries for Hotel Prototype 

NAICS 
Code Description Percent Total 

Workers in Prototype 
721 Accommodation 100% 

    Total   100% 
Note; Unlike other prototypes, the hotel prototype only includes one NAICS industry category. 
Source: United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages 
(QCEW), 2013. 

 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-20- 

Figure III-6. Definition of Industries for Retail/ Restaurants/ Services Prototype 

NAICS 
Code Description Percent Total 

Workers in Prototype 
7225 Restaurants 34.1% 
4451 Grocery stores 9.8% 
4529 Other general merchandise stores 4.9% 
8111 Automotive repair and maintenance 4.0% 
4411 Automobile dealers 3.9% 
4521 Department stores 3.6% 
4441 Building material and supplies dealers 3.5% 
8129 Other personal services 3.2% 
4481 Clothing stores 3.1% 
4461 Health and personal care stores 3.0% 
8121 Personal care services 2.3% 
5321 Automotive equipment rental and leasing 2.3% 
8123 Dry-cleaning and laundry services 2.1% 
4511 Sporting goods and musical instrument stores 1.8% 
4431 Electronics and appliance stores 1.7% 
4471 Gasoline stations 1.6% 
4532 Office supplies, stationery, and gift stores 1.4% 
4541 Electronic shopping and mail-order houses 1.2% 
4421 Furniture stores 1.1% 
4452 Specialty food stores 1.1% 
4413 Auto parts, accessories, and tire stores 1.0% 
4539 Other miscellaneous store retailers 1.0% 
5322 Consumer goods rental 0.9% 
4422 Home furnishings stores 0.7% 
8122 Death care services 0.7% 
5615 Travel arrangement and reservation services 0.5% 
4237 Hardware and plumbing merchant wholesalers 0.5% 
4512 Book, periodical, and music stores 0.4% 
4482 Shoe stores 0.4% 
4453 Beer, wine, and liquor stores 0.4% 
7224 Drinking places, alcoholic beverages 0.4% 
8113 Commercial machinery repair and maintenance 0.4% 
4483 Jewelry, luggage, and leather goods stores 0.4% 
4533 Used merchandise stores 0.4% 
4231 Motor vehicle and parts merchant wholesalers 0.4% 
4233 Lumber and const. supply merchant wholesalers 0.3% 
5324 Machinery and equipment rental and leasing 0.3% 
4442 Lawn and garden equipment and supplies stores 0.3% 
8114 Household goods repair and maintenance 0.3% 
4531 Florists 0.2% 
5323 General rental centers 0.2% 
4543 Direct selling establishments 0.2% 
8112 Electronic equipment repair and maintenance 0.1% 
4412 Other motor vehicle dealers 0.1% 
4542 Vending machine operators 0.0% 

    Total   100% 

Sources: United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW), 2013; Vernazza Wolfe 
Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-21- 

Figure III-7. Definition of Industries for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office Prototype 

NAICS 
Code Description Percent Total 

Workers in Prototype 
5415 Computer systems design and related services 12.0% 
5417 Scientific research and development services 10.1% 
5112 Software publishers 8.7% 
5613 Employment services 6.3% 
5416 Management and technical consulting services 4.6% 
5191 Other information services 4.6% 
5617 Services to buildings and dwellings 4.4% 
523 Securities, commodity contracts, investments 3.9% 
5511 Management of companies and enterprises 2.9% 
6211 Offices of physicians 2.8% 
6214 Outpatient care centers 2.7% 
7223 Special food services 2.5% 
5616 Investigation and security services 2.4% 
6212 Offices of dentists 2.1% 
5411 Legal services 2.1% 
3341 Computer and peripheral equipment mfg. 2.1% 
5222 Non-depository credit intermediation 2.0% 
5412 Accounting and bookkeeping services 1.8% 
5221 Depository credit intermediation 1.8% 
5242 Insurance agencies and brokerages 1.7% 
5182 Data processing, hosting and related services 1.6% 
5413 Architectural and engineering services 1.5% 
3345 Electronic instrument manufacturing 1.4% 
5611 Office administrative services 1.2% 
5313 Activities related to real estate 1.2% 
517 Telecommunications 1.2% 
5311 Lessors of real estate 1.0% 
5419 Other professional and technical services 0.9% 
5121 Motion picture and video industries 0.9% 
5111 Newspaper, book, and directory publishers 0.8% 
3344 Semiconductor and electronic component mfg. 0.8% 
6213 Offices of other health practitioners 0.8% 
5418 Advertising, pr, and related services 0.7% 
3391 Medical equipment and supplies manufacturing 0.7% 
6215 Medical and diagnostic laboratories 0.7% 
5312 Offices of real estate agents and brokers 0.5% 
5241 Insurance carriers 0.5% 
5619 Other support services 0.4% 
515 Broadcasting, except internet 0.4% 
5614 Business support services 0.4% 
5223 Activities related to credit intermediation 0.3% 
3353 Electrical equipment manufacturing 0.2% 
5414 Specialized design services 0.2% 
3342 Communications equipment manufacturing 0.1% 
5331 Lessors of nonfinancial intangible assets 0.0% 
5612 Facilities support services 0.0% 
5122 Sound recording industries 0.0% 
5259 Other investment pools and funds 0.0% 

    Total   100% 
Sources: United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW), 2013; Vernazza Wolfe 
Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-22- 

The next step is to identify all the occupations that are associated with each industry based on data provided 
by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). National level data on occupations are the best available; 
state level industry-occupation data exist but do not include all relevant industries. The national BLS 
occupational matrix is then calibrated to match the county’s employment mix by weighting the national 
employment distribution to reflect the distribution of employment by industry within San Mateo County. 
Finally, the average wage by worker is calculated using data on average annual wages by occupation in the 
San Francisco-Redwood City-San Mateo Metro Division (the smallest geographic level at which wage data 
are available) from the California Employment Development Department.  
 
Figure III-8 below summarizes the results of these calculations, computing the average weighted wages3 
for each prototype. As shown, the average wage is lowest for workers of retail/ restaurants/ services, since 
the occupations in these industries tend to have the lowest wages. Hotel workers have a slightly higher 
average wage than retail/restaurant/service workers. Office/R&D/medical office employees have the 
highest average wage of the three prototypes, due to a larger percentage of occupations in higher wage 
categories. 
Figure III-8. Average Annual Wage by Prototype 

Commercial Prototype Weighted Average  
Annual Wage (a) 

Hotel $39,935 
Retail/ Restaurants/ Services $29,833 
Office/ R&D /Medical Office $77,342 

Notes: 
(a) Average wages are weighted to take into account the proportion of jobs in each 
occupational wage category. 

Sources: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Occupational Employment Statistics, 2013 and  
Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW), 2013; California Economic  
Development Department, OES Employment and Wages by Occupation, 2013;  
Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
 
The complete occupational mix, and wage data tables for each prototype are presented in Figure III-9, 
Figure III-10 and Figure III-11.   
 
 
 
 

                                                      
3 The weighted average wage takes into account the proportion of jobs in each occupational category. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -23- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
11-0000 Management Occupations   

11-9081 Lodging Managers $74,498 1.586% 
11-1021 General and Operations Managers $150,628 0.964% 
11-9051 Food Service Managers $63,767 0.487% 
11-2022 Sales Managers $161,570 0.376% 
11-3031 Financial Managers $169,227 0.201% 
11-3011 Administrative Services Managers $110,659 0.165% 
11-9199 Managers, All Other $141,691 0.125% 
11-3121 Human Resources Managers $136,986 0.092% 
11-1011 Chief Executives $207,735 0.064% 
11-9141 Property, Real Estate, and Community Association Managers $85,117 0.056% 
11-2021 Marketing Managers $175,141 0.054% 
11-2011 Advertising and Promotions Managers $119,666 0.039% 
11-3061 Purchasing Managers $146,940 0.026% 
11-3021 Computer and Information Systems Managers $165,650 0.025% 
11-2031 Public Relations and Fundraising Managers $133,651 0.008% 
11-3111 Compensation and Benefits Managers $143,112 0.007% 
11-9151 Social and Community Service Managers $78,548 0.006% 
11-3131 Training and Development Managers $152,542 0.003% 
11-9041 Architectural and Engineering Managers $168,643 0.003% 
11-3071 Transportation, Storage, and Distribution Managers $119,656 0.003% 
11-9021 Construction Managers $138,900 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $112,338 4.293% 
    

13-0000 Business and Financial Operations Occupations   
13-1121 Meeting, Convention, and Event Planners $63,284 0.475% 
13-2011 Accountants and Auditors $86,991 0.457% 
13-1071 Human Resources Specialists $80,583 0.197% 
13-1199 Business Operations Specialists, All Other $94,719 0.094% 
13-1023 Purchasing Agents, Except Wholesale, Retail, and Farm Products $79,939 0.081% 
13-1161 Market Research Analysts and Marketing Specialists $87,374 0.068% 
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -24- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued 
  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
13-1151 Training and Development Specialists $82,770 0.027% 
13-1141 Compensation, Benefits, and Job Analysis Specialists $81,621 0.018% 
13-2051 Financial Analysts $124,663 0.017% 
13-2099 Financial Specialists, All Other $118,407 0.012% 
13-1041 Compliance Officers $87,616 0.012% 
13-1131 Fundraisers $59,012 0.011% 
13-1075 Labor Relations Specialists $83,656 0.009% 
13-1111 Management Analysts $119,726 0.006% 
13-1022 Wholesale and Retail Buyers, Except Farm Products $60,856 0.004% 
13-2031 Budget Analysts $86,457 0.002% 
13-2041 Credit Analysts $101,611 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $79,133 1.493% 
    

15-0000 Computer and Mathematical Occupations   
15-1151 Computer User Support Specialists $70,345 0.036% 
15-1199 Computer Occupations, All Other $97,276 0.025% 
15-1142 Network and Computer Systems Administrators $95,860 0.023% 
15-1152 Computer Network Support Specialists $82,738 0.015% 
15-1121 Computer Systems Analysts $104,935 0.009% 
15-1134 Web Developers $91,692 0.005% 
15-1141 Database Administrators $105,451 0.005% 
15-1131 Computer Programmers $100,716 0.003% 
15-1132 Software Developers, Applications $115,740 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $88,477 0.124% 
    

17-0000 Architecture and Engineering Occupations   
17-3023 Electrical and Electronics Engineering Technicians $68,604 0.004% 
17-2051 Civil Engineers $108,648 0.003% 
17-2141 Mechanical Engineers $100,372 0.003% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $91,281 0.011% 
    

    
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -25- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued 
 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
19-0000 Life, Physical, and Social Science Occupations $96,012 0.006% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $96,012 0.006% 
    
21-0000 Community and Social Service Occupations   

21-1099 Community and Social Service Specialists, All Other $53,338 0.003% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $53,338 0.003% 
    

23-0000 Legal Occupations   
23-1011 Lawyers $171,324 0.002% 
23-2011 Paralegals and Legal Assistants $71,528 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $128,554 0.004% 
    

25-0000 Education, Training, and Library Occupations   
25-3021 Self-Enrichment Education Teachers $46,984 0.034% 
25-3099 Teachers and Instructors, All Other, Except Substitute Teachers $69,029 0.004% 
25-2011 Preschool Teachers, Except Special Education $37,039 0.003% 
25-9031 Instructional Coordinators $71,751 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $49,878 0.043% 
    

27-0000 Arts, Design, Entertainment, Sports, and Media Occupations   
27-4011 Audio and Video Equipment Technicians $58,639 0.149% 
27-2022 Coaches and Scouts $45,133 0.074% 
27-3031 Public Relations Specialists $83,345 0.053% 
27-3099 Media and Communication Workers, All Other $60,146 0.021% 
27-4099 Media and Communication Equipment Workers, All Other $97,539 0.013% 
27-1024 Graphic Designers $72,419 0.009% 
27-1023 Floral Designers $36,644 0.008% 
27-4014 Sound Engineering Technicians $49,190 0.008% 
27-2012 Producers and Directors $95,971 0.002% 
    
    
    

    



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -26- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued   

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
27-1025 Interior Designers $76,587 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $61,155 0.339% 

29-0000 Healthcare Practitioners and Technical Occupations   
29-1141 Registered Nurses $129,166 0.006% 
29-2041 Emergency Medical Technicians and Paramedics $57,354 0.006% 
29-9011 Occupational Health and Safety Specialists $98,501 0.004% 

 Weighted Average Annual Wage $95,944 0.016% 
    
31-0000 Healthcare Support Occupations   

31-9011 Massage Therapists $45,586 0.425% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $45,586 0.425% 
    

33-0000 Protective Service Occupations   
33-9032 Security Guards $32,013 1.558% 
33-9092 Lifeguards, Ski Patrol, and Other Recreational Protective Service   Workers $29,746 0.392% 
33-1099 First-Line Supervisors of Protective Service Workers, All Other $54,040 0.137% 
33-9099 Protective Service Workers, All Other $56,801 0.062% 
33-9021 Private Detectives and Investigators $86,255 0.003% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $33,786 2.152% 
    

35-0000 Food Preparation and Serving Related Occupations   
35-3031 Waiters and Waitresses $25,413 7.428% 
35-2014 Cooks, Restaurant $29,161 3.335% 
35-9011 Dining Room and Cafeteria Attendants and Bartender Helpers $24,284 2.633% 
35-3011 Bartenders $30,119 2.106% 
35-3041 Food Servers, Nonrestaurant $33,434 1.813% 
35-9021 Dishwashers $23,035 1.735% 
35-1012 First-Line Supervisors of Food Preparation and Serving Workers $40,256 1.268% 
35-2021 Food Preparation Workers $23,942 1.015% 
35-9031 Hosts and Hostesses, Restaurant, Lounge, and Coffee Shop $26,673 0.900% 
    
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -27- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued 
  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
35-3021 Combined Food Preparation and Serving Workers, Including Fast Food $23,509 0.819% 
35-1011 Chefs and Head Cooks $60,066 0.733% 
35-3022 Counter Attendants, Cafeteria, Food Concession, and Coffee Shop $23,710 0.541% 
35-2012 Cooks, Institution and Cafeteria $38,049 0.322% 
35-2015 Cooks, Short Order $29,030 0.314% 
35-9099 
35-2019 

Food Preparation and Serving Related Workers, All Other 
Cooks, All Other 

$32,386 
$36,487 

0.276% 
0.094% 

35-2011 Cooks, Fast Food $25,514 0.086% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $28,537 25.418% 
    

37-0000 Building and Grounds Cleaning and Maintenance Occupations   
37-2012 Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners $35,419 24.068% 
37-2011 Janitors and Cleaners, Except Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners $28,396 2.545% 
37-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Housekeeping and Janitorial Workers $50,352 1.736% 
37-3011 Landscaping and Groundskeeping Workers $42,100 1.036% 
37-1012 First-Line Supervisors of Landscaping, Lawn Service, and Groundskeeping Workers $62,696 0.117% 
37-3019 Grounds Maintenance Workers, All Other $28,819 0.047% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $36,023 29.549% 
    

39-0000 Personal Care and Service Occupations   
39-3011 Gaming Dealers $20,999 2.029% 
39-6011 Baggage Porters and Bellhops $31,257 1.334% 
39-6012 Concierges $44,649 0.684% 
39-3091 Amusement and Recreation Attendants $24,899 0.665% 
39-1011 Gaming Supervisors $55,441 0.617% 
39-9032 Recreation Workers $29,101 0.600% 
39-1021 First-Line Supervisors of Personal Service Workers $49,758 0.232% 
39-9099 Personal Care and Service Workers, All Other $37,948 0.210% 
39-3093 Locker Room, Coatroom, and Dressing Room Attendants $29,867 0.133% 
39-3031 Ushers, Lobby Attendants, and Ticket Takers $27,761 0.087% 
39-5094 Skincare Specialists $47,632 0.082% 
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -28- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued 
  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
39-3012 Gaming and Sports Book Writers and Runners $30,159 0.061% 
39-9041 Residential Advisors $29,887 0.060% 
39-5012 Hairdressers, Hairstylists, and Cosmetologists $39,520 0.058% 
39-5092 Manicurists and Pedicurists $23,005 0.057% 
39-7011 Tour Guides and Escorts $31,761 0.047% 
39-9011 Childcare Workers $31,540 0.039% 
39-2011 Animal Trainers $45,123 0.003% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $31,928 7.056% 
    

41-0000 Sales and Related Occupations   
41-3099 Sales Representatives, Services, All Other $85,023 0.890% 
41-2011 Cashiers $26,859 0.790% 
41-2031 Retail Salespersons $30,457 0.309% 
41-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Retail Sales Workers $47,883 0.130% 
41-2021 Counter and Rental Clerks $31,919 0.075% 
41-1012 First-Line Supervisors of Non-Retail Sales Workers $96,139 0.070% 
41-3041 Travel Agents $44,829 0.033% 
41-9041 Telemarketers $29,198 0.029% 
41-4012 Sales Representatives, Wholesale and Manufacturing, Except Technical and Scientific Products $65,591 0.020% 
41-9022 Real Estate Sales Agents $68,040 0.007% 
41-3011 Advertising Sales Agents $72,989 0.005% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $53,482 2.358% 
    

43-0000 Office and Administrative Support Occupations   
43-4081 Hotel, Motel, and Resort Desk Clerks $35,774 12.525% 
43-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Office and Administrative Support Workers $66,668 1.466% 
43-3031 Bookkeeping, Accounting, and Auditing Clerks $50,052 1.084% 
43-9061 Office Clerks, General $39,997 0.551% 
43-6014 Secretaries and Administrative Assistants, Except Legal, Medical, and Executive $43,612 0.485% 
43-4051 Customer Service Representatives $45,657 0.444% 
43-4181 Reservation and Transportation Ticket Agents and Travel Clerks $35,784 0.442% 
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -29- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued 
  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
43-2011 Switchboard Operators, Including Answering Service $37,607 0.361% 
43-4171 Receptionists and Information Clerks $37,546 0.244% 
43-5081 Stock Clerks and Order Fillers $32,149 0.215% 
43-6011 Executive Secretaries and Executive Administrative Assistants $69,716 0.190% 
43-5071 Shipping, Receiving, and Traffic Clerks $36,220 0.123% 
43-3051 Payroll and Timekeeping Clerks $53,413 0.092% 
43-5032 Dispatchers, Except Police, Fire, and Ambulance $44,634 0.074% 
43-3021 Billing and Posting Clerks $47,723 0.063% 
43-3061 Procurement Clerks $49,322 0.031% 
43-5061 Production, Planning, and Expediting Clerks $57,140 0.019% 
43-4041 Credit Authorizers, Checkers, and Clerks $44,847 0.011% 
43-4151 Order Clerks $41,890 0.011% 
43-3011 Bill and Account Collectors $49,221 0.009% 
43-9051 Mail Clerks and Mail Machine Operators, Except Postal Service $34,184 0.008% 
43-4199 Information and Record Clerks, All Other $48,826 0.007% 
43-4071 File Clerks $39,187 0.005% 
43-5111 Weighers, Measurers, Checkers, and Samplers, Recordkeeping $31,056 0.005% 
43-9011 Computer Operators $48,685 0.005% 
43-9071 Office Machine Operators, Except Computer $32,747 0.004% 
43-3099 Financial Clerks, All Other $43,338 0.003% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $40,271 18.649% 
    

45-0000 Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Occupations   
45-2093 Farmworkers, Farm, Ranch, and Aquacultural Animals $26,179 0.032% 
45-2092 Farmworkers and Laborers, Crop, Nursery, and Greenhouse $25,936 0.003% 
45-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Workers $78,486 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $29,280 0.037% 
    

47-0000 Construction and Extraction Occupations   
47-2141 Painters, Construction and Maintenance $47,652 0.077% 
47-2031 Carpenters $63,165 0.057% 
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -30- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued   

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
47-2111 Electricians $84,223 0.030% 
47-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Construction Trades and Extraction Workers $85,954 0.011% 
47-2152 Plumbers, Pipefitters, and Steamfitters $82,675 0.010% 
47-2061 Construction Laborers $48,816 0.009% 
47-2073 Operating Engineers and Other Construction Equipment Operators $77,565 0.008% 
47-2041 Carpet Installers $53,208 0.003% 
47-4051 Highway Maintenance Workers $56,618 0.002% 

 Weighted Average Annual Wage $62,281 0.208% 
49-0000 Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Occupations   

49-9071 Maintenance and Repair Workers, General $50,605 4.446% 
49-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Mechanics, Installers, and Repairers $90,340 0.391% 
49-9091 Coin, Vending, and Amusement Machine Servicers and Repairers $38,422 0.092% 
49-9099 Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Workers, All Other $51,032 0.043% 
49-9021 Heating, Air Conditioning, and Refrigeration Mechanics and Installers $56,193 0.027% 
49-9098 Helpers--Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Workers $48,488 0.023% 
49-3053 Outdoor Power Equipment and Other Small Engine Mechanics $45,302 0.011% 
49-9041 Industrial Machinery Mechanics $70,075 0.010% 
49-3023 Automotive Service Technicians and Mechanics $55,124 0.008% 
49-3042 Mobile Heavy Equipment Mechanics, Except Engines $58,707 0.007% 
49-9043 Maintenance Workers, Machinery $42,351 0.007% 
49-2022 Telecommunications Equipment Installers and Repairers, Except Line Installers $59,633 0.002% 
49-2094 Electrical and Electronics Repairers, Commercial and Industrial Equipment $65,933 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $53,515 5.070% 
    

51-0000 Production Occupations   
51-6011 Laundry and Dry-Cleaning Workers $28,552 1.573% 
51-3011 Bakers $29,436 0.175% 
51-8021 Stationary Engineers and Boiler Operators $75,624 0.053% 
51-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Production and Operating Workers $67,828 0.049% 
51-6052 Tailors, Dressmakers, and Custom Sewers $35,179 0.017% 
51-9061 Inspectors, Testers, Sorters, Samplers, and Weighers $42,183 0.011% 
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -31- 

Figure III-9. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Hotel Industry, Continued 
  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total 
Hotel 

Workers (c) 
51-3021 Butchers and Meat Cutters $34,265 0.008% 
51-6031 Sewing Machine Operators $26,245 0.006% 
51-6021 Pressers, Textile, Garment, and Related Materials $24,822 0.006% 
51-6093 Upholsterers $40,577 0.004% 
51-3092 Food Batchmakers $28,450 0.002% 
51-6051 Sewers, Hand $26,031 0.002% 
51-9198 Helpers--Production Workers $31,286 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $31,128 1.907% 

53-0000 Transportation and Material Moving Occupations   
53-6021 Parking Lot Attendants $28,363 0.453% 
53-7062 Laborers and Freight, Stock, and Material Movers, Hand $30,670 0.290% 
53-1031 First-Line Supervisors of Transportation and Material-Moving Machine and Vehicle Operators $59,643 0.033% 
53-1021 First-Line Supervisors of Helpers, Laborers, and Material Movers, Hand $51,208 0.018% 
53-3033 Light Truck or Delivery Services Drivers $41,869 0.017% 
53-7061 Cleaners of Vehicles and Equipment $26,168 0.008% 
53-7199 Material Moving Workers, All Other $58,830 0.005% 
53-6031 Automotive and Watercraft Service Attendants $26,859 0.004% 
53-6061 Transportation Attendants, Except Flight Attendants $40,660 0.003% 
53-5021 Captains, Mates, and Pilots of Water Vessels $83,149 0.003% 
53-7051 Industrial Truck and Tractor Operators $43,099 0.003% 
53-3031 Driver/Sales Workers $33,058 0.002% 
53-3032 Heavy and Tractor-Trailer Truck Drivers $46,595 0.002% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $31,621 0.840% 
    
  Total, Land Use $39,935 100.000% 

Notes: 
(a) Occupational mix by industry was obtained from US Bureau of Labor Statistics, Occupational Employment Statistics, 2013. 
(b) Wage data for the San Francisco-Redwood City-San Mateo Metro Division obtained from California Economic Development Department, OES Employment and Wages by 
Occupation, 2013. 
(c) Distribution of workers is calculated based on the existing distribution of employment by industry in San Mateo County, provided by Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages 
(QCEW), 2013. 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -32- 

Figure III-10. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Retail/ Restaurants/ Services 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average Annual 
Wage (b) 

% of Total Retail/ 
Restaurants/ Services 

Workers (c) 
11-0000 Management Occupations   

11-9051 Food Service Managers $63,767 1.301% 
11-1021 General and Operations Managers $150,628 0.820% 
11-2022 Sales Managers $161,570 0.081% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $99,709 2.202% 
    

13-0000 Business and Financial Operations Occupations   
13-2011 Accountants and Auditors $86,991 0.045% 
13-1199 Business Operations Specialists, All Other $94,719 0.038% 
13-1022 Wholesale and Retail Buyers, Except Farm Products $60,856 0.037% 
13-1071 Human Resources Specialists $80,583 0.023% 
13-1151 Training and Development Specialists $82,770 0.022% 
13-1121 Meeting, Convention, and Event Planners $63,284 0.020% 
13-1051 Cost Estimators $87,676 0.020% 
13-1161 Market Research Analysts and Marketing Specialists $87,374 0.016% 
13-1023 Purchasing Agents, Except Wholesale, Retail, and Farm Products $79,939 0.012% 
13-2072 Loan Officers $99,586 0.010% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $81,548 0.243% 
    

15-0000 Computer and Mathematical Occupations   
15-1151 Computer User Support Specialists $70,345 0.009% 
15-1142 Network and Computer Systems Administrators $95,860 0.003% 
15-1132 Software Developers, Applications $115,740 0.003% 
15-1134 Web Developers $91,692 0.002% 
15-1131 Computer Programmers $100,716 0.002% 
15-1152 Computer Network Support Specialists $82,738 0.002% 
15-1121 Computer Systems Analysts $104,935 0.001% 
15-1133 Software Developers, Systems Software $118,614 0.001% 
15-1199 Computer Occupations, All Other $97,276 0.001% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $89,553 0.026% 
    

    



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -33- 

Figure III-10. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Retail/ Restaurants/ Services (Continued) 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average Annual 
Wage (b) 

% of Total Retail/ 
Restaurants/ Services 

Workers (c) 
17-0000 Architecture and Engineering Occupations   

17-3011 Architectural and Civil Drafters $67,421 0.001% 
17-2072 Electronics Engineers, Except Computer $105,947 0.000% 
17-2141 Mechanical Engineers $100,372 0.000% 
17-3023 Electrical and Electronics Engineering Technicians $68,604 0.000% 
17-2112 Industrial Engineers $107,849 0.000% 
17-2071 Electrical Engineers $108,982 0.000% 
17-2061 Computer Hardware Engineers $121,274 0.000% 
17-3019 Drafters, All Other $62,261 0.000% 
17-2199 Engineers, All Other $113,444 0.000% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $87,823 0.002% 
    

19-0000 Life, Physical, and Social Science Occupations   
19-4099 Life, Physical, and Social Science Technicians, All Other $42,118 0.000% 
19-1032 Foresters $85,449 0.000% 

 Weighted Average Annual Wage $50,019 0.000% 
    

21-0000 Community and Social Service Occupations   
21-1019 Counselors, All Other $54,835 0.000% 
21-1091 Health Educators $74,644 0.000% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $63,741 0.000% 
    

23-0000 Legal Occupations   
23-2093 Title Examiners, Abstractors, and Searchers $76,809 0.000% 
23-2099 Legal Support Workers, All Other $64,021 0.000% 
23-1011 Lawyers $171,324 0.000% 
23-2011 Paralegals and Legal Assistants $71,528 0.000% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $87,762 0.001% 
    

25-0000 Education, Training, and Library Occupations   
25-3021 Self-Enrichment Education Teachers $46,984 0.004% 
25-3099 Teachers and Instructors, All Other, Except Substitute Teachers $69,029 0.000% 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -34- 

Figure III-10. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Retail/Restaurants/Services (Continued)  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average Annual 
Wage (b) 

% of Total Retail/ 
Restaurants/ Services 

Workers (c) 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $47,770 0.004% 

27-0000 Arts, Design, Entertainment, Sports, and Medial Occupations   
27-1023 Floral Designers $36,644 0.025% 
27-1026 Merchandise Displayers and Window Trimmers $38,931 0.025% 
27-3031 Public Relations Specialists $83,345 0.008% 
27-1024 Graphic Designers $72,419 0.006% 
27-1025 Interior Designers $76,587 0.004% 
27-3012 Public Address System and Other Announcers $31,566 0.003% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $47,673 0.071% 
    

29-0000 Healthcare Practitioners and Technical Occupations   
29-2052 Pharmacy Technicians $46,326 0.291% 
29-1051 Pharmacists $137,654 0.210% 
29-2081 Opticians, Dispensing $38,051 0.033% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $81,749 0.534% 
    

31-0000 Healthcare Support Occupations   
31-9095 Pharmacy Aides $28,446 0.046% 
31-9011 Massage Therapists $45,586 0.024% 
31-9099 Healthcare Support Workers, All Other $44,780 0.003% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $34,717 0.073% 
    

33-0000 Protective Service Occupations   
33-9032 Security Guards $32,013 0.047% 
33-9099 Protective Service Workers, All Other $56,801 0.011% 
33-1099 First-Line Supervisors of Protective Service Workers, All Other $54,040 0.007% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $38,701 0.065% 
    

35-0000 Food Preparation and Serving Related Occupations   

35-3021 
Combined Food Preparation and Serving Workers, Including Fast    

Food $23,509 23.920% 
35-3031 Waiters and Waitresses $25,413 19.241% 
35-2014 Cooks, Restaurant $29,161 8.873% 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -35- 

Figure III-10. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Retail/Restaurants/Services (Continued) 
 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average Annual 
Wage (b) 

% of Total Retail/ 
Restaurants/ Services 

Workers (c) 
35-1012 First-Line Supervisors of Food Preparation and Serving Workers $40,256 5.919% 
35-2011 Cooks, Fast Food $25,514 4.716% 
35-2021 Food Preparation Workers $23,942 4.395% 
35-9021 Dishwashers $23,035 3.592% 
35-9031 Hosts and Hostesses, Restaurant, Lounge, and Coffee Shop $26,673 3.111% 
35-9011 Dining Room and Cafeteria Attendants and Bartender Helpers $24,284 2.560% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $26,226 76.327% 
    

37-0000 Building and Grounds Cleaning and Maintenance Occupations   
37-2011 Janitors and Cleaners, Except Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners $28,396 0.485% 
37-2012 Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners $35,419 0.041% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $28,945 0.527% 
    

39-0000 Personal Care and Service Occupations   
39-5012 Hairdressers, Hairstylists, and Cosmetologists $39,520 0.214% 
39-2021 Nonfarm Animal Caretakers $35,348 0.064% 
39-5092 Manicurists and Pedicurists $23,005 0.046% 
39-3091 Amusement and Recreation Attendants $24,899 0.031% 
39-1021 First-Line Supervisors of Personal Service Workers $49,758 0.019% 
39-5094 Skincare Specialists $47,632 0.017% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $36,583 0.390% 
    

41-0000 Sales and Related Occupations   
41-2011 Cashiers $26,859 6.363% 
41-2031 Retail Salespersons $30,457 3.344% 
41-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Retail Sales Workers $47,883 1.214% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $30,298 10.921% 
    

43-0000 Office and Administrative Support Occupations   
43-5081 Stock Clerks and Order Fillers $32,149 2.065% 
43-4051 Customer Service Representatives $45,657 0.446% 
43-9061 Office Clerks, General $39,997 0.363% 
    



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -36- 

Figure III-10. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Retail/Restaurants/Services (Continued) 
 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average Annual 
Wage (b) 

% of Total Retail/ 
Restaurants/ Services 

Workers (c) 
43-3031 Bookkeeping, Accounting, and Auditing Clerks $50,052 0.356% 
43-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Office and Administrative Support Workers $66,668 0.265% 
43-5071 Shipping, Receiving, and Traffic Clerks $36,220 0.158% 

 Weighted Average Annual Wage $39,003 3.653% 
    
45-0000 Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Occupations   

45-2041 Graders and Sorters, Agricultural Products $34,254 0.005% 
45-2092 Farmworkers and Laborers, Crop, Nursery, and Greenhouse $25,936 0.004% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $30,537 0.009% 
    

47-0000 Construction and Extraction Occupations   
47-2121 Glaziers $56,415 0.009% 
47-2031 Carpenters $63,165 0.005% 

47-1011 
First-Line Supervisors of Construction Trades and Extraction 

Workers $85,954 0.002% 
47-2041 Carpet Installers $53,208 0.001% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $61,425 0.017% 
    

49-0000 Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Occupations   
49-3023 Automotive Service Technicians and Mechanics $55,124 0.521% 
49-3021 Automotive Body and Related Repairers $52,600 0.141% 
49-9071 Maintenance and Repair Workers, General $50,605 0.120% 
49-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Mechanics, Installers, and Repairers $90,340 0.091% 
49-3093 Tire Repairers and Changers $32,447 0.040% 
49-3031 Bus and Truck Mechanics and Diesel Engine Specialists $55,399 0.039% 
49-9098 Helpers--Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Workers $48,488 0.037% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $56,300 0.988% 
    

51-0000 Production Occupations   
51-3011 Bakers $29,436 0.392% 
51-3021 Butchers and Meat Cutters $34,265 0.313% 
51-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Production and Operating Workers $67,828 0.071% 
    



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -37- 

Figure III-10. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Retail/Restaurants/Services (Continued) 
 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average Annual 
Wage (b) 

% of Total Retail/ 
Restaurants/ Services 

Workers (c) 
51-6011 Laundry and Dry-Cleaning Workers $28,552 0.064% 
51-3022 Meat, Poultry, and Fish Cutters and Trimmers $24,425 0.062% 
51-3092 Food Batchmakers $28,450 0.047% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $33,458 0.949% 
    

53-0000 Transportation and Material Moving Occupations   
53-3031 Driver/Sales Workers $33,058 1.421% 
53-7064 Packers and Packagers, Hand $26,940 0.434% 
53-7062 Laborers and Freight, Stock, and Material Movers, Hand $30,670 0.370% 
53-3033 Light Truck or Delivery Services Drivers $41,869 0.328% 
53-7061 Cleaners of Vehicles and Equipment $26,168 0.239% 
53-6031 Automotive and Watercraft Service Attendants $26,859 0.107% 
53-6021 Parking Lot Attendants $28,363 0.100% 

 Weighted Average Annual Wage $31,915 2.999% 
    
  Total, Minor Occupation Grouping $29,832.77 100.000% 

Notes: 
(a) Occupational mix by industry was obtained from US Bureau of Labor Statistics, Occupational Employment Statistics, 2013. 
(b) Wage data for the San Francisco-Redwood City-San Mateo Metro Division obtained from California Economic Development Department, OES Employment and Wages by 
Occupation, 2013. 
(c) Distribution of workers is calculated based on the existing distribution of employment by industry in San Mateo County, provided by Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages 
(QCEW), 2013. 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -38- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office 

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
11-0000 Management Occupations   

11-1021 General and Operations Managers $150,628 2.410% 
11-3021 Computer and Information Systems Managers $165,650 1.436% 
11-3031 Financial Managers $169,227 0.920% 
11-9199 Managers, All Other $141,691 0.499% 
11-2022 Sales Managers $161,570 0.494% 
11-2021 Marketing Managers $175,141 0.469% 
11-1011 Chief Executives $207,735 0.347% 
11-3011 Administrative Services Managers $110,659 0.339% 
11-9041 Architectural and Engineering Managers $168,643 0.336% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $159,380 7.251% 
    

13-0000 Business and Financial Operations Occupations   
13-2011 Accountants and Auditors $86,991 2.067% 
13-1111 Management Analysts $119,726 1.797% 
13-1199 Business Operations Specialists, All Other $94,719 1.416% 
13-1161 Market Research Analysts and Marketing Specialists $87,374 1.124% 
13-1071 Human Resources Specialists $80,583 1.109% 
13-2051 Financial Analysts $124,663 0.768% 
13-2052 Personal Financial Advisors $125,077 0.660% 
13-2072 Loan Officers $99,586 0.579% 
13-1151 Training and Development Specialists $82,770 0.460% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $99,264 9.980% 
    

15-0000 Computer and Mathematical Occupations   
15-1132 Software Developers, Applications $115,740 4.510% 
15-1121 Computer Systems Analysts $104,935 2.827% 
15-1151 Computer User Support Specialists $70,345 2.316% 
15-1133 Software Developers, Systems Software $118,614 2.487% 
15-1131 Computer Programmers $100,716 2.286% 
15-1142 Network and Computer Systems Administrators $95,860 1.371% 
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -39- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office, Continued  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
15-1152 Computer Network Support Specialists $82,738 0.685% 
15-1143 Computer Network Architects $125,331 0.732% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $103,790 17.214% 
    

17-0000 Architecture and Engineering Occupations   
17-2141 Mechanical Engineers $100,372 0.408% 
17-2061 Computer Hardware Engineers $121,274 0.396% 
17-2071 Electrical Engineers $108,982 0.315% 
17-2051 Civil Engineers $108,648 0.315% 
17-2072 Electronics Engineers, Except Computer $105,947 0.309% 
17-2112 Industrial Engineers $107,849 0.300% 
17-2199 Engineers, All Other $113,444 0.260% 
17-3023 Electrical and Electronics Engineering Technicians $68,604 0.254% 
17-2011 Aerospace Engineers $107,788 0.168% 
17-1011 Architects, Except Landscape and Naval $102,163 0.139% 
17-3029 Engineering Technicians, Except Drafters, All Other $73,531 0.137% 
17-3011 Architectural and Civil Drafters $67,421 0.136% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $102,350 3.138% 
    

19-0000 Life, Physical, and Social Science Occupations   
19-1042 Medical Scientists, Except Epidemiologists $116,975 0.489% 
19-2031 Chemists $102,011 0.259% 
19-4021 Biological Technicians $66,854 0.250% 
19-1021 Biochemists and Biophysicists $115,416 0.189% 
19-2041 Environmental Scientists and Specialists, Including Health $103,842 0.176% 
19-4099 Life, Physical, and Social Science Technicians, All Other $42,118 0.167% 
19-4031 Chemical Technicians $52,559 0.142% 
19-4061 Social Science Research Assistants $41,288 0.124% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $89,127 1.795% 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -40- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office, Continued  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
21-0000 Community and Social Service Occupations   

21-1014 Mental Health Counselors $43,140 0.105% 
21-1093 Social and Human Service Assistants $39,234 0.097% 
21-1023 Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers $54,987 0.097% 
21-1011 Substance Abuse and Behavioral Disorder Counselors $44,900 0.072% 
21-1022 Healthcare Social Workers $79,571 0.059% 
21-1021 Child, Family, and School Social Workers $53,429 0.046% 
21-1091 Health Educators $74,644 0.037% 
21-1094 Community Health Workers $45,861 0.032% 
21-1099 Community and Social Service Specialists, All Other $53,338 0.029% 
21-1015 Rehabilitation Counselors $36,442 0.022% 
21-1012 Educational, Guidance, School, and Vocational Counselors $63,516 0.022% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $51,827 0.618% 
    

23-0000 Legal Occupations   
23-1011 Lawyers $171,324 1.165% 
23-2011 Paralegals and Legal Assistants $71,528 0.572% 
23-2093 Title Examiners, Abstractors, and Searchers $76,809 0.090% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $135,415 1.827% 
    

25-0000 Education, Training, and Library Occupations   
25-3098 Substitute Teachers $36,300 0.247% 
25-9041 Teacher Assistants $34,995 0.057% 
25-4021 Librarians $77,396 0.054% 
25-4031 Library Technicians $53,641 0.037% 
25-2021 Elementary School Teachers, Except Special Education $67,562 0.035% 
25-3099 Teachers and Instructors, All Other, Except Substitute Teachers $69,029 0.033% 
25-9099 Education, Training, and Library Workers, All Other $37,302 0.026% 
25-2022 Middle School Teachers, Except Special and Career/Technical Education $69,808 0.023% 
25-2031 Secondary School Teachers, Except Special and Career/Technical Education $70,729 0.023% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $48,507 0.536% 
    

 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -41- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office, Continued  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
27-0000 Arts, Design, Entertainment, Sports, and Media Occupations   

27-3042 Technical Writers $85,935 0.228% 
27-3031 Public Relations Specialists $83,345 0.218% 
27-1014 Multimedia Artists and Animators $84,934 0.114% 
27-2012 Producers and Directors $95,971 0.090% 
27-3043 Writers and Authors $66,197 0.061% 
27-3022 Reporters and Correspondents $53,510 0.053% 
27-1011 Art Directors $127,071 0.048% 
27-4011 Audio and Video Equipment Technicians $58,639 0.033% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $83,997 0.845% 
    

29-0000 Healthcare Practitioners and Technical Occupations   
29-1141 Registered Nurses $129,166 1.422% 
29-2061 Licensed Practical and Licensed Vocational Nurses $63,060 0.602% 
29-1069 Physicians and Surgeons, All Other $192,701 0.506% 
29-2021 Dental Hygienists $114,294 0.474% 
29-1062 Family and General Practitioners $196,758 0.282% 
29-1021 Dentists, General $167,318 0.231% 
29-2071 Medical Records and Health Information Technicians $54,359 0.222% 
29-1171 Nurse Practitioners $127,193 0.212% 
29-1071 Physician Assistants $112,877 0.199% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $127,464 4.150% 
    

31-0000 Healthcare Support Occupations   
31-9092 Medical Assistants $44,014 1.318% 
31-9091 Dental Assistants $49,244 0.750% 
31-1014 Nursing Assistants $42,130 0.363% 
31-1011 Home Health Aides $28,587 0.166% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $44,273 2.598% 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -42- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office, Continued  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
 
33-0000 Protective Service Occupations   

33-9032 Security Guards $32,013 2.059% 
33-1099 First-Line Supervisors of Protective Service Workers, All Other $54,040 0.088% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $32,919 2.147% 
    

35-0000 Food Preparation and Serving Related Occupations   
35-3021 Combined Food Preparation and Serving Workers, Including Fast Food $23,509 0.389% 
35-3031 Waiters and Waitresses $25,413 0.305% 
35-2021 Food Preparation Workers $23,942 0.192% 
35-2012 Cooks, Institution and Cafeteria $38,049 0.164% 
35-3022 Counter Attendants, Cafeteria, Food Concession, and Coffee Shop $23,710 0.159% 
35-1012 First-Line Supervisors of Food Preparation and Serving Workers $40,256 0.139% 
35-3041 Food Servers, Nonrestaurant $33,434 0.131% 
35-9021 Dishwashers $23,035 0.113% 
35-9011 Dining Room and Cafeteria Attendants and Bartender Helpers $24,284 0.108% 
35-2014 Cooks, Restaurant $29,161 0.068% 
35-3011 Bartenders $30,119 0.061% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $27,622 1.828% 
    

37-0000 Building and Grounds Cleaning and Maintenance Occupations   
37-2011 Janitors and Cleaners, Except Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners $28,396 4.662% 
37-3011 Landscaping and Groundskeeping Workers $42,100 2.565% 
37-2012 Maids and Housekeeping Cleaners $35,419 0.784% 
37-2021 Pest Control Workers $53,698 0.316% 
37-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Housekeeping and Janitorial Workers $50,352 0.307% 

37-1012 
First-Line Supervisors of Landscaping, Lawn Service, and Groundskeeping 

Workers $62,696 0.303% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $35,758 8.938% 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -43- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office, Continued  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
39-0000 Personal Care and Service Occupations   

39-9021 Personal Care Aides $24,476 0.269% 
39-3031 Ushers, Lobby Attendants, and Ticket Takers $27,761 0.096% 
39-9011 Childcare Workers $31,540 0.037% 
39-2021 Nonfarm Animal Caretakers $35,348 0.032% 
39-1021 First-Line Supervisors of Personal Service Workers $49,758 0.022% 
39-9032 Recreation Workers $29,101 0.021% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $27,782 0.476% 
    

41-0000 Sales and Related Occupations   
41-3099 Sales Representatives, Services, All Other $85,023 1.745% 
41-3031 Securities, Commodities, and Financial Services Sales Agents $140,636 1.096% 

41-4011 
Sales Representatives, Wholesale and Manufacturing, Technical and Scientific 

Products $100,443 0.666% 
41-3021 Insurance Sales Agents $86,434 0.564% 

41-4012 
Sales Representatives, Wholesale and Manufacturing, Except Technical and 

Scientific Products $65,591 0.388% 
41-1012 First-Line Supervisors of Non-Retail Sales Workers $96,139 0.292% 
41-2031 Retail Salespersons $30,457 0.284% 
41-9041 Telemarketers $29,198 0.256% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $92,201 5.290% 
    

43-0000 Office and Administrative Support Occupations   
43-9061 Office Clerks, General $39,997 3.754% 
43-4051 Customer Service Representatives $45,657 3.408% 
43-6014 Secretaries and Administrative Assistants, Except Legal, Medical, and Executive $43,612 2.641% 
43-3031 Bookkeeping, Accounting, and Auditing Clerks $50,052 1.862% 
43-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Office and Administrative Support Workers $66,668 1.612% 
43-4171 Receptionists and Information Clerks $37,546 1.585% 
43-6011 Executive Secretaries and Executive Administrative Assistants $69,716 1.228% 
43-3071 Tellers $31,987 1.057% 
43-6013 Medical Secretaries $44,675 0.919% 
    

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -44- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office, Continued  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
43-3021 Billing and Posting Clerks $47,723 0.787% 

43-0000 Office and Administrative Support Occupations   
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $46,632 18.852% 
    

45-0000 Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Occupations   
45-2092 Farmworkers and Laborers, Crop, Nursery, and Greenhouse $25,936 0.020% 
45-2093 Farmworkers, Farm, Ranch, and Aquacultural Animals $26,179 0.008% 
45-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Workers $78,486 0.004% 
45-2011 Agricultural Inspectors $66,342 0.002% 
45-4011 Forest and Conservation Workers $56,628 0.001% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $34,801 0.034% 
    

47-0000 Construction and Extraction Occupations   
47-2031 Carpenters $63,165 0.122% 
47-2111 Electricians $84,223 0.116% 
47-4011 Construction and Building Inspectors $74,833 0.066% 
47-2152 Plumbers, Pipefitters, and Steamfitters $82,675 0.044% 
47-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Construction Trades and Extraction Workers $85,954 0.043% 
47-2141 Painters, Construction and Maintenance $47,652 0.043% 
47-2073 Operating Engineers and Other Construction Equipment Operators $77,565 0.040% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $73,634 0.474% 
    

49-0000 Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Occupations   
49-9071 Maintenance and Repair Workers, General $50,605 0.826% 
49-2022 Telecommunications Equipment Installers and Repairers, Except Line Installers $59,633 0.254% 
49-2011 Computer, Automated Teller, and Office Machine Repairers $51,460 0.185% 
49-9099 Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Workers, All Other $51,032 0.152% 
49-1011 First-Line Supervisors of Mechanics, Installers, and Repairers $90,340 0.143% 
49-9052 Telecommunications Line Installers and Repairers $68,467 0.129% 
49-2098 Security and Fire Alarm Systems Installers $44,478 0.103% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $56,122 1.792% 
    

 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -45- 

Figure III-11. Occupational Mix and Average Wages for Office/ R&D/ Medical Office, Continued  

Occupation 
Code Occupation Name (a) 

Average 
Annual Wage 

(b) 

% of Total Office/ 
R&D/ Medical Office 

Workers (c) 
51-0000 Production Occupations   

51-2092 Team Assemblers $32,811 1.384% 
51-9198 Helpers--Production Workers $31,286 0.925% 
51-2099 Assemblers and Fabricators, All Other $28,796 0.631% 
51-9199 Production Workers, All Other $35,474 0.511% 
51-9111 Packaging and Filling Machine Operators and Tenders $34,458 0.477% 
51-9061 Inspectors, Testers, Sorters, Samplers, and Weighers $42,183 0.428% 
51-2022 Electrical and Electronic Equipment Assemblers $38,168 0.323% 
51-4041 Machinists $60,011 0.238% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $34,930 4.916% 
    

53-0000 Transportation and Material Moving Occupations   
53-7062 Laborers and Freight, Stock, and Material Movers, Hand $30,670 3.512% 
53-7064 Packers and Packagers, Hand $26,940 0.932% 
53-7051 Industrial Truck and Tractor Operators $43,099 0.401% 
53-3032 Heavy and Tractor-Trailer Truck Drivers $46,595 0.270% 
53-3033 Light Truck or Delivery Services Drivers $41,869 0.189% 
 Weighted Average Annual Wage $32,163 5.304% 
    
  Total, Office/R&D/Medical Office $77,342 100.000% 

Notes: 
(a) Occupational mix by industry was obtained from US Bureau of Labor Statistics, Occupational Employment Statistics, 2013. 
(b) Wage data for the San Francisco-Redwood City-San Mateo Metro Division obtained from California Economic Development Department, OES Employment and Wages by 
Occupation, 2013. 
(c) Distribution of workers is calculated based on the existing distribution of employment by industry in San Mateo County, provided by Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages 
(QCEW), 2013. 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
 
 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-46- 

Household Incomes 
Based on the employee wage calculations discussed above, household incomes are estimated for each 
prototype. This step assumes that the income of the second wage-earner is similar to the wage of the first 
wage-earner. In order to calculate the annual household income, the average worker wage is multiplied by 
the number of wage-earners per household.  According to the U.S. Census Bureau American Community 
Survey 3-Year Estimates, 2010-2012, there is an average of 1.53 wage-earners per household in Menlo 
Park. The average annual wage per employee within each occupation was multiplied by 1.53 in order to 
determine annual average household income.  
 
Employee households are then categorized as very low, low, moderate, and above moderate income based 
on the income definitions and cut-offs established by the California Housing and Community Development 
Department (HCD). According to the U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 
2008-2012, the average household size Menlo Park is 2.5. This has been rounded to 3, the nearest whole 
number, as a conservative estimate, since incomes are higher for three-person households than for two-
person households. The income categories for very low, low, moderate, and above moderate income 
households are therefore based on the household size of three persons, using the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development’s definitions of income thresholds for area median income, as 
shown in Figure III-12. 
 
Figure III-12. Household Income Categories 

Income Category 3-Person Household 

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $50,900 
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $81,450 
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $111,250 
Above Moderate Income (>=120%) >$111,250 

Source: California Department of Housing and Community Development,  
"State Income Limits for 2014", February 28, 2014. 
 
Using the income categories described above, the new worker households were sorted into income groups. 
For example, worker households that earn $50,900 or less were qualified as very low income households; 
those earning between $50,900 and $81,540 were classified as low income households, and those earning 
between $81,450 and $111,250 were categorized as moderate income households. As shown in Figure III-
13 below, most hotel worker households are in very low and low income categories, the vast majority of 
retail/ restaurants/ services worker households are in the very low income categories, and less than half of 
office/ R&D/ medical office workers are in very low, low, and moderate income categories. Above 
moderate income households were removed from the subsequent steps of the nexus analysis, as it is 
determined that these income groups would be able to afford market-rate housing. 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-47- 

Figure III-13. Number of Worker Households by Income Category 

Prototype 
Number of 
Employee 

Households 
Hotel  

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) 22.8 
Low Income (51-80% AMI) 35.2 
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) 3.2 
Above Moderate (>=120%)  4.2 

Total 65.4 
Retail, Restaurants and Personal Services  

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) 84.4 
Low Income (51-80% AMI) 10.0 
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) 2.3 
Above Moderate (>=120%)  1.4 

Total 98.0 
Office, R&D and Medical Office Land Use  

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) 34.7 
Low Income (51-80% AMI) 52.0 
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) 18.7 
Above Moderate (>=120%)  90.7 

Total 196.1 
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-48- 

Estimating the housing affordability gap is necessary to calculate the maximum potential housing impact 
fee. This affordability gap analysis was conducted at the county-wide level so that it can be applied to all 
the jurisdictions in San Mateo County participating in the multi-city nexus study.4 This section summarizes 
the approach to calculating the housing affordability gap and the results of the analysis.  

METHODOLOGY 

The housing affordability gap is defined as the difference between what very low, low, and moderate 
income households can afford to pay for housing and the development cost of new, modest housing units. 
Calculating the housing affordability gap involves the following three steps: 

1. Estimating affordable rents and housing prices for households in target income groups. 
 

2. Estimating development costs of building new, modest housing units, based on current cost and 
market data. 
 

3. Calculating the different between what renters and owners can afford to pay for housing and the 
cost of development of rental and ownership units. 

 
The housing affordability gap is estimated at a countywide level, and assumed to be the same for all the 
jurisdictions participating in the multi-city nexus studies, for the following reasons: 

 Both the California Department of Housing and Community Development Department (HCD) and 
U.S. Housing and Urban Development Department (HUD) define the ability to pay for housing at 
the county (rather than the city) level. Existing affordable housing studies and policies in most 
jurisdictions rely on these countywide area median income (AMI) estimates published by HCD or 
by HUD. This analysis uses 2014 income limits published by California Department of Housing 
and Community Development (HCD). 

 
 Construction costs for housing and commercial development do not vary dramatically between 

different jurisdictions in San Mateo County, because the cost of labor and materials is regional in 
nature.  

 
Although land costs vary widely in San Mateo County, the study estimated a single land value for the 
county based on data provided by developers of recently built projects. These costs are at the low end of 
recent land sales, as described below. Additionally, because the land costs used in the analysis are from 
2012 and 2013, and land values have escalated rapidly since then, the resulting affordability gap will be 
slightly lower than if the analysis incorporated 2014 land costs, providing a conservative estimate of the 
affordability gap.  
  

                                                      
4 Although there is a single housing affordability gap estimate for all jurisdictions participating in the multi-city nexus 
studies, the subsequent steps in the fee calculations considers market and household characteristics for the City of 
Menlo Park, generating a unique maximum fee for each jurisdiction in the county, as described in Section V of this 
report. 

IV. HOUSING AFFORDABILITY GAP 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-49- 

ESTIMATING AFFORDABLE RENTS AND SALES PRICES 

The first step in calculating the housing affordability gap is to determine the maximum amount that 
households at the targeted income levels can afford to pay for housing. For eligibility purposes, most 
affordable housing programs define very low income households as those earning approximately 50 percent 
or less of area median income (AMI), low income households as those earning between 51 and 80 percent 
of AMI, and moderate income households as those earning between 81 and 120 percent of AMI. In order 
to ensure that the affordability of housing does not use the top incomes in each category, the analysis uses 
a point within the income ranges for the low and moderate income groups.5  
 
Figure IV-1 and Figure IV-2 show the calculations for rental housing. The maximum affordable monthly 
rent is calculated as 30 percent of gross monthly household income, minus a deduction for utilities. For 
example, a very low income, three-person household could afford to spend $1,273 on total monthly housing 
costs. After deducting for utilities, $1,220 a month is available to pay for rent.  Figure IV-3 and Figure IV-
4 demonstrate housing affordability for homeowners. Homeowners are assumed to pay a maximum of 35 
percent of gross monthly income on total housing costs, depending on income level. The maximum 
affordable price for for-sale housing is then calculated based on the total monthly mortgage payment that a 
homeowner could afford, using standard loan terms used by CalHFA programs and many private lenders 
for first-time homebuyers, including a five percent down payment (Figure IV-3). For example, a moderate 
income, three-person household could afford to spend $2,974 a month on total housing costs, allowing for 
the purchase of a $348,526 home.  
 
Key assumptions used to calculate the maximum affordable rents and housing prices are discussed below. 

 Unit types: For rental housing, the analysis included studios, one-, two-, and three-bedroom units. 
For for-sale housing, one-, two-, and three-bedroom units were included. These unit types represent 
the affordable and modest market-rate apartment and condominium units available in San Mateo 
County. Condominiums were used to represent modest for-sale housing because single-family 
homes in San Mateo County tend to be significantly more expensive than condominiums. 

 Occupancy and household size assumptions. Because income levels for affordable housing 
programs vary by household size, calculating affordable unit prices requires defining household 
sizes for each unit type. Consistent with California Health and Safety Code Section 50052.5(h), 
unit occupancy was generally estimated as the number of bedrooms plus one. For example, a studio 
unit is assumed to be occupied by one person, a one bedroom unit is assumed to be occupied by 
two people, and so on. Several adjustments to this general assumption were made in order to capture 
the full range of household sizes. In particular, it is assumed that one-bedroom condominiums could 
be occupied by one- or two-person households, and three-bedroom apartments and condominiums 
could be occupied by four- or five-person households.6 

  

                                                      
5 For rental housing, 70 percent of AMI is used to represent low income households and 90 percent of AMI is used to 
represent moderate income households. For ownership housing, it is assumed that moderate income homebuyers may 
earn slightly less than the maximum for that income category (110 percent of AMI). Higher income limits are used for 
ownership than for rental housing because ownership housing is more expensive to purchase and maintain. 
6 For these unit types, the maximum affordable home price (or rent) is calculated as the average price (or rent) that the 
relevant household sizes can afford to pay. For example, the maximum affordable home price for a one-bedroom 
condominium is calculated as the average of the maximum affordable home price for one- and two-person households. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-50- 

 Targeted income levels for rental housing: For rental housing, affordable rents were calculated 
for very low income, low income, and moderate income households (see Figure IV-1 and Figure 
IV-2). For eligibility purposes, most affordable housing programs define very low income 
households as those earning 50 percent or less of area median income (AMI), low income 
households as those earning between 51 and 80 percent of AMI, and moderate income households 
as those earning between 81 and 120 percent of AMI. However, defining affordable housing 
expenses based at the top of each income range would result in prices that are not affordable to 
most of the households in each category. Thus, this analysis does not use the maximum income 
level for all of the income categories. Instead, for rental housing, 70 percent of AMI is used to 
represent moderate income households and 90 percent of AMI is used to represent moderate income 
households. 

 Targeted income levels for ownership housing For ownership housing, affordable home prices 
were calculated only for moderate income households. Higher income limits are used for ownership 
than for rental housing because ownership housing is more expensive to purchase and maintain. It 
is assumed that moderate income homebuyers may earn slightly less than the maximum for that 
income category (110 percent of AMI).  

 Maximum monthly housing costs.7 For all renters, maximum monthly housing costs are assumed 
to be 30 percent of gross household income.  For homebuyers, 35 percent of gross income is 
assumed to be available for monthly housing costs, reflecting the higher incomes of this group.8  
These standards are based on California’s Health & Safety Code Sections 50052.5 and 50053. 

 Utilities. The monthly utility cost assumptions are based on utility allowances calculated by the 
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for San Mateo County.9 Both renters and 
owners are assumed to pay for heating, cooking, other electric, and water heating. In addition, 
owners are assumed to pay for water and trash collection.10  

 Mortgage terms & costs included for ownership housing. For ownership housing, the mortgage 
calculations are based on the terms typically offered to first-time homebuyers (such as the terms 
offered by the California Housing Finance Authority), which is a 30-year mortgage with a five 
percent down payment. A five percent down payment standard is also used by many private lenders 
for first-time homebuyers. Based on recent interest rates to first-time buyers, the analysis assumes 
a 5.375 percent annual interest rate.11 In addition to mortgage payments and utilities, monthly 

                                                      
7 The calculation of homeowner affordability is conservative in that the model accounts for additional costs for buyers 
(such as utility costs) that might not be considered by all lenders. 
8 The assumption that homebuyers spend 35 percent of gross household income on housing results in a reduced 
affordability gap than if 30 percent of gross household income were used instead. 
9 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, "Allowances for Tenant-Furnished Utilities and Other Services: 
Housing Authority of San Mateo County," November 2013. 
10 Units are assumed to have natural gas heating, cooking, and water heating systems, as natural gas is the most 
common fuel for units located in San Mateo County. Sources: U.S. Census Bureau, 2012 American Community 
Survey, “Table B25117: Tenure by House Heating Fuel,” San Mateo County; U.S. Census Bureau, 2011 American 
Housing Survey, “Table C-03-AH-M, San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City: Heating, Air Conditioning, and 
Appliances – All Housing Units.” 
11 Sources: CalHFA Mortgage Calculator, accessed March 2014; Zillow.com, “Current Mortgage Rates and Home 
Loans,” accessed March 2014; interviews with California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA) Preferred Loan Officers, 
March 2014. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-51- 

ownership housing costs include homeowner association (HOA) dues,12 property taxes,13 private 
mortgage insurance,14 and hazard and casualty insurance.15 

 

                                                      
12 HOA fees are estimated at $300 per unit per month, based on common HOA fees in San Mateo County as reported 
in: Polaris Pacific, “Silicon Valley Condominium Market,” February 2014. 
13 The annual property tax rate is estimated at 1.18 percent of the sales price, based on the average total tax rate for 
San Mateo County (calculated from County of San Mateo, 2008-09 Property Tax Highlights 
http://www.co.sanmateo.ca.us/Attachments/controller/Files/PTH/PTH_2009.pdf) and discussions with Preferred Loan 
Officers. 
14 The annual private mortgage insurance premium rate is estimated at 0.89 percent of the total mortgage amount, 
consistent with standard requirements for conventional loans with a five percent down payment. Sources: Genworth, 
February 2014; MGIC, December 2013; Radian, April 2014. 
15 The annual hazard and casualty insurance rate is assumed to be 0.35 percent of the sales price, consistent with 
standard industry practice. 

http://www.co.sanmateo.ca.us/Attachments/controller/Files/PTH/PTH_2009.pdf


Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -52- 

Figure IV-1. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 

Persons per Household (HH) 1 2 3 4 5 
      
Very Low Income (50% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 50% AMI $39,600 $45,250 $50,900 $56,550 $61,050 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (a) $990 $1,131 $1,273 $1,414 $1,526 
Utility Deduction $29 $40 $53 $68 $68 
Maximum Available for Rent (HH Size) (b) $961 $1,091 $1,220 $1,346 $1,458 

      
Low Income (70% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 70% AMI $50,470 $57,680 $64,890 $72,100 $77,875 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (a) $1,262 $1,442 $1,622 $1,803 $1,947 
Utility Deduction $29 $40 $53 $68 $68 
Maximum Available for Rent (HH Size) (b) $1,233 $1,402 $1,569 $1,735 $1,879 

      
Moderate Income (90% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 90% AMI $64,890 $74,160 $83,430 $92,700 $100,125 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (a) $1,622 $1,854 $2,086 $2,318 $2,503 
Utility Deduction $29 $40 $53 $68 $68 
Maximum Available for Rent (HH Size) (b) $1,593 $1,814 $2,033 $2,250 $2,435 

Notes:       
(a) 30 percent of maximum monthly household income. 
(b) Maximum monthly housing cost minus utility deduction. 

Acronyms:      
AMI: Area median income      
HH: Household      

Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
2013; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -53- 

Figure IV-2. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 

Affordable Rents by Unit Type (a) 
Studio 

(1 person) 
1 Bedroom 
(2 persons) 

2 Bedroom 
(3 persons) 

3 Bedroom 
(4 and 5 persons) 

Very Low Income (50% AMI) $961 $1,091 $1,220 $1,402 
Low Income (70% AMI) $1,233 $1,402 $1,569 $1,807 
Moderate Income (90% AMI) $1,593 $1,814 $2,033 $2,342 
Notes: 
(a) Affordable rents are calculated as follows: Studios are calculated as one-person households; One-bedroom units are calculated as two-
person households; Two-bedroom units are calculated as three-person households; Three-bedroom units are calculated as an average of 
four and five person households.  
Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
2013; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.;  Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -54- 

Figure IV-3. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 

Persons per Household (HH) 1 2 3 4 5 
Moderate Income (110% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 110% AMI (a) $79,310 $90,640 $101,970 $113,300 $122,375 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (b) $2,313 $2,644 $2,974 $3,305 $3,569 
Monthly Deductions      

Utilities $106 $106 $130 $156 $156 
HOA Dues $300 $300 $300 $300 $300 
Property Taxes and Insurance (c) $517 $607 $690 $773 $844 

Monthly Income Available for Mortgage Payment (d)  $1,390 $1,631 $1,854 $2,076 $2,269 
Maximum Mortgage Amount (e) $248,195 $291,274 $331,100 $370,795 $405,155 
Maximum Affordable Sales Price - HH Size (f) $261,258 $306,604 $348,526 $390,311 $426,479 

Notes:       
(a) Calculated as 110 percent of the median household income reported by HCD for each household size. 
(b)  Maximum housing cost is estimated at 35 percent of household income for homebuyers. 

(c) Assumes annual property tax rate of 1.18 percent of sales price; annual private mortgage insurance premium rate of 0.89 percent of  
mortgage amount; annual hazard and casualty insurance rate of 0.35 percent of sales price. 
(d) Maximum monthly housing cost minus deductions 
(e) Assumes 5.375 percent interest rate and 30 year loan term 
(f) Assumes 5 percent down payment (75 percent loan-to-value ratio) 

Acronyms:      
AMI: Area median income      
HH: Household      
HOA: Home owners association      

Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2013; 
Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -55- 

Figure IV-4. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 

Affordable Sales Price by Unit Type (a) 
1 Bedroom 

(1 and 2 persons) 
2 Bedroom 
(3 persons) 

3 Bedroom 
(4 and 5 persons) 

Moderate Income (110% AMI) $283,931 $348,526 $408,395 
Notes: 
(a) Affordable sales prices are calculated as follows: One-bedroom units are calculated as an average of one- and two-person 
households; Two-bedroom units are calculated as three-person households; Three-bedroom units are calculated as an 
average of four and five person households.  
Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, 2013; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2014. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-56- 

ESTIMATING HOUSING DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

The second step in calculating the housing affordability gap is to estimate the cost of developing new, 
modest housing units. Modest housing is defined slightly differently for rental and ownership housing. For 
rental housing, the costs and characteristics of modest housing are similar to recent projects developed in 
San Mateo County by the affordable rental housing sector. Modest for-sale housing is assumed to be non-
luxury multifamily (condominium) development because single-family homes in San Mateo County tend 
to be significantly more expensive than condominiums; many of the new single-family homes in the county 
are custom-built luxury units that are too costly to meet the standard for modest housing.  
 
The calculation of housing development costs used in the housing affordability gap requires several steps. 
Because the gap covers both rental housing and for-sale housing, it is necessary to estimate costs for each.  
The following describes the data sources used to calculate rental and for-sale housing development costs. 
 

Rental Housing 
Rental housing development costs were based on pro forma data obtained from three recent affordable 
housing projects in San Mateo County. Figure IV-5 shows the location and description of these projects 
and summarizes the information that was used to generate a per-square-foot cost of $410 used in the cost 
analysis. These costs include site acquisition costs, hard costs (on- and off-site improvements), soft costs 
(such as design, city permits and fees, construction interest, and contingencies), and developer fees. The 
costs from the rental housing pro formas were also cross-referenced against proprietary pro formas available 
to the consultant team from other private development projects in order to ensure accuracy. 
 
Since these projects assumed state and federal funding, the labor costs included in the original pro formas 
reflect the prevailing wage requirement imposed by state and local governments. The costs shown in Figure 
IV-5 have been adjusted to subtract out the prevailing wage requirement because the development cost 
model used in the housing affordability gap analysis does not assume receipt of government subsidies. A 
rule of thumb used by local economists who assist affordable housing developers in obtaining public 
financing, is to estimate that, under the prevailing wage requirement, labor costs are 25 percent higher than 
would otherwise be the case. Therefore, on-site and off-site improvement costs obtained from the original 
pro formas are reduced by 25 percent to reflect actual labor costs that would apply to construction projects 
that do not have these requirements.16 Finally, on average, land acquisition costs accounted for 20 percent 
or less of these total adjusted costs.   
  

                                                      
16 These prevailing wage requirements refer only to labor cost requirements on construction projects that receive 
funding from the state or federal government. These are not the same as minimum wage requirements that individual 
cities may adopt. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-57- 

Figure IV-5. Affordable Housing Project Pro Forma Data  

Project Description Project 1 Project 2 Project 3 
Location San Mateo San Mateo San Bruno 
Year Built 2013 2010 2011 
Land Area (acres) 1.05 1.0 0.63 
Gross Building Area (SF) 106,498 127,718 42,688 
Net Building Area (SF) 56,075 67,850 33,297 
Number of Units 60 68 42 
Parking Type Podium Underground Structure 
Parking Spaces/ Unit 1.82 1.55 1.0 

Land Acquisition Costs  $3,157,000               
($69 per SF of land) 

$5,543,600             
($127 per SF of land) 

$2,096,500                       
($76 per SF of land) 

Project Costs per SF of Net Building Area    
Land Cost (a) $56 $82 $63 
Hard Costs (b) $228 $216 $187 
Soft Costs (c) $93 $99 $114 
Developer Fees $25 $21 $39 
Total Project Costs (d)  $402 $417 $403 

Notes: 
(a) Calculated per square foot of net building area.  
(b) Excludes prevailing wage requirements for on-site and off-site hard costs.  
(c) Includes design, engineering, city permits and fees, construction interest, contingencies, legal, etc.  
(d) Total costs include developer fees.  

Acronyms: 
SF: Square feet 

Source: Confidential Pro Forma Data; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 

To ensure that the land value assumptions used in the rental development cost estimates (ranging from $69 
to $127 per square foot of land) were reasonable, the consultant team analyzed recent sales of vacant 
properties in San Mateo County using DataQuick, a commercial vendor that tracks real estate transactions. 
Cities with fewer than three vacant land transactions were excluded from the analysis. As shown below in 
Figure IV-6, land values in San Mateo County are highly variable from city to city, ranging from $45 to 
$300 per square foot; the average sales price for the selected sites in the County was $189 per square foot. 
The analysis demonstrates the land cost assumptions used to calculate rental housing costs (in Figure IV-
5) represent the lower range of current land values, which results in a lower affordability gap estimate. The 
lower gap estimate is a more conservative approach, because it results in a lower maximum fee calculation, 
as described in Section V. 
 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-58- 

Figure IV-6. Sales of Vacant Lands in San Mateo County, 2014 

Jurisdiction 
Number 

Transactions 
Average 

Sales Price 
Average Site 

Size (SF) 

Average 
Sales Price/ 

SF Land 

Belmont 4 $920,000 6,383 $165 

Menlo Park 6 $1,239,500 5,802 $220 

Pacifica 4 $487,000 7,221 $111 

San Bruno 13 $933,769 3,259 $295 

San Mateo 8 $1,314,188 5,424 $300 

Unincorporated San Mateo County 4 $224,250 5,194 $45 

Average of Records  $853,118 5,547 $189 
Notes: Includes data from cities with 3 or more transactions of vacant land in San Mateo County from January through May 
2014. Records with missing sales or land area information were eliminated.  
Acronyms: 
  SF: Square feet 
Sources: DataQuick, January-May 2014; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 

For-Sale Housing  
Since affordable housing developers do not typically build for-sale housing in San Mateo County, the cost 
of developing new, modest for-sale housing was estimated using two data methods: the first method used 
price data for recently built condominium units as a proxy for development costs; the second approach 
estimated development costs based on published market and cost data for similar projects in San Mateo 
County. Each of these cost estimate approaches is described in more detail below. 
 
Review of condominium sales data – In this approach, average sales prices from condominium units built 
in San Mateo County between 2008 and 2012 are used as a proxy for development costs 17 This approach 
assumes that construction costs, land costs, soft costs, and developer profit are all included in the unit sales 
price. Using data provided by DataQuick, the consultant team analyzed sales prices of condominium units 
of various sizes in the seven cities that experienced condominium development that exceeded 10 units in 
the aggregate between 2008 and 2012. These seven cities included Brisbane, East Palo Alto, Millbrae, 
Redwood City, San Carlos, San Mateo City, and South San Francisco. The other jurisdictions in San Mateo 
County experienced little or no condominium development during this time period. Figure IV-7 summarizes 
the information that was used to generate a per-square-foot cost for condominium development of $420.  
 
Cost estimate of hypothetical condominium project - The second approach relied on published industry 
data sources and recent financial feasibility studies to estimate the development costs of a hypothetical 
condominium project, as described in Figure IV-8.18  Land costs were estimated based on recent DataQuick 
land transactions shown in Figure IV-6. RS Means cost data, adjusted for the Bay Area’s construction costs, 
was used to calculate hard costs. Based on a review of recent financial feasibility analyses in the Bay Area, 
soft costs were estimated at 30 percent of hard costs, and developer fees and profits were estimated at 12 
percent of hard and soft costs. Using this second method, the development costs are estimated at $495 per 

                                                      
17 Ideally, cost estimates would be based only on projects built in the last year or two. However, the decline in new 
construction after 2007 necessitated that the analysis use several years’ worth of data in order to estimate for-sale 
housing costs. Since costs are not adjusted for inflation, they may be slightly lower than actual costs required for a new 
project to be built in 2014 or 2015. This approach is more conservative – and likely more accurate – than applying 
across-the-board inflation factors to historic costs. Furthermore, the increasing cost of residentially zoned, high density 
parcels is the main source of development cost increase.  Adjusting land costs for inflation is not easily done.  
18 The hypothetical condominium building type is a Type V building with underground parking and floor-area ratio of 
1.7. The building characteristics are described in Figure IV-8. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-59- 

net square foot of building area.  In order to ensure that the results of the affordability gap analysis are 
conservative, the lower development cost estimate of $420 per net square foot was selected for ownership 
units. 
 
Figure IV-7. Condominium Sales: Average Unit Characteristics and Prices for Selected Cities in San Mateo 
County (2008-2012) 

Jurisdiction 
Average Number 

of Bathrooms 
Average Number 

of Bedrooms 
Average 

Square Feet 
Average Price 

per Square Foot 
Average 

Unit Price 
Brisbane 1.2 1.5 892 $413 $368,625 
East Palo Alto 1.8 1.3 1,029 $340 $349,991 
Millbrae 1.9 2 1,290 $429 $553,893 
Redwood City 2.7 2.9 1,933 $402 $776,655 
San Carlos 1.8 1.8 1,066 $508 $541,932 
San Mateo City 2.3 2.2 1,545 $439 $677,430 
South San Francisco 1.7 1.8 981 $427 $418,740 
     Average 1.9 1.9 1,248 $423 $527,401 

Sources: DataQuick, Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 
Figure IV-8. Estimate of Development Costs of Hypothetical Condominium Project 

Building Characteristics  
Land Area (SF)                 110,727  
Gross Building Area (SF)                 188,235  
Net Building Area (SF)                 160,000  
Number of Units                         100  
Parking Type Underground 
Floor-area ratio (FAR)                          1.7  
Density (units per acre)                           39  
Average Unit Size                     1,600  
Land Acquisition Costs per Square Foot (a) $189 

   
Development Cost  Cost per Net SF 

Land Cost (b) $131 
Hard Costs  $250 
Soft Costs (c) $75 
Developer Fees (d) $39 

Total Development Costs $495 
Notes:  
(a) Land value is calculated based on DataQuick records of vacant land transactions in 
the county. See Figure IV-6. 
(b) Calculated based on RS Means cost estimates per square foot of net building area.   
(c) Estimated at 30 percent of hard costs. Includes design, engineering, city permits 
and fees, construction interest, contingencies, legal, etc.  
(d) Estimated at 12 percent of hard costs and soft costs. 
Acronyms: 
SF: square feet 
Sources: RS Means, 2014; DataQuick 2014; Recent financial feasibility studies; 
Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 

Cost Estimates by Unit Size 
The data sources described above also provided information on estimated unit sizes. Unit size information 
is needed to translate costs/sales prices per square foot to unit costs. Unit sizes are estimated separately for 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-60- 

rental and for-sale units. For the rental units, the recent inventory of projects developed by MidPen Housing 
in San Mateo County was analyzed. For ownership units, the average sizes of recently built condominium 
units (Figure IV-7) were analyzed. 
 
Figure IV-9 provides the unit sizes and development cost estimates for rental units. Per-unit development 
costs were calculated by multiplying average unit sizes by the per-square foot development costs of $410. 
Rental unit costs range from $205,000 for studio units to $479,700 for three-bedroom units. 
 
Figure IV-10 summarizes the costs of condominium units. The per-unit costs were derived by multiplying 
the average unit size by the development cost per square foot of $420. Condominium development costs 
range from $357,000 for one-bedroom units to $672,000 for three-bedroom units. 
 

Figure IV-9. Rental Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs 

Unit Type 
Estimated Cost 

per Net SF 
Unit Size       
(net SF) 

Development 
Costs 

Studio $410 500 $205,000 
One bedroom $410 700 $287,000 
Two bedroom $410 970 $397,700 
Three bedroom $410 1,170 $479,700 

Acronyms: 
 SF: Square feet 
Sources: Confidential Pro Forma Data; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 
Figure IV-10. For-Sale Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs 

Unit Type 
Estimated Cost 

per Net SF 
Unit Size       
(net SF) 

Development 
Costs 

One bedroom $420 850 $357,000 
Two bedroom $420 1,200 $504,000 
Three bedroom $420 1,600 $672,000 

Acronyms: 
 SF: Square feet 
Sources: DataQuick, 2014; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-61- 

CALCULATING THE HOUSING AFFORDABILITY GAP 

The final step in the analysis is to calculate the housing affordability gap, or the difference between what 
renters and owners can afford to pay and the total cost of developing new units. The purpose of the housing 
affordability gap calculation is to help determine the fee amount that would be necessary to cover the cost 
of developing housing for very low, low, and moderate income households. The calculation does not 
assume the availability of any other source of housing subsidy because not all "modest" housing is built 
with public subsidies, and tax credits and tax-exempt bond financing are highly competitive programs that 
will not always be available to developers of modest housing units. 
 
Figure IV-11 shows the housing affordability gap calculation for rental units. For each rental housing unit 
type and income level, the gap is defined as the difference between the per-unit cost of development and 
the supportable debt per unit. The supportable debt is calculated based on the net operating income 
generated by an affordable monthly rent, incorporating assumptions about operating expenses (including 
property taxes, insurance, etc.), reserves, vacancy and collection loss, and mortgage terms based on 
discussions with local affordable housing developers. Because household sizes are not uniform and the 
types of units each household may occupy is variable, the average housing affordability gap is calculated 
by averaging the housing affordability gaps for the various unit sizes.   
 
Figure IV-12 shows the housing affordability gap calculation for ownership units. For each unit type, the 
gap is calculated as the difference between the per-unit cost of development and the affordable sales price 
for each income level. As with rental housing, the average housing affordability gap for each income level 
is calculated by averaging the housing affordability gaps across unit sizes in order to reflect that households 
in each income group vary in size, and may occupy any of these unit types.  
 
Finally, the tenure-neutral estimates of the housing affordability gap were estimated for very low, low, and 
moderate income households (Figure IV-13). Because very low and low income households that are looking 
for housing in today’s market are much more likely to be renters, an ownership gap was not calculated for 
these income groups. The rental gap represents the overall affordability gap for these two income groups. 
On the other hand, moderate income households could be either renters or owners. Therefore, the rental and 
ownership gaps are averaged for this income group to calculate the overall affordability gap for moderate 
income households.  The calculated average affordability gap per unit is $280,783 for very low income 
households; $240,477 for low income households, and $175,558 for moderate income households. The 
housing affordability gap is highest for very low income households because those households with higher 
incomes can afford to pay more for housing. 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 -62- 

Figure IV-11. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for Rental Housing 

Income Level and Unit Type 

Unit 
Size 
(SF) 

Maximum 
Monthly 
Rent (a) 

Annual 
Income 

Net 
Operating 

Income 
(b) 

Available 
for Debt 
Service 

(c) 
Supportable 

Debt (d) 
Development 

Costs (e) 
Affordability 

Gap 
Very Low Income (50% AMI)       

Studio 500 $961 $11,532 $3,455 $2,764 $36,552 $205,000 $168,448 
1 Bedroom 700 $1,091 $13,095 $4,940 $3,952 $52,259 $287,000 $234,741 
2 Bedroom 970 $1,220 $14,634 $6,402 $5,122 $67,725 $397,700 $329,975 
3 Bedroom 1,170 $1,402 $16,824 $8,483 $6,786 $89,733 $479,700 $389,967 

Average Affordability Gap      $280,783 
         

Low Income (70% AMI)        
Studio 500 $1,233 $14,793 $6,553 $5,243 $69,323 $205,000 $135,677 
1 Bedroom 700 $1,402 $16,824 $8,483 $6,786 $89,733 $287,000 $197,267 
2 Bedroom 970 $1,569 $18,831 $10,389 $8,312 $109,902 $397,700 $287,798 
3 Bedroom 1,170 $1,807 $21,680 $13,096 $10,477 $138,535 $479,700 $341,165 

Average Affordability Gap      $240,477 
         

Moderate Income (90% AMI)         
Studio 500 $1,593 $19,119 $10,663 $8,530 $112,796 $205,000 $92,204 
1 Bedroom 700 $1,814 $21,768 $13,180 $10,544 $139,417 $287,000 $147,583 
2 Bedroom 970 $2,033 $24,393 $15,673 $12,539 $165,796 $397,700 $231,904 
3 Bedroom 1,170 $2,342 $28,108 $19,202 $15,362 $203,127 $479,700 $276,573 

Average Affordability Gap           $187,066 
Notes: 

(a) Affordable rents are based on State of California Housing and Community Development FY 2014 Income Limits for San Mateo County. See Figure IV-2.  
(b) Amount available for debt. Assumes 5% vacancy and collection loss and $7,500 per unit per year for operating expenses and reserves based on recently built (2012-2014) and 
proposed affordable housing projects in the San Francisco Bay Area. 
(c) Assumes 1.25 Debt Coverage Ratio. 
(d) Assumes 6.38%, 30 year loan. Calculations based on annual payments. 
(e) Assumes $410/SF for development costs based on comparable project pro formas. 
(f) Calculated as the difference between development costs and supportable debt. 

Acronyms: 
SF: Square feet 
AMI: Area median income 

Sources: Housing and Community Development, 2014; Selected San Mateo Rental Housing Pro Formas; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-63- 

Figure IV-12. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for For-Sale Condominium Housing 

Income Level 
and Unit Type Unit Size (SF) 

Affordable 
Sales Price 

(a) 
Development 

Costs (b) 
Affordability Gap 

(c) 
     

Moderate Income (110% of AMI)   
1 Bedroom 850 $283,931 $357,000 $73,069 
2 Bedroom 1,200 $348,526 $504,000 $155,474 
3 Bedroom 1,600 $408,395 $672,000 $263,605 

Average Affordability Gap     $164,049 
 Notes: 

(a) See calculation in Figure IV-3. 
(b) Assumes $420/SF for development costs, based on recent condominium sales data. 
(c) Calculated as the difference between development cost and affordable sales price. 

Acronyms: 
SF: Square feet 
AMI: Area median income 

Sources: DataQuick Sales Data, 2008-2012; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

  

Figure IV-13. Average Housing Affordability Gap by Income Group 

Income Level Rental Gap Ownership Gap 
Average 

Affordability Gap 
Very Low Income (50% AMI) $280,783 N/A $280,783 
Low Income (70% - 80% AMI) (a) $240,477 N/A $240,477 
Moderate Income (90% - 110% AMI) (b) $187,066 $164,049 $175,558 
Notes: 
   (a) Low income households are defined at 70 percent of AMI for renters and 80 percent of AMI for owners.  
   (b) Moderate income households are defined at 90 percent of AMI for renters and 110 percent AMI for owners.  
 Acronyms:  AMI: Area median income.   
Source: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-64- 

This section builds on the findings of the previous analytical steps to calculate the maximum justified 
linkage fees for each commercial prototype.  

MAXIMUM FEE CALCULATION 

To derive the maximum nexus-based fee, the housing affordability gap (see Section IV) is applied to the 
number of lower-income worker households linked to the prototypes. This is the basis for developing an 
estimate of the total affordability gap for each prototype. The total gap for each prototype is then divided 
by the size of each development prototype to calculate a single maximum fee per square foot.  
 
Figure V-1 presents the results of the linkage fee calculations for each prototype. The calculations shown 
below assume that 100 percent of the very low, low, and moderate income households linked to the new 
commercial space would be accommodated in Menlo Park.  The maximum fee results are $154 per square 
foot for hotel, $265 per square foot for retail/ restaurants/ services, and $255 per square foot for office/ 
R&D/ medical office.  
 
The calculated linkage fees are high for two reasons: 1) the cost of housing development in San Mateo 
County is high, creating a large affordability gap for very low, low, and moderate income households; 2) 
many of the workers associated with new commercial development, especially those in the retail and hotel 
industries, earn low wages and fall into very low and low income household categories. For these reasons, 
the highest fees are associated with retail/ restaurant/ personal services, generally referred to as service 
industries. Occupations in these industries offer workers the lowest average wage; hence the total 
affordability gap is highest for these employee households. Although average wages for hotel workers are 
similarly low, the density of workers in hotels is lower than in retail and in office/ R&D/ medical office 
space; therefore maximum linkage fees for hotels are the lowest among the three prototypes. Finally, while 
office workers earn the highest average wage of all three prototypes, the employment density of this 
prototype is the highest. Therefore, the calculated fees for the category covering office/ R&D/ medical 
office are higher than those calculated for hotel developments, and lower than the retail/ restaurants/ 
services. 
 
The maximum fees shown in Figure V-1 are not the recommended fees for adoption. They are the nexus-
justified fees that represent the maximum that the City of Menlo Park could charge to mitigate affordable 
housing demand related to commercial development. 
 
Figure V-1. Maximum Commercial Linkage Fees  

  
Worker Households 
Requiring Affordable 

Housing 

Total 
Affordability 

Gap 
Size of 

Prototype (SF) 
Maximum Fee 

per SF 
Hotel 61 $15,411,161  100,000 $154  
Retail, Restaurants and Personal 
Services 

97 $26,497,820  100,000 $265  

Office, R&D and Medical Office 105 $25,538,453  100,000 $255  
 Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
 
 

V. MAXIMUM LINKAGE FEES 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-65- 

SUMMARY OF CONSERVATIVE ASSUMPTIONS  

 
 Employment density assumptions. For each commercial building prototype, an average 

employment density was applied based on a combination of national survey data for existing 
commercial buildings and a review of recently completed linkage fee nexus studies in the Bay Area. 
In order to create conservative assumptions about the number of jobs associated with new 
commercial development, the lower range of the density figures were selected for the analysis. 
Though some office developments in the Bay Area have much higher employment densities, 
particularly for high-technology tenants, the analysis used a lower estimate of density for the 
office/R&D/medical office prototype, resulting in a lower maximum fee estimate. 
 

 Cost estimates for affordability gap analysis. The affordability gap analysis measures the 
difference between what households can afford to pay for housing and the cost of new housing 
units. To ensure that the gap is conservative, the development cost estimates are based on the lower 
range of land and construction costs in San Mateo County. In many sub-areas of the county, 
including priority-development areas and downtown locations, land costs for housing sites may be 
higher, particularly under today’s market conditions. 
 

 Exclusion of extremely low income households. Although new commercial development could 
potentially have impacts on affordable housing demand from extremely low income households, 
those impacts are not included in the analysis, thereby reducing the total fee calculation.  
 

 Affordability gap for owner households. The calculation of the affordability gap for ownership 
households only considers moderate-income households. Low and very low income households are 
not considered in the calculation. This also results in a lower estimate of the maximum fee. 
 

 Feasibility analysis. The analysis takes into account the financial feasibility of adding the 
maximum impact fee and reduced fee levels to the total cost of new development. The financial 
feasibility component of the analysis incorporates market-supportable assumptions about revenues, 
costs, land costs, and developer return expectations based on research on recent development 
trends. The results of financial analysis informed the final recommendations on the linkage fee. 
 

 Comparison to other jurisdictions. The Consultant Team researched existing linkage fee in other 
Bay Area cities to determine the competitiveness of the maximum fee and reduced fee levels. The 
fee recommendations in this report incorporate the findings from the comparative analysis. 
 

 Overlap analysis. The City is undertaking two impact fee nexus studies at the same time: the 
commercial linkage fee nexus study and the housing impact fee nexus study. To minimize the 
potential that some jobs could be double-counted by including the same worker households in both 
studies, the Consultant Team ensured that the recommended fees for the two programs (commercial 
linkage and housing fees) would – when combined –mitigate less than 100 percent of the total 
impact. 

 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-66- 

There are a number of policy considerations that can be taken into account when a jurisdiction considers an 
update to its commercial linkage fee. These policy factors include the likely impact of the proposed fee 
levels on future development, the potential increase to the city’s existing fees on commercial development, 
a comparison of proposed linkage fees with those fees already charged in adjacent jurisdictions, and how 
potential revenues from new linkage fees can benefit the city’s overall affordable housing goals. This 
section provides a discussion of some of the key financial and policy questions for Menlo Park.  

PROTOTYPES AND FEE LEVELS 

Commercial Prototypes 
 
As described in Section III, the analysis estimates linkage fees for three commercial prototypes: hotel, retail/ 
restaurants/ services, and office/ R&D/ medical office.  The building characteristics, including size, density 
(floor-area-ratio), and parking assumptions are based on a review of recently built and proposed projects in 
San Mateo County (Figure VI-1). The financial feasibility of potential fee levels is tested for each of these 
prototypes.   
 
Figure VI-1. Description of Commercial Prototypes 

  Hotel 

Retail/ 
Restaurants/ 

Services 

Office/R&D/ 
Medical 
Office 

Prototype Description    
Gross Building Area (GBA) 100,000 100,000 100,000 
Podium Parking Area 11,970 30,000 63,000 
Gross Building Area including Podium Parking (SF) 111,970 130,000 163,000 
Efficiency Ratio (a) N/A 0.95 0.9 
Net Leasable Sq. Ft. (NSF) N/A 95,000 90,000 
Hotel Rooms 133   
Parking Spaces 160 400 300 

Podium Parking 40 100 210 
Surface Parking 120 300 90 

Floor Area Ratio (b) 1.1 0.5 2.0 
Land Area (Acres) 2.3 6.0 1.9 
Land Area (SF) 101,791 260,000 81,500 
Notes:    

(a) Refers to ratio of gross building area to net leasable area. An efficiency ratio of 0.9 means that 90% of the gross building 
area is leasable. 
(b) The floor-area-ratio (FAR) is often used as a measure of density. In this analysis, it is calculated as the gross building area 
(including podium parking) divided by the total land area.  

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015.   
 

 

VI. FEASIBILITY AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-67- 

Fee Levels 
In order to provide Menlo Park with some guidance on how proposed fees could impact development 
decisions, the Consultant Team conducted a financial feasibility analysis that tested the impact of the 
maximum linkage fee, the existing fee, and other potential fee levels, on developer profit. Figure VI-2 
illustrates the different fee scenarios by prototype. 
 
Figure VI-2. Linkage Fee Scenarios by Prototype 

Fee Scenarios  Hotel 
Retail/ Restaurants / 

Services 
Office/ R&D/ Medical 

Office 
Existing Fee $8.76  $8.76  $16.15  
Scenario 1 - Maximum Fee $154.11  $264.98  $255.38  
Scenario 2 $15  $15  $50  
Scenario 3 $10  $10  $35  
Scenario 4 $5  $5  $25  

 Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
 

METHODOLOGY  

Financial feasibility was tested using a pro forma model that measures the return on cost of the commercial 
prototypes. Return on cost is a commonly used metric indicating the profitability of a commercial project. 
The pro forma model tallies all development costs, including land, direct construction costs, indirect costs 
(including financing), and developer fees. Revenues from lease rates or hotel room rates are the basis for 
calculating annual income from the new commercial development. The total operating costs are subtracted 
from the total revenues to calculate the annual net operating income. The return on cost is then estimated 
by dividing the annual net operating income by the total development costs. The fee levels were then added 
as an additional development cost to measure the resulting change in the developer’s return on cost.   

KEY INPUTS 

The key revenue and cost inputs to the financial pro forma analysis are based on market research and 
published resources. The data inputs are explained in more detail below. 

Revenues 
To estimate income from commercial development, the analysis used rental data from Costar for the 
Southern San Mateo County sub-market for existing retail and office buildings. A 20 percent increase was 
applied to account for the value premium of new commercial space. Hotel room revenue is estimated based 
on July 2015 estimates of average daily rates ($210 per room) and occupancy rates (80 percent) obtained 
from HVS Consulting and Smith Travel Research for the Silicon Valley market area. A five percent increase 
in room rates was applied to account for the higher rates achieved in the Menlo Park market. The revenue 
inputs are shown in Figure VI-3.  

Direct and Indirect Costs 
Cost estimates for the commercial prototypes include direct construction costs (site work, building costs, 
and parking), indirect costs, financing costs, and developer overhead and profit. Direct building 
construction cost estimates for office/ R&D/ medical office and retail/ restaurants/ services are based on 
RS Means. Hotel costs were estimated based on recent data from HVS Consulting and Smith Travel 
Research, and include costs for Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment (FF&E). Direct and indirect cost inputs 
for the pro forma analysis are shown in Figure VI-4.  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-68- 

Land Costs 
One of the critical cost factors for a commercial development project is land cost. To determine the land 
value of sites zoned for commercial uses, the Consultant Team analyzed recent sales transactions in the 
county and reviewed third-party property appraisals, with a focus on the Southern San Mateo County 
submarket (where the City of Menlo Park is located). According to the data, land value for commercially 
zoned land sold in recent years is $122 per square foot. Based on this work, the pro forma analysis estimated 
a land value of $125 per square foot in Menlo Park (see Figure VI-5). The actual value of any particular 
site is likely to vary based on its location, amenities, and property owner expectations, among other factors. 

Return on Cost Thresholds 
In order to understand how the different fee levels impact financial feasibility, the return on cost results can 
be compared to an investor’s expectations for each type of development. The thresholds for this analysis 
were pegged to investor expectations regarding overall capitalization rates (cap rate) for each product type 
in the Bay Area. The cap rate, which is measured by dividing net income generated by a property by the 
total project value, is a commonly used metric to estimate potential returns. Lower cap rates signify high 
performing markets. In this analysis, the total project value is equivalent to the total development cost. 
PWC Real Estate Investor Survey (Fourth Quarter 2014) was the primary data source for determining cap 
rates for office/ R&D/ medical office and retail/restaurant/services uses. For hotel, cap rate data was 
obtained from HVS, a hotel consulting firm that tracks hotel markets.  
 
To ensure that the financial analysis is conservative and does not reflect peak market conditions, the 
thresholds selected for determining project feasibility are slightly higher than the published cap rates. It was 
determined that the threshold for the return on cost is between 6.75 percent and 7.0 percent for office/ R&D/ 
medical office and retail/ restaurants/ services prototypes, and between 7.0 percent and 7.25 percent for 
hotel (see Figure VI-6). 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-69- 

Figure VI-3. Pro Forma Revenue Inputs by Prototype 

Prototypes Metric Input 

Hotel   
  Average Daily Room Rate Per Room $220  
  Occupancy Rate Annual 80% 
  Revenue per Available Room  Per Room $176  
  Other Revenue per Room Per Room $30  
  Gross Annual Room Income (a) RevPAR $64,240  
  Gross Annual Other Revenue Per Room $10,950  
  Less: Vacancy (b)   $0  
  Less: Operating Expenses (c) 70% $52,633  
  Annual Net Operating Income  $22,557  
     
Retail/Services   
 Revenues and Expenses (d)   
  Monthly Rent - Triple Net per NSF $43  
  Operating Expenses % of Gross 10% 
  Vacancy Rate % of Gross 3% 
 Estimates   
  Net Square Footage  95,000  
  Annual Gross Revenues  $4,085,000  
  Operating Expenses  ($408,500) 
  Vacancy Rate  ($122,550) 
  Annual Net Operating Income  $3,553,950  
     
Office/R&D   
 Revenues and Expenses (d)   
  Monthly Rent - Gross per NSF $65  
  Operating Expenses % of Gross 28% 
  Vacancy Rate % of Gross 5% 
 Estimates   
  Net Square Footage  90,000  
  Annual Gross Revenues  $5,850,000  
  Operating Expenses  ($1,638,000) 
  Vacancy Rate  ($292,500) 
  Net Operating Income  $3,919,500  
          
Notes:   
 (a) RevPAR is a measure of revenue per room, calculated as occupancy 

percentage times average daily rate.  

 
(b) Expense ratio for limited service and full-service hotels, based on a report from 
HVS and STR Consulting, July 2015. 

 (c)Vacancy is already reflected in RevPAR estimate.  

 
(d) Costar Group average rents in the Southern San Mateo County submarket. A 
premium of 20% is applied to account for newer product. 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study   
 -70- 

Figure VI-4. Direct and Indirect Cost Inputs 

Development  Assumptions  Metric Hotel 

Retail/ 
Restaurants/ 

Services 
Office/R&D/ 

Medical Office 
Direct Costs (a)     

Building & On-Site Improvements (b) per sq. ft. of GBA $200 $130 $200 
Parking Costs - Podium per space $25,000 $25,000 $25,000 
Parking Costs - Surface per space $2,500 $2,500 $2,500 

Indirect Costs (c)      
A&E & Consulting % of Direct Costs 8% 8% 8% 
Tenant Improvements per NSF N/A $30 $40 
Permits & Fees (d)   total vary by city vary by city vary by city 
Taxes, Insurance, Legal & Accounting % of Direct Costs 3% 3% 3% 
Financing Costs % of Direct Costs 6% 6% 6% 
Developer Overhead &Fee % of Direct Costs 9% 9% 9% 
Contingency % of Indirect Costs 5% 5% 5% 

Notes:      

(a) Review of pro formas for similar projects in San Mateo County; RS Means, 2014.   
(b) Hotel costs include Furniture, Fixtures & Equipment (FF&E).     
(c) Indirect costs (except permits and fees) based on review of pro formas for similar projects in Bay Area.   
(d) Permits & Fee provided by County staff.      

Sources: Project pro formas; RS Means, 2014; HVS Consulting and Smith Travel Research, 2014; City staff; Strategic Economics, 2015.  
 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study   
 -71- 

Figure VI-5. Recent Commercial Vacant Land Transactions in San Mateo County 

 

Property City Site Area 
Sale Price/ 

Appraised Value Sale Price/ SF Sale Date 

Central San Mateo County     
480 East 4th Ave San Mateo 50,573 $5,100,000  $101  2013 

1804 Leslie Street San Mateo 13,939 $1,000,000  $72  2011 

900 El Camino Real Belmont 8,400 $655,000  $78  2010 

Average  24,304 $2,251,667  $84   
Northern San Mateo County     

480 El Camino Real Millbrae 5,663 $1,100,000  $194  On Market 
1001-1015 E. Market 
Street Daly City 37,897 $2,250,000  $59  On Market 

6800 Mission Street Daly City 17,424 $1,350,000  $77  2012 

7255 Mission Street Daly City 20,038 $1,225,000  $61  2012 

Average  20,256 1,481,250 $98   
Southern San Mateo County     

3264 Haven Ave Redwood City 27,000 $3,179,000  $118  On Market 

1706 El Camino Real Menlo Park 27,007 $2,200,000  $81  2011 

1300 El Camino Real Menlo Park 145,490 $24,500,000  $168  2012 

Average   27,004 $2,689,500  $122    
Sources: Property appraisals; Loopnet, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-72- 

Figure VI-6. Feasibility Thresholds for Return on Cost 

Prototype Capitalization  Rates 
Selected Threshold for 

Return on Cost 
 
Hotel (a) 

 
6.75% - 7.25% 

 
7.0% - 7.25% 

 
Retail/ Restaurants/ Services (b) 

 
6.21% - 7.05% 

 
6.75% - 7.0% 

 
Office/ R&D/ Medical Office(c) 

 
5.88% - 6.71% 

 
6.75% - 7.0% 

 
Notes:   

(a) HVS Consulting, January 2015. Cap rate data was only available at the national level. However, 
the Bay Area market generally outperforms the rest of the country, so this estimate is likely lower 
than cap rates for San Mateo County. 
(b) PWC Real Estate Investor Survey, National Retail Market, 4th Quarter 2014. Cap rates are lower 
for regional malls and power centers (under 7%) than for strip shopping centers. The feasibility 
threshold is set at the higher end of the range to represent smaller retail centers rather than large 
regional malls. 
(c) PWC Real Estate Investor Survey, San Francisco Office Market, 4th Quarter 2014. Because 
capitalization rates for office may be peaking in the Bay Area market, and R&D and medical office 
uses have higher cap rates, the financial analysis set the threshold at a higher rate. 

Sources: HVS Consulting, January 2015; PWC Real Estate Investor Survey, 4Q2014; Vernazza Wolfe 
Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015. 

RESULTS 

Hotel 
The financial analysis shows that without any commercial linkage fees, the hotel prototype is financially 
feasible (see Figure VI-7). The annual net operating income is approximately $3 million ($22,557 per 
room). The total development costs, including land, direct and indirect costs total about $41 million. The 
net operating income divided by total development costs yields a return on costs of 7.4 percent without the 
linkage fee. The minimum return on cost required for financial feasibility is 7.0 percent. When the existing 
BMR In Lieu Fee of $8.76 per square foot is added to development costs, the calculated return on costs is 
7.2 percent. For the other fee scenarios, the results are as follows: 
 

 The maximum fee level ($154 per square foot) increases total development costs to $56.1 million. 
The maximum fee accounts for 27 percent of total development costs. This fee scenario generates 
a calculated return on cost of 5.4 percent, which is an insufficient return on cost to attract 
development. 
 

 Fee scenario 2, a lower nexus fee of $15 per square foot, is equivalent to 3.56 percent of 
development costs and generates a potential return on costs of 7.1 percent. The project is 
financially feasible with this return on cost.  
 

 Scenario 3, a fee of $10 per square foot, would account for 2.4 percent of development costs. At 
this fee level, the return on cost is estimated at 7.2 percent, which is also financially feasible.  
 

 Scenario 4 is a fee of $5 per square foot. This fee is 1.21 percent of the project’s total development 
costs. The return on costs is estimated at 7.3 percent, which is also financially feasible.  
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-73- 

Retail/ Restaurant/Services  
The feasibility analysis indicates that at current market rents, without the addition of new linkage fees, new 
retail projects would obtain an annual net operating income of approximately $3.6 million, with a total 
development cost of $57.3 million. The net operating income divided by total cost results in a return on 
cost estimate of 6.2 percent (see Figure VI-7).  
 
A retail prototype that provides this return on cost is not financially feasible in today’s market, which would 
require a return of at least 6.75 percent. However in Menlo Park, most new retail development is likely to 
be incorporated into a mixed-use project, and would have stronger financial feasibility results, because it 
would share land costs with the residential or office component. Furthermore, with increased rental rates or 
reductions in land or construction costs, it is possible that the single-use retail prototype could be feasible 
in the near future. 
 
To understand the financial burden of the fee scenarios on overall development costs, the pro forma analysis 
measures the fees as a percent of total development costs. The financial feasibility results for the retail/ 
restaurants/services prototype are as follows: 
 

 Scenario 1, the maximum linkage fee ($265 per square foot) reduces the return on cost to 4.2 
percent. The maximum fee accounts for almost one-third of total development costs. 
 

 Scenario 2 ($15 per square foot) would correspond to 2.6 percent of development costs. At this fee 
level, the retail/restaurant/services prototype generates a return on costs of 6.0 percent.  
 

 Scenario 3, a nexus fee of $10 per square foot, would be equivalent to 1.7 percent of total 
development costs. The calculated return on cost is estimated at 6.1 percent. While this is still 
under the feasibility threshold with today’s rental rates, given that the current retail vacancy rate is 
under five percent, it is likely that the retail market will see growth in rental rates over the short 
term. With a modest increase in rental rates, a new development project with a linkage fee of $10 
per square foot or less could be financially feasible in the near future. 
 

 Scenario 4, a fee of $5 per square foot, accounts for less than one percent of total development 
costs. The return on cost with this linkage fee is estimated at 6.15 percent. For the reasons listed 
above, it is likely that given the strength of the retail market that a new development project with 
a linkage fee of $5 per square foot or less could be financially feasible in the near future. 

 

Office/R&D/Medical Office 
Under a base scenario with no commercial linkage fees on office/R&D/medical office development, a 
prototypical project generates an estimated net operating income of $3.9 million, with total development 
costs estimated at $47.3 million. The net operating income divided by the total development costs results 
in an estimated return on cost of 8.29 percent. A project that provides this return on cost would be financially 
attractive, given that the minimum expected return for this product type is between 6.75 and 7.0 percent 
(see Figure VI -7). When the City’s existing BMR In Lieu fee on office/ R&D/ medical office development 
is applied, the return on cost is still very healthy at over eight percent.  
 
For other fee scenarios, the feasibility analysis yields the following results:  
 

 Scenario 1, a fee set at the maximum level of $255, would account for over one third of total 
development costs for the office/R&D/medical office prototype. The return on cost is estimated at 
5.4 percent, which would not be financially feasible. 
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-74- 

 Scenario 2, a fee level of $50 per square foot, would amount to 9.6 percent of total development 
costs. The calculated return on cost is 7.5 percent, which is financially feasible. 
 

 Scenario 3, a fee level of $35 per square foot, is equivalent to 6.9 percent of total project 
development costs. Under this scenario, the office/R&D/medical office project generates a return 
on cost of 7.7 percent, which is financially feasible.  
 

 The fee scenario 4 of $25 per square foot would be about five percent of total project costs. At this 
fee level, the prototype is financially feasible, with an estimated return on costs of almost 7.9 
percent.  

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-75- 

Figure VI-7. Pro Forma Analysis Results 

  Hotel 
Retail/Restaurants/ 

Services 
Office/R&D/Medical 

Office 

Development Costs (a) 
per 

Room Total 
per SF of 

GBA Total 
per SF of 

GBA Total 
Land $95,668 $12,723,864 $325 $32,500,000 $102 $10,187,500 
Direct Costs       

Building & On-Site 
Improvements $150,376 $20,000,000 $130 $13,000,000 $200 $20,000,000 
Parking $9,750 $1,296,750 $33 $3,250,000 $55 $5,475,000 

Total Direct Costs $160,126 $21,296,750 $163 $16,250,000 $255 $25,475,000 
Indirect Costs       

A&E & Consulting $12,810 $1,703,740 $13 $1,300,000 $20 $2,038,000 
Tenant Improvements   $29 $2,850,000 $36 $3,600,000 
FF&E (b) $0 $0     
Permits & Fees (Excl. BMR In 
Lieu Fee) (c)  $6,785 $902,410 $12 $1,165,979 $10 $986,716 
Taxes, Insurance, Legal & 
Accounting $4,804 $638,903 $5 $487,500 $8 $764,250 
Financing Costs $9,608 $1,277,805 $10 $975,000 $15 $1,528,500 
Developer Overhead & fee $13,611 $1,810,224 $14 $1,381,250 $22 $2,165,375 
Contingency $2,381 $316,654 $4 $407,986 $6 $554,142 

Total Indirect Costs $49,998 $6,649,735 $86 $8,567,715 $116 $11,636,983 
Total Development Costs (TDC) 
without Nexus Fees  $40,670,348  $57,317,715  $47,299,483 
       

TDC with Nexus Fees by Fee 
Scenario 

Linkage 
Fee/SF 

TDC incl. 
Linkage 

Impact Fee 
Linkage 
Fee/SF 

TDC incl. 
Linkage 

Impact Fee 
Linkage 
Fee/SF 

TDC incl. 
Linkage 

Impact Fee 
No Fee $0.00 $40,670,348 $0.00 $57,317,715 $0.00 $47,299,483 
Existing BMR In Lieu Fee $8.76  $41,546,348  $8.76  $58,193,715  $16.15  $48,914,483  
Scenario 1: Maximum Fee $154.11 $56,081,510 $264.98 $83,815,535 $255.38 $72,837,936 
Scenario 2 $15.00 $42,170,348 $15.00 $58,817,715 $50.00 $52,299,483 
Scenario 3 $10.00 $41,670,348 $10.00 $58,317,715 $35.00 $50,799,483 
Scenario 4 $5.00 $41,170,348 $5.00 $57,817,715 $25.00 $49,799,483 

       

Revenues 
per 

Room Total 
per SF of 

GBA Total 
per SF of 

GBA Total 
Annual Net Operating Income (d) $22,557 $3,000,081 $36 $3,553,950 $39 $3,919,500 
       

Return on Cost by Fee 
Scenario: 

Nexus 
Fee per 

SF 
Return on 

Costs 

Nexus 
Fee per 

SF 
Return on 

Costs 

Nexus 
Fee per 

SF 
Return on 

Costs 
No Fee $0.00 7.38% $0.00 6.20% $0.00 8.29% 
Existing BMR In Lieu Fee $8.76  7.22% $8.76  6.11% $16.15  8.01% 
Scenario 1: Maximum Fee $154.11 5.35% $264.98 4.24% $255.38 5.38% 
Scenario 2 $15.00 7.11% $15.00 6.04% $50.00 7.49% 
Scenario 3 $10.00 7.20% $10.00 6.09% $35.00 7.72% 
Scenario 4 $5.00 7.29% $5.00 6.15% $25.00 7.87% 

       

Fees as % of TDC 

Nexus 
Fee per 

SF 

Nexus Fee 
as % of 

TDC 

Nexus 
Fee per 

SF 
Nexus Fee 

as % of TDC 

Nexus 
Fee per 

SF 
Nexus Fee 

as % of TDC 
No Fee $0.00 0.00% $0.00 0.00% $0.00 0.00% 
Existing BMR In Lieu Fee $8.76  2.11% $8.76  1.51% $16.15  3.30% 
Scenario 1: Maximum Fee $154.11 27.48% $264.98 31.61% $255.38 35.06% 
Scenario 2 $15.00 3.56% $15.00 2.55% $50.00 9.56% 
Scenario 3 $10.00 2.40% $10.00 1.71% $35.00 6.89% 
Scenario 4 $5.00 1.21% $5.00 0.86% $25.00 5.02% 

Return on Cost - Threshold for Feasibility 7.0-7.25%  6.75-7.0%  6.75-7.0% 
Notes:       

(a) See Figure VI-4.       
(b) Furniture Fixtures & Equipment for hotel is included in the direct costs. 
(c) Permit & fee calculations provided by City Staff. These are estimates for the prototypes created in this analysis; specific development projects 
may have different results. 
(d) See Figure VI-3.       

 Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2015. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-76- 

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS   

While the nexus study provides the necessary economic analysis for the linkage fees, it is up to 
policymakers to decide what percentage of the maximum fee to charge to new development.  Financial 
feasibility is one important factor to examine. In addition, there are a number of other policy issues to 
consider, such as:   
 

 How much development fees would increase with a new commercial linkage fee;  

 How a commercial linkage fee in Menlo Park would compare with those in neighboring 
jurisdictions;    

 What options exist for establishing alternatives to the payment of fees; and  

 How a commercial linkage fee fits into Menlo Park’s overall housing strategy  
 

Existing City Fees on Commercial Development  
In addition to its existing BMR in lieu fee, the City of Menlo Park has other permits and fees on new 
development. The City may wish to consider the amount that total fees would increase with an updated 
commercial linkage fee. Based on the current schedule of fees in Menlo Park, existing fees (including the 
existing BMR in lieu fees) for the commercial prototypes are estimated to be $18 per square foot for the 
hotel prototype, $20 per square foot for the retail/restaurants/services prototype, and $26 per square foot 
for the office/R&D/medical office prototype. If the maximum linkage fees were adopted, the total 
development fees and permits would be $163 per square foot for hotel, $277 per square foot for retail, and 
$265 for office, as shown in Figure VI-8.  
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-77- 

Figure VI-8. Existing City Fees on Commercial Development by Prototype 

  Hotel 

Retail/ 
Restaurants/ 

Services 
Office/R&D/ 

Medical Office 
Existing Fees/ Permits per SF (excl. linkage fee) $9  $12  $10  
Current Linkage Fee $9  $9  $16  

Total Existing Fees Per SF $18  $20  $26  
    

 Fee Scenario 1 (Maximum Fees)    
Nexus Fee Per SF $154  $265  $255  
Combined Fees Per SF $163  $277  $265  

    

Fee Scenario 2    
Nexus Fee Per SF $15  $15  $50  
Combined Fees Per SF $24  $27  $60  

    

Fee Scenario 3    
Nexus Fee Per SF $10  $10  $35  
Combined Fees Per SF $19  $22  $45  

    

Fee Scenario 4    
Nexus Fee Per SF $5  $5  $25  
Combined Fees Per SF $14  $17  $35  

Sources: City of Menlo Park, 2014; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2015.  
 

Comparison with Fees Charged in Other Jurisdictions 
Figure VI-9 provides comparative information for Menlo Park and other jurisdictions in San Mateo County 
and Santa Clara County that charge commercial linkage fees. 19 At present, Menlo Park has fees of $8.76 
per square foot for hotel and retail/restaurant/services development, and $16.15 per square foot for 
office/R&D/medical office development. Menlo Park’s existing fees are similar to the linkage fees adopted 
in Sunnyvale, San Francisco and Cupertino, which range from $7.5 to $24 per square foot, depending on 
the land use. In most cases, cities have adopted higher fee levels for office/ R&D/ medical office uses than 
for retail and hotel uses. For example, in Cupertino, the commercial linkage fee for hotel and retail/ 
restaurants/ services is $10 per square foot, compared to $20 per square foot for office/ R&D/ medical office 
uses. The maximum fees for Menlo Park are significantly higher than adopted linkage fees in the region. 
The lower fee scenarios (Scenarios 2, 3, and 4) are similar to those in place in nearby communities. 
 

                                                      
19 It is important to note that Palo Alto is currently conducting a new nexus study that may result in revised commercial 
linkage fees. 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-78- 

Figure VI-9. Comparison to Linkage Fees in Neighboring Cities 

  

Hotel 

Retail/ 
Restaurant/ 

Services 
Office/R&D/ 

Medical Office 

Date Fee 
Was 

Adopted 
Linkage Fee Scenarios (per SF)     

Existing Linkage Fee $9  $9  $16  2000 
Scenario 1 - Maximum Fee $154  $265  $255  N/A 
Scenario 2 $15  $15  $50  N/A 
Scenario 3 $10  $10  $35  N/A 
Scenario 4 $5  $5  $25  N/A 

     
Fees in Nearby Cities     

Cupertino  $10  $10  $20  2015 
Mountain View (a) $2.50  $2.50  $25  2015 
Palo Alto (b) $19  $19  $19  2014 
San Francisco (c)  $18  $22  $16-$24  2015 
Sunnyvale $7.50  $7.50  $15 (d) N/A 

Notes:     
(a) New gross floor area under 25,000 SF pays 50 percent of full fee. 
(b) Palo Alto has a single fee of $19.31 per SF for commercial and industrial projects and for any new gross square footage.  A 
new nexus study is currently underway that may result in an updated fee. 
(c) The fee for R&D is $16.01 and the fee for office is $24.03. The fee for a small enterprise is $18.89.  
(d) The fee on the first 25,000 SF is discounted by 50 percent.  

Sources: City staff and websites; Nonprofit Housing Association of Northern California, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & 
Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 
Other cities in the Bay Area outside of San Mateo and Santa Clara counties also have commercial linkage 
fees that can be compared to the potential fee scenarios for Menlo Park. A summary of some of these 
existing fees is shown in Figure VI-10, based on the most current information available. The fee amounts 
vary significantly by jurisdiction. San Francisco has the highest impact fees on commercial development, 
ranging from $16 for R&D space to $24 for office space. 
 
 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-79- 

Figure VI-10. Existing Linkage Fees in Bay Area Cities 

City 
Commercial Development  
Subject to Fees Fee Amount 

 
Walnut Creek 

 
All development commercially classified i.e. 
R&D, for-profit medical offices/hospitals, etc. 
 

 
$5.00 per SF 

 
Oakland 

 
Office and Warehouse/Distribution 

 
$5.24 per SF used for office of warehouse 
/distribution needs 
beyond 25,000 SF 
 

 
San Francisco 

 
Entertainment, Hotel, Office, R&D, Retail, 
Integrated PDR, Small Enterprise Workspace 

 
Based on type of space and additional gross 
SF past 25,000 
Entertainment/retail: $22.42 per SF  
Office: $24.03 per SF  
Integrated PDR/small enterprise: $18.89 per 
SF  
Hotel: $17.99 per SF  
R&D: $16.01 per SF 
 

 
Dublin 

 
Industrial, Office, R&D, Retail, Services & 
Accommodations 

 
Industrial: $.048 per SF 
Office: $1.24 per SF 
R&D: $0.81 per SF 
Retail: $1.00 per SF 
Services & Acc.: $0.42 per SF 
* Buildings less than 20,000 SF are exempt. 
 

 
Pleasanton 

 
All commercial office or industrial 
development projects 

 
$2.87 per SF 
Adjusted annually based on CPI 

 
Alameda 

 
Retail, Office, Warehousing, Manufacturing, 
Hotel//Motel 

 
Retail: $2.24 per SF 
Office: $4.42 per SF 
Warehouse & Manufacturing: $0.77 per SF 
Hotel/Motel: $1,108 per room/suite 
May be adjusted annually based on CPI 
 

 
Napa 

 
Office, Hotel, Retail, Industrial (Industrial, 
Warehouse, Wine Production) 

 
Office: $1.00 per SF 
Hotel: $3.00 per SF 
Retail: $0.80 per SF 
Industrial: $0.50 per SF 

 
San Rafael 

 
Office or R&D, Retail, Restaurant, Personal 
Service, Manufacturing, Light Industrial, 
Warehouse, Hotel/Motel 

 
5,000 SF or more to provide affordable 
housing units  
or pay a fee * $254,599 per unit 
Office & R&D: 0.03 units 
Retail, Restaurant or Personal Service: 
0.0225 units 
Manufacturing or Light Industrial: 0.01625 
units 
Warehouse: 0.00875 units 
Hotel/Motel: 0.0075 units 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-80- 

Figure VI-12. Summary of Existing Linkage Fees in Other Bay Area Cities (Continued) 

City 
Commercial Development  
Subject to Fees Fee Amount 

Petaluma Commercial, Retail, Industrial Commercial: $2.14 per SF 
Retail: $3.69 per SF 
Industrial: $2.21 per SF 

Emeryville Any development of non residential uses for 
which a discretionary permit or building permit is 
required 

$4.00 per SF 

Berkeley Developments in non-residential and R-4 Zones, 
except in South Berkeley IX Target Area, over 
7,500 SF 

Office/Retail/Restaurant/Hotel/Lodging/R&D: 
$4.50 per SF 
Industrial/Manufacturing/Warehouse/Storage: 
$2.25 per sq. ft 

Sources: The Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California, Strategic Economics, and Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc, 
2015. 

  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-81- 

Options for Establishing Alternatives to Payment of Fees  
When Menlo Park updates its ordinance governing commercial linkage fees, it can provide options that 
developers may choose instead of the payment of fees. For example, one option would be for the developer 
to provide affordable housing units on- or off-site or to provide a building site for affordable housing. This 
flexibility is provided to allow development of creative solutions that may provide more affordable housing 
than would be created by payment of fees. Regardless of whether a commercial developer elects to provide 
affordable housing or provide a building site, it is necessary to calculate how these alternatives would 
compare with any fees established by the City. 
 
The first step in establishing options for a specific development project would be for the City to calculate 
the total fees that are owed by the new development. Then, establishing an alternative compliance method 
will depend on what is offered by the developer. For example, if the developer offers to provide land for an 
affordable housing site, a recent site appraisal generally suffices to place a value on a contribution of land. 
This land value can then be compared with the fees that the developer would normally pay. If, instead of 
paying a fee, the developer elects to provide affordable housing units, it is also possible to estimate the 
value of these units by multiplying the number of affordable units to be provided by a current affordability 
gap estimate per unit. The value of alternative compliance measures needs to be calculated at the time a 
developer requests one. 
   

Benefit to the City of Menlo Park’s Overall Affordable Housing Strategy  
 
The City of Menlo Park adopted its Below Market Rate Housing Ordinance in 1988, which set up an 
inclusionary housing program for residential development. The inclusionary housing program requires that 
all residential developments of five or more units provide below-market rate units. Since 2009, due to the 
Palmer court decision, the City has not enforced BMR requirements on rental residential projects; the 
requirement only applies to for-sale housing development projects. Projects with 20 units or less are 
required to provide at least 10 percent of the units at BMR prices, and projects with more than 20 units are 
required to provide 15 percent of units at BMR prices. In some cases, the payment of in lieu fees is 
permitted.  
 
In addition to the inclusionary housing program, the ordinance also enabled the establishment of a 
commercial linkage fee on commercial developments of 10,000 square feet or more (churches, schools, and 
public facilities are exempt). The fees for the upcoming 2015-2016 fiscal year are approximately $16 per 
square foot for office and R&D uses, and $8 per square foot for retail, hotel, and other commercial uses.  
 
The revenues collected from the commercial linkage fee provide an important source of local funding for 
affordable housing; however, fee revenues do not generally cover the entire funding gap encountered by 
sponsors of new affordable housing. Additional funding is almost always required.  
 
Currently, affordable housing in the City of Menlo Park is funded through the use of a variety of sources, 
including funding provided by the City and San Mateo County, as well as the federal government, e.g., 
CDBG and HOME. Equity required for affordable housing development is also provided directly by 
developers and indirectly raised through the allocation and sale of Low Income Housing Tax Credits. Also, 
a portion of permanent financing comes from conventional loans obtained from private lending institutions.  
 
 
Commercial linkage fee revenues would continue to be deposited into the City’s Housing Fund to support 
affordable housing for extremely low, very low, low and moderate income households. The City’s Housing. 
The existence of a local revenue source such as linkage fees can also make certain projects more competitive 
for outside funding.  It should be noted that revenues from a commercial linkage fee need to be spent on 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-82- 

housing that benefits the workforce since the funds stem from affordable housing impacts related to new 
employment.   
 

Potential for Overlap between Residential and Commercial Fees   
The Consultant Team has prepared a housing impact fee nexus study simultaneous to this commercial 
linkage fee nexus study. The City has the option of adopting housing impact fee as well as the commercial 
linkage fee considered in this report. One issue that may arise if a city considers the adoption of both fees 
is whether there is any overlap between the two impact fees, resulting in potential “double-counting” of 
impacts. 
 
The commercial linkage fee study examined jobs located in new commercial buildings including office/ 
R&D/ medical office buildings, retail/ restaurants/ services, and hotels. The nexus analysis then calculated 
the average wages of the workers associated with each commercial building to derive the annual income of 
the new worker households. The analysis determines the area median income (AMI) level of the new worker 
households to identify the number of worker households that would require affordable housing. 

 
The housing impact fee nexus analysis provided in a separate nexus report to the City examined households 
buying or renting new market rate units in the jurisdiction. The household expenditures by these new 
residents have an economic impact in the City, which can be linked to new jobs. The nexus analysis 
quantified the jobs linked to new household spending, and then calculated the wages of new workers and 
the household income of new worker households. Each worker household was then categorized by AMI to 
determine the number of households that require affordable housing.  

 
There may be a share of jobs counted in the commercial linkage fee analysis that are also included in the 
residential nexus analysis, particularly those in the service sector. Other types of jobs counted in the 
residential nexus analysis are unique to that analysis, and are not included in the commercial linkage fee 
analysis (for example, public sector employees). The commercial linkage fee analysis is limited to private 
sector office/ R&D/ medical office buildings, hotels, and retail/ restaurants/ services space. 
 
There is potential that some jobs could be counted in both analyses, and that the two programs may overlap 
in mitigating the affordable housing demand from the same worker households. Each of the proposed fees 
is required to mitigate no more than 100 percent of the demand for affordable units by new worker 
households. In order to reduce the potential for overlap between the two programs, it is advisable to set both 
the commercial linkage fees and housing impact fees at below 100 percent of the nexus-based maximum. 
In this way, when combined, the programs would mitigate less than 100 percent of the impact even if there 
were overlap in the jobs counted in the two nexus analyses. 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-83- 

Administrative Issues 
Similar to any impact fee, the fee should be adjusted annually for inflation and increases in construction 
costs.  Adjustments are also needed due to possible changes in the housing affordability gap.  However, the 
connection between new residential construction and growth in employment derived from employment 
densities is unlikely to change in the short run.  
 
It is advisable that the City continue adjusting its commercial linkage fee annually by using an annual 
adjustment mechanism. An adjustment mechanism updates the fees to compensate for inflation in 
development costs. To simplify annual adjustments, it is recommended that the City select a cost index that 
is routinely published.  While there is no index that tracks changes in the City of Menlo Park’s development 
costs, including land, there are a few other options to consider.   
 

 The first option is the Consumer Price Index (Shelter Only).  The shelter component of the index 
covers costs for rent of primary residence, lodging away from home, owner’s equivalent rent of 
primary residence, and household insurance.  Of the total shelter index, costs associated with the 
owner’s equivalent rent of primary residence constitute 70 percent of total costs entered into the 
index.    

 
 A second option to adjust the fee for annual inflation is the construction cost index published in the 

Engineering News Record (ENR). This index is routinely used to update other types of impact fees. 
Cost index information for the San Francisco area, the closest geographical area to Menlo Park, is 
available on an annual basis.  While this index measures inflation in construction costs, it does not 
incorporate changes in land costs and public fees charged on new development.   

 
While both indices measure changes in housing costs, both understate the magnitude of inflation for the 
reasons presented above.  However, since these indices are readily available and relatively simple to use, it 
is recommended, that City use these indices for annual adjustments.  It is further recommended that the 
City base its annual adjustment mechanism on the higher of the two indices (CPI or ENR), using a five-
year moving average as the inflation factor. 
 
In addition to revising the fee annually for inflation, the City is encouraged to update the commercial linkage 
fee study every five years, or at the very least, update the housing affordability gap used in the basic model.  
The purpose of these updates is to insure that the fee is still based on a cost/revenue structure that remains 
applicable in the Menlo Park housing market. In this way, the fee will more accurately reflect any structural 
changes between affordable prices/rents and market rate sales prices/development costs.  
 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-84- 

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 
Affordable Housing: Under state and federal statutes, housing is defined as affordable if housing costs do 
not exceed 30 to 35 percent of gross household income.   
 
Annual Adjustment Mechanism:  Due to inflation in housing construction costs, it is frequently necessary 
to adjust impact fees.  An index, such as the Consumer Price Index (CPI) or a published construction cost 
index (for example, from the Engineering News Record) is used to revise housing fees to reflect inflation 
in housing construction costs. 
 
Assisted Housing: Housing that has received public subsidies (such as low interest loans, density bonuses, 
direct financial assistance, etc.) from federal, state, or local housing programs in exchange for restrictions 
requiring a certain number of housing units to be affordable to very low, low, and moderate income 
households.  
 
Boomerang Funds:  Monies returned to the City by the State of California, after dissolution of 
redevelopment agencies in the State. 
 
Consumer price index (CPI): Index that measures changes in the price level of a market basket of 
consumer goods and services purchased by households. 
 
Employment Densities:  The amount of square feet per employee is calculated for each property use that 
is subject to a commercial development housing linkage fee. Employment densities are used to estimate the 
number of employees that will work in a new commercial development. 
 
Household: The US Census Bureau defines a household as all persons living in a housing unit whether or 
not they are related.  A single person living in an apartment as well as a family living in a house is considered 
a household.  Households do not include individuals living in dormitories, prisons, convalescent homes, or 
other group quarters.   
 
Household Income: The total income of all the persons living in a household. Household income is 
commonly grouped into income categories based upon household size and income, relative to the regional 
median family income.   
 
Housing Affordability Gap:  The affordability gap is defined as the difference between what a household 
can afford to spend on housing and the market rate cost of housing.  Affordable rents and sales prices are 
defined as a percentage of gross household income, generally between 30 percent and 35 percent of income.  
 

VII. GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ACRONYMS 



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-85- 

For renters, rental costs are assumed to include the contract rent as well as the cost of utilities, 
excluding cable and telephone service.  The difference between these gross rents and affordable 
rents is the housing affordability gap for renters.  This calculation assumes that 30% of income is 
paid for gross rent. 
 
For owners, costs include mortgage payments, mortgage insurance, property taxes, property 
insurance, and homeowner association dues.20  The difference between these housing expenses and 
affordable ownership costs is the housing affordability gap for owners. This calculation assumes 
that 35% of income is paid for housing costs. 

 
Housing Subsidy: Housing subsidies refer to government assistance aimed at reducing housing sales prices 
or rents to more affordable levels.   
 
Housing Unit: A housing unit can be a room or group of rooms used by one or more individuals living 
separately from others in the structure, with direct access to the outside or to a public hall and containing 
separate toilet and kitchen facilities.  
 
Inclusionary Zoning:  Inclusionary zoning, also known as inclusionary housing, refers to a planning 
ordinance that requires that a given percentage of new construction be affordable to households with very 
low, low, moderate, or workforce incomes. 
 
In-Lieu Fee:  A literal definition for an in-lieu fee for inclusionary units would be a fee adopted “in place 
of” providing affordable units.  For the purposes of operating an inclusionary housing program, a public 
jurisdiction may adopt a fee option for developers that prefer paying fees over providing housing units on- 
or off-site.  A fee study is frequently undertaken to establish the maximum fee that can be charged as an in-
lieu fee.  This fee study must show that there is a reasonable relationship between the fee and the cost of 
providing affordable housing.   
 
Market-Rate Housing:  Housing which is available on the open market without any public subsidy.  The 
price for housing is determined by the market forces of supply and demand and varies by location.  
 
Nexus Study:  In order to adopt a residential housing impact fee or a commercial linkage fee, a nexus study 
is required.  A nexus requires local agencies proposing a fee on a development project to identify the 
purpose of the fee, the use of the fee, and to determine that there is “a reasonable relationship between the 
fee’s use and the type of development project on which the fee is imposed.”    A Nexus Study establishes 
and quantifies a causal link or “nexus” between new residential and commercial development and the need 
for additional housing affordable to new employees. 
 
Non-Residential Development Housing Impact Fee (or Linkage Fee): A fee or charge imposed on 
commercial developers to pay for a development’s impact on the need for affordable housing. The fee is 
                                                      
20 Mortgage terms for first-time homebuyers typically allow down payment of five percent; these terms require private mortgage 
insurance.   



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-86- 

based on projected household incomes of new employees that will work in newly created space.  The fee 
varies according to the type of property use. 
 
Palmer Case:  This civil suit affects rental housing only.  It affirmed that the Costa Hawkins Rental Act, 
passed in 1995 by the California State Legislature, applies to inclusionary rental units. The implication of 
this finding is that cities or counties cannot require rental property owners to rent inclusionary units that 
become vacant at below market rents, unless the developer accepted financial assistance (including fee 
waivers) or received other incentives that lowered development costs.   
 
Patterson Case:  This civil suit affects fees for both rental and ownership housing. This decision addressed 
the way in which in-lieu housing fees were calculated in the City of Patterson, which had been somewhat 
arbitrary. The Court ruled, that, as long as an in-lieu fee is based on a formula related to the cost of 
developing inclusionary units, a locality can continue to operate an inclusionary program for for-sale 
housing that requires either units or payment of an in-lieu fee. 
 
Property Prototypes:  Property prototypes are used for residential and commercial developments in order 
to define housing impact fees.  The prototypes generally represent new development projects built in a 
community and are used to estimate affordable housing impacts associated with new market rate 
commercial and residential developments.  While the prototypes should be “typical” of what is built, for 
ease of mathematical computation, they are often expressed as larger developments in order to avoid 
awkward fractions. 
 
Residential Housing Impact Fee: A fee imposed on residential development to pay for a development’s 
impact on the need for affordable housing. The fee is based on projected incomes of new employees 
associated with the expansion of market rate developments.  Two steps are needed to define the fees.  The 
first step is the completion of a nexus study, and the second step entails selection of the actual fee amount, 
which can be below the amount justified by the fee study, but not above that amount.   
 
RS Means:  Data source of information for construction cost data. 
 
  



Draft City of Menlo Park Linkage Fee Nexus Study 
 

-87- 

DEFINITION OF ACRONYMS 

 
AMI:  Area Median Income 
 
CBIA:   California Building Industry Association 
 
EDD:     State of California Employment Development Department 
 
FAR:  Floor-area-ratio 
 
FF&E:  Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 
 
GBA:  Gross Building Area 
 
HCD:  Department of Housing and Community Development (State of California) 
 
NAICS: North American Industry Classification System 
 
NSF:  Net Square Feet 
 
QCEW: Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages 
 
R&D:   Research and development 
 
SF:  Square Feet 
 
 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT REPORT  

Residential Impact Fee  

Nexus Study 

 
 
 
 

July 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

prepared for: 

City of Menlo Park 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 
 

VWA 

ATTACHMENT B



Table of Contents 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................ 5 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

Background ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

Report Organization ......................................................................................................................... 5 

Nexus Fee Implementation options ................................................................................................. 6 

Nexus Analysis Results.................................................................................................................... 6 

Policy Considerations ..................................................................................................................... 11 

II. INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY .....................................................................15 

Background .................................................................................................................................... 15 

The Nexus Concept ....................................................................................................................... 16 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................... 16 

III. RESIDENTIAL PROTOTYPES .....................................................................................18 

Recent Housing Development Trends ........................................................................................... 18 

Menlo Park Residential Prototypes ................................................................................................ 18 

Household Incomes of Buyers and Renters .................................................................................. 23 

IV. ECONOMIC IMPACT ANALYSIS (IMPLAN3) ..............................................................27 

The IMPLAN3 Model ...................................................................................................................... 27 

Household Income Impacts ........................................................................................................... 28 

Employment and Wage Impacts .................................................................................................... 28 

Estimating Worker-Households ..................................................................................................... 28 

Estimating Demand for Affordable Housing ................................................................................... 29 

V. AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS ..............................................................................34 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................... 34 

Estimating Affordable Rents and Sales Prices .............................................................................. 35 

Estimating Housing Development Costs........................................................................................ 42 

Calculating the Housing Affordability Gap ..................................................................................... 47 

VI. NEXUS FEES AND REQUIREMENTS ..........................................................................50 

Maximum Fee Calculation.............................................................................................................. 50 

Inclusionary Housing Requirements .............................................................................................. 54 

Summary of Conservative Assumptions ........................................................................................ 54 

VII. FEASIBILITY AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS .........................................................56 

Financial Feasibility Analysis ......................................................................................................... 56 

Additional Policy Considerations .................................................................................................... 69 

VIII. GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ACRONYMS .................................................................76 

Glossary of terms ........................................................................................................................... 76 

Definition of Acronyms ................................................................................................................... 79 
 
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -3- 

List of Figures 

Figure I-1. Recommended Housing Nexus Fees by Residential Prototype .................................................. 6 
Figure I-2. Sales Prices and Rental Rates of Residential Prototypes ............................................................ 7 
Figure I-3. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Detached Units ................. 7 
Figure I-4. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Attached Units ................. 8 
Figure I-5. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Condominium Units ................................ 8 
Figure I-6. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Renters of Apartment Units ..................................... 8 
Figure I-7. New Worker Households by Income Group for Single-Family Detached, Single-Family 
Attached, Condominium and Apartment Prototypes .................................................................................... 9 
Figure I-8. Total Affordability Gap for Single-Family Detached ................................................................. 9 
Figure I-9. Total Affordability Gap for Single-Family Attached ................................................................. 9 
Figure I-10. Total Affordability Gap for Condominiums ........................................................................... 10 
Figure I-11.Total Affordability Gap for Apartments .................................................................................. 10 
Figure I-12. Maximum Housing Impact Fee by Prototype ......................................................................... 10 
Figure I-I-13. Housing Impact Fees in Neighboring Cities ........................................................................ 11 
Figure I-14: Housing Impact Fee Scenarios as Percent of Total Development Costs ................................ 13 
Figure I-15: Total City Fees and Permits per Square Foot ......................................................................... 13 
Figure III-1. Sales of Recently Built Single-Family Detached Units in Menlo Park* ................................ 20 
Figure III-2. Sales of Recently Built Single-Family Attached Units in Menlo Park* ................................ 21 
Figure III-3. Sales of Recently Built Condominium Units in Palo Alto and Redwood City* .................... 21 
Figure III-4. Asking Rents of Recently Built Apartment Units in Redwood City and Mountain View* ... 22 
Figure III-5. Menlo Park Prototypes ........................................................................................................... 23 
Figure III-6. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Detached Units ............ 25 
Figure III-7. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Attached Units ............. 25 
Figure III-8. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Condominium Units ............................ 26 
Figure III-9. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Renters of Apartment Units ................................. 26 
Figure IV-1. Estimated Incomes by Income Categories for Buyers of Single-Family Detached and Single-
Family Attached Units ................................................................................................................................ 30 
Figure IV-2. Estimated Incomes by Income Categories for Buyers of Condominiums Units and Renters of 
Apartment Units .......................................................................................................................................... 30 
Figure IV-3. Estimated Job and Wage Impacts of Prototypes by Industry ................................................. 31 
Figure IV-4. Estimated Job and Wage Impacts of Prototypes by Occupation ............................................ 32 
Figure IV-5. Induced Employment Impacts, Menlo Park ........................................................................... 33 
Figure IV-6. New Worker Households by Income Group for Single-Family Detached, Single-Family 
Attached, Condominium and Apartment Prototypes .................................................................................. 33 
Figure V-1. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 .................. 38 
Figure V-2. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 .......................... 39 
Figure V-3. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 ....... 40 
Figure V-4. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 ................ 41 
Figure V-5. Affordable Housing Project Pro Forma Data .......................................................................... 43 
Figure V-6. Sales of Vacant Lands in San Mateo County, 2014 ................................................................ 44 
Figure V-7. Condominium Sales: Average Unit Characteristics and Prices for Selected Cities in San Mateo 
County (2008-2012) .................................................................................................................................... 45 
Figure V-8. Estimate of Development Costs of Hypothetical Condominium Project ................................ 45 
Figure V-9. Rental Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs ............................................................... 46 
Figure V-10. For-Sale Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs .......................................................... 46 
Figure V-11. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for Rental Housing ................................................. 48 
Figure V-12. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for For-Sale Condominium Housing ..................... 49 
Figure V-13. Average Housing Affordability Gap by Income Group ........................................................ 49 
Figure VI-1. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Single-Family Detached Prototype ........................................... 51 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -4- 

Figure VI-2. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Single-Family Attached Prototype ............................................ 51 
Figure VI-3. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Condominium Prototype ........................................................... 51 
Figure VI-4. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Apartment Prototype ................................................................. 52 
Figure VI-5. Maximum Fee per SF for Single-Family Detached Prototype ............................................... 52 
Figure VI-6. Maximum Fee per SF for Single-Family Attached Prototype ............................................... 52 
Figure VI-7. Maximum Fee per SF for Condominium Prototype .............................................................. 53 
Figure VI-8. Maximum Fee per SF for Apartment Prototype .................................................................... 53 
Figure VI-10. Calculated Inclusionary Rates Based on Potential Housing Impact Fees ............................ 54 
Figure VII-1. Residential Prototypes .......................................................................................................... 56 
Figure VII-2. Fee Levels per Unit for Prototypes ....................................................................................... 57 
Figure VII-3. Fee Levels per Square Foot for Prototypes ........................................................................... 57 
Figure VII-4. Prototype Sales Prices and Rents .......................................................................................... 58 
Figure VII-5. Apartment Revenue Calculations ......................................................................................... 59 
Figure VII-6. Development Cost Factors .................................................................................................... 60 
Figure VII-7. Single-Family Vacant Land Sales Transactions in Southern San Mateo County ................. 62 
Figure VII-8. Multi-Family Vacant Land Sales Transactions in Southern San Mateo County and Northern 
Santa Clara County, 2010-2014 .................................................................................................................. 63 
Figure VII-9. Pro Forma Model Results for Single-Family Detached and Attached Prototypes ............... 67 
Figure VII-10. Pro Forma Model Results for Condominium and Apartment Prototypes ........................... 68 
Figure VII-11. Menlo Park Total Residential Fees Under Selected Fee Scenarios .................................... 70 
Figure VII-12. Comparison with Fees in Neighboring Jurisdictions .......................................................... 72 
Figure VII-13. Existing Housing Impact Fees in Bay Area Cities ............................................................. 73 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study 
 

-5- 

INTRODUCTION 

This report is part of the 21 Elements multi-city nexus study, a collaborative effort to mitigate the 
impacts of new development on the demand for affordable housing in San Mateo County. In February 
2014, 22 jurisdictions in the county partnered to hire Strategic Economics and Vernazza Wolfe 
Associates, Inc. to develop nexus studies for commercial linkage fees and residential impact fees.1 The 
project was initiated by 21 Elements, a countywide collaboration among all the cities in San Mateo 
County on housing issues. The preparation of these fee studies may result in the adoption of new impact 
fees on either residential, commercial or both types of developments. This draft report describes the 
methodology, data sources, and analytical steps required for the residential nexus analysis for the City 
of Menlo Park.  

BACKGROUND 

The City of Menlo Park currently has an inclusionary housing program, including an in-lieu fee on for-
sale housing units, as well as a commercial linkage fee in place. Menlo Park is now potentially 
interested in adopting an affordable housing impact fee on new residential development. The purpose 
of this fee would be to mitigate the impact of an increase in affordable housing demand from new 
worker households associated with new market-rate residential units. When a city or county adopts a 
development impact fee, it must establish a reasonable relationship or connection between the 
development project and the fee that is charged. Studies undertaken to demonstrate this connection are 
called nexus studies. This nexus study quantifies the connection between the development of market 
rate housing and the demand for affordable housing units. This project also includes an update to the 
City’s commercial linkage fee, the results of which are provided in a separate report.  
 
This residential nexus study measures the income and spending generated by the new market rate 
households renting or buying new units in Menlo Park. This new consumption is then translated into 
new induced job growth. These induced jobs will be at various wage rates; many will be at lower wages, 
for example in the retail and personal services sectors. Since low-wage households cannot reasonably 
afford to pay for market rate rental and for-sale housing in Menlo Park, a housing impact fee can be 
justified to bridge the difference between what these new households can afford to pay and the cost of 
developing modest housing units to accommodate them. 

REPORT ORGANIZATION 

This executive summary provides an overview of the housing nexus analysis methodology and results. 
The subsequent chapters of the report contain more detailed information regarding the methodology, 
data sources, and the steps of the analysis. The report is organized into seven sections and a glossary of 
terms. Following this executive summary, Section II provides an introduction to the purpose of the 
study, and an overview of the methodology. Section III presents the residential prototypes used in the 
analysis. Section IV describes the methodology and results of the IMPLAN economic impact analysis.  
Section V covers the housing affordability gap analysis. Section VI presents the maximum fee 
calculation based on the nexus analysis and affordability gap results. The final section, Section VII, 
discusses financial feasibility and other policy considerations that jurisdictions typically weigh before 
implementing a nexus fee.  
                                                      
1 Participating jurisdictions include: Atherton, Belmont, Brisbane, Burlingame, Colma, Daly City, East Palo Alto, 
Foster City, Half Moon Bay, Hillsborough, Menlo Park, Millbrae, Pacifica, Portola Valley, Redwood City, San Bruno, 
San Carlos, San Mateo City, San Mateo County, South San Francisco, and Woodside. 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -6- 

NEXUS FEE IMPLEMENTATION OPTIONS 

Menlo Park has the option of implementing a new impact fee on single-family detached, single-family 
attached, rental and condominium housing or continuing its existing below market rate (BMR) 
programs for rental and for-sale housing consistent with recent court decisions.2 The maximum single-
family detached impact fee per unit is $197,963 ($66 per square foot), the maximum townhouse fee per 
unit is $112,387 ($66 per square foot), the maximum condominium impact fee per unit is $81,203 ($45 
per square foot), and the maximum apartment fee per unit is $72,766 ($79 per square foot). If Menlo 
Park elects to adopt an impact fee on single-family detached housing, the recommended fee range is 
between $25 and $50 per square foot. For single-family attached housing, if the City decides to adopt 
an impact fee, the recommended range is between $25 and $50 per square foot. In the case of a 
condominium housing impact fee, the recommended fee range is between $25 and $35 per square foot. 
If the City proceeds with a rental housing impact fee, the recommended fee orange is between $25 and 
$50 per square foot. These recommendations are based on the findings of the financial feasibility 
analysis, a comparison of fees in neighboring jurisdictions, and the potential for overlap between the 
residential impact fee and the commercial linkage fee. The maximum and recommended fee levels are 
shown in Figure I-1. 
 
Figure I-1. Recommended Housing Nexus Fees by Residential Prototype 

Prototype 

Maximum 
Justified Fee per 

Unit 

Maximum 
Justified Fee per 

SF 
Recommended 

Fee per Unit 
Recommended 

Fee per SF 
Single-Family Detached $197,963  $66  $75,000 - $150,000 $25 - $50 
Single-Family Attached $112,387  $66  $42,500 - $85,000 $25 - $50 
Condominium $81,203  $45  $45,000 - $63,000 $25 - $35 
Apartments $72,766  $79  $22,900 - $45,800 $25 - $50 
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015   

 

NEXUS ANALYSIS RESULTS 

This section describes the steps taken to calculate the nexus-based fee amount per housing unit. More 
detail on each step can be found in other sections of this report.  
    
Prototypes 
The first step in the nexus analysis is developing residential housing prototypes. The prototypes 
establish the types of market rate housing development that are occurring or are expected to occur in 
the city that could potentially be subject to the affordable housing impact fee. The fees calculated in 
this nexus study are only applicable to the housing prototypes defined in this analysis.  
 
Based on historical development trends, market data, broker interviews, and input from city staff, the 
Consultant Team constructed four housing prototypes that represent the type of development that is 
likely to occur in Menlo Park: for-sale single-family detached, single-family attached, and 
condominiums, and rental apartments. These development prototypes are not intended to represent 
specific development projects; rather, they are designed to illustrate the type of projects that are likely 
to be built in Menlo Park in the near future. Figure I-2 provides information on the unit type and size, 
as well as estimated sales prices and average monthly rents for each prototype.  

                                                      
2 The City can operate its inclusionary program for rental housing, assuming that it provides cost off-sets and other 
incentives that allow its program to be consistent with the Palmer case decision. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -7- 

Figure I-2. Sales Prices and Rental Rates of Residential Prototypes 

Prototype Unit Type 
Number of 

Units 
Net Area 

(SF) 

Unit Sales 
Price/ 

Monthly 
Rent 

Price or 
Rent per 

SF 
Single-Family Detached (For-Sale)     

Wood siding wood frame 4 BD/4 BA 10 3,000 $2,600,000  $867  
6 units per acre      
Attached garage      

Net Residential Area (Net SF)   30,000   
      
Single-Family Attached (For-Sale)      

Type V wood frame 3 BD/3 BA 20 1,700 $1,428,000  $840  
13 units per acre      
Tuck-under podium parking      

Net Residential Area   34,000   
      
Condominiums (For-Sale)      

Type V wood frame 4 BD/3 BA 150 1,800 $980,000  $544  
35 units per acre      
Subterranean parking      

Net Residential Area (Net SF)   270,000   
      
Apartments (Rental)      

Type V wood frame Studio 9 600 $2,700  $4.50  
43 units per acre 1 BD/1 to 2 BA 79 800 $3,200  $4.00  
Podium parking 2 BD/1 to 2 BA 59 1,100 $4,200  $3.82  
 3 BD/2 BA 3 1,300 $4,000  $3.08  

Net Residential Area   137,400   
Average Net SF per Unit     916     
Sources: Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014.    

 
Household Income 
The next step is to calculate the annual household incomes of the buyers of new for-sale condominium 
units and the renters occupying new apartment units by using the sales prices and rents shown in Figure 
I-2. Threshold incomes needed to purchase or rent units are based on standards used in the housing 
industry.3 Figure I-3 shows the estimated household income of buyers of single-family detached units, 
Figure I-4 does so for buyers of single-family attached units, Figure I-5 summarizes the estimated 
household incomes of condominium buyers, and Figure I-6 presents the calculated household incomes 
of apartment renters. Household incomes are a key input to the IMPLAN3 economic impact analysis 
described in Section IV of this report. 
 
Figure I-3. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Detached Units 

  Single-Family Detached Unit Type 
  4 BR/4 BA 

Number of Households 10 

Sales Price $2,600,000  

Household Income $463,706  
Source: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 2015. 
 

                                                      
3 These standards are presented in Section III of this report. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -8- 

Figure I-4. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Attached Units 

  Single-Family Attached Unit Type 
  3 BR/3 BA 

Number of Households 20 

Sales Price $1,428,000  

Household Income $263,253  
Source: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 2015. 
 
Figure I-5. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Condominium Units 

  Condominium Unit Type 
  4 BR/3 BA 

Number of Households 150 

Sales Price $980,000  

Household Income $190,210  
Source: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 2015. 
 
Figure I-6. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Renters of Apartment Units 

  Apartment Unit Type 
  Studio 1 BR/ 1 to 2 BA 2 BR/ 1 to 2 BA 3 BR/ 2 BA 

Number of Households 9 79 59 3 

Monthly Rent $2,700  $3,200  $4,200  $4,000  

Household Income $108,000  $128,000  $168,000  $160,000  
Source: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 2015. 

 
 
Economic Impact Analysis (IMPLAN) 
The next step is to determine employment and wage impacts of each prototype based on the incomes 
of the occupants of new housing units.  The buyers and renters of the new market-rate condominiums 
and apartments create new spending in the local economy. These new expenditures can be linked to 
new jobs, many of which pay low wages. The job and wage impacts related to new market-rate housing 
units are measured using IMPLAN3, an economic impact analysis tool. An economics consulting firm, 
Applied Development Economics (ADE) undertook the IMPLAN3 analysis. 
 
The results of the IMPLAN analysis indicate that many of the induced jobs generated within San Mateo 
County are in low-wage sectors like retail and food services (restaurants). However, a significant 
proportion of induced jobs are also in higher-paying resident-serving categories such as health care and 
government.  
 
Demand for Affordable Housing 
Recognizing that many households have more than one wage-earner, the next step is to calculate the 
number of worker households by dividing the total number of new workers by the average number of 
wage-earners per household in Menlo Park. However, not all of the worker households require 
affordable housing. To estimate the affordable housing demand, the average annual household income 
of worker households is sorted into income categories that are consistent with area median income 
(AMI) levels defined for San Mateo County and is specific to the average household size in the 
jurisdiction. Figure I-7 indicates that of the 11 new worker households associated with a single-family 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -9- 

detached development, there are 9 households that need affordable housing. The comparable figures 
for single-family attached, condominium and apartment developments are, respectively, about 10, 53, 
and 47 households.  
 
Figure I-7. New Worker Households by Income Group for Single-Family Detached, Single-Family 
Attached, Condominium and Apartment Prototypes 

Worker Households by Income Category 

Single-
Family 

Detached 

Single-
Family 

Attached 
Condominium Apartment 

Households Requiring Affordable Housing     

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) 2.7 3.1 16.8 15.5 

Low Income (51-80% AMI) 2.8 3.1 17.0 15.1 

Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) 3.1 3.5 19.2 16.7 

Subtotal Very Low, Low, Moderate Income 8.6 9.8 53.0 47.3 

Above Moderate Income Households 2.1 2.4 13.2 11.7 

Total All Worker Households 10.8 12.2 66.2 59.0 
Source: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, 
Inc. 2015.  

 
 
Affordability Gap 
The next step is to quantify the total gap between what very low, low, and moderate-income households 
can afford to pay and the cost of building new, modest rental and for-sale housing units. This housing 
“affordability gap” number is then multiplied by the number of income-qualified households in each 
income category for single-family detached, single-family attached, condominium and apartment 
developments separately in order to estimate the total housing affordability gap for each prototype. 
Figures I-8 through I-11 present these totals for single-family detached, single-family attached, 
condominiums and apartments. 
 

Figure I-8. Total Affordability Gap for Single-Family Detached 

Income Level 
Households Requiring 

Affordable Housing 

Average 
Affordability Gap per 

Household 
Affordability Gap 

for All Households  
Very Low-Income (<50% AMI) 2.7 $280,783 $768,368  
Low-Income (50-80% AMI) 2.8 $240,477 $663,661  
Moderate-Income (80-120% 
AMI) 3.1 $175,558 $547,599  

Total  8.6   $1,979,628  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 

Figure I-9. Total Affordability Gap for Single-Family Attached 

Income Level 

Households 
Requiring Affordable 

Housing 

Average 
Affordability Gap per 

Household 
Affordability Gap 

for All Households  
Very Low-Income (<50% AMI) 3.1 $280,783 $872,429  
Low-Income (50-80% AMI) 3.1 $240,477 $753,541  
Moderate-Income (80-120% AMI) 3.5 $175,558 $621,761  

Total  9.8   $2,247,731  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2014. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -10- 

 
Figure I-10. Total Affordability Gap for Condominiums 

Income Level 

Households 
Requiring Affordable 

Housing 

Average 
Affordability Gap per 

Household 
Affordability Gap 

for All Households  
Very Low-Income (<50% AMI) 16.8 $280,783 $4,727,715  
Low-Income (50-80% AMI) 17.0 $240,477 $4,083,459  
Moderate-Income (80-120% AMI) 19.2 $175,558 $3,369,338  

Total  53.0   $12,180,512  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 
Figure I-11.Total Affordability Gap for Apartments 

Income Level 

Households 
Requiring Affordable 

Housing 

Average 
Affordability Gap per 

Household 
Affordability Gap 

for All Households  
Very Low-Income (<50% AMI) 15.47 $280,783 $4,344,566  
Low-Income (50-80% AMI) 15.12 $240,477 $3,635,157  
Moderate-Income (80-120% AMI) 16.72 $175,558 $2,935,222  

Total  47.31   $10,914,945  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 
Maximum Nexus-Based Fee 
The final step in calculating the maximum housing impact fee by prototype is to divide the total gap at 
each income level by the number of units in each prototype. This maximum fee amount represents the 
ceiling on the fee that could be charged to mitigate affordable housing impacts from new residential 
development. The maximum single-family detached impact fee per unit is $197,963, the maximum 
single-family attached fee per unit is $112,387, the maximum condominium impact fee per unit is 
$81,203, and the maximum apartment fee per unit is $72,766. On a per-unit basis, the fees are highest 
for single-family detached units. The fees are also calculated on a per-square-foot basis by dividing the 
unit fee by the average size of the unit. On a per-square-foot basis, the maximum impact fee is $66 for 
single-family detached, $66 for single-family attached, $45 for condominiums and $79 for apartments. 
The per-square-foot fee is highest for apartments because the average unit size for apartments is smaller. 
Figure I-12 presents the results of this final step. 
 
Figure I-12. Maximum Housing Impact Fee by Prototype 

Prototype Single-Family 
Detached 

Single-Family 
Attached Condominiums Apartments 

Total Number of Units 10 20 150 150 
Average Unit Size 3,000 1,700 1,800 916 
Total Affordability Gap $1,979,628  $2,247,731  $12,180,512  $10,914,945  
Maximum Fee per Unit $197,963  $112,387  $81,203  $72,766  
Maximum Fee per SF $66  $66  $45  $79  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.   

 
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -11- 

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

There are a number of policy considerations that should be taken into account when Menlo Park 
considers whether to adopt an affordable housing impact fee on new market-rate residential 
development to replace its existing inclusionary zoning program. These policy considerations may 
include factors such as: the likely financial impact of the proposed housing impact fees on development; 
the additional cost of the new fees on the existing city fee structure; a comparison of the fee scenarios 
to existing housing impact fees in nearby cities; the role of the fee in the City’s overall strategy for 
affordable housing implementation; and the potential overlap with a commercial linkage fee. This 
section provides a discussion of each of these policy questions for Menlo Park.  
 
Comparison to Neighboring Jurisdictions – A comparison of the nexus fee scenarios to current 
housing impact fees charged in nearby cities is an important element of the policy analysis. This 
comparison is challenging, because most cities in San Mateo County are participating in this multi-city 
nexus study, and may decide to adopt new fees or update existing fees. The maximum-justified fee 
levels for Menlo Park are considerably higher than the affordable housing impact fees that are currently 
in place in San Mateo County, in most cases. However, San Francisco has adopted fees ranging from 
$199,000 to $522,000 per unit, depending on the unit size, which are significantly higher than the 
maximum fee levels calculated for Menlo Park. If Menlo Park adopted fees within the recommended 
fee ranges, its fees would place it at the top end of the range for all unit types when compared to other 
cities in San Mateo and Santa Clara Counties, as shown in Figure I-13; however, its fees would be 
somewhat comparable to those charged in some cases in San Carlos, and possibly Sunnyvale’s, 
depending on sales prices. 
 
Figure I-I-13. Housing Impact Fees in Neighboring Cities 

City Single-Family Detached  Townhouses Condominiums Apartments 
Cupertino $15  $16.50  $20  $25  
Daly City $14  $18  $22  $25  
East Palo Alto $24  $23  $23-$44 $23  
Mountain View N/A N/A N/A $17  
San Carlos $24-44 $21-$42 $21-$42 $24-$44 
San Jose N/A N/A N/A $17  
Sunnyvale N/A N/A N/A $17  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.   

 
 
Financial Feasibility – Financial feasibility is just one of several factors to consider in making a 
decision regarding a potential nexus fee. In order to provide Menlo Park with guidance on how proposed 
fees could impact development decisions, the Consultant Team conducted a financial feasibility 
analysis that tested the impact of proposed fee options on developer profit for each prototype. The four 
fee scenarios were tested at various calculated levels, including the maximum fee level and lower fee 
levels.  
 
The feasibility analysis showed that establishing a fee at the maximum fee level would not have a 
negative impact on the financial feasibility of any of the housing prototypes. The financial feasibility 
results are particularly strong for the single-family detached and single-family attached prototypes, 
which currently command very high sales prices. The maximum fee levels for for-sale condominiums 
and rental apartments are marginally feasible under today’s market conditions, generating a residual 
land value that is above the minimum price for multi-family land in Menlo Park. Slightly lower 
residential impact fees would increase the financial feasibility of the condominium and apartment 
prototypes.  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -12- 

 
Total Development Costs – Currently, the total development costs (including building and onsite 
improvements, parking, indirect costs, financing costs, and developer profit) are $241 per net square 
foot for the single-family detached prototype, $252 per net square foot for the townhouse prototype, 
$385 per net square foot for the condominium prototype and $365 per net square foot for the apartment 
prototype. When land costs are added to the project’s development costs, costs increase to between 
$2576 and $361 per net square foot for the single-family detached prototype (depending on the land 
price of the site), between $287 and $372 per net square foot for the townhouse prototype, between 
$535 and $635 per net square foot for the condominium prototype, and between $515 and $615 per net 
square foot for the apartment prototype. The maximum housing impact fees represent 21.5 percent, 
20.8 percent, 10.5 percent and 17.8 percent of total development cost of the single-family detached, 
townhouse, condominium and apartment prototypes, respectively (Figure I-14). A fee of $30 per square 
foot represents 11.1 percent, 10.7 percent, and 7.6 percent of total development costs for single-family 
detached, single-family attached, and apartment units. A $20 per square foot fee for condominium units 
represents 4.9 percent of total development costs.  
 
Comparison to Existing City Fees – Menlo Park has existing city permits and fees on new 
development that would increase with the adoption of a new housing impact fee. The City may wish to 
consider the amount that total city fees would increase with the addition of a new housing impact fee. 
Based on the current schedule of fees in Menlo Park, existing fees (excluding the nexus fees) for the 
residential prototypes are estimated to be $31 per square foot for single-family detached units ($91,908 
per unit), $42 per square foot for townhouses ($71,278 per unit), $38 per square foot for condominiums 
($68,506 per unit) and $21 per square foot for rental apartments ($19,405 per unit).4 These fee amounts 
do not include the BMR in-lieu fees that are currently charged. The maximum residential impact fee 
would increase city fees by about 200 to 400 percent, depending on the prototype, as shown in Figure 
I-15. A residential impact fee of $30 per square foot increases the total city permits and fees to $61 per 
square foot for single-family detached units, $72 per square foot for townhouses, and $51 per square 
foot for apartments. A residential impact fee of $20 per square foot for condominiums would increase 
total city permits and fees to $58 per square foot.  

                                                      
4 The fee estimates presented above represent the best approximations available from Menlo Park.   



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study 
 

-13- 

Figure I-14: Housing Impact Fee Scenarios as Percent of Total Development Costs 

  Single-Family Detached Townhouses Condominiums Apartments 

Residential Impact Fee Scenario 
Fee 

Amount 
Fee as % of 

TDC 
Fee 

Amount 
Fee as % of 

TDC 
Fee 

Amount 
Fee as % of 

TDC 
Fee 

Amount 
Fee as % of 

TDC 

No Fee $0  0.00% $0  0.00% $0  0.00% $0  0.00% 

Scenario 1: Max Fee $66  21.48% $66  20.77% $45  10.47% $79  17.80% 

Scenario 2 $50  17.16% $50  16.57% $35  8.34% $50  12.05% 

Scenario 3 $40  14.22% $40  13.71% $25  6.10% $40  9.88% 

Scenario 4 $30  11.06% $30  10.65% $20  4.94% $30  7.60% 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.        
 
Figure I-15: Total City Fees and Permits per Square Foot 

  Single-Family Detached Single-Family Attached Condominiums Apartments 

Fee Scenario 
Residential 
Impact Fee 

Total 
Permits and 

Fees 
Residential 
Impact Fee 

Total 
Permits and 

Fees 
Residential 
Impact Fee 

Total 
Permits and 

Fees 
Residential 
Impact Fee 

Total 
Permits and 

Fees 

Existing Permits and Fees $0  $31  $0  $42  $0  $38  $0  $21  

Scenario 1 (Maximum Fee) $66  $97  $66  $108  $45  $83  $79  $100  

Scenario 2 $50  $81  $50  $92  $35  $73  $50  $71  

Scenario 3 $40  $71  $40  $82  $25  $63  $40  $61  

Scenario 4 $30  $61  $30  $72  $20  $58  $30  $51  

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.       
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study 
 

-14- 

Comparison to Existing BMR Policy – Menlo Park currently has an inclusionary housing program in 
place for ownership housing. The City’s BMR Housing Program requires that 10 percent of new units 
in projects of between 5 and 20 units and 15 percent of new units in projects over 20 units must be 
affordable for very low, low, and/or moderate income households. While the City’s primary objective 
is for BMR housing units to be built on-site, it does allow for the payment of an in-lieu fee, which is 
set at three percent of the sales price of for-sale units. If the City chooses to adopt a residential impact 
fee, the fee scenarios are equivalent to between 3.5 percent and 8.3 percent of sales price for ownership 
units. 
 
Use of Fee Revenues – Residential impact fee revenues (and commercial linkage fee revenues) could 
augment the existing BMR Housing Fund. The existence of additional local revenue sources such as 
the residential nexus fees can also make certain projects more competitive for outside funding. Fee 
revenues must be spent on housing that benefits very low, low, and moderate income worker 
households.  
 
Overlap with Commercial Linkage Fee - In addition to the residential impact fee described in this 
report, Menlo Park is also considering updating its linkage fees on commercial development. There 
may be a small share of jobs counted in the residential nexus analysis that are also included in the 
commercial impact fee analysis. Thus, the two programs may have some overlap in mitigating the 
affordable housing demand from the same worker households. In order to reduce the potential for 
overlap between the two programs, it is advisable to set both the commercial linkage fees and housing 
impact fees at below 100 percent of the nexus-based maximum. In this way, when combined, the 
programs would mitigate less than 100 percent of the impact even if there were overlap in the jobs 
counted in the two nexus analyses. 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -15- 

Menlo Park is considering a housing impact fee on new residential development. The purpose of this 
fee would be to mitigate the impact of an increase in demand for affordable housing due to employment 
growth associated with potential new residential development. When a city or county adopts a 
development impact fee, it must establish a reasonable relationship or connection between the 
development project and the impacts for which the fee is charged. Studies undertaken to demonstrate 
this connection are called nexus studies. Nexus studies for school impact fees, traffic mitigation fees, 
and park fees are common. For housing impact fees, a methodology exists that establishes a connection 
between the development of market rate housing and the need to expand the supply of affordable 
housing. This study is based on this methodology. 
 
The approach for this nexus study is to estimate the number of new workers that will be required to 
provide goods and services to the market rate households that are occupying new units in Menlo Park. 
Although growth in employment will provide jobs at various wage rates, many of the new jobs will be 
at low-wage rates in retail trade and services, consistent with job patterns in the County. Since low-
wage households cannot reasonably afford to pay for market rate rental and for-sale housing in Menlo 
Park, a housing impact fee can bridge the difference between what these new households can afford to 
pay and the costs of developing new housing units for them. 
 
New market rate housing units in Menlo Park create a need for low-wage employees to provide goods 
and services to residents of the new units. If new market rate housing were not built, there would not 
be an increase in employment nor the accompanying demand for affordable housing from these new 
workers.  Because housing impact fees are directly related to employment growth, the revenues 
collected from these fees needs to be spent on workforce housing and not on housing for households 
that do not participate in the labor force, such as retired seniors, unemployed homeless, and full-time 
student populations.   

BACKGROUND 

Cities and counties in California have operated inclusionary zoning programs to increase the supply of 
affordable housing since the 1970s. An inclusionary program requires that builders of new residential 
projects provide a specified percentage of units, either on-site or off-site, at affordable prices. Some 
programs have also allowed developers the option of paying fees “in-lieu” of providing inclusionary 
units.  
 
Inclusionary zoning policies have usually been established based on the police power of cities and 
counties to enact legislation benefitting public health, safety, and welfare. In its recent decision on 
California Building Industry Ass’n v. City of San Jose, the California Supreme Court upheld this power 
of cities, finding that the objective of increasing affordable housing supply in economically diverse 
developments was “unquestionably” permitted by the U.S. Constitution. 
 
However, in 2009, in Palmer/Sixth Street Properties, L.P. v. City of Los Angeles, the Court of Appeal 
held that inclusionary rental requirements violate the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act, which allows 
landlords to determine the rents of all new units. Affordable rental housing may still be required if a 
developer agrees by contract to do so, in exchange for financial assistance or regulatory incentives. 
However, in the absence of these incentives, restricted rents cannot be required of a developer. 
Consequently, communities have completed nexus studies and imposed rental housing impact fees to 
mitigate the impact of market-rate rental housing on the need for affordable housing. Although a nexus 
analysis is not required to adopt inclusionary ordinances and in-lieu fees on for-sale housing, 
conducting a nexus study provides additional support for these requirements. 

II. INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -16- 

 
The nexus analyses presented in this study are designed to define an upper limit for a housing impact 
fee to be charged on new rental and for-sale housing to mitigate impacts on affordable housing needs. 
The maximum fee is not necessarily the recommended fee. Subsequent sections of this report address 
additional policy considerations to consider when adopting housing impact fees. 

THE NEXUS CONCEPT 

In a balanced housing market, the development of new market rate housing results in population 
growth. Residents purchasing and renting these new units now spend money in the city. For example, 
they go out to eat in local restaurants, shop for food and clothing in local stores, and patronize other 
local businesses, such as hair salons, dry cleaners, and dental offices. This local spending results in the 
need to hire new workers to respond to the increased demand for goods and services. A nexus study 
establishes the connection between the households that purchase new housing units (or rent newly 
constructed rental units) and the number of new workers that will be hired by local businesses to serve 
the needs of new residents. 
 
Growth in employment will provide jobs at various wage rates. While some jobs will pay salaries that 
will allow new workers to rent or purchase market rate housing, many new jobs will also be at lower 
wages. Since low-wage households cannot reasonably afford to pay for market rate rental and for-sale 
housing in Menlo Park, a housing impact fee addresses the demand for affordable housing. 

METHODOLOGY 

The first step of the nexus analysis is to estimate the market prices or rents of new housing units. Based 
on these prices or rents, gross household incomes of buyers and renters are calculated. The gross 
household incomes of buyers and renters are then translated into direct economic impacts (new 
spending on retail goods and personal services), and induced impacts (new jobs and wage income) 
using the IMPLAN3 model. The IMPLAN3 analysis provides information on likely incomes of new 
workers.  These incomes can then be used to estimate the demand for affordable housing from new 
worker households, and the costs of providing these affordable units.    
 
Each step of the nexus analysis is described in greater detail below. 
 
Step 1. Define the residential prototypes that represent new market rate housing development. 
Based on a review of recent development trends, pipeline projects, and market data for the city and 
county, the residential prototypes are defined. The prototypes represent typical new market-rate 
development projects likely to occur in the city.  The prototype definitions include information on the 
building characteristics, net residential area, unit mix and sizes, and sales prices or rents. 
 
Step 2. Estimate household income of buyers and renters of new market rate units. 
The average gross household income required to purchase or rent new market rate units is estimated 
based on the market value or rents of new units. For ownership units, the calculation assumes typical 
mortgage terms and assumes that buyers spend 35 percent of their gross incomes on housing costs. For 
rental units, is assumed that renter households spend 30 percent of their gross incomes on housing.  
 
Step 3. Estimate economic impacts of new buyers and renters using IMPLAN3. 
The IMPLAN3 model uses Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Expenditure Survey data to model the 
spending patterns of different income groups. The model estimates the increase in expenditures from 
new households, the number of new (induced) workers related to new households, and the occupations 
and wages of these new workers. 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -17- 

Step 4. Estimate the number of new worker households and annual household incomes. 
The number of new induced workers from the IMPLAN3 analysis is divided by the average number of 
workers per household in the city (defined by the U.S. Census Bureau) to calculate the total number of 
worker households associated with each housing prototype.  The average worker’s wage calculated in 
the IMPLAN3 analysis is multiplied by the number of workers per household in the city to derive gross 
household income.  This step assumes that the all wage-earners in a household have the same income.  
 
Step 5. Estimate the demand for affordable housing from new worker households. 
Based on the calculation of new worker household income, the worker households are categorized by 
target income group (very low income, low income, moderate income, and above moderate income). 
Worker households with above-moderate incomes are removed from the nexus analysis, because they 
would not require affordable housing. 
 
Step 6. Estimate the affordability gap of new households requiring affordable housing.  
The affordability gap represents the difference between what households can afford to pay for housing 
and the development cost of a modest housing unit. For very low and low income households, a rental 
housing gap is used.  For moderate income households, the housing affordability gap is calculated 
separately for renter and owner households, and then the two gaps are combined to derive an average 
affordability gap for moderate income households. 
 
Step 7. Estimate nexus-based fees for each prototype. 
The number of new households requiring affordable housing is multiplied by the average affordability 
gap per household to estimate the total affordability gap for each prototype. The maximum per-unit and 
per-square foot fees are then calculated by dividing the aggregate affordability gap by the number of 
units or net residential area in each prototype. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -18- 

The first step in the nexus analysis is developing residential housing prototypes. The residential 
prototypes establish the types of residential development that are occurring or are expected to occur in 
the city and could potentially be subject to the affordable housing impact fee. The housing prototypes 
are not intended to represent specific development projects; rather, they are designed to illustrate the 
type of projects that are likely to be built in Menlo Park in the near future. The fees calculated in this 
nexus study are only applicable to the housing prototypes defined in this analysis.  

Based on estimated sales prices and rents of new market-rate units, the household incomes of buyers 
and renters of new units are estimated. This section of the report describes the methodology for 
establishing the prototypes and calculating the household incomes of buyers and renters of new market-
rate units in Menlo Park. The estimated household incomes are then used as inputs to the IMPLAN3 
analysis to estimate the employment impacts of the market-rate households, which is described in more 
detail in Section IV of this report. 
 

RECENT HOUSING DEVELOPMENT TRENDS 

In order to ensure that the prototypes accurately reflect current market conditions, the Consultant Team 
analyzed recently built market rate housing development projects in Menlo Park. Menlo Park has 
recently attracted new single-family detached and single-family attached development. 
 
Figure III-1 summarizes the market data for recently built single-family detached units in Menlo Park. 
The table shows that units sold, on average, for approximately $2.7 million, and had an average size 
over 2,800 square feet. Figure III-2 presents the market data for single-family attached units recently 
built and sold in Menlo Park. These units had, on average, a size of 1,700 square feet, and a price of 
approximately $1.4 million. Menlo Park has not seen recent condominium developments; however, the 
City anticipates that such development could take place in the near future. In order to create a 
condominium prototype representative of Menlo Park’s market, the Consultant Team has studied 
condominium development in two nearby and comparable cities, Redwood City and Palo Alto. Figure 
III-3 presents a summary of recent condominium projects in Redwood City and Palo Alto: units had an 
average size of 1,800 square feet and an average price of $978,000. Similarly, market data on Redwood 
City and Mountain View’s apartment market was used to construct an apartment prototype for Menlo 
Park. As shown in Figure III-4, average asking monthly rents are approximately $2,700 for studios, 
$3,200 for one bedroom units, $4,200 for two-bedroom units, and $4,000 for three-bedroom units. 
 

MENLO PARK RESIDENTIAL PROTOTYPES 

Based on historical development trends, market data, broker interviews, and input from city staff, the 
Consultant Team constructed four housing prototypes that represent the type of development that is 
likely to occur in Menlo Park. These development prototypes are not intended to represent specific 
development projects; rather, they are designed to illustrate the type of projects that are likely to be 
built in Menlo Park in the near future. The prototypes, as shown in Figure III-5, provide information 
on the building type, number of units, average size by unit type, and average monthly rents or sales 
prices by unit type.  
 
For-Sale Single-Family Detached Units 
The for-sale single-family detached prototype is a wood siding wood-frame building with an attached 
garage and a net residential area of 30,000 square feet. The estimated density is 6 units per acre. This 

III. RESIDENTIAL PROTOTYPES 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -19- 

building type is representative of recently built single-family detached units in Menlo Park. These are 
four-bedroom and four-bathroom units of a size per unit of 3,000 square feet. The estimated unit sale 
price is $2,600,000.  
 
For-Sale Single-Family Attached Units 
The for-sale single-family attached prototype is a Type V wood-frame building with a tuck-under 
podium parking and a net residential area of 34,000 square feet. The estimated density is 13 units per 
acre. This type of building is typical for new single-family attached units in Menlo Park. These are 
three bedroom units with an average size of 1,700 square feet and a price of $1,428,000. 

 
For-Sale Condominiums 
The for-sale condominium prototype is a Type V wood-frame building with an underground parking 
garage and net residential area of 270,000 square feet. The estimated average density is 35 units per 
acre. This building type is representative of recently built condominium projects in the nearby, 
comparable markets of Redwood City and Palo Alto, and approximate potential future development in 
Menlo Park. Units have four bedrooms and an average size of 1,800 square feet. The average estimated 
price of newly built condominiums is $980,000.  
 
Rental Apartments 
The rental apartment prototype is a Type V wood-frame building with podium parking and net 
residential area of 137,400 square feet. The estimated density is 43 units per acre. This prototype, based 
on market data from Redwood City and Mountain View, represents a potential future new market-rate 
apartment development in Menlo Park. The apartment unit mix consists of mostly one- and two-
bedroom units, with a smaller number of studios and three-bedroom units. Estimated monthly rents 
range from $2,700 to $4,200 per unit, depending on unit size and number of bedrooms.  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study 
 -20- 

Figure III-1. Sales of Recently Built Single-Family Detached Units in Menlo Park* 

Address City Year Built Square Feet Beds Baths Sale Date Sale Amount 
739  Cambridge Ave   Menlo Park 2011 2,680 3.0 3.5 Dec 12, 2011 $2,499,000 
1206 N Lemon Ave   Menlo Park 2011 3,308 4.0 3.5 Jul 27, 2011 $2,500,000 
2027  Menalto Ave   Menlo Park 2011 2,564 5.0 3.5 May 09, 2012 $1,705,000 
1015  Windsor Dr   Menlo Park 2011 3,591 4.0 4.0 May 12, 2011 $4,000,000 
8  Shasta Ln   Menlo Park 2011 4,460 5.0 4.5 Jan 05, 2012 $4,300,000 
440  Cotton St   Menlo Park 2011 4,379 5.0 5.0 May 26, 2011 $4,100,000 
611  College Ave   Menlo Park 2012 2,620 4.0 3.0 Dec 15, 2011 $2,125,000 
140  Campo Bello Ln   Menlo Park 2012 3,010 4.0 4.0 Mar 04, 2013 $3,475,000 
1131  Saxon Way   Menlo Park 2012 3,430 5.0 5.5 Feb 22, 2013 $3,850,000 
2  Robert S Dr   Menlo Park 2012 4,410 5.0 6.5 Oct 22, 2012 $4,000,000 
521  Laurel Ave   Menlo Park 2013 1,947 3.0 2.5 Feb 28, 2011 $600,000 
1255  Santa Cruz Ave   Menlo Park 2013 2,680 4.0 3.5 Jun 12, 2013 $2,300,000 
2199  Clayton Dr   Menlo Park 2013 3,190 4.0 3.5 May 15, 2013 $3,395,000 
140  Royal Oaks Ct   Menlo Park 2013 3,540 5.0 4.5 Apr 27, 2012 $3,600,000 
480  Lemon St   Menlo Park 2013 3,530 5.0 4.5 May 01, 2013 $3,850,000 
2189  Clayton Dr   Menlo Park 2013 4,610 5.0 4.5 Oct 18, 2013 $3,880,000 
240  University Dr   Menlo Park 2012 2,530 3.0 4.5 Jul 05, 2012 $3,995,000 
389 El Camino Real (Artisan; 9 Units) Menlo Park 2014 1,941 4.0 2.5 2014 $1,750,000 

Average (Weighted)     2,844 4.2 3.6   $2,689,385 
*Includes transactions that occurred between 2011 and April 2014, of single-family homes built in or after 2011.     
Source: DataQuick, April 2014; Sales Office Interviews, 2014; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014.    



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study 
-21- 

Figure III-2. Sales of Recently Built Single-Family Attached Units in Menlo Park* 

Address City Subdivision/Complex Bedrooms Baths Square Feet Year Built Year Sold Sale Amount 
1071 Fremont St  Menlo Park Fremont Street 3 2.5 1590 2011 2011 $1,685,000 
1071 Fremont St  Menlo Park Fremont Street 3 2.5 1590 2011 2011 $1,801,000 
1071 Fremont St  Menlo Park Fremont Street 3 2.5 1590 2011 2011 $1,699,000 
1071 Fremont St  Menlo Park Fremont Street 3 2.5 1590 2011 2011 $1,699,000 
1071 Fremont St  Menlo Park Fremont Street 3 2.5 1590 2011 2011 $1,700,000 
389 El Camino Real Menlo Park Artisan (2 Units) 2  1,434 2014 2014 $900,000 
389 El Camino Real Menlo Park Artisan (14 Units) 3  1,733 2014 2014 $1,400,000 

Average (Weighted)     2.9 2.5 1,670 2014   $1,427,810 
*Includes transactions that occurred between 2011 and 2014, of townhouses built in or after 2011.      
Sources: DataQuick, 2014; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014.      

 
Figure III-3. Sales of Recently Built Condominium Units in Palo Alto and Redwood City* 

Project City 
Subdivision/Comple
x 

Bedroom
s Baths 

Number 
of Units 

Square 
Feet Year Built Year Sold 

Sale 
Amount 

Redwood 
Gate Palo Alto Redwood Gate 4 3.5 34 2,121 

2009-
2011 

2009-
2013 $1,389,588  

One Marina Redwood City One Marina 2 N/A 73 1,406 2012 
2012-
2014 $566,204  

Average           1,764     $977,896  
*Includes all closed condominium sales of recent development projects as reported by Polaris Pacific, May 2014.      
Sources: Polaris Pacific, May 2014; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014.      

 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study 
-22- 

Figure III-4. Asking Rents of Recently Built Apartment Units in Redwood City and Mountain View* 

Project Address City Year Built Bedrooms Baths 
Number of 

Units 
Average 
Size (SF) 

Averag
e Rent 

Carmel the Village 555 San Antonio Rd Mountain View 2013 0 1 41 537 $2,795 
Carmel the Village 555 San Antonio Rd Mountain View 2013 1 1 192 693 $3,350 
Carmel the Village 555 San Antonio Rd Mountain View 2013 2 2 97 1054 $4,820 
201 Marshall 201 Marshall St Redwood City 2014 0 1 10 634 $2,495 
202 Marshall 202 Marshall St Redwood City 2014 1 1 to 2 64 1,030 $3,378 
203 Marshall 203 Marshall St Redwood City 2014 2 1 to 2 39 1,129 $4,260 
Radius 640 Veteran's Dr Redwood City 2014 1 1 150 840 $3,100 
 640 Veteran's Dr Redwood City 2014 2 1 to 2 100 1,132 $3,845 
 640 Veteran's Dr Redwood City 2014 3 2 14 1,289 $4,093 
Township Apartments 333 Main St Redwood City 2013 1 1 41 725 $3,063 
 333 Main St Redwood City 2013 2 2 88 1,080 $3,600 
 333 Main St Redwood City 2013 3 2 3 1,224 $3,300 
Woodside 885 Woodside Rd Redwood City 2011 1 1 14 840 $3,365 
 885 Woodside Rd Redwood City 2011 2 2 21 1,424 $5,290 
Percent of Total/Average by Unit Type        

Studio      6% 556 $2,736 
1 bedroom      53% 795 $3,247 
2 bedroom      39% 1,114 $4,191 
3 bedroom           2% 1,277 $3,953 

*Apartment asking rents from summer 2014, for apartment units built since 2011.       
Sources: CoStar, May and June 2014; Leasing Websites, Summer 2014; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 
2014.    

 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -23- 

Figure III-5. Menlo Park Prototypes  

Prototype 
Unit Type 

Number 
of Units 

Net Area 
(SF) 

Unit Sales 
Price/ 

Monthly 
Rent 

Price or 
Rent per 

SF 
Single-Family Detached (For-Sale)     

Wood siding wood frame 4 BD/4 BA 10 3,000 $2,600,000 $867 

6 units per acre      

Attached garage      

Net Residential Area (Net SF)   30,000   
      
Single-Family Attached (For-Sale)     

Type V wood frame 3 BD/3 BA 20 1,700 $1,428,000 $840 

13 units per acre      

Tuck-under podium parking      

Net Residential Area   34,000   

      
Condominiums (For-Sale)      

Type V wood frame 4 BD/3 BA 150 1,800 $980,000 $544 

35 units per acre      

Subterranean parking      

Net Residential Area (Net SF)   270,000   
      
Apartments (Rental)      

Type V wood frame Studio 9 600 $2,700 $4.50 

43 units per acre 1 BD/1 to 2 
BA 79 800 $3,200 $4.00 

Podium parking 2 BD/1 to 2 
BA 59 1,100 $4,200 $3.82 

 3 BD/2 BA 3 1,300 $4,000 $3.08 

Net Residential Area   137,400   

Average Net SF per Unit   916   

Sources: Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014.    
 

HOUSEHOLD INCOMES OF BUYERS AND RENTERS  

Using the sales prices and rents shown in Figure III-5, the next step is to calculate the annual household 
incomes of the buyers of new for-sale single-family detached units, single-family attached units, and 
condominium units, and the renters occupying new apartment units. The household income is a key 
input to the IMPLAN3 economic impact analysis described in Section IV of this report. 
 
Incomes of Single-Family Detached Units Buyers 
To calculate the household income of buyers of new single-family detached units, the analysis used 
typical mortgage terms for San Mateo County: 20 percent down payment, 30 year fixed rate mortgage, 
and 4.35 percent interest rate. Menlo Park’s property tax rate was estimated from recent budget 
documents. Total housing costs, including monthly payments for mortgage payments, property taxes 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -24- 

and insurance, are assumed to be 35 percent of available monthly income. This is a conservative 
assumption, given that many households spend a higher share of their disposal incomes on housing, 
once other types of debt such as auto loans, student loans, and personal credit loans are considered. The 
result of the income estimates for households buying new single-family detached units is shown in 
Figure III-6. As shown in the calculations, for single-family detached units, household incomes are 
estimated to be well over $450,000. 
 
Income of Single-Family Attached Buyers 
For buyers of single-family attached units, the analysis applied the same typical mortgage terms as 
those used for single-family detached units, and Menlo Park’s property tax rates. Homeowner 
association (HOA) fees were based on a review of HOA fees at similar new single-family attached 
developments in San Mateo County. As in the previous case, households are expected to spend 35 
percent of available monthly income (a conservative estimate) on total housing costs, including monthly 
payments for mortgage payments, property taxes, insurance and HOA fees. Figure III-7 shows the result 
of the income estimates for households buying new single-family attached units. As shown in the 
calculations, for single-family attached units, household incomes are estimated to be over $250,000. 
 
 
Incomes of Condominium Buyers 
To calculate the household income of buyers of new condominium units, the analysis applied mortgage 
terms typical for San Mateo County: 20 percent down payment, 30 year fixed rate mortgage, and 4.35 
percent interest rate. Property tax rates were estimated from recent budget documents, and homeowner 
association (HOA) fees were based on a review of HOA fees at similar new condominium 
developments in San Mateo County. Total housing costs, including monthly payments for mortgage 
payments, property taxes, insurance, and HOA fees, are assumed to be 35 percent of available monthly 
income; as mentioned previously, this is a conservative estimate. The result of the income estimates for 
households buying new condominium units is shown in Figure III-8. As shown in the calculations, for 
condominium units, household incomes are estimated to be over $150,000.  
 
Incomes of Apartment Renters 
For renter households, maximum annual housing costs are assumed to be 30 percent of gross household 
income, a standard established in California’s Health and Safety Code Sections 50052.5 and 50053, 
although it is acknowledged that many renters in San Mateo County spend a higher share of their gross 
income on housing. The estimated household income of renters varies by unit type, as indicated in 
Figure III-9. Studio renter households have an estimated annual income of $108,000. One-bedroom, 
two-bedroom and three-bedroom unit renter households have estimated household incomes of 
$128,000, $168,000 and $160,000, respectively.  
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -25- 

Figure III-6. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Detached Units 

  Single-Family Detached Units 

  4 BR/4 BA 

Number of Households 10 

Sales Price $2,600,000  

Down Payment (a) $520,000  

Loan Amount $2,080,000  

Monthly Debt Service (b) $10,354  

Annual Debt Service $124,254  

Annual Property Taxes (c) $28,943  

Fire and Hazard Insurance (d) $9,100  

Annual Housing Costs (e) $162,297  

Household Income $463,706  
Notes:  

(a) Down payment is estimated at 20% of sales price, based on Freddie Mac data for San Mateo County. 
(b) Interest rate is estimated at 4.35% for a 30-year term, based on Freddie Mac data, 
http://www.freddiemac.com/pmms/pmms30.htm. 
(c) Property tax rate is 1.1132% based on Menlo Park CAFR. 
(d) Industry standard, estimated at 0.35%. 
(e) Homeownership housing burden is estimated at 35%, based on California Health & Safety Code Sections 50052.5 and 
50053. 

Sources: Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014. 

 

Figure III-7. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Single-Family Attached Units 

  Single-Family Attached Units 

  3 BR/3 BA 

Number of Households 20 

Sales Price $1,428,000  

Down Payment (a) $285,600  

Loan Amount $1,142,400  

Monthly Debt Service (b) $5,687  

Annual Debt Service $68,244  

Annual Property Taxes (c) $15,896  

Annual HOA Fees (d) $3,000  

Fire and Hazard Insurance (e) $4,998  

Annual Housing Costs (f) $92,139  

Household Income $263,253  
Notes: 

(a) Down payment is estimated at 20% of sales price, based on Freddie Mac data for San Mateo County. 
(b) Interest rate is estimated at 4.35% for a 30-year term, based on Freddie Mac data, 
http://www.freddiemac.com/pmms/pmms30.htm.  
(c) Property tax rate is 1.1132% based on Menlo Park CAFR. 
(d) Homeownership association (HOA) fees are estimated at $250 per month, based on fees charged at a sample of 
recently built projects in San Mateo County. 
(e) Industry standard 
(f) Homeownership housing burden is estimated at 35%, based on California Health & Safety Code Sections 50052.5 and 
50053. 

Sources: Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014. 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -26- 

Figure III-8. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Buyers of Condominium Units 

  Condominium Units 

  4 BR/3 BA 

Number of Households 150 

Sales Price $980,000  

Down Payment (a) $196,000  

Loan Amount $784,000  

Monthly Debt Service (b) $3,903  

Annual Debt Service $46,834  

Annual Property Taxes (c) $10,909  

Annual HOA Fees (d) $5,400  

Fire and Hazard Insurance (e) $3,430  

Annual Housing Costs (f) $66,573  

Household Income $190,210  
Notes: 

(a) Down payment is estimated at 20% of sales price, based on Freddie Mac data for San Mateo County. 
(b) Interest rate is estimated at 4.35% for a 30-year term, based on Freddie Mac data, 
http://www.freddiemac.com/pmms/pmms30.htm. 
(c) Property tax rate is 1.1132% based on Menlo Park CAFR. 
(d) Homeownership association (HOA) fees are estimated at $450 per month, based on review of new condominiums in 
San Mateo County. 
(e) Industry standard 
(f) Homeownership housing burden is estimated at 35%, based on California Health & Safety Code Sections 50052.5 and 
50053. 

Sources: Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014. 
 

Figure III-9. Estimated Annual Household Incomes of Renters of Apartment Units 

  Apartment Unit Type 

  Studio 1 BR/ 1 to 2 BA 2 BR/ 1 to 2 BA 3 BR/ 2 BA 

Number of Households 9 79 59 3 

Monthly Rent $2,700  $3,200  $4,200  $4,000  

Annual Housing Costs  $32,400  $38,400  $50,400  $48,000  

Housing Costs as % of Income (a) 30% 30% 30% 30% 

Household Income $108,000  $128,000  $168,000  $160,000  
Notes:     

(a) Renter housing burden is estimated at 30%, based on California Health & Safety Code Sections 50052.5 and 50053. 
Sources: Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014.     



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -27- 

The buyers and renters of the new market-rate single-family detached units, single-family attached 
units, condominiums and apartments create new spending in the local economy. These new 
expenditures can be linked to new jobs, many of which pay low wages. The job and wage impacts 
related to new market-rate housing units are measured using IMPLAN3, an economic impact analysis 
tool. An economics consulting firm, Applied Development Economics (ADE) undertook the IMPLAN3 
analysis with the information on residential prototypes and associated buyers’ and renters incomes 
provided by Strategic Economics and Vernazza Wolfe Associates Inc.  In this section of the report, the 
methodology and results of the IMPLAN3 analysis are described in detail. 

THE IMPLAN3 MODEL 

 
The IMPLAN model is an economic dataset that has been used for over 35 years to measure the 
economic impacts of new investments and spending using the industrial relationships defined through 
an Input-Output Model.  The IMPLAN model can estimate economic impacts resulting from changes 
in industry output, employment, income, and other measures. The latest version of this model is referred 
to as IMPLAN3. 
 
For this analysis, the input-output model used data specific to San Mateo County in order to estimate 
the multiplier effects resulting from the households that could potentially rent or buy new housing 
units in Menlo Park. In this case, all of the multiplier effects derive from new demand for goods and 
local services (including government) that new households would generate within San Mateo County. 
It does not account for economic impacts generated during the construction period, or any economic 
impacts that would occur outside of the county. 
 
The economic impacts estimated by the model generally fall into one of three categories - direct, 
indirect, or induced. For this analysis, the direct impacts represent the household income brought 
into the community by new residents. Indirect impacts would normally result from demand for 
commodities and services provided by suppliers for business operations. (Because the direct impacts 
come only from household spending, and not from business activity, the indirect effects were not 
calculated.) Induced impacts represent the potential effects resulting from household spending at local 
establishments by the new workers hired as a result of increased household expenditures. These 
impacts affect all sectors of the economy, but primarily affect retail businesses, health services, 
personal services providers, and government services.  The employment estimates provided by the 
IMPLAN3 model cover all types of jobs, including full and part time jobs. 
 
The first analysis undertaken by the IMPLAN3 model estimated the household demand for retail 
goods and personal services. It is assumed that buyers and renters of new housing units in Menlo 
Park increase demand for goods and services within San Mateo County. This demand is based on the 
projected incomes of renters and owners for each prototype. The IMPLAN3 model’s calculations are 
based on changes in household income, which adjusts the gross income to account for the payment of 
income taxes and savings.5  
 
The second analysis estimated the induced impacts, or multiplier effects of new household spending 
in terms of jobs and wage income. The jobs and income calculations are focused on the induced jobs 
that would be created through local spending by the new households. More specifically, the output of 

                                                      
5 According to IMPLAN Group LLC, when the economic impact is modeled based on household income change, 
IMPLAN3 will adjust the input for income taxes and savings. 

IV. ECONOMIC IMPACT ANALYSIS (IMPLAN3) 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -28- 

the model tracks how household demand moves through the supply chain. Industries that produce 
goods and services for final demand or consumption must purchase inputs from other producers, 
which in turn, purchase goods and services. The model tracks these linkages through the economy to 
the point where leakages from the region stop the cycle. The input-output model estimates the job 
impacts by detailed industry sector. The detailed industry job impact estimates are then distributed by 
occupational category. The occupational employment data used in the analysis came from the 
California Employment Development Department (EDD) Labor Market Information Division, and 
aggregates together data for all of California. After converting the industry level data into occupational 
employment, the income distribution was calculated using the occupational wage data for the San 
Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City Metropolitan Division (MD) that combines San Francisco, 
Marin, and San Mateo counties. The average wage by occupation was used to make this calculation. 
The 2014 (first quarter) occupational wage data used in the analysis comes from EDD. 
 

HOUSEHOLD INCOME IMPACTS 

Since the IMPLAN3 Model bases its household income impacts on Consumer Expenditure Survey data, 
income categories are used in the model instead of continuous income information. Because of this 
feature, the analysis sorted the renters and buyers of new market rate units into income groups, and then 
calculated the economic impacts based on the total income calculated for each income group. 
 
Figure IV-1 below summarizes the household income data for single-family detached and attached 
households. As shown, all 10 single-family detached buyer households are in the income category of 
$150,000 or higher, with a total combined household income of $4.64 million. All 20 single-family 
attached buyer households have an average household income over $150,000, and an aggregate 
household income of $5.27 million. Figure IV-2 demonstrates the same calculation for condominium 
buyer households and renter households. The 150 households of the condominium prototype have an 
average household income over $150,000, and a combined income of $28.53 million. The rental 
prototype has 88 households in the $100,000-$150,000 income category, and 62 households in the 
over $150,000 income category. The combined total household income for renter households is $21.48 
million. These total income figures, adjusted to account for taxes and savings, were used as inputs for 
the IMPLAN3 analysis. 

EMPLOYMENT AND WAGE IMPACTS 

Based on the incomes of the new buyers and renters, the next step is to determine employment and 
wage impacts from each prototype.  Estimated employment and wages are shown in Figure IV-3 for 
each IMPLAN3 industry sector, indicating the number of induced jobs, the industry’s share of total 
employment growth by prototype, and the average wage by industry. Figure IV-4 provides the same 
IMPLAN3 output data, organized by occupation rather than industry, for each prototype. As shown in 
both figures, many of the induced jobs generated within San Mateo County are in low-wage sectors 
and occupations related to retail and food services (restaurants). However, a significant proportion of 
induced jobs are in higher-paying resident-serving categories such as health care and government.  

ESTIMATING WORKER-HOUSEHOLDS 

Recognizing that many households have more than one wage-earner, the next step is to calculate the 
number of worker–households by dividing the total number of new workers by the average number of 
wage-earners per household in Menlo Park. According to the U. S. Census Bureau 2008-2012 American 
Community Survey 3-Year Estimate, Menlo Park has an average of 1.53 workers per household. The 
number of induced jobs is divided by 1.53 to calculate the total number of worker households. Figure 
IV-5 illustrates this calculation. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study -29- 

ESTIMATING DEMAND FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

To estimate the demand for affordable housing, it is first necessary to determine the incomes of the new 
households. Once the average annual household income of worker households is calculated, the next 
step is to categorize households into area median income (AMI) levels based on the thresholds set by 
California Department of Housing and Community Development for San Mateo County. The average 
household size in Menlo Park is 2.5 (rounded to 3.0), according to the US Census American Community 
Survey 5-Year Estimates 2008-2012. The income threshold for a three-person household in San Mateo 
County was therefore used to determine the AMI categories of each new worker household.6 Figure 
IV-6 indicates that of the 10.8 new worker households associated with a single-family detached 
development, there will be 8.6 households that need affordable housing. The comparable figures for 
single-family attached, condominium and apartment developments are, respectively, 9.8, 53 and 47.3 
households. 

                                                      
6 The average Menlo Park household size is 2.5, according to the US Census, American Community Survey 5 
Year Estimates, 2008-2012. This figure was rounded to 3.0 persons. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -30- 

 Figure IV-1. Estimated Incomes by Income Categories for Buyers of Single-Family Detached and Single-Family Attached Units 

  Single-Family Detached Prototype Single-Family Attached Prototype 

Income Category 
New 

Households 

Aggregate 
Household 

Incomes 

Average 
Household 

Income 
New 

Households 

Aggregate 
Household 

Incomes 

Average 
Household 

Income 
Less than $10,000 0 $0  n/a 0 0 n/a 
$10,000-$15,000 0 $0  n/a 0 0 n/a 
$15,000-$25,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$25,000-$35,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$35,000-$50,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$50,000-$75,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$75,000-$100,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$100,000-$150,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
Over $150,000 10 $4,637,058  $463,706  20 $5,265,058  $263,253  
Total 10 $4,637,058  $463,706  20 $5,265,058  $263,253  
Sources: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015.  

 

Figure IV-2. Estimated Incomes by Income Categories for Buyers of Condominiums Units and Renters of Apartment Units 

  Condominium Prototype Apartment Prototype 

Income Category 
New 

Households 

Aggregate 
Household 

Incomes 

Average 
Household 

Income 
New 

Households 

Aggregate 
Household 

Incomes 

Average 
Household 

Income 
Less than $10,000 0 $0  n/a 0 0 n/a 
$10,000-$15,000 0 $0  n/a 0 0 n/a 
$15,000-$25,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$25,000-$35,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$35,000-$50,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$50,000-$75,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$75,000-$100,000 0 $0  n/a 0 $0  n/a 
$100,000-$150,000 0 $0  n/a 88 $11,084,000  $125,955  
Over $150,000 150 $28,531,497  $190,210  62 $10,392,000  $167,613  
Total 150 $28,531,497  $190,210  150 $21,476,000  $143,173  
Sources: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015.  

   



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -31- 

Figure IV-3. Estimated Job and Wage Impacts of Prototypes by Industry 

      
Single-Family 

Detached Prototype 
Single-Family 

Attached Prototype 
Condominium 

Prototype Apartment Prototype 

Industry (NAICS code) 
Average 

Wage Jobs 
% Of 
Jobs Jobs 

% Of 
Jobs Jobs 

% Of 
Jobs Jobs 

% Of 
Jobs 

11 
Forestry, fishing, hunting, and 
agriculture $38,309  0.01 0% 0.01 0% 0.06 0% 0.06 0% 

21 Mining $70,505  0.01 0% 0.01 0% 0.04 0% 0.04 0% 

22 Utilities $74,144  0.03 0% 0.03 0% 0.17 0% 0.16 0% 

23 Construction $68,376  0.36 2% 0.41 2% 2.23 2% 1.82 2% 

31 Manufacturing $66,946  0.04 0% 0.05 0% 0.27 0% 0.24 0% 

42 Wholesale trade $62,797  0.20 1% 0.23 1% 1.25 1% 1.12 1% 

44 Retail trade $54,808  2.53 15% 2.88 15% 15.59 15% 14.08 16% 

48 Transportation & warehousing $49,308  0.37 2% 0.42 2% 2.28 2% 1.94 2% 

51 Information $77,312  0.21 1% 0.24 1% 1.32 1% 1.22 1% 

52 Finance & insurance $71,830  0.81 5% 0.92 5% 5.01 5% 4.50 5% 

53 Real estate & rental & leasing $66,316  0.77 5% 0.88 5% 4.75 5% 4.47 5% 

54 
Professional, scientific & technical 
services $91,389  0.50 3% 0.57 3% 3.09 3% 2.65 3% 

55 
Management of companies & 
enterprises $88,955  0.02 0% 0.02 0% 0.13 0% 0.12 0% 

56 
Admin, support, waste mgt, 
remediation services $54,197  0.68 4% 0.77 4% 4.19 4% 3.76 4% 

61 Educational services $62,584  0.74 4% 0.84 4% 4.53 4% 3.47 4% 

62 Health care and social assistance $68,778  2.92 18% 3.32 18% 17.97 18% 17.11 19% 

71 Arts, entertainment & recreation $49,614  0.57 3% 0.64 3% 3.49 3% 3.04 3% 

72 Accommodation & food services $31,520  2.32 14% 2.64 14% 14.28 14% 13.37 15% 

81 
Other services (except public 
administration) $53,217  1.66 10% 1.88 10% 10.20 10% 9.28 10% 

91 Government $70,961  1.66 10% 1.89 10% 10.22 10% 7.61 8% 

  Total    16.43 100% 18.65 100% 101.09 100% 90.06 100% 
Note: Average wage is calculated based on the mean occupational wages, and the average statewide distribution of occupations for each industry. 
Sources: Applied Development Economics, Inc, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015. 

   



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -32- 

Figure IV-4. Estimated Job and Wage Impacts of Prototypes by Occupation 

SOC 
Code Occupational Title 

Average 
Annual 
Wage 

Single-Family 
Detached 

Jobs 

Single-Family 
Attached 

Jobs 
Condominium 

Jobs 
Apartment 

Jobs 

11-0000 Management Occupations $146,537  0.76 0.86 4.68 4.15 

13-0000 Business and Financial Operations Occupations $95,505  0.80 0.90 4.90 4.22 

15-0000 Computer and Mathematical Occupations $104,996  0.28 0.32 1.71 1.47 

17-0000 Architecture and Engineering Occupations $100,605  0.15 0.17 0.91 0.73 

19-0000 Life, Physical, and Social Science Occupations $96,012  0.14 0.16 0.86 0.71 

21-0000 Community and Social Services Occupations $54,663  0.37 0.42 2.28 2.01 

23-0000 Legal Occupations $140,841  0.11 0.12 0.65 0.53 

25-0000 Education, Training, and Library Occupations $59,459  0.63 0.72 3.89 3.14 

27-0000 Arts, Design, Entertainment, Sports,  Media Occupations $70,952  0.25 0.28 1.53 1.35 

29-0000 Healthcare Practitioners and Technical Occupations $111,876  1.05 1.19 6.47 6.04 

31-0000 Healthcare Support Occupations $41,374  0.49 0.56 3.04 2.87 

33-0000 Protective Service Occupations $61,618  0.43 0.49 2.64 2.09 

35-0000 Food Preparation and Serving-Related Occupations $27,076  2.46 2.79 15.14 14.06 

37-0000 Building and Grounds Cleaning and Maintenance  $33,575  0.52 0.59 3.20 2.85 

39-0000 Personal Care and Service Occupations $33,716  1.18 1.34 7.25 6.62 

41-0000 Sales and Related Occupations $54,767  2.17 2.47 13.36 12.09 

43-0000 Office and Administrative Support Occupations $46,720  2.54 2.88 15.60 13.78 

45-0000 Farming, Fishing, and Forestry Occupations $34,770  0.02 0.02 0.11 0.09 

47-0000 Construction and Extraction Occupations $63,327  0.32 0.36 1.95 1.59 

49-0000 Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Occupations $58,564  0.59 0.67 3.64 3.23 

51-0000 Production Occupations $41,105  0.31 0.36 1.93 1.72 

53-0000 Transportation and Material Moving Occupations $42,255  0.87 0.99 5.36 4.71 

  Total all occupations   16.43 18.65 101.09 90.06 

Sources: Applied Development Economics, 2015; IMPLAN3 input-output model, 2015; California Labor Market Information Division, 2015.  
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -33- 

Figure IV-5. Induced Employment Impacts, Menlo Park 

Project Prototype 
Single-Family 

Detached 
Single-Family 

Attached Condominium Apartment 

Number of Units 10 20 150 150 

Induced Employment (Workers) 16 19 101 90 

Average Number of Workers per Household 1.53 1.53 1.53 1.53 

New Worker Households 10.74 12.19 66.07 58.86 

Source: Applied Development Economics, 2015; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 2015.  
 

Figure IV-6. New Worker Households by Income Group for Single-Family Detached, Single-Family Attached, Condominium and Apartment Prototypes 

Worker Households by Income Category 

Income Thresholds  
(3-Person 

Household) 
Single-Family 

Detached 
Single-Family 

Attached Condominium Apartment 

Households Requiring Affordable Housing      

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $50,900 2.7 3.1 16.8 15.5 

Low Income (51-80% AMI) $81,450 2.8 3.1 17.0 15.1 

Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $92,700 3.1 3.5 19.2 16.7 

Subtotal Very Low, Low, Moderate Income  8.6 9.8 53.0 47.3 

Above Moderate Income Households (>120% AMI) >$92,700 2.1 2.4 13.2 11.7 

Total All Worker Households   10.8 12.2 66.2 59.0 

Source: Applied Development Economics, Inc., 2015; Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. 2015.   



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -34- 

Estimating the housing affordability gap is necessary to calculate the maximum potential housing 
impact fee. This affordability gap analysis was conducted at the county-wide level so that it can be 
applied to all the jurisdictions in San Mateo County participating in the multi-city nexus study.7 This 
section summarizes the approach to calculating the housing affordability gap and the results of the 
analysis.  

METHODOLOGY 

The housing affordability gap is defined as the difference between what very low, low, and moderate 
income households can afford to pay for housing and the development cost of new, modest housing 
units. Calculating the housing affordability gap involves the following three steps: 

1. Estimating affordable rents and housing prices for households in target income groups. 
 

2. Estimating development costs of building new, modest housing units, based on current cost 
and market data. 
 

3. Calculating the different between what renters and owners can afford to pay for housing and 
the cost of development of rental and ownership units. 

 
The housing affordability gap is estimated at a countywide level, and assumed to be the same for all 
the jurisdictions participating in the multi-city nexus studies, for the following reasons: 

 Both the California Department of Housing and Community Development Department (HCD) 
and U.S. Housing and Urban Development Department (HUD) define the ability to pay for 
housing at the county (rather than the city) level. Existing affordable housing studies and 
policies in most jurisdictions rely on these countywide area median income (AMI) estimates 
published by HCD or by HUD. This analysis uses 2014 income limits published by California 
Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD). 

 
 Construction costs for housing and commercial development do not vary dramatically between 

different jurisdictions in San Mateo County, because the cost of labor and materials is regional 
in nature.  

 
Although land costs vary widely in San Mateo County, the study estimated a single land value for the 
county based on data provided by developers of recently built projects. These costs are at the low end 
of recent land sales, as described below. Additionally, because the land costs used in the analysis are 
from 2012 and 2013, and land values have escalated rapidly since then, the resulting affordability gap 
will be slightly lower than if the analysis incorporated 2014 land costs, providing a conservative 
estimate of the affordability gap.  
  

                                                      
7 Although there is a single housing affordability gap estimate for all jurisdictions in the county, the subsequent 
steps in the fee calculation considers market and household characteristics for Menlo Park, generating a unique 
maximum fee for each jurisdiction in the county, as described in Section V. 

V. AFFORDABILITY GAP ANALYSIS 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -35- 

ESTIMATING AFFORDABLE RENTS AND SALES PRICES 

The first step in calculating the housing affordability gap is to determine the maximum amount that 
households at the targeted income levels can afford to pay for housing. For eligibility purposes, most 
affordable housing programs define very low income households as those earning approximately 50 
percent or less of area median income (AMI), low income households as those earning between 51 and 
80 percent of AMI, and moderate income households as those earning between 81 and 120 percent of 
AMI. In order to ensure that the affordability of housing does not use the top incomes in each category, 
the analysis uses a point within the income ranges for the low and moderate income groups.8  
 
Figure V-1 and Figure V-2 show the calculations for rental housing. The maximum affordable monthly 
rent is calculated as 30 percent of gross monthly household income, minus a deduction for utilities. For 
example, a very low income, three-person household could afford to spend $1,273 on total monthly 
housing costs. After deducting for utilities, $1,220 a month is available to pay for rent.  
 
Figure V-3 and Figure V-4 demonstrate housing affordability for homeowners. Homeowners are 
assumed to pay a maximum of 35 percent of gross monthly income on total housing costs, depending 
on income level. The maximum affordable price for for-sale housing is then calculated based on the 
total monthly mortgage payment that a homeowner could afford, using standard loan terms used by 
CalHFA programs and many private lenders for first-time homebuyers, including a five percent down 
payment (Figure V-3). For example, a moderate income, three-person household could afford to spend 
$2,974 a month on total housing costs, allowing for the purchase of a $348,526 home. Key assumptions 
used to calculate the maximum affordable rents and housing prices are discussed below. 

 Unit types: For rental housing, the analysis included studios, one-, two-, and three-bedroom 
units. For for-sale housing, one-, two-, and three-bedroom units were included. These unit types 
represent the affordable and modest market-rate apartment and condominium units available 
in San Mateo County. Condominiums were used to represent modest for-sale housing because 
single-family homes in San Mateo County tend to be significantly more expensive than 
condominiums. 

 Occupancy and household size assumptions. Because income levels for affordable housing 
programs vary by household size, calculating affordable unit prices requires defining household 
sizes for each unit type. Consistent with California Health and Safety Code Section 50052.5(h), 
unit occupancy was generally estimated as the number of bedrooms plus one. For example, a 
studio unit is assumed to be occupied by one person, a one bedroom unit is assumed to be 
occupied by two people, and so on. Several adjustments to this general assumption were made 
in order to capture the full range of household sizes. In particular, it is assumed that one-
bedroom condominiums could be occupied by one- or two-person households, and three-
bedroom apartments and condominiums could be occupied by four- or five-person households.9 

 Targeted income levels for rental housing: For rental housing, affordable rents were 
calculated for very low income, low income, and moderate income households (see Figure V-
1 and Figure V-2). For eligibility purposes, most affordable housing programs define very low 

                                                      
8 For rental housing, 70 percent of AMI is used to represent low income households and 90 percent of AMI is used 
to represent moderate income households. For ownership housing, it is assumed that moderate income 
homebuyers may earn slightly less than the maximum for that income category (110 percent of AMI). Higher 
income limits are used for ownership than for rental housing because ownership housing is more expensive to 
purchase and maintain. 
9 For these unit types, the maximum affordable home price (or rent) is calculated as the average price (or rent) 
that the relevant household sizes can afford to pay. For example, the maximum affordable home price for a one-
bedroom condominium is calculated as the average of the maximum affordable home price for one- and two-
person households. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -36- 

income households as those earning 50 percent or less of area median income (AMI), low 
income households as those earning between 51 and 80 percent of AMI, and moderate income 
households as those earning between 81 and 120 percent of AMI. However, defining affordable 
housing expenses based at the top of each income range would result in prices that are not 
affordable to most of the households in each category. Thus, this analysis does not use the 
maximum income level for all of the income categories. Instead, for rental housing, 70 percent 
of AMI is used to represent moderate income households and 90 percent of AMI is used to 
represent moderate income households.  

 Targeted income levels for ownership housing For ownership housing, affordable home 
prices were calculated only for moderate income households (see Figure V-3 and Figure V-4). 
Higher income limits are used for ownership than for rental housing because ownership 
housing is more expensive to purchase and maintain. It is assumed that moderate income 
homebuyers may earn slightly less than the maximum for that income category (110 percent of 
AMI).  

 Maximum monthly housing costs.10 For all renters, maximum monthly housing costs are 
assumed to be 30 percent of gross household income.  For homebuyers, 35 percent of gross 
income is assumed to be available for monthly housing costs, reflecting the higher incomes of 
this group.11 These standards are based on California’s Health & Safety Code Sections 50052.5 
and 50053. 

 Utilities. The monthly utility cost assumptions are based on utility allowances calculated by 
the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for San Mateo County.12 Both renters 
and owners are assumed to pay for heating, cooking, other electric, and water heating. In 
addition, owners are assumed to pay for water and trash collection.13  

 Mortgage terms and costs included for ownership housing. The mortgage calculations are 
based on the terms typically offered to first-time homebuyers (such as the terms offered by the 
California Housing Finance Authority), which is a 30-year mortgage with a five percent down 
payment. A five percent down payment standard is also used by many private lenders for first-
time homebuyers. Based on recent interest rates to first-time buyers, the analysis assumes a 
5.375 percent annual interest rate.14 In addition to mortgage payments and utilities, monthly 

                                                      
10 The calculation of homeowner affordability is conservative in that the model accounts for additional costs for 
buyers (such as utility costs) that might not be considered by all lenders. 
11 The assumption that homebuyers spend 35 percent of gross household income on housing results in a lower 
affordability gap than if 30 percent of gross household income were used instead. 
12 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, "Allowances for Tenant-Furnished Utilities and Other 
Services: Housing Authority of San Mateo County," November 2013. 
13 Units are assumed to have natural gas heating, cooking, and water heating systems, as natural gas is the 
most common fuel for units located in San Mateo County. Sources: U.S. Census Bureau, 2012 American 
Community Survey, “Table B25117: Tenure by House Heating Fuel,” San Mateo County; U.S. Census Bureau, 
2011 American Housing Survey, “Table C-03-AH-M, San Francisco-San Mateo-Redwood City: Heating, Air 
Conditioning, and Appliances – All Housing Units.” 
14 Sources: CalHFA Mortgage Calculator, accessed March 2014; Zillow.com, “Current Mortgage Rates and Home 
Loans,” accessed March 2014; interviews with California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA) Preferred Loan 
Officers, March 2014. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -37- 

ownership housing costs include homeowner association (HOA) dues,15 property taxes,16 
private mortgage insurance,17 and hazard and casualty insurance.18 

                                                      
15 HOA fees are estimated at $300 per unit per month, based on common HOA fees in San Mateo County as 
reported in: Polaris Pacific, “Silicon Valley Condominium Market,” February 2014. 
16 The annual property tax rate is estimated at 1.18 percent of the sales price, based on the average total tax rate 
for San Mateo County (calculated from County of San Mateo, 2008-09 Property Tax Highlights 
http://www.co.sanmateo.ca.us/Attachments/controller/Files/PTH/PTH_2009.pdf) and discussions with Preferred 
Loan Officers. 
17 The annual private mortgage insurance premium rate is estimated at 0.89 percent of the total mortgage amount, 
consistent with standard requirements for conventional loans with a five percent down payment. Sources: 
Genworth, February 2014; MGIC, December 2013; Radian, April 2014. 
18 The annual hazard and casualty insurance rate is assumed to be 0.35 percent of the sales price, consistent with 
standard industry practice. 

http://www.co.sanmateo.ca.us/Attachments/controller/Files/PTH/PTH_2009.pdf


DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -38- 

Figure V-1. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 

Persons per Household (HH) 1 2 3 4 5 
      
Very Low Income (50% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 50% AMI $39,600 $45,250 $50,900 $56,550 $61,050 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (a) $990 $1,131 $1,273 $1,414 $1,526 
Utility Deduction $29 $40 $53 $68 $68 
Maximum Available for Rent (HH Size) (b) $961 $1,091 $1,220 $1,346 $1,458 

      
Low Income (70% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 70% AMI $50,470 $57,680 $64,890 $72,100 $77,875 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (a) $1,262 $1,442 $1,622 $1,803 $1,947 
Utility Deduction $29 $40 $53 $68 $68 
Maximum Available for Rent (HH Size) (b) $1,233 $1,402 $1,569 $1,735 $1,879 

      
Moderate Income (90% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 90% AMI $64,890 $74,160 $83,430 $92,700 $100,125 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (a) $1,622 $1,854 $2,086 $2,318 $2,503 
Utility Deduction $29 $40 $53 $68 $68 
Maximum Available for Rent (HH Size) (b) $1,593 $1,814 $2,033 $2,250 $2,435 

Notes:       
(a) 30 percent of maximum monthly household income. 
(b) Maximum monthly housing cost minus utility deduction. 

Acronyms:      
AMI: Area median income      
HH: Household      

Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2013; 
Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 

  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -39- 

Figure V-2. Calculation of Affordable Rents in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 

Affordable Sales Price by Unit Type (a) 
Studio 

(1 person) 
1 Bedroom 
(2 persons) 

2 Bedroom 
(3 persons) 

3 Bedroom 
(4 and 5 
persons) 

Very Low Income (50% AMI) $961 $1,091 $1,220 $1,402 
Low Income (70% AMI) $1,233 $1,402 $1,569 $1,807 
Moderate Income (90% AMI) $1,593 $1,814 $2,033 $2,342 
Notes:      

(a) Affordable rents are calculated as follows: Studios are calculated as one-person households; One-bedroom units are 
calculated as two-person households; Two-bedroom units are calculated as three-person households; Three-bedroom 
units are calculated as an average of four and five person households. See Figure V-1. 

Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, 2013; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -40- 

Figure V-3. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Household Size, 2014 

Persons per Household (HH) 1 2 3 4 5 
Moderate Income (110% AMI)      

Maximum Household Income at 110% AMI (a) $79,310 $90,640 $101,970 $113,300 $122,375 
Maximum Monthly Housing Cost (b) $2,313 $2,644 $2,974 $3,305 $3,569 
Monthly Deductions      

Utilities $106 $106 $130 $156 $156 
HOA Dues $300 $300 $300 $300 $300 
Property Taxes and Insurance (c) $517 $607 $690 $773 $844 

Monthly Income Available for Mortgage Payment (d)  $1,390 $1,631 $1,854 $2,076 $2,269 
Maximum Mortgage Amount (e) $248,195 $291,274 $331,100 $370,795 $405,155 
Maximum Affordable Sales Price - HH Size (f) $261,258 $306,604 $348,526 $390,311 $426,479 

Notes:       
(a) Calculated as 110 percent of the median household income reported by HCD for each household size. 
(b)  Maximum housing cost is estimated at 35 percent of household income for homebuyers. 

(c) Assumes annual property tax rate of 1.18 percent of sales price; annual private mortgage insurance premium rate of 0.89 percent of mortgage amount; 
annual hazard and casualty insurance rate of 0.35 percent of sales price. 
(d) Maximum monthly housing cost minus deductions 
(e) Assumes 5.375 percent interest rate and 30 year loan term 
(f) Assumes 5 percent down payment (75 percent loan-to-value ratio) 

Acronyms:      
AMI: Area median income      
HH: Household      
HOA: Home owners association      

Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2013; Vernazza Wolfe 
Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 

  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -41- 

Figure V-4. Calculation of Affordable Sales Prices in San Mateo County by Unit Type, 2014 

Affordable Sales Price by Unit Type (a) 
1 Bedroom 

(1 and 2 persons) 
2 Bedroom 
 (3 persons) 

3 Bedroom 
(4 and 5 persons) 

Moderate Income (110% AMI) $283,931 $348,526 $408,395 
Notes:    

(a) One-bedroom units are calculated as an average of one- and two-person households; Two-bedroom units are calculated as 
three-person households; and three-bedroom units are calculated as an average of four and five person households. See Figure 
V-3 

Sources: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2014; U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, 2013; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014.  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -42- 

ESTIMATING HOUSING DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

The second step in calculating the housing affordability gap is to estimate the cost of developing new, 
modest housing units. Modest housing is defined slightly differently for rental and ownership housing. 
For rental housing, the costs and characteristics of modest housing are similar to recent projects 
developed in San Mateo County by the affordable rental housing sector. Modest for-sale housing is 
assumed to be non-luxury multifamily (condominium) development because single-family homes in 
San Mateo County tend to be significantly more expensive than condominiums; many of the new 
single-family homes in the county are custom-built luxury units that are too costly to meet the standard 
for modest housing.  
 
The calculation of housing development costs used in the housing affordability gap requires several 
steps. Because the gap covers both rental housing and for-sale housing, it is necessary to estimate costs 
for each.  The following describes the data sources used to calculate rental and for-sale housing 
development costs. 
 
Rental Housing 
Rental housing development costs were based on pro forma data obtained from three recent affordable 
housing projects in San Mateo County. Figure V-5 shows the location and description of these projects 
and summarizes the information that was used to generate a per-square-foot cost of $410 used in the 
cost analysis. These costs include site acquisition costs, hard costs (on- and off-site improvements), soft 
costs (such as design, city permits and fees, construction interest, and contingencies), and developer 
fees. The costs from the rental housing pro formas were also cross-referenced against proprietary pro 
formas available to the consultant team from other private development projects in order to ensure 
accuracy. 
 
Since these projects assumed state and federal funding, the labor costs included in the original pro 
formas reflect the prevailing wage requirement imposed by state and local governments. The costs 
shown in Figure V-5 have been adjusted to subtract out the prevailing wage requirement because the 
development cost model used in the housing affordability gap analysis does not assume receipt of 
government subsidies. A rule of thumb used by local economists who assist affordable housing 
developers in obtaining public financing, is to estimate that, under the prevailing wage requirement, 
labor costs are 25 percent higher than would otherwise be the case. Therefore, on-site and off-site 
improvement costs obtained from the original pro formas are reduced by 25 percent to reflect actual 
labor costs that would apply to construction projects that do not have these requirements.19 Finally, on 
average, land acquisition costs accounted for 20 percent or less of these total adjusted costs.   

                                                      
19 These prevailing wage requirements refer only to labor cost requirements on construction projects that receive 
funding from the state or federal government. These are not the same as minimum wage requirements that 
individual cities may adopt. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -43- 

Figure V-5. Affordable Housing Project Pro Forma Data  

Project Description Project 1 Project 2 Project 3 
Location San Mateo San Mateo San Bruno 
Year Built 2013 2010 2011 
Land Area (acres) 1.05 1 0.63 
Gross Building Area (square feet) 106,498 127,718 42,688 
Net Building Area (square feet) 56,075 67,850 33,297 
Number of Units 60 68 42 
Parking Type Podium Underground Structure 
Parking Spaces/ Unit 1.82 1.55 1.0 

Land Acquisition Costs  
$3,157,000                  

($69 per SF of 
land) 

$5,543,600             
($127 per SF of 

land) 

$2,096,500                       
($76 per SF of 

land) 
Project Costs per SF of Net Building Area    

Land Cost (a) $56  $82  $63  
Land Cost (per sq. ft. of net building area) $56  $82  $63  
Hard Costs (b) $228  $216  $187  
Soft Costs (c) $93  $99  $114  
Developer Fees $25  $21  $39  
Total Project Costs (d)  $402  $417  $403  

Notes: 
(a) Calculated per square foot of net building area.  
(b) Excludes prevailing wage requirements for on-site and off-site hard costs.  
(c) Includes design, engineering, city permits and fees, construction interest, contingencies, legal, etc.  
(d) Total costs include developer fees.  

Acronyms: 
SF: Square feet 

Source: Confidential Pro Forma Data; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 

To ensure that the land value assumptions used in the rental development cost estimates (ranging from 
$69 to $127 per square foot of land) were reasonable, the consultant team analyzed recent sales of 
vacant properties in San Mateo County using DataQuick, a commercial vendor that tracks real estate 
transactions. Cities with fewer than three vacant land transactions were excluded from the analysis. As 
shown below in Figure V-6, land values in San Mateo County are highly variable from city to city, 
ranging from $45 to $300 per square foot; the average sales price for the selected sites in the County 
was $189 per square foot. The analysis demonstrates the land cost assumptions used to calculate rental 
housing costs (in Figure V-5) represent the lower range of current land values, which results in a lower 
affordability gap estimate (and a lower maximum fee calculation, as described in Section VI). 
 
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -44- 

Figure V-6. Sales of Vacant Lands in San Mateo County, 2014 

Jurisdiction 
Number 

Transactions 
Average 

Sales Price 
Average Site 

Size (SF) 

Average 
Sales Price/ 

SF Land 

Belmont 4 $920,000  6,383  $165  

Menlo Park 6 $1,239,500  5,802  $220  

Pacifica 4 $487,000  7,221  $111  

San Bruno 13 $933,769  3,259  $295  

San Mateo 8 $1,314,188  5,424  $300  

Unincorporated San Mateo County 4 $224,250  5,194  $45  

Average of Records   $853,118  5,547  $189  
Notes: Includes data from cities with 3 or more transactions of vacant land in San Mateo County from January through 
May 2014. Records with missing sales or land area information were eliminated.  
Acronyms:     
  SF: Square feet     
Sources: DataQuick, January-May 2014; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 
For-Sale Housing  
Since affordable housing developers do not typically build for-sale housing in San Mateo County, the 
cost of developing new, modest for-sale housing was estimated using two data methods: the first 
method used price data for recently built condominium units as a proxy for development costs; the 
second approach estimated development costs based on published market and cost data for similar 
projects in San Mateo County. Each of these cost estimate approaches is described in more detail below. 
 
Review of condominium sales data – In this approach, average sales prices from condominium units 
built in San Mateo County between 2008 and 2012 are used as a proxy for development costs. 20 This 
approach assumes that construction costs, land costs, soft costs, and developer profit are all included in 
the unit sales price. Using data provided by DataQuick, the consultant team analyzed sales prices of 
condominium units of various sizes in the seven cities that experienced condominium development that 
exceeded 10 units in the aggregate between 2008 and 2012. These seven cities included Brisbane, East 
Palo Alto, Millbrae, Redwood City, San Carlos, San Mateo City, and South San Francisco. The other 
jurisdictions in San Mateo County experienced little or no condominium development during this time 
period. Figure V-7 summarizes the information that was used to generate a per-square-foot cost for 
condominium development of $420.  
 
Cost estimate of hypothetical condominium project - The second approach relied on published 
industry data sources and recent financial feasibility studies to estimate the development costs of a 
hypothetical condominium project, as described in Figure V-8.21  Land costs were estimated based on 
recent DataQuick land transactions shown in Figure V-6. RS Means cost data, adjusted for the Bay 
Area’s construction costs, was used to calculate hard costs. Based on a review of recent financial 

                                                      
20 Ideally, cost estimates would be based only on projects built in the last year or two. However, the decline in new 
construction after 2007 necessitated that the analysis use several years’ worth of data in order to estimate for-sale 
housing costs. Since costs are not adjusted for inflation, they may be slightly lower than actual costs required for 
a new project to be built in 2014 or 2015. This approach is more conservative – and likely more accurate – than 
applying across-the-board inflation factors to historic costs. Furthermore, the increasing cost of residentially zoned, 
high density parcels is the main source of development cost increase.  Adjusting land costs for inflation is not easily 
done.  
21 The hypothetical condominium building type is a Type V building with underground parking and floor-area ratio 
of 1.7. The building characteristics are described in Figure IV-8. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -45- 

feasibility analyses in the Bay Area, soft costs were estimated at 30 percent of hard costs, and developer 
fees and profits were estimated at 12 percent of hard and soft costs. Using this second method, the 
development costs are estimated at $495 per net square foot of building area.  In order to ensure that 
the results of the affordability gap analysis are conservative, the lower development cost estimate of 
$420 per net square foot was selected for ownership units. 
 
Figure V-7. Condominium Sales: Average Unit Characteristics and Prices for Selected Cities in San 
Mateo County (2008-2012) 

Jurisdiction 

Average 
Number of 
Bathrooms 

Average 
Number of 
Bedrooms 

Average 
Square Feet 

Average 
Price per 

Square Foot 
Average Unit 

Price 
Brisbane 1.2 1.5 892 $413  $368,625  
East Palo Alto 1.8 1.3 1,029 $340  $349,991  
Millbrae 1.9 2 1,290 $429  $553,893  
Redwood City 2.7 2.9 1,933 $402  $776,655  
San Carlos 1.8 1.8 1,066 $508  $541,932  
San Mateo City 2.3 2.2 1,545 $439  $677,430  
South San Francisco 1.7 1.8 981 $427  $418,740  
Aggregate 1.9 1.9 1,248 $423  $527,401  

Sources: DataQuick, Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 
Figure V-8. Estimate of Development Costs of Hypothetical Condominium Project 

Building Characteristics  
Land Area (SF)                 110,727  
Gross Building Area (SF)                 188,235  
Net Building Area (SF)                 160,000  
Number of Units                         100  
Parking Type Underground 
Floor-area ratio (FAR)                          1.7  
Density (units per acre)                           39  
Average Unit Size                     1,600  
Land Acquisition Costs per Square Foot (a) $189 

   
Development Cost  Cost per Net SF 

Land Cost (b) $131 
Hard Costs  $250 
Soft Costs (c) $75 
Developer Fees (d) $39 

Total Development Costs $495 
Notes:  

(a) Land value is calculated based on DataQuick records of vacant land transactions 
in the county. See Figure IV-6. 
(b) Calculated based on RS Means cost estimates per square foot of net building 
area.   
(c) Estimated at 30 percent of hard costs. Includes design, engineering, city permits 
and fees, construction interest, contingencies, legal, etc.  
(d) Estimated at 12 percent of hard costs and soft costs. 

Acronyms: 
SF: square feet 

Sources: RS Means, 2014; DataQuick 2014; Recent financial feasibility studies; 
Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 

 
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -46- 

Cost Estimates by Unit Size 
The data sources described above also provided information on estimated unit sizes. Unit size 
information is needed to translate costs/sales prices per square foot to unit costs. Unit sizes are estimated 
separately for rental and for-sale units. For the rental units, the recent inventory of projects developed 
by MidPen Housing in San Mateo County was analyzed. For ownership units, the average sizes of 
recently built condominium units (Figure V-7) were analyzed. 
 
Figure V-9 provides the unit sizes and development cost estimates for rental units. Per-unit 
development costs were calculated by multiplying average unit sizes by the per-square foot 
development costs of $410. Rental unit costs range from $205,000 for studio units to $479,700 for 
three-bedroom units. 
 
Figure V-10 summarizes the costs of condominium units. The per-unit costs were derived by 
multiplying the average unit size by the development cost per square foot of $420. Condominium 
development costs range from $357,000 for one-bedroom units to $672,000 for three-bedroom units. 
 

 Figure V-9. Rental Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs 

Unit Type 
Estimated Cost 

per Net SF 
Unit Size       
(net SF) 

Development 
Costs 

Studio $410 500 $205,000 
One bedroom $410 700 $287,000 
Two bedroom $410 970 $397,700 
Three bedroom $410 1,170 $479,700 

Acronyms: 
 SF: Square feet 
Sources: Confidential Pro Forma Data; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 
Figure V-10. For-Sale Housing Unit Sizes and Development Costs 

Unit Type 
Estimated Cost 

per Net SF 
Unit Size       
(net SF) 

Development 
Costs 

One bedroom $420 850 $357,000 
Two bedroom $420 1,200 $504,000 
Three bedroom $420 1,600 $672,000 

Acronyms: 
 SF: Square feet 
Sources: DataQuick, 2014; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2014. 
 

  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -47- 

CALCULATING THE HOUSING AFFORDABILITY GAP 

The final step in the analysis is to calculate the housing affordability gap, or the difference between 
what renters and owners can afford to pay and the total cost of developing new units. The purpose of 
the housing affordability gap calculation is to help determine the fee amount that would be necessary 
to cover the cost of developing housing for very low, low, and moderate income households. The 
calculation does not assume the availability of any other source of housing subsidy because not all 
"modest" housing is built with public subsidies, and tax credits and tax-exempt bond financing are 
highly competitive programs that will not always be available to developers of modest housing units. 
 
Figure V-11 shows the housing affordability gap calculation for rental units. For each rental housing 
unit type and income level, the gap is defined as the difference between the per-unit cost of development 
and the supportable debt per unit. The supportable debt is calculated based on the net operating income 
generated by an affordable monthly rent, incorporating assumptions about operating expenses 
(including property taxes, insurance, etc.), reserves, vacancy and collection loss, and mortgage terms 
based on discussions with local affordable housing developers. Because household sizes are not 
uniform and the types of units each household may occupy is variable, the average housing affordability 
gap is calculated by averaging the housing affordability gaps for the various unit sizes.   
 
Figure V-12 shows the housing affordability gap calculation for ownership units. For each unit type, 
the gap is calculated as the difference between the per-unit cost of development and the affordable sales 
price for each income level. As with rental housing, the average housing affordability gap for each 
income level is calculated by averaging the housing affordability gaps across unit sizes in order to 
reflect that households in each income group vary in size, and may occupy any of these unit types.  
 
Finally, the tenure-neutral estimates of the housing affordability gap were estimated for very low, low, 
and moderate income households (Figure V-13). Because very low and low income households that are 
looking for housing in today’s market are much more likely to be renters, an ownership gap was not 
calculated for these income groups. The rental gap represents the overall affordability gap for these two 
income groups. On the other hand, moderate income households could be either renters or owners. 
Therefore, the rental and ownership gaps are averaged for this income group to calculate the overall 
affordability gap for moderate income households.  The calculated average affordability gap per unit is 
$280,783 for very low income households; $240,477 for low income households, and $175,558 for 
moderate income households. The housing affordability gap is highest for very low income households 
because those households with higher incomes can afford to pay more for housing. 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -48- 

Figure V-11. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for Rental Housing 

Income Level and Unit Type 

Unit 
Size 
(SF) 

Maximum 
Monthly 
Rent (a) 

Annual 
Income 

Net 
Operating 

Income 
(b) 

Available 
for Debt 
Service 

(c) 
Supportable 

Debt (d) 
Development 

Costs (e) 
Affordability 

Gap 
Very Low Income (50% AMI)       

Studio 500 $961 $11,532 $3,455 $2,764 $36,552 $205,000 $168,448 
1 Bedroom 700 $1,091 $13,095 $4,940 $3,952 $52,259 $287,000 $234,741 
2 Bedroom 970 $1,220 $14,634 $6,402 $5,122 $67,725 $397,700 $329,975 
3 Bedroom 1,170 $1,402 $16,824 $8,483 $6,786 $89,733 $479,700 $389,967 

Average Affordability Gap      $280,783 
         

Low Income (70% AMI)        
Studio 500 $1,233 $14,793 $6,553 $5,243 $69,323 $205,000 $135,677 
1 Bedroom 700 $1,402 $16,824 $8,483 $6,786 $89,733 $287,000 $197,267 
2 Bedroom 970 $1,569 $18,831 $10,389 $8,312 $109,902 $397,700 $287,798 
3 Bedroom 1,170 $1,807 $21,680 $13,096 $10,477 $138,535 $479,700 $341,165 

Average Affordability Gap      $240,477 
         

Moderate Income (90% AMI)         
Studio 500 $1,593 $19,119 $10,663 $8,530 $112,796 $205,000 $92,204 
1 Bedroom 700 $1,814 $21,768 $13,180 $10,544 $139,417 $287,000 $147,583 
2 Bedroom 970 $2,033 $24,393 $15,673 $12,539 $165,796 $397,700 $231,904 
3 Bedroom 1,170 $2,342 $28,108 $19,202 $15,362 $203,127 $479,700 $276,573 

Average Affordability Gap           $187,066 
Notes: 

(a) Affordable rents are based on State of California Housing and Community Development FY 2014 Income Limits for San Mateo County. See Figure V-2.  
(b) Amount available for debt. Assumes 5% vacancy and collection loss and $7,500 per unit per year for operating expenses and reserves based on recently built (2012-2014) and 
proposed affordable housing projects in the San Francisco Bay Area. 
(c) Assumes 1.25 Debt Coverage Ratio. 
(d) Assumes 6.38%, 30 year loan. Calculations based on annual payments. 
(e) Assumes $410/SF for development costs based on comparable project pro formas. 
(f) Calculated as the difference between development costs and supportable debt. 

Acronyms: 
SF: Square feet 
AMI: Area median income 

Sources: Housing and Community Development, 2014; Selected San Mateo Rental Housing Pro Formas; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                         -49- 
 

Figure V-12. Housing Affordability Gap Calculation for For-Sale Condominium Housing 

Income Level 
and Unit Type Unit Size (SF) 

Affordable 
Sales Price 

(a) 
Development 

Costs (b) 
Affordability Gap 

(c) 
     

Moderate Income (110% of AMI)   
1 Bedroom 850 $283,931 $357,000 $73,069 
2 Bedroom 1,200 $348,526 $504,000 $155,474 
3 Bedroom 1,600 $408,395 $672,000 $263,605 

Average Affordability Gap   $164,049 
 Notes: 

(a) See calculation in Figure V-3. 
(b) Assumes $420/SF for development costs, based on recent condominium sales data. 
(c) Calculated as the difference between development cost and affordable sales price. 

Acronyms: 
SF: Square feet 
AMI: Area median income 

Sources: DataQuick Sales Data, 2008-2012; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

  

Figure V-13. Average Housing Affordability Gap by Income Group 

Income Level Rental Gap Ownership Gap 
Average 

Affordability Gap 
Very Low Income (50% AMI) $280,783 N/A $280,783 
Low Income (70% - 80% AMI) (a) $240,477 N/A $240,477 
Moderate Income (90% - 110% AMI) (b) $187,066 $164,049 $175,558 
Notes: 

(a) Low income households are defined at 70 percent of AMI for renters and 80 percent of AMI for owners.  
(b) Moderate income households are defined at 90 percent of AMI for renters and 110 percent AMI for owners.  

Acronyms:   
AMI: Area median income.   

Source: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                                                  
-50- 

 

 
This section builds on the findings of the previous analytical steps to calculate maximum justified 
housing impact fees for each prototype.  

MAXIMUM FEE CALCULATION 

To derive the maximum nexus-based fee, the housing affordability gap is applied to the number of 
lower-income worker households linked to the prototypes. This is the basis for developing an estimate 
of the total affordability gap for each prototype. The total gap for each prototype is then divided by the 
number of units in the development prototype to calculate a single maximum fee per unit.  
  
Figure VI-1 presents the results of the nexus fee calculation for the single-family detached prototype. 
The per unit housing affordability gap number is multiplied by the number of income-qualified worker 
households linked to the prototype to estimate the total gap. The total affordability gap is then divided 
by the number of units in the prototype to derive the maximum fee per unit, estimated at $197,963 per 
unit. The same steps are taken for the single-family attached, condominium and apartment prototypes 
to estimate the maximum fee per unit, as shown in Figures VI-2 through VI-4. The calculated maximum 
fees are $112,387 per single-family attached unit, $81,203 per condominium unit, and $72,766 per 
apartment unit. 
 
The fees can also be calculated on per-square-foot basis by dividing the total gap by the net residential 
area for each prototype. The maximum fee per square foot is $66 for the 30,000-square-foot single-
family detached prototype (Figure VI-5), $66 for the 34,000-square-foot single-family attached 
prototype (Figure VI-6), $45 per square foot for the 270,000-square-foot condominium prototype 
(Figure VI-7), and $79 for the 137,400-square-foot prototype (Figure VI-8).  
 
The per-unit and per-square-foot fees shown in the tables below express the total nexus-based fees for 
new market-rate single-family detached, single-family attached, condominium and rental apartment 
development in Menlo Park. They represent the maximum justified fees based on the nexus analysis 
that could be imposed on new development. The city may adopt fees or require mitigations at a lower 
level than these justified fees, depending on financial feasibility and other policy considerations.  
 

VI. NEXUS FEES AND REQUIREMENTS 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                                                  
 -51- 

Figure VI-1. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Single-Family Detached Prototype 

Income Category Average Affordability 
Gap (per Household) 

Number 
Worker 

Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 
Number Units 
in Prototype 

Total Fee Per 
Unit 

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 2.7 $768,368   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 2.8 $663,661   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 3.1 $547,599   

Total     $1,979,628 10 $197,963 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 

Figure VI-2. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Single-Family Attached Prototype 

Income Category Average Affordability 
Gap (per Household) 

Number 
Worker 

Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 
Number Units 
in Prototype 

Total Fee Per 
Unit 

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 3.1 $872,429   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 3.1 $753,541   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 3.5 $621,761   

Total     $2,247,731 20 $112,387 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 

Figure VI-3. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Condominium Prototype 

Income Category Average Affordability 
Gap (per Household) 

Number 
Worker 

Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 
Number Units 
in Prototype 

Total Fee Per 
Unit 

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 16.8 $4,727,715   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 17.0 $4,083,459   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 19.2 $3,369,338   

Total     $12,180,512 150 $81,203 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                                                  -52- 

Figure VI-4. Maximum Per-Unit Fee for Apartment Prototype 

Income Category Average Affordability 
Gap (per Household) 

Number Worker 
Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 
Number Units 
in Prototype 

Total Fee Per 
Unit 

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 15.5 $4,344,566   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 15.1 $3,635,157   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 16.7 $2,935,222   

Total     $10,914,945 150 $72,766 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 
Figure VI-5. Maximum Fee per SF for Single-Family Detached Prototype 

Income Category 
Average 

Affordability Gap 
(per Household) 

Number Worker 
Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 
Net Residential 

Area (SF) 
Total Fee 

Per SF 
Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 2.7 $768,368   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 2.8 $663,661   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 3.1 $547,599   

Total     $1,979,628 30,000 $66 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 
Figure VI-6. Maximum Fee per SF for Single-Family Attached Prototype 

Income Category Average Affordability 
Gap (per Household) 

Number 
Worker 

Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 
Net Residential 

Area (SF) 
Total Fee 

Per SF 
Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 3.1 $872,429   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 3.1 $753,541   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 3.5 $621,761   

Total     $2,247,731 34,000 $66 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                                                  -53- 

Figure VI-7. Maximum Fee per SF for Condominium Prototype 

Income Category Average Affordability 
Gap (per Household) 

Number 
Worker 

Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 

Net 
Residential 
Area (SF) 

Total Fee 
Per SF 

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 16.8 $4,727,715   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 17.0 $4,083,459   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 19.2 $3,369,338   

Total     $12,180,512 270,000 $45 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 
Figure VI-8. Maximum Fee per SF for Apartment Prototype 

Income Category Average Affordability 
Gap (per Household) 

Number 
Worker 

Households  

Maximum Fee 
Revenues for 

Prototype 

Net 
Residential 
Area (SF) 

Total Fee 
Per SF 

Very Low Income (<=50% AMI) $280,783 15.5 $4,344,566   
Low Income (51-80% AMI) $240,477 15.1 $3,635,157   
Moderate Income (81-120% AMI) $175,558 16.7 $2,935,222   

Total     $10,914,945 137,400 $79 
Sources: California Housing and Community Development; Individual lenders; Affordable and market-rate project pro formas; DataQuick, 2014; RS 
Means, 2014; IMPLAN 3 via Applied Development Economics, 2015; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015. 

 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                                                  
  -54- 

 

INCLUSIONARY HOUSING REQUIREMENTS 

At present, inclusionary housing is one of the primary tools for providing affordable housing units in 
Menlo Park. The inclusionary housing program requires that 10 percent of new units in projects of 
between 5 and 20 units and 15 percent of new units in projects over 20 units must be affordable for 
very low, low, and/or moderate income households. If the City adopts a housing impact fee, it could 
replace its inclusionary housing program with an impact fee program that still allows developers the 
option of providing affordable units; or it could continue to require on-site units in for-sale projects.    
 
The findings of the nexus analysis can be used to calculate the percentage of units provided on-site 
within a project that would fully mitigate the affordable housing impacts. The percentages are 
calculated for a combined total of market rate and affordable units. For example, a 150-unit market-
rate condominium project is linked to 53 households that require affordable housing, for a total 
combined project of 203 units. The percentage is calculated as 53 divided by 203, for an inclusionary 
percentage of 35 percent.  
 
Figure VI-9 below presents the results of the analysis for each of the ownership prototypes. The 
inclusionary percentage was not calculated for the apartment prototype due to legal restrictions on 
inclusionary housing policies for rental projects. The analysis supports maximum inclusionary 
percentages between 33 percent and 46 percent for the ownership prototypes. The analysis indicates 
that the nexus-based inclusionary percentage rates are higher than the City’s existing inclusionary 
policy. Therefore, the results of the nexus analysis support the current inclusionary requirements.   
 
Figure VI-9. Calculated Inclusionary Rates Based on Potential Housing Impact Fees 

 

Households 
Requiring 
Affordable 
Housing 

Total Market-
Rate Units in 

Prototype 

Combined 
Affordable and 

Market-Rate 
Units 

Calculated 
Inclusionary 

Rate 

Single-Family Detached 8.6 10 18.6 46% 

Single-Family Attached 9.8 20 29.8 33% 

Condominiums 53.0 150 203.0 35% 

Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. & Strategic Economics, 2015.  

 

SUMMARY OF CONSERVATIVE ASSUMPTIONS  

 
The housing impact fee nexus analysis methodology utilizes conservative assumptions that result in a 
lower estimate of the nexus-supported maximum fee. Some of the conservative assumptions undertaken 
in the analysis include the following:  
 

 Prices and rental rates for new development. Because there has been little new housing 
development completed in San Mateo County, the sale prices and rental rates for new market-
rate housing are based on older market data. The rental rates and sale prices for projects that 
are coming on the market today are significantly higher. The use of lower prices and rents 
results reduces the total nexus fee calculation. 
 

 Economic impact analysis model. The IMPLAN3 model only measures the impacts of new 
market-rate housing development in San Mateo County. It does not measure any of the impacts 
that could be occurring in other Bay Area counties. The economic impact analysis is modeled 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -55- 

on a household income change approach, which adjusts for income taxes and savings when 
calculating the employment impacts of new households.   

 
 Cost estimates for affordability gap analysis. The affordability gap analysis measures the 

difference between what households can afford to pay for housing and the cost of new housing 
units. To ensure that the gap is conservative, the development cost estimates are based on the 
lower range of land and construction costs in San Mateo County. In many sub-areas of the 
county, including priority-development areas and downtown locations, land costs for housing 
sites may be higher, particularly under today’s market conditions. 

 
 Affordability gap for owner households. The calculation of the affordability gap for 

ownership households only considers moderate-income households. Low and very low income 
households are not considered in the calculation. This also results in a lower estimate of the 
maximum fee. 
 

 Feasibility analysis. The analysis takes into account the financial feasibility of adding the 
maximum impact fee and reduced fee levels to the total cost of new development. The financial 
feasibility component of the analysis incorporates market-supportable assumptions about 
revenues, costs, land costs, and developer return expectations based on research on recent 
development trends. The results of financial analysis informed the final recommendations on 
the housing impact fee. 
 

 Comparison to other cities. The Consultant Team researched existing impact fees and BMR 
policies in other nearby cities to determine the competitiveness of the maximum fee and 
reduced fee levels. The fee recommendations in this report incorporate the findings from the 
comparative analysis. 
 

 Overlap analysis. The City is undertaking two impact fee nexus studies at the same time: the 
commercial linkage fee nexus study and the housing impact fee nexus study. To minimize the 
potential that some jobs could be double-counted by including the same worker households in 
both studies, the Consultant Team ensured that the recommended fees for the two programs 
(commercial linkage and housing fees) would – when combined –mitigate less than 100 percent 
of the total impact. 

  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -56- 

There are a number of policy considerations that can be taken into account when jurisdictions consider 
adopting an affordable housing impact fee on new market-rate development. These may include factors 
such as the likely impact of the proposed fee levels on local housing development, the competitiveness 
of the city in attracting development relative to neighboring jurisdictions, the impact of the proposed 
fee on existing city fee level, and the role of the proposed fee in meeting the city’s overall affordable 
housing objectives. This section provides a discussion of some of the key financial and policy questions 
for Menlo Park.  

FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY ANALYSIS 

Summary of Residential Prototypes 
As discussed in more detail in Section III of this report, this nexus analysis is based on four residential 
prototypes: ownership single-family detached, single-family attached and condominiums, and rental 
apartments. Figure VII-1 summarizes the characteristics of the four development prototypes that were 
tested for financial feasibility. These prototypes are representative of the types of market rate housing 
development projects that can reasonably be expected in Menlo Park. The single-family detached units 
are wood siding wood frame buildings with an attached garage and a density of six units per acre. The 
average net residential area is 3,000 square feet per unit. The single-family attached units are Type V 
wood frame buildings with a tuck-under parking, a density of 13 units per acre, and an average net area 
per unit of 1,700 square feet. The condominiums are Type V wood frame buildings with underground 
parking and a density of 35 units per acre. The average net residential area is 1,800 square feet per unit. 
The apartment prototype building is Type V wood frame construction, with podium parking and a 
density of 43 units per acre. The average net area per unit is 916 square feet. Most of the apartment 
units are one and two bedrooms, with a smaller number of studios and three bedroom units.  
 

Figure VII-1. Residential Prototypes 

Building Characteristics  
Single-Family 

Detached 
Single-Family 

Attached Condominiums Apartments 
Building Type Wood Siding Type V Type V Type V 
Total Residential Units (a) 10 20 150 150 
Avg. Size Unit in Square Feet (SF) 3,000 1,700 1,800 916 
Net Square Footage (NSF) 30,000 34,000 270,000 137,400 
Parking Type Attached Garage Tuck-Under Underground Podium 
Efficiency Factor (b) 85% 85% 85% 65% 
Gross Square Footage (GSF) 35,294 40,000 317,647 211,385 
Floor Area Ratio (FAR) (c)  0.5 0.6 1.7 1.4 
Land Area (SF) 70,588 66,667 186,851 150,989 
Land Area (Acres) 1.62 1.53 4.29 3.47 
Units per Acre 6 13 35 43 

Notes:     

(a) Unit characteristics are described in more detail in Section III.   

(b) Ratio of leasable square footage to gross square footage.   

(c) Floor area ratio (FAR) measures density by dividing gross building area by total site area.  

Source: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. and Strategic Economics, 2015.   
 
  

VII. FEASIBILITY AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -57- 

Fee Levels 
In order to provide Menlo Park with guidance on how proposed fees could impact development 
decisions, the Consultant Team conducted a financial feasibility analysis that tested the impact of 
proposed fee options on developer profit. The fees were tested for four fee scenarios, which include the 
maximum nexus-supported fee and three reduced fee levels. 
 
Figure VII-2 demonstrates the calculated fees per unit for each prototype for all four scenarios. The 
fees can also be calculated on per square foot basis. The per-square-foot fees at different fee levels are 
shown in Figure VII-3. 
 
Figure VII-2. Fee Levels per Unit for Prototypes 

Prototype 

Net 
Residential SF 

per Unit 

Scenario 1 
(Maximum 

Fee) 
Scenario 2 Scenario 3 Scenario 4 

Single-Family Detached 3,000 $197,963  $150,000  $120,000  $90,000  
Single-Family Attached 1,700 $112,387  $85,000  $68,000  $51,000  
Condominium 1,800 $81,203  $63,000  $45,000  $36,000  
Apartments 916 $72,766  $45,800  $36,640  $27,480  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015.   

 
Figure VII-3. Fee Levels per Square Foot for Prototypes 

Prototype 
Net 

Residential SF 
per Unit 

Scenario 1 
(Maximum 

Fee) 
Scenario 2 Scenario 3 Scenario 4 

Single-Family Detached 3,000 $66  $50  $40  $30  
Single-Family Attached 1,700 $66  $50  $40  $30  
Condominium 1,800 $45  $35  $25  $20  
Apartments 916 $79  $50  $40  $30  
Sources: Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc.; Strategic Economics, 2015.   

 
Methodology  
Financial feasibility of the fee options was tested using a pro forma model that measures the residual 
land value of a given development project. Many pro forma models are structured to solve for the 
financial return for the developer or investors (internal rate of return). In contrast, the residual land 
value method of analysis solves for the value of the land. This method recognizes that the value of land 
is inextricably linked to what can be built on it, and that development potential is heavily influenced by 
zoning, lot size/configuration, neighborhood context, and other factors. The pro forma model tallies all 
development costs (minus land) including direct construction costs, indirect costs (including financing), 
and developer fees. Revenues from unit sales or rental leases are then summed. The total project costs 
are then subtracted from the total project revenues. The balance is the residual value, representing the 
price a developer would pay for the land if pursuing that project. The fee levels were then added as an 
additional development cost to measure the effect on the residual land value. 
 
Revenues 
To estimate income from residential development, the analysis uses the sales prices and monthly rents 
presented in Section III of this report and summarized in Figure VII-4. These revenue assumptions were 
based on a review of local and regional market data, including information on the type of development 
that has been recently constructed or is planned or proposed in Menlo Park; and current sales prices 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -58- 

and rental rates of recently built (or sold) residential development in Menlo Park and neighboring cities. 
For single-family detached, single-family attached and condominium projects, the revenues are 
calculated by multiplying the unit count by the sales price. Single-family detached units are estimated 
at $2,600,000, single-family attached at $1,428,000, and condominium units at $980,000. For rental 
projects, the revenues were estimated using an income capitalization approach. This valuation approach 
first estimates the annual net operating income (NOI) of the apartment prototype, which is the 
difference between total project income (annual rents) and project expenses, including operating costs22 
and vacancies. The NOI is then divided by the capitalization rate (cap rate) to derive total project value. 
Figure VII-5 summarizes the calculations and data source used for estimating the value of the apartment 
prototype.  
 
Figure VII-4. Prototype Sales Prices and Rents 

Prototype Unit Type 
Number of 

Units 
Net Area 

(SF) 

Unit Sales 
Price/ 

Monthly 
Rent 

Price or 
Rent per 

SF 

Single-Family Detached (For-Sale)     

Wood siding wood frame 4 BD/4 BA 10 3,000 $2,600,000  $867  

6 units per acre      

Attached garage      

Net Residential Area (Net SF)   30,000   

      

Single-Family Attached (For-Sale)      

Type V wood frame 3 BD/3 BA 20 1,700 $1,428,000  $840  

13 units per acre      

Tuck-under podium parking      

Net Residential Area   34,000   

      

Condominiums (For-Sale)      

Type V wood frame 4 BD/3 BA 150 1,800 $980,000  $544  

35 units per acre      

Subterranean parking      

Net Residential Area (Net SF)   270,000   

      

Apartments (Rental)      

Type V wood frame Studio 9 600 $2,700  $4.50  

43 units per acre 1 BD/1 to 2 BA 79 800 $3,200  $4.00  

Podium parking 2 BD/1 to 2 BA 59 1,100 $4,200  $3.82  

 3 BD/2 BA 3 1,300 $4,000  $3.08  

Net Residential Area   137,400   

Average Net SF per Unit     916     

Sources: Strategic Economics & Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2014.    
 

                                                      
22 Operating costs were calculated based on the Institute of Real Estate Management Survey of Apartment 
Buildings in the San Francisco Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -59- 

Figure VII-5. Apartment Revenue Calculations 

Apartment Revenues Calculation Total 

Gross Annual Rental Income (a) Gross annual rents $6,442,800  

Operating Expenses (b) 30 percent of income ($1,932,840) 

Vacancy (c)  5 percent of income ($322,140) 
   

Annual Net Operating Income (c) 
Income less expenses 
and vacancy $4,187,820  

Capitalization Rate (d) 5 percent 5.00% 

Capitalized Value Project value $83,756,400  

Notes:   

(a) Average monthly rents multiplied by 12 months multiplied by unit count for each unit type. 

(b) Institute of Real Estate Management, San Francisco MSA Apartment Properties, 2011. 

(c) Assumes a vacancy rate of 5 percent in a stabilized rental market.  
(d) According to DTZ's San Francisco Real Estate Forecast 2015, the cap rate for 
apartments is approximately 5 percent.   

Sources: IREM, DTZ, Strategic Economics, 2015.    
 
Development Costs 
Cost estimates for the residential prototypes include direct construction costs (site work, building costs, 
and parking), indirect costs, financing costs, and developer overhead and profit. Development cost 
estimates for the pro forma analysis are distinct from the cost estimates provided in the countywide 
affordability gap analysis. Direct building construction cost estimates are based on RS Means and 
project pro formas for recent projects in San Mateo County.23 Soft costs and developer overhead/profit 
were calculated based on a review of similar project pro formas in the Bay Area. City fee calculations 
were provided by City staff. Each of the cost factors used in the analysis is summarized in Figure VII-
6. 
 

                                                      
23 The development cost estimates used in the pro forma analysis are slightly different from those used in the 
affordability gap analysis because they include more recent real estate data, and are more tailored for Menlo Park 
and Central San Mateo County, rather than an overall estimate for the entire county. Furthermore, the market-rate 
units are generally larger and costlier to build than the “modest” units described in the affordability gap analysis. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -60- 

Figure VII-6. Development Cost Factors 

Development Costs Metric 

Direct Costs (a)   

 Single-Family Detached $155  Per NSF 

 Single-Family Attached $150  Per NSF 
 Condominiums $225  Per NSF 
 Apartments $210  Per NSF 
     

Indirect Costs (b)    

 A&E & Consulting 6.00% of direct costs 
 Permits & Fees (Excl. Housing) (c)  Varies by prototype 
 Taxes, Insurance, Legal & Accounting 3.00% of direct costs 
 Other (d) 3.00% of direct costs 
 Contingency 5.00% of indirect costs 
  Total Indirect Costs   

     

Financing Costs (b)   

 Loan to Cost Ratio (LTC) 80% of total costs 
 Loan Interest Rate 6% annual rate 
 Compounding Period 12 months 
 Construction/Absorption Period (e) 12 to 24 months 
 Utilization Rate 55% of loan 
 Loan Fees 2% of loan 
     

Developer Overhead & Profit 12% of total costs (excl. land) 

          
Notes:   

(a) Direct costs include site work, building construction, and parking costs of $30,000 per space 
for underground parking and $25,000 per space for podium parking. Costs estimates are based 
on review of Bay Area pro formas for similar projects and data from RS Means. 
(b) Based on review of similar project pro formas in the Bay Area and interviews with developers. 
(c) Permits & fees are a generalized estimate of costs based on prototypes, calculated by City 
staff. Permits and fees for actual projects vary depending on many factors. 
(d) Other soft costs include marketing, personal property, environmental studies, etc. 
(e) Absorption periods are estimated at 24 months for apartments, condominiums and 
townhouses; and 18 months for single-family subdivisions. 

Sources: RS Means, 2014; Similar pro formas; Menlo Park, 2015; Strategic Economics, 2015. 
 
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -61- 

Land Value 
In order to understand what the different fee levels indicate regarding financial feasibility, the residual 
land values for each fee scenario can be compared with the market value of residential land in Menlo 
Park. If the residual value is higher than the market value, the project is feasible. If the residual value 
is lower than the market price, then the project is infeasible. 
 
To determine the land value of sites zoned for lower density uses (single-family detached and single 
family attached) and higher density multi-family residential uses (condominiums and rental 
apartments), the Consultant Team analyzed recent sales transactions in Southern San Mateo County 
and Northern Santa Clara County, and reviewed third-party property appraisals.24 Figure VII-7 
illustrates the results of the land value analysis for lower density single-family detached and single 
family attached residential uses, while Figure VII-8 shows the value of properties zoned for higher 
density multi-family residential uses. For lower density residential uses, values range considerably 
depending on location and size, from $38 per square foot for the lower quartile, to $119 per square foot 
for the upper quartile. foot. For the financial analysis, the estimated land value is $35 to $120 for lower 
density sites. For higher-density multi-family housing, the value of land transactions ranges from $72 
per square foot for the lower quartile to $192 per square foot for the upper quartile, with the maximum 
value at $236 per square foot. For the purposes of the financial analysis, the estimated land value is 
$150 to $250 per square foot for higher density multi-family development, including condominiums 
and apartments. The higher end of the range for multifamily land values is higher than the maximum 
value ($250 instead of $236 per square foot) in order to account for recent increases in land prices, and 
to ensure that the financial feasibility results do not under-estimate the value of land from the 
perspective of a developer. For all prototypes, the market value of land is presented as a range because 
the land value of properties is likely to vary depending on location, size, and other conditions. 

                                                      
24 The land value assumptions utilized in the pro forma analysis are different from the affordability gap analysis in 
two ways: 1) they include more recent transactional data than the affordability gap analysis, which was completed 
in July 2014; and 2) they are tailored to Menlo Park and Central San Mateo County, unlike the affordability gap 
estimate, which is a countywide estimate. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 -62- 

Figure VII-7. Single-Family Vacant Land Sales Transactions in Southern San Mateo County 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Site Address Location Sale Price Lot Area Price/ SF Land 
76 Tuscaloosa Ave Atherton  $4,150,000 42,253 $98.22 
190 Almendral Ave Atherton  $4,550,000 43,560 $104.45 
12 Cowell Ln Atherton  $6,350,000 43,580 $145.71 
95 Faxon Rd Atherton  $18,900,000 130,680 $144.63 
270 Atherton Ave Atherton  $11,000,000 102,366 $107.46 
89 Tuscaloosa Ave Atherton  $4,200,000 28,260 $148.62 
81 Faxon Rd Atherton  $9,800,000 66,647 $147.04 
77 Fairview Ave Atherton  $3,648,000 45,564 $80.06 
97 Santiago Ave Atherton  $4,200,000 62,291 $67.43 
237 Atherton Ave Atherton  $53,000,000 414,691 $127.81 
70 Elena Ave Atherton  $4,450,000 47,916 $92.87 
96 Ridge View Dr Atherton  $7,800,000 70,883 $110.04 
1691 Bay Laurel Dr Menlo Park  $3,500,000 17,400 $201.15 
1652 Bay Laurel Dr Menlo Park  $2,295,000 13,504 $169.95 
1976 Menalto Ave Menlo Park  $1,041,000 7,884 $132.04 
205 Cervantes Rd Portola Valley  $1,900,000 60,548 $31.38 
5 Buck Meadow Dr Portola Valley  $1,205,000 44,431 $27.12 
9 Buck Meadow Dr Portola Valley  $1,990,000 75,800 $26.25 
5 Blue Oaks Ct Portola Valley  $4,100,000 94,525 $43.37 
4 Blue Oaks Ct Portola Valley  $4,100,000 100,188 $40.92 
Ramona Rd Portola Valley  $998,000 15,246 $65.46 
130 Golden Hills Dr Portola Valley  $2,750,000 86,205 $31.90 
Redberry Rdg Portola Valley  $2,750,000 54,600 $50.37 
17 Redberry Rdg Portola Valley  $2,350,000 86,086 $27.30 
3038 Oak Knoll Dr Menlo Park  $1,650,000 11,979 $137.74 
3058 Oak Knoll Dr Menlo Park  $1,650,000 11,979 $137.74 
Redwood Ave Menlo Park  $350,000 13,939 $25.11 
65 Palomar Oaks Ln Menlo Park  $1,135,000 30,003 $37.83 
266 Alameda De Las Pulgas Menlo Park  $885,000 13,250 $66.79 
N/A Menlo Park  $320,000 10,868 $29.44 
1525 Connecticut Dr Menlo Park  $590,000 14,625 $40.34 
3724 Laurel Way Menlo Park  $305,000 8,200 $37.20 
2155 Greenways Dr Woodside  $1,390,000 22,782 $61.01 
215 Grandview Dr Woodside  $550,000 25,700 $21.40 
834 W California Way Woodside  $1,527,500 14,810 $103.14 
834 W California Way Woodside  $1,527,500 14,375 $106.26 
834 W California Way Woodside  $1,527,500 19,166 $79.70 
231 Winding Way Woodside  $6,200,000 117,176 $52.91 
125 Ware Rd Woodside  $576,000 15,682 $36.73 
     

Summary Statistics      
Lower Quartile (25%)    $37.51 
Median Value    $67.11 
Upper Quartile (75%)     $118.92 
Source: CoreLogic, 2015; Strategic Economics, 2015.    



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -63- 

Figure VII-8. Multi-Family Vacant Land Sales Transactions in Southern San Mateo County and Northern Santa Clara County, 2010-2014 

Site Address Location Price Lot Area 
Price/ SF 

Land 
3639 Haven Avenue Menlo Park $4,400,000 65,253 $67 
1679 Kentfield Avenue Redwood City $2,250,000 43,574 $52 
755-763 Hamilton Avenue Menlo Park $1,851,300 21,780 $85 
105 5th Avenue Redwood City $1,200,000 18,000 $67 
389 El Camino Real Menlo Park $12,200,000 53,579 $228 
1300 El Camino Real Menlo Park $24,500,000 148,165 $165 
2963 El Camino Real Redwood City/Uninc. County $2,685,000 11,400 $236 
1275 El Camino Real Menlo Park $3,600,000 17,960 $200 
Page Mill Rd. Palo Alto $3,959,000 26,926 $147 
1275 El Camino Real Menlo Park $3,600,000 17,960 $200 
3877 El Camino Real Palo Alto $4,450,000 32,825 $136 
536 N Wishman Rd Mountain View $1,050,000 7,000 $150 
1958 Latham St, Mountain View, CA 94040 Mountain View $1,600,000 16,600 $96 
3633 Haven Avenue Menlo Park $10,600,000 208,652 $51 

     
     

Lower Quartile (25%)    $72 
Average Value    $134 
Upper Quartile (75%)       $192 
Source: City of Menlo Park, 2015; Property appraisals; DataQuick, 2015; Loopnet, 2015; Strategic Economics, 2015.  

 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study                                                                                                                         
-64- 

 

Financial Feasibility Results 
Figures VII-9 and VII-10 provide the pro forma for the single-family detached, single-family attached, 
condominium and apartment prototypes. Below is a discussion of the findings. 
 
Single-Family Detached 
The feasibility analysis indicates that at current market prices, without the addition of new impact fees, 
the single-family detached prototype would have revenues of $26 million, with a total development 
cost of $7.2 million. The difference between the revenues and costs is the residual land value, which is 
estimated at $266 per square foot. This prototype, with no additional impact fees, yields a residual land 
value that exceeds the threshold for feasibility in Menlo Park, which is between $35 and $120 per 
square foot. 
 
With the addition of the potential housing impact fees at different levels, the financial feasibility results 
are as follows: 
 

 The maximum impact fee of $66 per square foot raises development costs from $7.2 million to 
$9.2 million. This cost increase results in a residual land value of $238 per square foot, a value 
over the financial feasibility threshold in Menlo Park. 
 

 Scenario 2, an impact fee set at $50 per square foot increases development costs to $8.7 million. 
The residual land value under this scenario is $245 per square foot, which exceeds the 
requirement to be financially feasible. 
 

 Scenario 3, a fee level of $40 per square foot increases development costs to $8.4 million. The 
residual land value under this fee scenario is $249 per square foot, which is higher than the 
threshold for financial feasibility.  

 
 A fee level set at $30 per square foot results in total development costs of $8.1 million, and a 

residual land value of $253 per square foot. As in the other scenarios, this land value would be 
financially feasible. 

 
Single-Family Attached 
According to the feasibility analysis, with no added nexus fees, the single-family attached prototype 
would have total development costs of $8.6 million and a sale value of $28.6 million. The residual land 
value, without nexus fees, is then estimated at $300 per square foot, and exceeds the threshold on 
financial feasibility, defined as between $35 and $120.  
 
Potential impact fees at different levels would impact financial feasibility in the following ways:  
 

 The maximum impact fee of $66 per square foot brings development costs from to $10.8 
million. This cost increase results in a residual land value of $266 per square foot, which is 
over the threshold for financial feasibility in Menlo Park. 
  

 Scenario 2, a $50 per square foot nexus fee, increases development costs to $10.3 million. 
Under this fee scenario, the residual land value is $275 per square foot, which exceeds the 
residual land value necessary to be financially feasible. 
 

 Scenario 3, an impact fee of $40 per square foot, increases development costs to $9.9 million. 
In this case, the residual land value is $280 per square foot, which is also financially feasible.  

 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -65- 

 Scenario 4, a fee level set at $30 per square foot, brings total development costs to $9.6 million, 
and the residual land value to $285 per square foot. This land value would meet the requirement 
to be financially feasible. 

 
Condominiums 
The feasibility analysis shows that, following current market prices and without new impact fees, the 
condominium prototype would have revenues of $147 million, with a total development cost of $103.9 
million. The difference between the revenues and costs is the residual land value, which is estimated at 
$231 per square foot. The residual land value associated with this prototype exceeds the threshold for 
feasibility in Menlo Park, which is between $150 and $250 per square foot. 
 
Considering different housing impact fee levels, the financial feasibility analysis yields the following 
results: 
 

 The full justified impact fee of $45 per square foot raises development costs from $103.9 
million to $116 million. This cost increase results in a residual land value of $166 per square 
foot, which is situated within the threshold for financial feasibility in Menlo Park, which was 
determined to be between $150 and $250 per square foot. 
 

 Scenario 2, a reduced impact fee set at $35 per square foot, raises development costs to $113.3 
million. The residual land value under this fee scenario is $180 per square foot, which makes 
the project financially feasible.  
 

 Scenario 3, a nexus fee at $25 per square foot, results in development costs of $110.6 million, 
and a residual land value of $195 per square foot, which is financially feasible. 

 
 Scenario 4, a fee level set at $20 per square foot results in a total development cost of $109.3 

million, and a residual land value of $202 per square foot. This fee scenario would also be 
financially feasible. 
 
 

Apartments 
For apartments, the financial analysis shows that under current market conditions, without a nexus fee 
on affordable housing, a prototypical apartment development costs approximately $50.1 million, with 
a total project value of $83.8 million. The residual land value on this prototype, excluding a nexus fee, 
is estimated at $223 per square feet, meeting the threshold for financial feasibility, defined as between 
$150 to $250 per square foot. 
 
The following describes the feasibility of potential housing impact fees at different levels for 
apartments: 
 

 Scenario 1, the maximum nexus fee of $79 per square foot brings total development costs up 
to nearly $61 million. This cost increase results in a residual land value of $151 per square foot, 
which is marginally feasible. 
 

 Scenario 2, a nexus fee of $50 per square foot, increases development costs to $57 million. The 
residual land value under this fee scenario is $177 per square foot, which is aligned with the 
current market value for multi-family land, making it financially feasible.  
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -66- 

 Scenario 3, a housing impact fee level of $40 per square foot, increases development costs to 
$55.6 million. The residual land value in this scenario is $186 per square foot, which falls 
within the range required for this project to be feasible. 
 

 Scenario 4, a fee level of $30 per square foot increases development costs to $54.3 million, 
resulting in a residual land value of $195 per square foot. This fee level would also be 
financially feasible, falling within the range of the market value for multi-family land in Menlo 
Park. 

  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -67- 

Figure VII-9. Pro Forma Model Results for Single-Family Detached and Attached Prototypes 

  Single-Family Detached Single-Family Attached 
Development Costs (Excl. Land & Nexus 
Fee) per Unit Total per Unit Total 
Direct Costs (a)     
Building & On-Site Improvements $465,000 $4,650,000 $255,000 $5,100,000 
Building & Onsite per NSF  $155  $150 
Parking Incl. above Incl. above Incl. above Incl. above 
Total Direct Costs $465,000 $4,650,000 $255,000 $5,100,000 
Total Direct Costs per NSF  $155  $150 
Indirect Costs (a)     
A&E & Consulting $27,900 $279,000 $15,300 $306,000 
Permits & Fees (Excl. Nexus fee) (b) $91,908 $919,077 $71,278 $1,425,567 
Taxes, Insurance, Legal & Accounting $13,950 $139,500 $7,650 $153,000 
Other Indirect Costs $13,950 $139,500 $7,650 $153,000 
Contingency $7,385 $73,854 $5,094 $101,878 
Total Indirect Costs $155,093 $1,550,931 $106,972 $2,139,446 
Financing Costs (a) $26,292 $262,919 $20,126 $402,513 
Developer Overhead & Profit (a) $77,566 $775,662 $45,852 $917,035 
Total Development Costs $723,951 $7,239,512 $427,950 $8,558,994 
Total Development Costs (per NSF)  $241  $252 
     
Income     
Gross Income/Sales Proceeds  $2,600,000 $26,000,000 $1,428,000  $28,560,000  
Less: Operating/Sales Expenses & Vacancy      
Net (Operating or Sales) Income $2,600,000 $26,000,000 $1,428,000  $28,560,000  
     
Capitalized Value/Sales Value (c)  $2,600,000 $26,000,000 $1,428,000  $28,560,000  
     
Residual Land Value Analysis     
Total Development Costs (TDC) Except Land 
With Various Levels of Nexus Fee 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

TDC incl. 
Nexus Fee 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

TDC incl. 
Nexus Fee 

No Fee $0 $7,239,512 $0 $8,558,994 
Scenario 1: Max Fee $66 $9,219,512 $66 $10,802,994 
Scenario 2 $50 $8,739,512 $50 $10,258,994 
Scenario 3 $40 $8,439,512 $40 $9,918,994 
Scenario 4 $30 $8,139,512 $30 $9,578,994 
     

Residual Land Value per Sq. Ft. at Various 
Nexus Fee Levels 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

Residual 
Land Value 

per SF 
Nexus Fee 

per NSF 

Residual 
Land Value 

per SF 
No Fee $0 $266 $0 $300 
Scenario 1: Max Fee $66 $238 $66 $266 
Scenario 2 $50 $245 $50 $275 
Scenario 3 $40 $249 $40 $280 
Scenario 4 $30 $253 $30 $285 
     
Nexus Fee as Percentage of Total 
Development Costs 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

Fee as % of 
TDC 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

Fee as % of 
TDC 

No Fee $0 0.00% $0 0.00% 
Scenario 1: Max Fee $66 21.48% $66 20.77% 
Scenario 2 $50 17.16% $50 16.57% 
Scenario 3 $40 14.22% $40 13.71% 
Scenario 4 $30 11.06% $30 10.65% 
     
Current Land Values/ Threshold for 
Feasibility   $35-120   $35-120 
Notes:      
(a) See Figure VII-5.      
(b) This represents a generalized estimate of the fee and permit costs for each prototype, calculated by city staff. Actual fee and permit costs 
for development projects will vary depending on many factors.  
(c) See Figure VII-4.     
(d) Feasibility threshold varies by density of prototype. For single-family and townhomes, the threshold is $35 - $120 per square foot. For multi-
family rental apartments and condominiums, the threshold is $170 to $250 per square foot 
Acronyms:     
SF: square feet     
NSF: net square foot     
TDC: total development costs     
Source: Strategic Economics, 2015.     



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -68- 

Figure VII-10. Pro Forma Model Results for Condominium and Apartment Prototypes 

  Condominiums Apartments 
Development Costs (Excl. Land & Nexus 
Fee) per Unit Total per Unit Total 
Direct Costs (a)     
Building & On-Site Improvements $405,000 $60,750,000 $192,360 $28,854,000 
Building & Onsite per NSF  $225  $210 
Parking $45,000 $6,750,000 $37,500 $5,625,000 
Total Direct Costs $450,000 $67,500,000 $229,860 $34,479,000 
Total Direct Costs per NSF  $250  $251 
Indirect Costs (a)     
A&E & Consulting $27,000 $4,050,000 $13,792 $2,068,740 
Permits & Fees (Excl. Nexus fee) (b) $68,506 $10,275,879 $19,405 $2,910,794 
Taxes, Insurance, Legal & Accounting $13,500 $2,025,000 $6,896 $1,034,370 
Other Indirect Costs $13,500 $2,025,000 $6,896 $1,034,370 
Contingency $6,125 $918,794 $2,349 $352,414 
Total Indirect Costs $128,631 $19,294,673 $49,338 $7,400,687 
Financing Costs (a) $39,810 $5,971,473 $19,209 $2,881,322 
Developer Overhead & Profit (a) $74,213 $11,131,938 $35,809 $5,371,321 
Total Development Costs $692,654 $103,898,084 $334,216 $50,132,331 
Total Development Costs (per NSF)  $385  $365 
     
Income     
Gross Income/Sales Proceeds  $980,000  $147,000,000  $42,952  $6,442,800  
Less: Operating/Sales Expenses & Vacancy    $15,033  $2,254,980  
Net (Operating or Sales) Income $980,000  $147,000,000  $27,919  $4,187,820  
     
Capitalized Value/Sales Value (c)  $980,000  $147,000,000  $558,376  $83,756,400  
     
Residual Land Value Analysis     
Total Development Costs (TDC) Except 
Land With Various Levels of Nexus Fee 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

TDC incl. 
Nexus Fee 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

TDC incl. 
Nexus Fee 

No Fee $0 $103,898,084 $0 $50,132,331 
Scenario 1: Max Fee $45 $116,048,084 $79 $60,986,931 
Scenario 2 $35 $113,348,084 $50 $57,002,331 
Scenario 3 $25 $110,648,084 $40 $55,628,331 
Scenario 4 $20 $109,298,084 $30 $54,254,331 
     

Residual Land Value per Sq. Ft. at Various 
Nexus Fee Levels 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

Residual 
Land Value 

per SF 
Nexus Fee 

per NSF 
Residual Land 
Value per SF 

No Fee $0 $231 $0 $223 
Scenario 1: Max Fee $45 $166 $79 $151 
Scenario 2 $35 $180 $50 $177 
Scenario 3 $25 $195 $40 $186 
Scenario 4 $20 $202 $30 $195 
     
Nexus Fee as Percentage of Total 
Development Costs 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

Fee as % of 
TDC 

Nexus Fee 
per NSF 

Fee as % of 
TDC 

No Fee $0 0.00% $0 0.00% 
Scenario 1: Max Fee $45 10.47% $79 17.80% 
Scenario 2 $35 8.34% $50 12.05% 
Scenario 3 $25 6.10% $40 9.88% 
Scenario 4 $20 4.94% $30 7.60% 
     
Current Land Values/ Threshold for 
Feasibility   $150 - $250   $150 - $250 
Notes:      
(a) See Figure VII-5.      
(b) This represents a generalized estimate of the fee and permit costs for each prototype, calculated by city staff. Actual fee and permit costs 
for development projects will vary depending on many factors.  
(c) See Figure VII-4.     
(d) Feasibility threshold varies by density of prototype. For single-family and townhomes, the threshold is $35 - $120 per square foot. For multi-
family rental apartments and condominiums, the threshold is $170 to $250 per square foot 
Acronyms:     
SF: square feet     
NSF: net square foot     
TDC: total development costs     
Source: Strategic Economics, 2015.     



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -69- 

ADDITIONAL POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

While the nexus study provides the necessary economic analysis for the residential impact fees, it is up 
to policymakers to decide what percentage of the maximum fee to charge on new development.  
Financial feasibility is one important factor to examine. In addition, there are a number of other policy 
issues to consider, such as:   

 How much residential fees would increase with a new residential impact fee;  

 How a residential impact fee in Menlo Park would compare with those in neighboring 
jurisdictions;  

 How the residential impact fee compares with existing BMR policies; and 
 

 How the revenues generated from the new residential impact fee can be used. 
 
A discussion of each of these topics is presented below. 
 
Comparison to Existing Fees on Residential Development 
Figure VII-11 presents information on current city fees charged on the four residential prototypes 
included in this nexus analysis. It also demonstrates what happens to the fee levels under four residential 
impact fee scenarios.  
  
Currently, Menlo Park’s fees for the residential prototypes are estimated to range from $19,405 for an 
apartment unit to $91,908 for a single family detached unit not including the costs of the current BMR 
requirement.25 Once the nexus-based residential impact fees at various levels are added to existing fees, 
the total fees increase as presented in Figure VII-11. The maximum fee (Scenario 1) increases total fees 
by about 200 to over 400 percent, depending on the prototype. The lower fee scenarios would also 
significantly increase total development fees. 
 

                                                      
25 The fee estimates presented above represent the best approximations available from Menlo Park.   



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -70- 

Figure VII-11. Menlo Park Total Residential Fees Under Selected Fee Scenarios 

  
Single-Family 

Detached  
Single-Family 

Attached Condominiums  Apartments  
Number of Units in Prototype 10 20 150 150 
Average Unit Size 3,000 1,700 1,800 916 
Total Existing City Fees and Permits for Prototype 
(Excluding Nexus Fees) $919,077  $1,425,567  $10,275,879  $2,910,794  
Existing Fees and Permits per Unit (Excluding Nexus Fees) $91,908  $71,278  $68,506  $19,405  
Existing Fees and Permits per SF (Excluding Nexus Fees) $31  $42  $38  $21  

     
Fee Scenario 1: Maximum Fees     

Nexus Fee Per Unit $197,963  $112,387  $81,203  $72,766  
Total Nexus Fees for Prototype $1,979,628  $2,247,731  $12,180,512  $10,914,945  
Combined Existing and Nexus Fees for Prototype $2,898,705  $3,673,298  $22,456,391  $13,825,739  
Combined Fees Per Unit  $289,870  $183,665  $149,709  $92,172  
Combined Fees Per SF $97  $108  $83  $101  

     
Fee Scenario 2      

Nexus Fee Per Unit $150,000  $85,000  $63,000  $45,800  
Total Nexus Fees for Prototype $1,500,000  $1,700,000  $9,450,000  $6,870,000  
Combined Existing and Nexus Fees for Prototype $2,419,077  $3,125,567  $19,725,879  $9,780,794  
Combined Fees Per Unit  $241,908  $156,278  $131,506  $65,205  
Combined Fees Per SF $81  $92  $73  $71  

     
Fee Scenario 3     

Nexus Fee Per Unit $120,000  $68,000  $45,000  $36,640  
Total Nexus Fees for Prototype $1,200,000  $1,360,000  $6,750,000  $5,496,000  
Combined Existing and Nexus Fees for Prototype $2,119,077  $2,785,567  $17,025,879  $8,406,794  
Combined Fees Per Unit  $211,908  $139,278  $113,506  $56,045  
Combined Fees Per SF $71  $82  $63  $61  

     
Fee Scenario 4     

Nexus Fee Per Unit $90,000  $51,000  $36,000  $27,480  
Total Nexus Fees for Prototype $900,000  $1,020,000  $5,400,000  $4,122,000  
Combined Existing and Nexus Fees for Prototype $1,819,077  $2,445,567  $15,675,879  $7,032,794  
Combined Fees Per Unit  $181,908  $122,278  $104,506  $46,885  
Combined Fees Per SF $61  $72  $58  $51  

Sources: City staff, 2015; Strategic Economics, Inc; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc., 2015. 
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -71- 

Comparison to Neighboring Jurisdictions 
It is difficult to show an accurate comparison of fees in neighboring jurisdictions at this time because 
most cities in San Mateo County are participating in this project to consider adopting new impact fees 
or updating existing impact fees and therefore current fee levels may not accurately reflect future fee 
levels. Figure VII-12 provides comparative information of the potential fees under different scenarios 
in Menlo Park with other jurisdictions in San Mateo, Santa Clara, and San Francisco Counties that have 
adopted residential impact fees on rental and for-sale housing units. The fee scenarios for Menlo Park 
are presented on a per square foot and per unit basis and as a percentage of the sales value for each 
prototype, in order to allow a comparison of each fee scenario to the varying types of fees in neighboring 
jurisdictions and to Menlo Park’s existing in-lieu fee. 
 
If the maximum impact fee levels calculated for Menlo Park were adopted, they would exceed the 
residential impact fees currently charged in the neighboring jurisdictions in San Mateo and Santa Clara 
Counties listed in Figure VII-12. However, San Francisco has adopted fees ranging from $199,000 to 
$522,000 per unit, depending on the unit size, which are significantly higher than the maximum fee 
levels calculated for Menlo Park. If Menlo Park adopted the Scenario 2 fee levels, its fees would place 
it at the top end of the range for all unit types when compared to other cities in San Mateo and Santa 
Clara Counties; however, its fees would be somewhat comparable to those charged in some cases in 
San Carlos, and possibly Sunnyvale’s, depending on sales prices. As shown in the figure, all of the fee 
scenarios analyzed for Menlo Park are higher than the City’s existing in-lieu fee when considered as a 
percentage of sales value, although the lowest fee scenario is only slightly higher. 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -72- 

Figure VII-12. Comparison with Fees in Neighboring Jurisdictions 

  
Single Family 

Detached Single Family Attached Condominiums Apartments 

Date Fee 
Was 

Adopted 
Menlo Park Fee Scenarios      

Scenario 1 (Max): Per SF $66  $66  $45  $79   
Scenario 1 (Max): Per Unit $197,963  $112,387  $81,203  $72,766  N/A 
Scenario 1 (Max): % Sales Value 7.6% 7.9% 8.3% 13.0%  
Scenario 2: Per SF $50  $50  $35  $50   
Scenario 2: Per Unit $150,000  $85,000  $63,000  $45,800  N/A 
Scenario 2: % Sales Value 5.8% 6.0% 6.4% 8.2%  
Scenario 3: Per SF $40  $40  $25  $40   
Scenario 3: Per Unit $120,000  $68,000  $45,000  $36,640  N/A 
Scenario 3: % Sales Value 4.6% 4.8% 4.6% 6.6%  
Scenario 4: Per SF $30  $30  $20  $30   
Scenario 4: Per Unit $90,000  $51,000  $36,000  $27,480  N/A 
Scenario 4: % Sales Value 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 4.9%  

Impact Fees      
Cupertino  $15/SF $16.50/SF (a) $20/SF $25/SF 2015 
Daly City $14/SF $18/SF (b) $22/SF $25/SF 2014 
East Palo Alto $22/SF $22/SF $22-$44/SF (c)  $22/SF 2014 
Mountain View  N/A N/A N/A $17/SF 2015 
Redwood City (d) $25/SF $25/SF $20/SF $20/SF 2015 
San Carlos (e) $23.54-$43.54/SF $20.59-$42.20/SF $20.59-$42.20/SF $23.54-$43.54/SF 2010 
San Francisco (f) $199,698-$522,545/unit $199,698-$522,545/unit $199,698-$522,545/unit $199,698-$522,545/unit 2015 
San Jose  N/A N/A N/A $17/SF (g) 2014 
Sunnyvale  N/A N/A N/A $17/SF (h) 2015 

Inclusionary Policies and In-Lieu Fees     
Menlo Park (i) 3% of Sales Price 3% of Sales Price 3% of Sales Price N/A 2013 
Mountain View  3% of Sales Price 3% of Sales Price 3% of Sales Price N/A 2015 

San Jose (j) 
Inclusionary @15% or 

$17/SF in-lieu fee 
Inclusionary @15% or 

$17/SF in-lieu fee 
Inclusionary @15% or 

$17/SF in-lieu fee N/A 2014 

Sunnyvale 7% of Sales Price 7% of Sales Price 7% of Sales Price N/A 2015 
Notes:       
(a) This fee applies to small lot single family and townhomes.     
(b) This fee applies to townhomes.      
(c) Fee ranges from $22 per square foot for for-sale housing without structured parking to $44 per square foot for housing with structured parking.  
(d) The fee applies to projects over 4 units, and is reduced by 25% if all construction workers are paid at the Area Standard Wage, defined as the general prevailing wage 

determinations for San Mateo County. 
(e) Fees shown as ranges. Actual fees charged depend on project size.    
(f) Fee charged depends on unit size (number of bedrooms).     
(g) Fee goes into effect in 2016. Developments approved before July 2016 are exempt with a longer exemption for downtown development.   
(h) Fees for projects that are between 4 and 7 units pay 50 percent of this fee.     
(i) Existing in lieu fee.      
(j) Inclusionary policy and in-lieu fee apply to for-sale developments of more than 20 units.    

Sources: The Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California; City of San Carlos Municipal Code; Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc; Strategic Economics, 2015.  
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -73- 

The potential fee scenarios can also be compared with existing residential impact fees in other Bay 
Area cities outside of San Mateo County and Santa Clara County for regional context. This list is not 
an exhaustive inventory of all Bay Area cities with residential impact fees, but it provides information 
about many cities that have fees on housing. As shown in Figure VII-13, impact fees in other Bay Area 
cities vary significantly from city to city. 
 
Figure VII-13. Existing Housing Impact Fees in Bay Area Cities 

City Project Type Amount 

Berkeley Rental Development $28,000 per unit  
($8,000 discount for eligible projects) 

Emeryville Rental Residential Projects $28,000 per dwelling unit 

Fremont For-Sale and Rental Development $19.50 per habitable SF 
$22.50 per habitable SF for single family homes 
on lots 6,000 SF or greater. 

Napa For Sale and Rental Development Single Family: $ 2.20 per SF 
Condo: $2.20 per SF 
Rental: $3.75 per sq. 

Pleasanton For-Sale and Rental Development Single Family (over 1,500 SF): $10,880 per unit 
Single Family (1,500 SF or less) and Multi-family 
(Apt. or Condo): $2,696 per unit 
Adjusted annually based on CPI 

Sources: The Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California, Strategic Economics, and Vernazza Wolfe 
Associates, Inc, 2015. 

 
 
Comparison of Fee to Existing BMR Policy 
Menlo Park currently has a Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Program in place for ownership 
housing. Under the existing program, for projects between 5 and 20 units, 10 percent of units must be 
affordable to very low, low, and/or moderate income households. For projects larger than 20 units, 15 
percent of units must be affordable to very low, low, and/or moderate income households. While the 
City’s primary objective is for BMR housing units to be built on-site, it does allow for the payment of 
in-lieu fees. The in-lieu fee is set at three percent of the sales price of the market rate units, as shown 
in Figure VII-12.  If a new residential impact fee is adopted in Menlo Park for ownership units, the fee 
scenarios would be equivalent to between 3.5 percent and 8.3 percent of sales price, as indicated in 
Figure VII-12. 
 
In addition to the BMR Housing Program, the City also has an existing commercial linkage fee for 
buildings over 10,000 square feet in size. The current fees are $15.57 per square foot for office and 
research and development (R&D) uses and $8.45 per square foot for all other commercial and industrial 
uses. Rather than pay, the fee the City prefers that projects provide BMR housing on-site (if allowed 
by zoning), or off-site. A density bonus of up to 15 percent may be permitted if BMR housing is 
provided on-site. However, commercial projects typically pay the fee. The City is in the process of 
conducting a nexus study to potentially update its commercial linkage fees. 
 
The revenues from the in-lieu fee and commercial linkage fee are deposited in the BMR Housing Fund, 
which is a separate City fund set aside for the specific purpose of assisting the development of 
affordable housing units and programs for very low, low, and moderate income households.  
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -74- 

Use of Fee Revenues 
The revenues generated from a new residential impact fee could be used to augment the existing BMR 
Housing Fund. The existence of additional local revenue sources such as the residential impact fees can 
help make certain projects more competitive for outside funding. Revenues generated from a residential 
impact fee must be spent on housing that benefits the workforce, since the funds stem from affordable 
housing impacts related to new employment. Furthermore, the funds must target very low, low, and 
moderate income households, the income groups that are included in this nexus study. 
 
The revenues to be collected from a residential impact fee provide an important source of local funding; 
however, fee revenues do not generally cover the entire funding gap encountered by sponsors of new 
affordable housing. Additional funding from a variety of sources will remain critical. These funding 
sources typically include public subsidies from the City of Menlo Park and San Mateo County, equity 
from the Low Income Housing Tax Credits, and financing from conventional lenders.  
 
Potential for Overlap Between Residential and Commercial Fees   
The City is also undertaking a commercial linkage nexus study simultaneously, and may soon consider 
whether to modify its existing commercial linkage fee in a parallel process to the residential impact fee 
considered in this report. One issue that may arise if a city considers the adoption of both fees is 
whether there is any overlap between the two impact fees, resulting in potential “double-counting” of 
impacts. 
 

 The commercial linkage fee study examines jobs located in new commercial buildings 
including office/ R&D/ medical office buildings, retail/ restaurants/ services, and hotels. The 
nexus analysis then calculated the average wages of the workers associated with each 
commercial building to derive the annual income of the new worker households. The 
analysis determines the area median income (AMI) level of the new worker households to 
identify the number of worker households that would require affordable housing. 

 
 The residential impact fee nexus analysis examines households buying or renting new market 

rate units in the jurisdiction. The household expenditures by these new residents have an 
economic impact in the county, which can be linked to new jobs. The nexus analysis 
quantified the jobs linked to new household spending, and then calculated the wages of new 
workers and the household income of new worker households. Each worker household was 
then categorized by AMI to determine the number of households that require affordable 
housing.  
 

There may be a share of jobs counted in the commercial linkage fee analysis that are also included in 
the residential nexus analysis, particularly those in the service sector. Other types of jobs counted in 
the residential nexus analysis are unique to that analysis, and are not included in the commercial 
linkage fee analysis (for example, public sector employees). The commercial linkage fee analysis is 
limited to private sector development such as office/ R&D/ medical office buildings, hotels, and 
retail/ restaurants/ services space. 
 
There is potential that some jobs could be counted in both analyses, and that the two programs may 
overlap in mitigating the affordable housing demand from the same worker households. Each of the 
proposed fees is required to mitigate no more than 100 percent of the demand for affordable units by 
new worker households. However, the recommendations presented in this study (and in the 
commercial linkage fee study) do not exceed the nexus.  
 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -75- 

The calculations below show that the nexus fee levels recommended in both studies represent less 
than the justified nexus amount. 
 

 First, the recommended linkage fees are unlikely to be set at the maximum justified 
nexus amount for all prototypes. Therefore, the commercial linkage fee would 
mitigate less than 100 percent of the demand for affordable units generated by the 
new non-residential space. 

 
 Secondly, the recommended residential impact fee levels are also less than 100 percent 

of the maximum fee level supported by the residential nexus analysis. Therefore, the 
combined programs (commercial and housing fees) would mitigate less than 100 
percent of the maximum amount justified, and would therefore mitigate less than 100 
percent of the impact even if there were overlap in the jobs counted in the two nexus 
analyses. 
 

Administrative Issues 
Similar to any impact fee, it will be necessary to adjust the housing impact fees on an annual basis.  
Adjustments are also needed due to possible changes in the affordability gap. However, the connection 
between new residential construction and growth in employment derived from the IMPLAN3 Model is 
unlikely to change in the short run.  
 
It is advisable that the City adjusts its housing impact fee annually by using an annual adjustment 
mechanism.  An adjustment mechanism updates the fees to compensate for inflation in development 
costs.  To simplify annual adjustments, it is recommended that the City select a cost index that is 
routinely published.  While there is no index that tracks changes in Menlo Park’s development costs, 
including land, specifically, there are a few options to consider.   
 

 The first option is the Consumer Price Index (CPI) Shelter component.  The shelter component 
of the CPI covers costs for rent of primary residence, lodging away from home, owner’s 
equivalent rent of primary residence, and household insurance.   Of the total shelter index, costs 
associated with the owner’s equivalent rent of primary residence constitute 70 percent of total 
costs entered into the index.    

 
 A second option to adjust the fee for annual inflation is the construction cost index published 

in the Engineering News Record (ENR).  This index is routinely used to update other types of 
impact fees.  Cost index information for the San Francisco region, the smallest geographical 
area available for this purpose, is available on an annual basis.  The ENR cost index measures 
inflation in construction costs, but it does not incorporate changes in land costs or public fees 
charged on new development.   

 
Because these indices are readily available, reliable, and relatively simple to use, it is recommended 
that Menlo Park use these indices for annual adjustments. However, because both understate the 
magnitude of inflation, it is recommended that the City base its annual adjustment mechanism on the 
higher of the two indices (CPI or ENR), using a five-year moving average as the inflation factor. 
 
In addition to revising the fee annually for inflation, the City is encouraged to update the housing impact 
study every five years, or at the very least, update the housing affordability gap used in the basic model.  
The purpose of these updates is to ensure that the fee is still based on a cost-revenue structure that 
remains applicable in the Menlo Park housing market.  In this way, the fee will more accurately reflect 
any potential structural changes in the relationships between affordable prices and rents, market-rate 
prices and rents, and development costs.  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -76- 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 
Affordable Housing: Under state and federal statutes, housing is defined as affordable if housing costs 
do not exceed 30 to 35 percent of gross household income.   
 
Annual Adjustment Mechanism:  Due to inflation in housing construction costs, it is frequently 
necessary to adjust impact fees.  An index, such as the Consumer Price Index (CPI) or a published 
construction cost index (for example, from the Engineering News Record) is used to revise housing 
fees to reflect inflation in housing construction costs. 
 
Assisted Housing: Housing that has received public subsidies (such as low interest loans, density 
bonuses, direct financial assistance, etc.) from federal, state, or local housing programs in exchange for 
restrictions requiring a certain number of housing units to be affordable to very low-, low-, and 
moderate-income households.  
 
Boomerang Funds:  Monies returned to the City by the State of California, after dissolution of 
redevelopment agencies in the State. 
 
Consumer price index (CPI): Index that measures changes in the price level of a market basket of 
consumer goods and services purchased by households. 
 
Employment Densities:  The amount of square feet per employee is calculated for each property use 
that is subject to a commercial development housing linkage fee. Employment densities are used to 
estimate the number of employees that will work in a new commercial development. 
 
Household: The US Census Bureau defines a household as all persons living in a housing unit whether 
or not they are related.  A single person living in an apartment as well as a family living in a house is 
considered a household.  Households do not include individuals living in dormitories, prisons, 
convalescent homes, or other group quarters.   
 
Household Income: The total income of all the persons living in a household. Household income is 
commonly grouped into income categories based upon household size and income, relative to the 
regional median family income.   
 
Housing Affordability Gap:  The affordability gap is defined as the difference between what a 
household can afford to spend on housing and the market rate cost of housing.  Affordable rents and 
sales prices are defined as a percentage of gross household income, generally between 30 percent and 
35 percent of income.  
 

VIII. GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ACRONYMS 



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -77- 

For renters, rental costs are assumed to include the contract rent as well as the cost of utilities, 
excluding cable and telephone service.  The difference between these gross rents and affordable 
rents is the housing affordability gap for renters.  This calculation assumes that 30% of income 
is paid for gross rent. 
 
For owners, costs include mortgage payments, mortgage insurance, property taxes, property 
insurance, and homeowner association dues. 26  The difference between these housing expenses 
and affordable ownership costs is the housing affordability gap for owners. This calculation 
assumes that 35% of income is paid for housing costs. 

 
Housing Subsidy: Housing subsidies refer to government assistance aimed at reducing housing sales 
prices or rents to more affordable levels.   
 
Housing Unit: A housing unit can be a room or group of rooms used by one or more individuals living 
separately from others in the structure, with direct access to the outside or to a public hall and containing 
separate toilet and kitchen facilities.  
 
IMPLAN3: A software model that is used to provide a quantitative assessment of the interdependencies 
between different branches of a regional (or national) economy.  The latest model, IMPLAN3, was 
used in the nexus studies.  The major input is household income, and the major output is direct and 
induced employment reported by industries 
 
Inclusionary Zoning:  Inclusionary zoning, also known as inclusionary housing, refers to a planning 
ordinance that requires that a given percentage of new construction be affordable to households with 
very low, low, moderate, or workforce incomes. 
 
In-Lieu Fee:  A literal definition for an in-lieu fee for inclusionary units would be a fee adopted “in 
place of” providing affordable units.  For the purposes of operating an inclusionary housing program, 
a public jurisdiction may adopt a fee option for developers that prefer paying fees over providing 
housing units on- or off-site.  A fee study is frequently undertaken to establish the maximum fee that 
can be charged as an in-lieu fee.  This fee study must show that there is a reasonable relationship 
between the fee and the cost of providing affordable housing.   
 
Market-Rate Housing:  Housing which is available on the open market without any public subsidy.  
The price for housing is determined by the market forces of supply and demand and varies by location.  
 
Nexus Study:  In order to adopt a residential housing impact fee or a commercial linkage fee, a nexus 
study is required.  A nexus requires local agencies proposing a fee on a development project to identify 
the purpose of the fee, the use of the fee, and to determine that there is “a reasonable relationship 
between the fee’s use and the type of development project on which the fee is imposed.”    A nexus 

                                                      
26 Mortgage terms for first-time homebuyers typically allow down payment of five percent; these terms require private 
mortgage insurance.   



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -78- 

study establishes and quantifies a causal link or “nexus” between new residential and commercial 
development and the need for additional housing affordable to new employees. 
 
Linkage Fee: A fee or charge imposed on commercial developers to pay for a development’s impact 
on the need for affordable housing. The fee is based on projected household incomes of new employees 
that will work in newly created space.  The fee varies according to the type of property use. 
 
Prototypes:  Prototypes are used for residential and commercial developments in order to define 
housing impact fees.  The prototypes generally represent new development projects built in a 
community and are used to estimate affordable housing impacts associated with new market rate 
commercial and residential developments.  While the prototypes should be “typical” of what is built, 
for ease of mathematical computation, they are often expressed as larger developments in order to avoid 
awkward fractions. 
 
Residential or Housing Impact Fee: A fee imposed on residential development to pay for a 
development’s impact on the need for affordable housing. The fee is based on projected incomes of 
new employees associated with the expansion of market rate developments.  Two steps are needed to 
define the fees.  The first step is the completion of a nexus study, and the second step entails selection 
of the actual fee amount, which can be below the amount justified by the fee study, but not above that 
amount.   
 
RS Means:  Data source of information for construction cost data. 
 
  



DRAFT Menlo Park Housing Impact Fee Nexus Study  -79- 

DEFINITION OF ACRONYMS 

 
AMI:  Area Median Income 
 
BMR:  Below Market Rate 
 
CBIA:   California Building Industry Association 
 
EDD:     State of California Employment Development Department 
 
FAR:  Floor-area-ratio 
 
FF&E:  Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 
 
GBA:  Gross Building Area 
 
HCD:  Department of Housing and Community Development (State of California) 
 
NAICS: North American Industry Classification System 
 
NSF:  Net Square Feet 
 
QCEW: Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages 
 
R&D:   Research and development 
 
SF:  Square Feet 
 
TDC:   Total Development Costs 
 
 
 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Public Works 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

City Council    
Meeting Date:   7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number:  16-125-CC 
 
Consent Calendar:  Authorize the City Manager to enter into an 

agreement with IEC for the Emergency Wells 2 & 3 
project 

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council authorize the City Manager to enter into a consultant agreement 
with Infrastructure Engineering Corporation (IEC) for $1,607,450 to identify the next two emergency well 
locations, prepare environmental documents, design emergency wells 2 & 3, and provide construction 
support. 

 

Policy Issues 
According to Section 64554(a)(1), Chapter 16, Title 22, California Code of Regulations, a water system 
serving more than 1,000 service connections must be able to meet four hours of peak hourly demand with 
storage capacity, source capacity, and/or emergency connections at all times. 
 
The project is consistent with the Menlo Park General Plan, Policy I-H-5, which states: “New wells and 
reservoirs may be developed by the City to supplement existing water supplies for Menlo Park during 
emergency and drought periods.  Other sources such as interconnections and purchase agreements with 
water purveyors shall be explored and developed.” 
 
The project is included in the Urban Water Management Plan adopted on May 24, 2016 which describes 
and evaluates water supply sources and reliability over the next 20 years, and the Council’s 2016 Work 
Plan. 

 

Background 
The Menlo Park Municipal Water District (MPMWD) provides water to approximately 16,000 residents 
through 4,300 service connections within two service areas:  the upper zone (providing water to the Sharon 
Heights area) and the lower zone (providing water to areas east of El Camino Real).  California Water 
Service provides water to the area between the upper and lower zones. 
 
MPMWD purchases all of its water from the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC), which 
pipes water from the Hetch Hetchy reservoir in Yosemite National Park to Menlo Park.  MPMWD has two 
reservoirs in the upper zone for emergency storage, but the lower zone does not have storage facilities or a 
dedicated secondary water supply.  As a result, nearly 3,000 residences and businesses could be without 
water immediately for an undetermined period of time during a significant natural disaster. 
 
In order to meet the project goal to provide a total of 3,000 gallons per minute (gpm) as an alternative 
supply in the lower zone, MPMWD developed a screening process (2010), gathered community input and 
evaluated potential well sites (2011), drilled two exploratory borings (2012), and ranked the sites 

AGENDA ITEM H-1



Staff Report #: 16-125-CC 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

accordingly (2013) as shown in the Preliminary Well Site Ranking below. 
 
On June 7, 2016, the City Council adopted the environmental document for the first emergency well location 
at the City’s Corporation Yard and staff is proceeding forward with design and construction. 
 

 
 

Analysis 
Now that the first emergency well (at the Corporation Yard) is underway, staff recommends entering into an 
agreement with an engineering consultant to identify the next two well locations, prepare environmental 
documents, design the emergency wells, and provide construction support. 
 
On March 31, 2016, staff provided a Request for Proposal (RFP) to 25 engineering consulting firms, and 
three consultants submitted proposals.  Staff reviewed each proposal and is recommending IEC for several 
reasons: 
 
  They have extensive experience with numerous well projects from design through construction for  

several municipal agencies and are currently the City’s consultant for the Corporation Yard  
emergency well.  

  They have excellent communication skills and are well equipped to facilitate community meetings  
and to present to City Council and other groups as necessary.  

  They are less costly due to the fact that they are already familiar with the overall emergency well  
project and they fully understand the project’s priorities.  

 
Attachment A contains the project’s scope of work, Attachment B contains the project budget, and 
Attachment C contains the tentative project schedule. 
 



Staff Report #: 16-125-CC 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Well Identification Construction Process 
Well design and construction consists of four steps.  These steps are: 
 
 Identify locations for Wells 2 & 3 and perform exploratory drilling. 
 Develop and adopt the environmental document. 
 Drill the wells. 
 Construct the wellhead facilities (underground and above ground improvements). 
 
Drilling the well (step 3) and construction of the wellhead facilities (step 4) involves two different types of 
contractors with different expertise, therefore, construction occurs as two separate steps. 
 
Step 1 – Identify Locations for Wells 2 & 3 
In order to identify the next two well sites, IEC will evaluate the tier 2 and 3 potential well sites (Fire Station 
No. 1, Alma site, Burgess Park, and Willow Oaks Park) as shown in the Preliminary Well Site Ranking 
above.  Factors that will be considered are potential aquifer yield, water quality distribution, and potential for 
environmental impacts in addition to the engineering criteria (i.e., property ownership, operation and 
maintenance feasibility, construction feasibility, regulatory compliance, construction feasibility and cost) and 
community “livability” criteria (i.e., site access, noise disturbance, aesthetic concerns, parkland concerns, 
and land use consistency).  Staff will  hold community meetings to solicit feedback.  Attachment D contains 
aerial photos of potential well sites with possible well locations within each site (only one well can be placed 
on a site). 
 
In order to verify the availability of water and the hydraulic conductivity of the soil, IEC will drill exploratory 
borings at the two selected potential well locations.  Prior to proceeding forward, staff anticipates returning 
to Council in spring 2017 to approve the two potential well sites for exploratory drilling to determine if they 
are viable locations for the next two emergency wells. 
 
After exploratory drilling is completed, staff anticipates returning to the City Council in summer 2017 to 
present findings and approve proceeding forward with developing the environmental documents for the two 
wells. 
 
Step 2 – Environmental Review 
Staff anticipates that there will be two environmental documents, one for each well. 
 
Step 3 – Well Drilling 
Well drilling will consist of mobilizing equipment, drilling the well, and determining water quality and well 
yield.  In order to drill a well, drilling must be continuous (i.e. 24 hours a day) for 7 to 14 days.  Once the well 
is drilled, it will be temporarily capped while the wellhead facilities are being designed. 
 
Step 4 – Wellhead Construction 
Once the wells are drilled and water quality and well yield are known, IEC will finalize the design of the 
wellhead facilities which may include emergency generators, fences, landscaping, and structures.  Once 
construction is completed, MPMWD will submit a Drinking Water Source Assessment to obtain the Drinking 
Water Permit from the State. 

 

Impact on City Resources 
The total estimated cost is $1,607,450 which includes a 15% contingency and the optional tasks if 
necessary.  The cost breakdown per task for the Scope of Work is shown in Attachment B. 



Staff Report #: 16-125-CC 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are sufficient water capital funds allocated in the Capital Improvement Program to identify the next 
two well locations, prepare environmental documents, design emergency wells 2 & 3, and provide 
construction support.   
 
The costs above do not include costs to drill the wells or costs to construct the wellhead facilities.  Once the 
wells are constructed, there will be ongoing operational and maintenance costs.  The Water System Master 
Plan, to be completed and presented to the City Council in spring 2017, will evaluate staff resources 
including additional maintenance needs for the emergency wells. 

 

Environmental Review 
In order to meet the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for wells 2 & 3, IEC will prepare an Initial 
Study (IS) that will analyze a number of topics, including aesthetics, agriculture and forestry resources, air 
quality, biological resources, cultural resources, geology and soils, greenhouse gas emissions, hazards and 
hazardous materials, hydrology and water quality, land use and planning, mineral resources, noise, 
population and housing, public service, recreation, transportation and traffic, and utilities and service 
systems.  
 
Staff will return to City Council to approve the environmental documents prior to proceeding forward with 
well drilling and construction of the wellhead facilities. 

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 

Attachments 
A. Scope of Work 
B. Project Budget 
C. Tentative Project Schedule 
D. Aerials of Potential Well Locations 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Sally Salman, Assistant Engineer 
Pam Lowe, Senior Civil Engineer 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Ruben Nino, Assistant Public Works Director 

Budget 
Scope of Work $1,067,451 
15% Contingency $   160,119 
Subtotal $1,227,570 
Optional Services, if needed $   379,880 
Total $1,607,450 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

TASK 1 – KICK-OFF AND DATA REVIEW 

1.1 Kick-Off Meeting 
We will attend a kickoff meeting with key IEC team members and City staff. We will prepare (1) draft 
and (1) final meeting agenda, and will provide (1) draft and (1) final version of meeting minutes for City 
files. 

1.2 Data Review 
We will review the following information relative to the project. 

 Potential to improve the hydrologic evaluations of the potential well sites using recent
information from adjacent parts of the groundwater basin.

 Whether any of the potential sites originally eliminated on hydrogeologic grounds
should be incorporated into an updated Tier 2 or 3

 Whether additional sites not previously available should now be included, potentially
including new sites as well as Fire Station No. 1

Budget provides for up to (4) meetings (assumed 2 with Public Works staff and 1 each with Planning 
staff and Menlo Park Fire District staff). We will provide meeting notes for your files; we assume (1) draft 
and (1) final version of the notes for each meeting. 

TASK 2 – WELL SITE RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 Update Hydrogeologic Review of Tier 2 & 3 Sites 
We will review the existing hydrogeologic ranking of the preferred well sites if needed based on Task 
1.2. This subtask will apply up-to-date information to the evaluation of hydrogeologic conditions at each 
potential site. Specifically, screening and ranking of potential well sites will consider aquifer properties, 
potential aquifer yield, water quality distribution, and potential for environmental impacts.  

2.2 Update Engineering Ranking of Tier 2 & 3 Sites 
If needed, we will review the existing engineering screening and ranking for the wellhead facilities at the 
potential well sites listed in the RFP based on property ownership, operation and maintenance 
feasibility, construction feasibility, regulatory compliance, system hydraulic considerations, construction 
feasibility and cost, and potential for community and environmental impacts. The ranking will be 
updated based on changed conditions and newly identified sites in Task 1.2. 

2.3 Community Meetings 
We will prepare for, attend, and facilitate (2) community meetings. Meetings will reintroduce the 
Emergency Water Supply Project, present the results of the updated site screening and ranking, and 
provide a forum to answer community questions and discuss ways to address community concerns, if 
any.  

We will provide meeting invitation notices, a PowerPoint presentation, and up to (6) large-format 
display graphics mounted on foamcore or similar. We will also provide meeting signage and sign-in 
sheets, manage the collection of attendee contact information, and provide meeting notes for City files. 
For all meeting materials, our base budget assumes (1) draft and (1) final submittal. We assume the 
content of the two meetings will be the same, so the same materials can be used for both meetings. 

ATTACHMENT A



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

Meeting notices and signage will be bilingual in English and Spanish and we will provide Spanish/English 
interpreter services during the meetings if requested. Our base budget also provides for attendance at 
(1) 4-hour prep session with City staff, prior to the first meeting; set-up and tear-down at both meeting 
venues; and limited additional coordination/follow-up by phone and email. We assume that meeting 
venues will be arranged by City staff and that the City will reproduce and mail the meeting invitations. 
Additional follow-up meetings with the community can be provided on a time-and-materials cost basis 
under separate authorization if desired. 
 
2.4 Recommendation of Sites for Wells 2 & 3 TM 
The preferred sites for Wells 2 and 3 will be identified based on the updated site screening and ranking 
developed through Tasks 2.1 and 2.2. A Technical Memorandum (TM) will be prepared that documents 
the updated siting criteria, final site rankings, and public comments, and identifies the selected sites. A 
map of each well site with a preliminary/proposed exploratory boring location will be included in the 
TM. 
 
2.5 Preliminary DDW Contact & Presentation 
We will meet with the State Water Resources Control Board’s Division of Drinking Water (DDW) 
following confirmation of the preferred sites for Wells 2 and 3. The meeting will be structured to bring 
DDW staff up to date on the project, present the updated siting process and results, and introduce the 
top-ranked sites, with the goal of obtaining preliminary buy-in for the preferred sites. We will develop 
and present a PowerPoint for the meeting—(1) draft and (1) final assumed—and will respond to DDW 
questions and take input for the DWSAP process. We will also provide large-format layout graphics and 
a Summary of Municipal Water Well Design Requirements matrix for each site; budget assumes (1) draft 
and (1) final submittal of each deliverable. 
 

TASK 3 EXPLORATORY DRILLING 
 
3.1 Site Survey  
We will provide a topographic survey at a scale of 1”=20’ for each well site, with a 1-foot contour 
interval. Survey will include location of existing trees, structures, walkways, fences, roadways, and utility 
information, invert elevations of storm drains and sanitary sewers; and locations of underground 
utilities and property lines based upon available agency records and field conditions. 
 

3.2 Plat & Legal Descriptions (See Optional Services below)  
 
3.3 Exploratory Drilling Layout Refinement 
One of the initial tasks will be finalizing the location of the exploratory boring at the selected sites.   We 
propose to meet with City staff at each site, and select the exploratory boring location. Consideration 
will be given to the location and alignment of the drill rig, mud tank systems, cuttings storage bin, and 
support vehicles during construction, as well as potential locations of the future production wells.  
 
3.4 CEQA Notice of Exemption 
This task provides for IEC’s environmental staff to prepare and file a CEQA Notice of Exemption (NOE) 
for field site evaluations, consistent with Sections 15061–15062 of the state’s CEQA Guidelines. We 
assume that drilling activities at both sites can be covered under the same notice and that activities will 
be covered under a Class 6 Categorical Exemption per CEQA Guidelines Section 15306. 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 
Per Guidelines Section 15062, the NOE is filed after approval of the covered activities. Following the 
Council authorization of exploratory drilling, we will provide an administrative draft NOE in PDF format, 
using the current standard State Clearinghouse format, for City staff review. We will revise and finalize 
the NOE based on (1) round of review comments, and will file it with the County Clerk on behalf of the 
City. 
 
3.5 Exploratory Drilling Bid Assistance  
We will prepare an exploratory drilling bid package (a single package for one boring at each of two sites) 
for contractor selection. Construction documents for the borings will include maps and written 
specifications for the drilling method, boring depth and diameter, sampling methodologies, geophysical 
program, and if optional monitoring wells are installed (see Task 3.4.1B, below), written specifications 
for well casing and screen, filter pack, and wellhead and vault completion. The bid package will also 
include requirements/specifications for advance notification to the public (bilingual in English and 
Spanish), and if needed for work hour limitations, temporary security fencing, and noise control 
measures.  
 
We will assist City in construction bidding and contractor selection, including interfacing with drillers 
during the open bid process. We will assist the City in reviewing drilling contractor bids and advise the 
City in evaluating and rating drilling proposals. 
 
3.6 Exploratory Drilling Construction Budget and Construction Support 
We will provide construction support for drilling (1) deep exploratory boring (and as an option, installing 
a test well) at each selected site. We anticipate that the borings will be drilled to a total depth of 
approximately 500 or 600 feet below ground surface using the mud rotary method. 
 
Aquifer core samples will be collected at regular intervals and lithologic logs will be prepared. The core 
samples will be retained for grain size analysis in order to optimize the well screen and gravel pack 
specifications for the full-scale wells. The borehole will be geophysically logged using downhole 
electrical (spontaneous potential and resistivity) methods. These methods measure the electrical 
characteristics of the aquifer and aquitard zones and provide very detailed hydrogeologic information 
regarding the presence and properties of potential deep aquifer zones along with some information on 
the distribution of water quality with depth. 
 
After evaluation of the geologic and geophysical data, specifications (casing and screen depths and 
intervals) for Wells 2 and 3 will be developed. 
 
3.7 Drilling Investigation Report 
We will prepare an Exploratory Drilling Investigation Report. The report will document the boring 
installation, lithologic and geophysical logging, and the hydrogeologic conditions encountered at each 
site. If the City elects to install monitoring wells in the borings then pumping and water quality sampling 
results will also be documented and evaluated with respect to potential future well treatment 
requirements and operational parameters. Estimates of the potential pumping rates of a larger-
diameter and production well will be provided. Recommendations will be made for next steps in 
constructing a full-scale production well at each site, and a preliminary design for a production well will 
be provided. We will deliver (1) draft and (1) final report in PDF format. 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 
3.8 Monitoring Wells and Testing (See Optional Services below) 
 
3.9 Depth Discrete Flow and Water Quality Testing (See Optional Services below) 
 
3.10 Biologist Support for Drilling Adjacent to Sensitive Habitat (See Optional Services below) 
 
3.11 Council Presentation 
We will prepare and deliver a PowerPoint presentation—(1) draft and (1) final assumed—for City 
Council documenting the updated site screening/ranking, discussing the exploratory drilling 
investigation program and results, identifying the recommended sites for Wells 2 and 3, and 
recommending next steps. We will attend (1) City Council meeting to make the presentation and assist 
City staff in responding to questions. 
 

TASK 4 DWSAP/PERMIT 
 
This task consists of the preparation of the Drinking Water Source Assessment (DWSAP) and related 
coordination with DDW for each well site. Preparing the DWSAP will include the following activities. 
 
4.1 Preliminary DWSAP 

 Data collection and review – We assume that we have already reviewed much of the 
relevant information, but for completeness will formally request information per DWSAP 
guidelines from the City and review the available reports, surveys, studies, and test results, 
which characterize existing conditions and the proposed facilities 

 Preparation of a draft preliminary DWSAP for City review – IEC will prepare the draft report 
for City review. Included in this task is an inventory of potential contaminant activities using 
available database searches by Environmental Data Resources, Inc. 

 Submittal of Preliminary DWSAP – we will revise our DWSAP approach based on City review 
and DDW comments on our presentation, and will submit a Preliminary DWSAP to DDW. We 
will also provide PDF and hardcopies of the DWSAP to the City and DDW upon request. We 
assume (1) Preliminary DWSAP submittal and (1) follow up submittal if more information is 
requested by DDW. 

 
4.2 Final DWSAP 

 Submittal of Final DWSAP – Following well construction, we will finalize the DWSAP per the 
as-built conditions and resubmit to DDW. We assume (1) Final DWSAP submittal and (1) 
follow up submittal if more information is requested by DDW. 

 
4.3 Amend Drinking Water Permit 

 Amendment to City’s existing Drinking Water Permit – Following completion of the wellhead 
and associated facilities, we will assist the City with amendments to the existing permit to 
cover the addition of the new water source. This will entail completing the Permit 
Amendment forms, and compiling water quality test results and submitting them to DDW 
on the City’s behalf, and coordinating the permit amendment process with the DDW. We 
assume (1) Drinking Water Permit submittal and (1) follow up submittal if requested by 
DDW. 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 
Deliverables: 

• Draft and final DWSAP for both wells (2 iterations each) 
• Amended Drinking Water Permits for both wells (2 iterations) 

 

TASK 5 PLANNING SUBMITTAL & ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION 
 
5.1 Develop and Submit Planning Submittal 
We will prepare and submit the documentation needed to obtain Planning approvals (assumed limited 
to Generator Permit and Planning Application) for Wells 2 and 3. We assume that separate submittal 
packages will be needed for each well, but that meetings can be combined to address both wells. Our 
base budget provides for the following activities and deliverables. 
 

 Pre-submittal meeting with Planning staff 

 Administrative draft Planning submittal packages for Wells 2 and 3, for review by Public 
Works staff 

 Revisions in response to (1) round of Public Works staff comments 

 Submittal-ready packages for Wells 2 and 3; in-person submittal via Planning Counter 

 Up to (2) rounds of revision in response to Planning staff comments; revisions assumed to 
be moderate at the first iteration and minor at the second iteration 

 Attendance at (1) Planning Commission hearing 

 Coordination with Planning and Public Works staff throughout the process, up to the level of 
effort reflected in our base budget 

 
For each well site, the planset developed for the Planning Submittal will include the following drawings: 

 
• Title Sheet and Drawing Index 
• Site Plan, showing parcel and site features and proposed improvements, existing trees and 

trees to be removed 
• Area Plan, showing adjacent parcels and land use, zoning, and existing trees and trees to be 

removed 
• Landscape Concept Plan, showing proposed landscape improvements with proposed 

facilities shown screened back 
• Landscape Palette showing proposed plant palette, fencing, and other images as deemed 

pertinent to City Council and Planning Commission presentation 
• Visual Simulations (2), showing before and after photo simulations of the well site from (2) 

different points of view 
• Material Sheet including sample photos of proposed materials 
• Emergency Generator Sheet, including catalog information and anticipated dimensions and 

rating of generator 
• Preliminary Civil and Mechanical Sheets, showing preliminary site improvements and 

facilities 
• Tree Disposition and Protection Plan, showing existing trees (size, species, condition, 

heritage status) and proposed removals and tree protection requirements 
• Landscape and Irrigation Plans, showing proposed landscaping and irrigation details  

 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

5.2 Prepare Environmental Documents 
We will prepare the project CEQA document (assumed to be an IS/MND) and supporting technical 
reports and assist the City with circulation and the related noticing required by CEQA and the state’s 
CEQA Guidelines. Our base budget assumes that Well 2 and Well 3 will be analyzed in the same CEQA 
document. 
 
Our base budget provides for the following activities and deliverables. 
 

 CEQA Start-Up. Conduct kick-off meeting with Public Works and Planning staff to 
finalize CEQA approach. Deliverables: (1) draft and (1) final meeting agenda 

 

 Administrative Draft IS and Proposed MND. Prepare technical reports: groundwater 
hydrology/well operations, biological resources, cultural resources. For biological 
resources, technical study will include regulatory database searches and pedestrian 
reconnaissance survey by qualified staff; we assume that no protocol survey or 
jurisdictional habitat delineation will be needed. For cultural resources, our base scope 
provides for a records search, pedestrian survey where warranted in the judgment of 
qualified archaeological staff, and risk assessment. Subsurface testing is not included 
but can be provided under separate scope and budget authorization if warranted.  For 
groundwater impact analysis, technical study will be developed analyze that operation 
of the emergency supply wells and determine the impacts with respect to groundwater 
basin overdraft, land subsidence, or seawater intrusion.  In order to determine the 
impacts from short-term operations including groundwater drawdown and recovery 
over time, they will be estimated using a MODFLOW groundwater model.  These 
analyses will show that the effects of short-term well operations on groundwater levels. 
Technical reports will be presented as appendices to the administrative draft IS and will 
be subject to the same revision cycle. Prepare administrative draft IS and proposed 
MND consistent with all requirements of CEQA, the state’s CEQA Guidelines, and City 
format preferences. Administrative draft will be delivered first for Public Works review, 
will be revised based on (1) round of Public Works staff input, and will then be delivered 
for Planning review. Following each review, meet with City staff to discuss the draft, 
receive feedback, and identify needed revisions needed. Deliverables: administrative 
Draft IS/MND, including technical report appendices (5 bound hard copies and 
corresponding Word files at each iteration) 

 

 Screencheck and Public Review IS/MND; IS/MND circulation. Based on (1) round of 
Planning review comments, revise administrative draft IS/MND and technical reports; 
deliver screencheck IS, allowing City reviewers to verify that all changes have been 
incorporated appropriately. Make final editorial changes (assumed limited to minor 
copyediting items) based on (1) round of City (Public Works and Planning) review. 
Reproduce public/agency review IS/MND for City submittal to State Clearinghouse, and 
provide Notice of Completion for City use. IS/MND filing and noticing assumed to be 
conducted by Planning. Deliverables: screencheck public review IS/MND (PDF format), 
public review IS/MND (up to 25 bound hard copies and 1 CD copy); (1) draft and (1) 
revised Notice of Completion for submittal to State Clearinghouse 

 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 Consideration of Comments. Following close of IS review period, attend up to (2) 
meetings with Public Works and Planning staff to discuss comments and develop 
response approaches. At City’s direction, prepare concise Comments and Responses 
technical memorandum that itemizes the comments received and provides brief but 
thorough consideration/response for each comment. Memorandum will be delivered 
first for Public Works review, will be revised based on (1) round of Public Works staff 
input, and will then be delivered for Planning review. Revise Comments and Responses 
memorandum based on (1) round of Planning review comments and provide a final 
version for City administrative record. Deliverables: Draft Comments and Responses 
memorandum (2 iterations, Word format), Final Comments and Responses 
memorandum (PDF format; up to 3 hard copies if requested) 

 

 MMRP, Final MND, NOD, and Filing. Deliver draft Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting 
Plan (MMRP) for City review. MMRP will be delivered first for Public Works review, will 
be revised based on (1) round of Public Works staff input, and will then be delivered for 
Planning review. Revise MMRP based on (1) round of Planning review comments and 
provide a final version for City use. Prepare draft and final MND and Notice of 
Determination (NOD); both forms assumed to be reviewed in parallel by Public Works 
and Planning, and revised in response to (1) round of City review. Assist with MND 
adoption; attend City Council meetings to present IS findings, discuss public/agency 
comments and City responses, and assist City staff in responding to questions related to 
project and environmental analysis CEQA compliance. NOD filing assumed to be handled 
by Planning staff. Deliverables: draft MMRP (2 iterations, Word format), final MMRP 
(PDF format), final MND form (PDF format), draft and revised NOD (PDF format)  

 

TASK 6 WELL CONSTRUCTION PS&E 
 
6.1 50% PS&E Submittal 
We will provide requirements and specifications related to the production well construction methods, 
well materials, depth and diameter details. Well specifications will include well casing and screen 
diameter, depth, casing, screen, filter pack, and seal materials and depth intervals, screen slot size, filter 
pack and annular seal materials, silt trap, centralizers, and well tubing. Up to (6) core samples from the 
exploratory borings will be analyzed for grain size distributions, and used to optimize screen aperture 
and filter pack specifications. Depth intervals for well screen, filter pack, and seals will be carefully 
evaluated in order to provide a design that maximizes yield and water quality. Core samples from the 
exploratory borings will be analyzed for grain size distribution in order to optimize screen aperture size 
and filter pack gradation.  
 
We will also prepare specifications for well pump and control systems, including pump type and model, 
pump control system, water level sensors (if used), downhole lift pipe, access ports, and well head 
completion.  
 
Plans will include title sheet, construction site plan, construction drilling management plan with 
equipment and material staging and storage area(s) delineated, well development and pump-testing 
plan and discharge permits, water quality testing program, temporary parking areas, traffic control plan, 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

erosion control plan, and if needed, a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) and noise 
mitigation requirements.  
 
6.2 90% PS&E Submittal 
Based upon the approved Preliminary design, we will incorporate City comments, further develop the 
design documents, and submit the 90% PS&E. The plans, specifications, and cost estimate will be 
delivered in PDF and also hardcopies, if requested by City (up to 5 copies each). 
 
6.3 100% PS&E Submittal 
Based upon the approved 90% design, we will incorporate City comments, further develop the design 
documents, and submit the 100% PS&E. The plans, specifications, and cost estimate will be delivered in 
PDF and also hardcopies, if requested by City (up to 5 copies each). 
 
This task also includes submittal of separate Bid Packages with final construction documents prepared 
for each well site. Construction documents for the wells will include engineering drawings and written 
specifications for the well casing and screen, filter pack, seal, tubing, access ports, gravel-fill tube, access 
ports, well head and vault completion. Performance specifications including well plumb and turbidity 
will be included in the construction specifications. Additional project requirements for work hours and 
schedule, sound suppression, and site management will be included in the bid package. 
 
Deliverables: 
 

• 50%, 90%, and 100% PS&E for both wells (separate packages for each well site)  
• Summary of permits obtained for both wells 

 

TASK 7 WELL DRILLING CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
 
7.1 Bid Phase Services 
We will assist the City in construction bidding and contractor selection, including interfacing with water 
well drillers during the open bid process. We will assist the City in reviewing drilling contractor bids  and 
well construction materials, and advise the City in evaluating and rating drilling proposals.  
 
7.2 Construction Phase Services 
A California Professional Geologist and Certified Hydrogeologist will conduct up to (6) on-site visits 
during construction, and review field procedures, progress, and final well completions. If requested, we 
can also provide prepare a scope and budget for complete construction management/supervision of the 
well drilling contractor and have a Professional Geologist on-site during all phases of drilling and 
construction. Costs for these additional oversight services are not include in our fee estimate, but can be 
provided for separate authorization after review of driller bids. 
 
7.3 Post-Construction Water Quality and Well Testing and Results 
We will provide construction support services to ensure that the well construction phase is completed in 
compliance with contract documents. We will prepare construction reports following each site visit. We 
will review contractor pay requests, daily work logs, requests for information from the contractor, and 
punch list items; assist with contract change orders; and compile final construction documents. We will 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

also provide post-construction services, including as-built drawings and final recommendations for well 
pump specification. 
 
After installation and performance testing of the well pump, a groundwater sample will be obtained 
from each new well, and submitted to an analytical laboratory. The composite sample will be analyzed 
for a full Title 22 water quality suite of analyses, including general physical parameters, pH, general 
minerals, other inorganics/metals, organic compounds including volatiles, semi-volatiles, pesticides, and 
dioxins, radioisotopes, and additional substances.  
 
A (1) preliminary composite sample may also be collected from each well after well development but 
prior to the pumping tests, in compliance with RWQCB water discharge permit requirements. 
 
In addition to evaluating the water quality data for overall compliance with drinking water standards 
and the distributions of general minerals, iron, and manganese with depth we will also apply 
geochemical evaluation and fingerprinting methods in order to identify different groundwater sources. 
These will include water source analyses, which can be used to fingerprint the groundwater sources, 
such as Bay water, San Francisquito Creek water, and local marine clay aquitards. We will provide as-
built drawings of the well, and a TM will be prepared documenting the water quality sampling and 
results. 
 
Deliverables: 
 

• Separate bid documents for both wells 
• Construction reports, contract change orders, as-built drawings, and final recommendations 

for well pump specification 
• Hydrogeologic analysis, water well design, and construction support 
• As-built drawings 
• Summary of well water testing results and findings 

 

TASK 8 WELLHEAD FACILITY PS&E 
 
8.1 50% PS&E Submittal (Wellhead Facilities Preliminary Design Report (PDR) and 50% Plans) 
We will prepare a Preliminary Design Report (PDR) that provides the basis of design for the wellhead 
facilities. Our base cost assumes that the design will include civil site improvements, mechanical 
wellhead facilities, chemical disinfection, new electrical service, connection to the existing storm drain 
for well discharge, connection to existing potable water facilities, a hydropneumatic tank, an emergency 
backup generator, instrumentation and controls, and landscaping. 
 
The PDR will evaluate up to three (3) preliminary facility layout alternatives for each of (2) well sites, and 
will identify equipment size, determine regulatory requirements, and establish design criteria.  
 
We propose to prepare the PDR as a series of technical memoranda (TMs) to be reviewed individually by 
the City as they are completed. We assume one draft and one final version of each TM: 
 

• TM 1: Basis of Design/Design Criteria/Regulatory Requirements 
• TM 2: Emergency Power Supply 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

• TM 3: Treatment System(s) 
• TM 4: Concept Facility Layouts 
• TM 5: Water System Hydraulic Analysis and Operational Settings 
• TM 6: Preliminary Construction Cost Estimate 
• TM 7: Construction Schedule 

 
Input from the sub-disciplines of Landscape Architecture and Electrical & Control will be integrated in to 
the PDR as appropriate. 
 
Based upon the PDR, we will incorporate City comments and develop the design documents and submit 
the 50% Plans, Specifications, and Cost Estimate (PS&E). We will include catalog cuts for key 
components of the proposed materials, equipment, and products to be specified, as well as supporting 
engineering calculations. 
 
8.2 90% PS&E Submittal 
Based upon the PDR and 50% plans, we will incorporate City comments, further develop the design 
documents, and submit the 90% PS&E. We will include catalog cuts of proposed materials, equipment, 
and products to be specified, as well as supporting engineering calculations. 
 
8.3 100% PS&E Submittal 
We will incorporate City design review comments from the 90% submittal and advance the PS&E to the 
100% complete stage. In addition to the 100% level PS&E a final design report will be submitted, 
containing engineering calculations, catalog cuts of specified materials, products and equipment, and 
other miscellaneous technical data. A Final Submittal will also be delivered under this task, incorporating 
final City comments. We anticipate that the Final drawing package will include the following sheet 
counts for each of the two well sites: 
 

• Title and General – (3) 
• Civil – (6) 
• Mechanical – (4) 
• Electrical – (6) 
• Instrumentation – (3) 
• Landscape Architecture – (5) 

 
8.4 Electrical & Instrumentation 
Design and engineering construction support services for electrical and instrumentation will be provided 
throughout the project by JSP Automation, who will perform these duties as a subconsultant to IEC. JSP 
Automation will provide professional engineering services for well pump station electrical, 
instrumentation and control system upgrades contained within the RFP. JSP’s services will include 
predesign and design documents as indicated to be completed for the bid and construction of two well 
pumping facilities. 
 
Pump Station Electrical and Control System Engineering: 
JSP will provide Electrical, Instrumentation and Control System design services to address the electrical 
distribution, standby generator, motor control center and monitoring and control system requirements 
for the pump station electrical and control system upgrade. Services will include: 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 

 Single Line Diagram 

 Electrical Equipment Elevation Diagrams 

 Conduit Development Plans 

 P&ID for Instrumentation and Control 

 PLC and Control System Wiring Diagrams 

 Installation Details 
 

JSP will evaluate the existing SCADA system to establish the interface requirements for SCADA 
monitoring and control of the pump station utilizing the latest proven technology and City standards for 
PLC based SCADA monitoring and control. The control systems will include associated instrumentation 
to provide for full automatic control with advanced data monitoring to optimize pump station control, 
alarm notification and enhanced diagnostics for maintenance. 
 
JSP will consider all types of motor control systems including Variable Frequency Drives, Reduced 
Voltage and Across the Line starting to provide for optimized motor control. 
  
JSP will provide electrical engineering services for the installation of lighting, equipment power 
distribution and control equipment interfacing. Electrical design will include power diagrams, conduit 
schedules and installation details. 
 
JSP will provide general electrical coordination with the local power utility to provide for service 
entrance requirements. JSP will provide load calculations, single line diagram, equipment elevations and 
secondary connection requirements for connection to a local utility service connection. 
 
8.5 Landscape Architecture 
Our landscape architecture subconsultant, Callander Associates will provide the following design 
services: 
 

 50% Submittal: Develop landscape plans for each facility to a 50% level of completion. Submit 
one (1) hard copy and one 

(1) electronic copy on disk of all deliverables noted below: 
 

 Irrigation plan; with equipment layout, water and electrical services, notes 
and legend, 1”=20’, 1 sheet – coordinate with your electrical engineer for 
provision of electrical service to controller 

 

 Planting plan; plants located and types identified, with planting notes, plant list 
and plan legend, 1”=20”, 1 sheet 

 

 Detail sheets; planting and irrigation details as warranted to facilitate 
construction, various scales, total of up to 2 sheets 

 

 Technical specifications; technical specifications for all work shown including soil 
preparation, planting, irrigation and landscape maintenance; specifications to be 
prepared in CSI format 

 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 Estimate of Probable Construction Costs formatted to match City bid form 

 

 90% Submittal: Incorporate comments on the 50% submittal develop landscape plans to 
a 90% level of completion. 

 

 Final Design Submittal: Incorporate comments on 90% submittal proceed to refine 
documents to a 100% level of completion. Final documents to include all items noted in 90% 
submittal. 

 

8.6 Geotechnical Report  
We propose the following scope of work for Geotechnical Investigation 

 perform a review of any available existing geotechnical data relevant to the project 

 perform one boring to a maximum depth of 30 feet or until competent material at the Well 
site.  

 contact Underground Surface Alert at least 48 hours prior to any excavation to identify and 
locate utilities within the immediate area of our proposed exploration locations. 

 obtain soil samples during our explorations and perform lab testing including shear strength 
and index testing to better characterize the subsurface soil. 

 summarize our findings in a report which will discuss observed site conditions, results of our 
laboratory test data, foundation recommendations, and 2013 California Building Code seismic 
parameters. 

 
8.7 Building Design (See Optional Services below) 
 

TASK 9 WELLHEAD FACILITY CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
 
9.1 Bid Phase Services 
We will provide Bid Phase Services comprising response to potential bidder questions; facilitation of a 
prebid meeting; and assistance with bid evaluation. We assume 4 RFI’s and 5 bid package reviews for 
completeness.  We do not include reference checks for bidders. 
 
9.2 Construction Phase Services 
Engineering Construction Support Services will include the following items of work for each Bid Package: 
 

 Receive, log and process Requests for Information (RFIs); we assume ten (10) RFI’s for the 
purposes of this proposal 

 Receive, log and process to Contractor Submittals; we assume twenty (20) Submittals (with one 
initial and one re-submittal each)  

 Attend a Preconstruction Conference 

 Provide design clarification of contract documents  

 Attend Two-Day Final Site Inspection 

 Provide Two-Day Start-Up and Commissioning Assistance 
 
We have not included field observation, inspections, contract administration, or other construction 
management services in this proposal; these services can be provided by IEC as an extended scope of 
work 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 
9.3 Post-Construction Services 
We will provide post-construction services comprising preparation of as-built drawings and final test 
results. 
 
9.4 SCADA/PLC Programming (See Optional Services below) 
 
9.5 Electrical Inspection Services/Start up and testing (See Optional Services below) 
 

TASK 10 – PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
Project management and administration activities are assumed to consist of the following: holding 
project progress meetings with City staff, internal team meetings, coordination with City, coordination 
and management of subconsultants, and administrative efforts including accounting activities and 
maintaining insurance requirements. The project schedule will also be periodically updated as the 
project progresses. 
 
10.1 Progress Meetings 
 

 Monthly coordination meetings with City: agenda and meeting minutes for all meetings for the 
duration of the project as shown in the attached Schedule 

• Weekly project updates via email and/or telephone to discuss budget, schedule, and project 
issues. 

• Monthly report summarizing progress to date, pending action items, project budget, and 
updated schedule.  

• Conduct an effective quality assurance and quality control program. 
• Presentations to City staff as indicated in each task and at the end of the preliminary design to 

discuss the project, construction schedule, costs, and constraints. 
 
10.2 Project Schedule and Updates 
 

• Provide monthly electronic project design schedule in MS Project and PDF format. Schedule 
shall include all submittals, meetings, and milestones, and will provide a minimum (3) week 
period for each City submittal review. 

• Maintain and submit the project schedule monthly. 
 
GENERAL ASSUMPTIONS 
Following are our working assumptions for this project: 
 

 We provide a topographic survey at a scale of 1”=20’ for each well site. Contours will be shown 
at 1-foot intervals. Survey will include location of existing trees, structures, walkways, fences, 
roadways, and utility information. Invert elevations of storm drains and sanitary sewers will 
also be provided. Survey will include location of underground utilities and property lines based 
upon available agency records and field conditions. The format for the survey file will be 
AutoCAD 2016, or a compatible previous version. 

 The design will incorporate civil, mechanical, plumbing, electrical/instrumentation, structural, 
and landscape architecture disciplines 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 In developing our cost estimate we have assumed that the project will generally consist of two 
municipal well sites with concrete pad, fencing/screening, emergency generator, new electrical 
service, chlorine and ammonia chemical feed system, wellhead, civil site work, drainage, and 
landscaping.  

 We do not anticipate that a building will be required for either the wellhead or treatment 
facility. Design services for building(s) are included as an optional item.  Advanced treatment 
systems (for other than disinfection facilities) are not included in the proposal, but can be 
provided as an extended service as needed. 

 Connection to the City’s potable water system will be at or near to each well site, and 
connection to gravity pump-to-waste will be to the existing storm drain system, also assumed 
to be at or near each well site.  

 Bid-ready construction plans will be prepared in AutoCAD format utilizing City drafting 
standards (if available). Designs will be supported by the necessary engineering calculations 
and where applicable will utilize City Standard Design Criteria as well as applicable/appropriate 
local, state, and federal codes, standards, and guidelines. Plans will be prepared on 24x36-inch 
4-mil mylar or equivalent and will become property of the City. Final electronic files of the 
plans will also be provided to the City in AutoCAD format. 

 Contract specifications will include the City’s standard boilerplate contract and bid forms, along 
with general and special provisions. We will prepare the necessary project-specific technical 
specifications. 

 Construction estimates will be provided at each design submittal, and will include the 
Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost based on quantity take-offs, unit costs from 
past construction projects, manufacturer cost data, local material supplier costs, and estimates 
provided by construction contractors. 

 
OPTIONAL SERVICES/ESTIMATED BUDGETED TASKS 
 
3.2 Plat & Legal Descriptions 
If needed this optional service is for the preparation of plat and legal descriptions for easement 
modifications. If this optional task is authorized by the City, the plat and legal descriptions will be 
prepared based on recorded parcel data.  Our fee summary assumes (2) well sites. 
 
3.8 Monitoring Wells and Testing 
This optional task would provide for converting the (2) test borings into 4-inch diameter monitoring 
wells, to allow preliminary flow testing and collection of groundwater quality samples.  Pumping tests 
and water quality sampling can provide useful information on yield of the full-scale wells and produced 
water quality.  Groundwater samples can be analyzed to assess drinking water suitability, and potential 
future well treatment requirements.  
 
We have included in our fee summary estimates for constructing the monitoring wells, permitting, 4-
hour pumping tests, and collection and analysis of groundwater samples for basic inorganic chemistry 
(major anions and cations, total dissolved solids, iron and manganese, and saline water indicators boron 
bromide and iodide). 
 
 
 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

3.9  Depth Discrete Flow and Water Quality Testing 
Depth-discrete flow and water quality testing can also be performed using inflatable packers, yielding 
measurements of flow and water quality variations with depth, and allowing optimal design and 
construction of the full-scale wells.  If the water quality is deemed suitable from optional task 3.4.2 then 
this task is unneccessary.  However, if water quality is a potential concern then depth-specific flow 
testing using an inflatable packer system is proposed to assess the relative inflow contributions of 
different depth zones.  Flow characteristics and groundwater quality will be measured for the four 
largest sand intervals logged between 200 and 600 ft bgs, and checked against composite flow and 
water quality.  The flow measurements will be made at specific depths identified after logging and 
installation of the monitoring well.  Flow rates and pressure responses in the test interval will be logged, 
allowing specific evaluation of aquifer hydraulic properties (including transmissivity and hydraulic 
conductivity) at individual depth zones.  This information will be used to identify production potentials 
of the different hydrostratigraphic zones and to determine where high and low production zones, and 
chemical shifts, are located along the well screen. 
 
Four depth-discrete water quality samples (from different portions of the screened interval(s) of the 
monitoring well) will be obtained using inflatable packers.  Discrete samples from different depth 
intervals will allow determination of water quality variations along the well profile.  This information, 
combined with the depth-discrete flow testing, will allow optimal design of a full-scale well with respect 
to water quality.   
 
We will analyze the depth-discrete samples to assess drinking water suitability (in terms of general 
inorganic constituents), to understand water quality variations with depth, sources of shallow and deep 
groundwater, and to support design and optimization of a full-scale well. The analyses address general 
inorganics including major anions and cations, iron and manganese, and bromide and iodide (indicators 
of saline water intrusion. 
 
Our fee summary assumes (2) well sites. 
 
3.10 Biologist Support for Drilling Adjacent Sensitive Habitat 
If needed, this task would provide for qualified biologist assistance for driller mobilization, to: (1) assist 
in siting the boring outside jurisdictional limits; (2) define the limits of work to avoid accidental 
incursions into sensitive habitat and oversee the placement of exclusion fencing to protect the riparian 
zone; and (3) if needed, conduct clearance surveys for nesting birds. If warranted in his/her professional 
judgment, the biologist will also oversee removal of exclusion measures. 
 
8.7 Building Design  
This task is all inclusive for building design including preparation of design renderings, community design 
review meetings, architectural and structural design, cost estimating, and construction support services.  
Specific work tasks include: 
 

 Project Management: Prepare invoices and progress statements each month.  Estimate 12 
months of Design services and 6 months of Design Services during Construction. 
Attend one (1) project/team meeting in Menlo Park. 

 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

 Preliminary Design: Prepare Preliminary Design alternatives for the Architectural design of the 
Well Building. The design will address the functional requirements of the structures and site as 
well as any visual impact to the surrounding uses. IEC will provide BTA with the basic building 
configuration and relevant design criteria, including any City design Standards. Two alternatives 
will be developed based on the design criteria. The design variables include; the roof form, the 
finish wall material and detailing, the detailing of openings, the design of exterior elements for 
mitigation of visual impact, as well as coordination with site work, fencing and landscaping.  
Deliverables include: Preliminary design narrative, schematic plans and elevations and up to two 
(2) photo-composite perspective renderings of the alternatives. 

 
This Task includes the following subtasks: 

 review site, mechanical, electrical & structural issues and develop design concepts 

 generate schematic plans and exterior elevations 

 Perspective rendering(s), colored presentation plans and elevation, assume two (2) 
max. 

 Attend Community Design Meeting 1 to review alternatives and receive comments 

 Refine preferred alternative  

 Attend Community Design Meeting 2 to review preferred alternative and receive 
comments 

 Attend Preliminary Design coordination meeting (1) 
 

 Initial Design (50% Submittal): Prepare fifty (50%) drawings and list of specifications for the 
approved preliminary design for the Well Building. Drawings will include plans, exterior 
elevations, sections, schedules, and selected details.  

 

 Final Design (90 and 100% Submittals): Incorporate 50% review comments. Prepare 90% Design 
drawings and specifications. Drawings will include plans, exterior elevations, sections, schedules, 
and details.  

 
• Prepare final exterior elevations, sections, and architectural details. 
• Coordinate architectural drawings with structural, mechanical and electrical 

drawings. 
• Prepare architectural specification sections 
• Prepare 100% Draft submittal for QA/QC and review by City 
• Revise and resubmit drawings & specifications for 100% Final Bid Ready Package  

 
Preliminary list of drawings: 

 A1 Details 
 A2 Details 
 A3 Details & Door & Finish Schedules  
 A4 Sections 
 A5 Floor Plan & Roof Plan  
 A6 Exterior Elevations 
 
Drawings will be 22” x 34” format, conformed to IEC or City standards. We will provide PDF files of the 
architectural drawings and MSWord files of specifications for all submittals. One full-size set of Final 



City of Menlo Park 
Scope of Work 

Emergency Water Supply Project 
Emergency Wells 2 and 3 

 
 

 

documents, stamped and signed will be provided if required. PDF electronic drawing files, specifications 
in Word and pdfs will be provided.  AutoCAD files may be provided upon request. 
 
Assist IEC in the preparation of Cost Opinions at Preliminary, 50%, 90 and 100% submittals by providing 
input on architectural elements.  
 

 Bid Assistance and Construction Services: 

 Respond to bidder’s questions 

 Prepare addenda items 

 Submittal Review (20 Submittal/Resubmittals, est)  

 Exterior color board – samples of each selected color  

 RFI’s  (5 est.) 

 Change Order review, Design Clarifications (1 each, est.) 

 Site Visits (2)  

 Prepare record drawings based on as-built information provided contractor. Printing 
of as-built drawings, if required, by IEC. 

 
9.4 SCADA/PLC Programming 
Our subconsultant JSP Automation has complete in-house Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition 
(SCADA) and Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) programming and development capabilities.  In lieu of 
having the contractor responsible for programming which can result in inconsistencies with City SCADA 
standards, JSP can provide complete programming of well site PLC and modifications to existing SCADA 
system.  Services would include: 

 SCADA Graphics Development for Two wells 

 Modification of existing communications infrastructure to include two additional well sites. 

 PLC and Local Operator Interface Programming for two well sites. 

 
9.5 Electrical Inspection Services/Start up and testing 
In our experience the electrical and control systems often require additional specialized inspection 
services to provide for quality control of the electrical, instrumentation and control systems.  This task 
includes the following: 

 Witnessed Factory Testing One Day 

 Attend Start-Up Meeting 

 Three Site Installation Inspections 

 Two Days Witnessed Instrumentation Loop and Device Point Testing 

 Two Days Witnessed Station Control System Commissioning Services 

 Two Days Final Acceptance Testing 
 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Project Budget

TASKS COSTS

Task 1 - Kick Off and Data Review $16,373

Task 2 - Well Site Recommendation $57,818

Task 3 - Exploratory Drilling $391,531

Task 4 - Drinking Water Source Assessment & Protection 
(DWSAP)/Drinking Water Permit

$26,090

Task 5 - Planning Submittal & Environmental Documentation $136,603

Task 6 - Well Drilling PS&E $28,734

Task 7 - Well Drilling Construction Phase Services $54,696

Task 8 - Wellhead Facility PS&E $206,011

Task 9 - Wellhead Facility Construction Phase Services $87,875

Task 10 - Project Management $61,720

TOTAL $1,067,451

Prepare Plat & Legal (2) sites $3,960

Monitoring Wells & Testing (2) sites $50,408

Depth Discrete Flow and Water Quality (2) sites $48,852

Biologist Support for Drilling Adjacent to Sensitive Habitat (2) 
sites

$2,135

Building Community Workshop/Design/Construction Phase (2) 
sites

$232,840

Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) and 
Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) programming 

$27,510

Electrical Inspection/Start-up & Testing $14,175

Optional Services, Total $379,880

Optional Services

ATTACHMENT B



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



15

M
enlo Pa

rk M
unicip

a
l W

a
ter D

istrict
Em

erg
ency W

a
ter Sup

p
ly Project 

Em
erg

ency W
ells 2

 a
nd

 3

Task Description

2016 2017 2018

08 09 10 11 12 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12

1 Kick-off Meeting

1 Data Review

2 Update Hydrogeologic/Eng 
   Review

2 Recommend Well Sites

2 Community Meetings

2 DDW Presentation

3 Site Survey

3 Exploratory Drilling Layout

3 CEQA NOE

3 Exploratory Drilling and Report

3 Council Presentation

4 DWSAP

5 Planning Submittal

5 IS/MND

6 Well Drilling PS&E

7 Well Construction

8 Wellhead Facility PS&E

9 Wellhead Construction

9 Project Acceptance & Closeout

Tentative Project Schedule ATTACHMENT C



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



AERIAL OF POTENTIAL WELL SITES

X = Potential Well Locations 
X = Corp Yard Well (well #1) 

X XX 

X 
X 

X 

X 

XX 

X 

ATTACHMENT D



ALMA SITE 

PALO ALTO 

X 

X 

X=Potential Well Location 



MENLO PARK FIRE DISTRICT STATION #1 

X=Potential Well Location 

X 



WILLOW OAKS PARK 

X 

X 

X 

X=Potential Well Location 



BURGESS PARK  

X 
X 

X 

X=Potential Well Location 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Community Services 

    
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

City Council    
Meeting Date:   7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number:  16-124-CC 
 
Consent Calendar:  Adopt a resolution authorizing the City 

Manager to execute a contract with the State of 
California Department of Education to 
reimburse the City up to $796,890 for child care 
services at the Belle Haven Child Development 
Center for fiscal year 2016-17  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a Resolution executing a contract with the State of California 
Department of Education for reimbursement to the City up to $796,890 for the delivery of child care services 
at the Belle Haven Child Development Center for Fiscal Year 2016-17.  The Resolution is included as 
Attachment A. 

 

Policy Issues 
The recommendation does not represent any change to existing City policy.  If the State makes any 
amendment to the current agreement to release additional funds for the program, it will require further 
action by the City Council. Staff will bring back this item to present additional information and for 
consideration by the City Council if it becomes necessary. 

 

Background 
The City of Menlo Park has operated the Belle Haven Child Development Center (BHCDC) for over 30 
years.  The Belle Haven Child Development Center is licensed by the State Department of Social Services 
to provide quality child development services to families in Menlo Park and surrounding cities.  The program 
receives funding from the State Department of Education, USDA Child and Adult Care Food Program, user 
fees, and contribution by the City of Menlo Park.  The program seeks to build children’s self-esteem by 
offering developmentally appropriate materials and activities supporting social, emotional, physical, and 
cognitive abilities.  Children are provided breakfast, lunch, and snacks daily.  The teacher to child ratio is 1:8.   

Until 2010-11, a highly trained and committed staff taught approximately 96 children, 3-5 years of age.  Cuts 
in state funding for 2011-12 required a decrease in program participation and in 2012-13 just 72 children 
were enrolled.  However, in 2013-14, with the increase in State funding, the program increased enrollment 
to 84 children.  The additional 12 children were enrolled in a new part day program that was offered.  In 
2014-15, with an additional increase in State funding, the program is enrolled to capacity with 96 children in 
both full day and part day programming.  Finally, in 2015-16, the program again was enrolled to capacity 
with 96 children in both full day and part day programming.  

Currently, the ninety-six (96) program enrollees are subsidized under the California Department of 
Education Child Development Division (CDD) State Preschool Program. State funding restrictions require all 
parents of children enrolled in the CDC’s subsidized slots to be working, in school, in training, seeking 

AGENDA ITEM H-2



Staff Report #: 16-124-CC 

    
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

permanent housing, actively seeking employment, or incapacitated.  All families of children enrolled in the 
CDC must meet strict income eligibility requirements.  The State contract also provides funding for 
additional resource materials, such as classroom supplies and small equipment to support these families.  
Over 60 families still remain on the program’s waiting list. 

A resolution must be adopted annually in order to certify the approval of the funding by the Governing Board 
of the jurisdiction receiving the reimbursement and to authorize designated personnel to enter into the 
contract with the California Department of Education.  The City Manager has been identified as the 
Executive Director or the Authorizing Agent for the City of Menlo Park for the purpose of signing the contract.  
The contract is included as Attachment B. 

 

Analysis 
Under the terms of the contract, the City agrees to expend contract funds on reimbursable costs necessary 
to provide child care services for eligible children.  The City is also required to meet all reporting 
requirements and other standard contract provisions.  The contract specifies a Minimum Days of Operation 
(MDO) requirement of 246 days during the fiscal year and 19,156 Minimum Child Days of Enrollment (CDE).  
The reimbursement rate is $41.60 per child per day, up to a maximum of $796,890 based on the minimum 
service requirements. 

Table 1 

Fiscal Year Adopted 
Program 
Budget 

Adjusted 
Program 
Budget 

Adopted 
State and 
Federal 
Subsidy 

Adjusted 
State and 
Federal 
Subsidy 

Percent of 
State 

Decrease or 
Increase 

Number 
Subsidized 

Slots 

11-12 $1,278,872 $1,237,872 $732,435 $638,621 -12.8% 78 

12-13 $1,278,913 $1,217,385 $577,412 $545,412 - 5.5% 72 

13-14 $1,087,187 $1,136,416 $577,412 $630,501 + 9.1% 84 

14-15 $1,167,599 $1,186,895 $630,501 $732,964 + 16.2% 96 

15-16 $1,264,337 $1,265,051 $746,685 $803,364 + 7.5% 96 

16-17* $1,484,874 n/a $796,890 $796,890*
* 

0% 96 

 
*Proposed budget 
** Approved State Contract Estimate for FY 16-17 



Staff Report #: 16-124-CC 

    
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
*Adopted budget  

 

Impact on City Resources 
The City will receive up to $796,890 to support the BHCDC through the State contract proposed for 
authorization.  The City anticipates receiving additional revenues from parent fees, small grants, food 
reimbursements and other small revenue sources.  The City’s budgeted direct cost to operate the BHCDC 
is $1,484,874 for the 2016-17 fiscal year.  The budgeted net cost to the City for the BHCDC program for the 
coming fiscal year is $687,984.  
 
Announcement of the City’s receipt of a grant of up to $270,000 in Big Lift funding from the Silicon Valley 
Community Foundation for the coming fiscal year was received too late to be included in these final budget 
calculations, but should produce some savings to the General Fund.  Staff will report on the impact of the 
grant funds to the General Fund budget during the mid-year budget review.  

 

Environmental Review 
Approval of the contract is not deemed a project under the California Environmental Quality Act. 

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 

Attachments 
A. Resolution Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Contract  
B. Belle Haven CDC California Department of Education funding contract for FY 2016-17  
 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Natalie Bonham, Recreation Supervisor 
 

0
300,000
600,000
900,000

1,200,000
1,500,000
1,800,000

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7*

Belle Haven Child Development Center 
State and Federal Subsidy 

Adjusted Program
Budget
Adjusted State and
Federal Subsidy



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



RESOLUTION NO. 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH 
THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION TO 
RECEIVE THE SUBSIDY FOR CHILD CARE AND 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 

 
The City of Menlo Park, acting through its City Council, having considered and been 
fully advised in the matter and good cause appearing therefore. 
 
BE IT AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Menlo Park 
authorizes entering into local agreement number CSPP-6497 reimbursing the City up to 
$796,890 for child care services at the Belle Haven Child Development Center for fiscal 
year 2016-17, and that the person who is listed below is authorized to sign the 
transaction for the City Council. 
 
 
Alex McIntyre        City Manager     

Name        Title 
 
 
I, Pam Aguilar, City Clerk of the City of Menlo Park of San Mateo County, California, do 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed 
and adopted by the City Council of the City of Menlo Park at a meeting thereof held at a 
regular public place of meeting on nineteenth day of July, 2016, by the following votes: 
 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of 
said City on this nineteenth day of July, 2016. 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Pam Aguilar 
City Clerk 

ATTACHMENT A



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 
1430 N Street 
Sacramento CA 95814-5901 

LOCAL AGREEMENT FOR CHILD DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

CONTRACTOR'S NAME: CITY OF MENLO PARK 

F.Y.16-1 7 

DATE: July 01. 2016 

CONTRACT NUMBER: CSPP-6497 

PROGRAM TYPE: CALIFORNIA STATE 
PRESCHOOL PROGRAM 

PROJECT NUMBER: 41 -2184-00-6 

This Agreement is entered into between the State Agency and the Contractor named above. The Contractor agrees to comply 
with the terms and conditions of the CURRENT APPLICATION; the GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS (GTC-61 0)*; the 
STATE PRESCHOOL PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS*; the FUNDING TERMS AND CONDITIONS (FT&C)* and any 
subsequent changes to the FT&C*, which are by this reference made a part of this Agreement. Where the GTC-610 conflicts 
with either the Program Requirements or the FT&C, the Program Requirements or the FT&C will prevail. 

Funding of this Agreement is contingent upon appropriation and availability of sufficient funds. This Agreement may be 
terminated immediately by the State if funds are not appropriated or available in amounts sufficient to fund the State's 
obligations under this Agreement. 

The period of performance for this Agreement is July 01 , 2016 through June 30, 2017. For satisfactory performance of the 
required services, the Contractor shall be reimbursed in accordance with the Determination of Reimbursable Amount Section 
of the FT&C, at a rate not to exceed $41 .60 per child per day of full-time enrollment and a Maximum Reimbursable Amount 
(MRA) of $796,890.00. 

SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 
Minimum Child Days of Enrollment (COE) Requirement 
Minimum Days of Operation (MOO) Requirement 

19,156.0 
246 

Any provision of this Agreement found to be in violation of Federal and State statute or regulation shall be invalid, but such a 
finding shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

Items shown with an Asterisk(*), are hereby incorporated by this reference and made part of this Agreement as if attached 
hereto. These documents can be viewed at http://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/cd/ftc2016.asp. 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
BY (AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE) 

PRINTED NAME OF PERSON SIGNING 

Sueshil Chandra, Manager 
TITLE 

Contracts, Purchasing and Conference Services 

AMOUNT ENCUMBERED BY THIS 
DOCUMENT 

$ 796,890 

PRIOR AMOUNT ENCUMBERED FOR 
THIS CONTRACT 

$ 0 
TOTAL AMOUNT ENCUMBERED TO 
DATE 
$ 796,890 

ere y cen1 y upon my own persona n 
purpose of the expenditure stated above. 

SIGNATURE OF ACCOUNTING OFFICER 

See Attached 

PROGRAM/CATEGORY (CODE AND TITLE) 

Child Development Programs 
(OPTIONAL USE) 

See Attached 
ITEM CHAPTER 

See Attached 
OBJECT OF EXPENDITURE (CODE AND TITLE) 

702 

CONTRACTOR 
BY (AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE) 

STATUTE FISCAL YEAR 

T.B.A. NO. B.R. NO. 

DATE 

ATTACHMENT B



CONTRACTOR'SNAME: ~C_ITY~O~F_M~E~N~LO.:..._P_A~R~K~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

CONTRACT NUMBER: CSPP-6497 

AMOUNT ENCUMBERED BY THIS DOCUMENT PROGRAM/CATEGORY (CODE AND TITLE) I FUND TITLE 
$ 125,966 Child Development Programs Federal 

PRIOR AMOUNT ENCUMBERED (OPTIONAL USE)0656 FC# 93.596 PC# 000321 

$ 0 13609-2184 

TOTAL AMOUNT ENCUMBERED TO DATE ITEM 30.10.020.001 I CHAPTER I STATUTE I FISCAL YEAR 
$ 125,966 6100-194-089 0 B/A 2016 2016-2017 

OBJECT OF EXPENDITURE (CODE AND TITLE) 

702 SACS: Res-5025 Rev-8290 -

AMOUNT ENCUMBERED BY THIS DOCUMENT PROGRAM/CATEGORY (CODE AND TITLE) I FUND TITLE 
$ 57,860 Child Development Programs Federal 

PRIOR AMOUNT ENCUMBERED (OPTIONAL USE)0656 F C# 93.575 PC# 000324 

$ 0 15136-2184 

TOTAL AMOUNT ENCUMBERED TO DATE ITEM 30.10.020.001 I CHAPTER I STATUTE I FISCAL YEAR 
$ 57,860 6100-194-0890 BIA 2016 2016-2017 

OBJECT OF EXPENDITURE (CODE AND TITLE) 
702 SACS: Res-5025 Rev-8290 

AMOUNT ENCUMBERED BY THIS DOCUMENT PROGRAM/CATEGORY (CODE ANO TITLE) I FUND TITLE 
$ 375,476 Child Development Programs General 

PRIOR AMOUNT ENCUMBERED (OPTIONAL USE)0656 

$ 0 23038-2184 

TOTAL AMOUNT ENCUMBERED TO DATE ITEM 30.10.010. I CHAPTER I STATUTE I FISCAL YEAR 
$ 375,476 6100-196-0001 B/A 2016 2016-201 7 

OBJECT OF EXPENDITURE (CODE AND TITLE) 

702 SACS: Res-6105 Rev-8590 

AMOUNT ENCUMBERED BY THIS DOCUMENT PROGRAM/CATEGORY (CODE ANO TITLE) I FUND TITLE 
$ 237,588 Child Development Programs General 

PRIOR AMOUNT ENCUMBERED (OPTIONAL USE)0656 

$ 0 23254-2184 

TOTAL AMOUNT ENCUMBERED TO DATE ITEM 30. 10.020.001 I CHAPTER I STATUTE I FISCAL YEAR 
$ 237,588 6100-1 94-0001 B /A 2016 2016-2017 

OBJECT OF EXPENDITURE (CODE ANO TITLE) 

702 SACS: Res-6105 Rev-8590 

I hereby certify upon my own personal knowledge that budgeted funds are available for the period and T.BA. NO. I BR NO. 
purpose of the expenditure stated above. 

SIGNATURE OF ACCOUNTING OFFICER DATE 



California Department of Education 
Attachment 2 
FY 16-17 
Page 8 of 13 

CCC-307 

CERTIFICATION 

I, the official named be low, CERT IFY UN DER PENAL TY OF PERJURY that I am duly 
authorized to legally bind the prospective Contractor to the clause(s) li sted below. This 
certification is made under the laws of the State of California. 

Federal ID Number 

ted in the County of 

M01-\-eo 
CONTRACTOR CERTIFICATION CLAUSES 

I . STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE: Contractor has, unless exempted, complied 
with the nondiscrimination program requirements. (Gov. Code § 12990 (a-f) and 
CCR, Title 2, Section 8 103) (Not applicable to public entities.) 

2. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQU IREMENTS: Contractor will comply 
with the requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990 and will 
provide a drug-free workplace by taking the fo llowing actions: 

a. Publish a statement notifying employees that unlawful manufacture, 
distribution, dispensation, possession or use of a controlled substance is 
prohibited and specifying actions to be taken against emp loyees for 
vio lations. 

b. Estab lish a Drug-Free Awareness Program to inform employees about: 

I) the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; 
2) the person's or organization's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace; 
3) any avai lable counseli ng, rehabi litation and employee assistance programs; and, 
4) penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations. 

c. Every employee who works on the proposed Agreement will : 

1) receive a copy of the company's drug-free workplace policy statement; and, 
2) agree to abide by the terms of the company's statement as a cond ition of 
employment on the Agreement. 

Failure to comply with these requirements may resul t in suspension of payments 

EXHIBIT A



California Department of Education 
Attachment 2 
FY 16-17 
Page 9 of 13 

under the Agreement or termination of the Agreement or both and Contractor 
may be ineligible for award of any future State agreements if the department 
determines that any of the fo llowing has occurred: the Contractor has made false 
certification, or violated the certification by failing to carry out the requirements as 
noted above. (Gov. Code §8350 et seq.) 

3. NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD CERTIFICATION: Contractor certifies that 
no more than one ( I) final unappealable finding of contempt of court by a Federal court has 
been issued against Contractor within the immediately preceding two-year period because of 
Contractor's failure to comply with an order of a Federal court, which orders Contractor to 
comply with an order of the National Labor Relations Board. (Pub. Contract Code § I 0296) 
(Not applicable to public entities.) 

4. CONTRACTS FOR LEGAL SERVICES $50,000 OR MORE- PRO BONO 
REQUIREMENT: Contractor hereby certifies that contractor will comply with the 
requirements of Section 6072 of the Business and Professions Code, effective January I, 
2003. 

Contractor agrees to make a good faith effort to provide a minimum number of hours of pro 
bono lega l services during each year of the contract equal to the lessor of 30 multiplied by the 
number of fu ll time attorneys in the firm ' s offices in the State, with the number of hours 
prorated on an actual day basis for any contract period of less than a full year or I 0% of its 
contract with the State. 

Failure to make a good fa ith effort may be cause for non-renewal of a state contract for legal 
services, and may be taken into account when determining the award of future contracts with 
the State for lega l services. 

5. EXPATRIATE CORPORATIONS: Contractor hereby declares that it is not an 
expatriate corporation or subsidiary of an expatriate corporation within the meaning of 
Public Contract Code Section I 0286 and I 0286.1 , and is e ligible to contract with the State 
of California. 

6. SWEATFREE CODE OF CONDUCT: 

a. All Contractors contracting for the procurement or laundering of apparel, garments or 
corresponding accessories, or the procurement of equipment, materials, or supplies, other than 
procurement related to a public works contract, declare under penalty of perjury that no 
apparel, garments or corresponding accessories, equipment, materials, or supplies furnished to 
the state pursuant to the contract have been laundered or produced in whole or in part by 
sweatshop labor, forced labor, convict labor, indentured labor under penal sanction, abusive 
forms of chi ld labor or exploitation of children in sweatshop labor, or with the benefit of 
sweatshop labor, forced labor, convict labor, indentured labor under penal sanction, abusive 
forms of ch ild labor or exploitation of children in sweatshop labor. The contractor further 
declares under penalty of perjury that they adhere to the Sweatfree Code of Conduct as set 
forth on the California Department of Industrial Relations website located at www.dir.ca.gov, 



California Department of Education 
Attachment 2 
FY 16-17 
Page 10 of 13 

and Public Contract Code Section 6 108. 

b. The contractor agrees to cooperate fully in providing reasonable access to the contractor's 
records, documents, agents or employees, or premises if reasonably required by authorized 
officials of the contracting agency, the Department of Industrial Relations, or the Department 
of Justice to determine the contractor's compliance with the requirements under paragraph 
(a). 

7. DOMESTIC PARTNERS: For contracts over$100,000 executed or amended after 
January I, 2007, the contractor certifies that contractor is in compliance with Public 
Contract Code section I 0295.3. 

DOING BUSINESS WITH THE STA TE OF CALIFORNIA 

The following laws apply to persons or entities doing business with the State of Ca li fornia. 

I. CONFLICT OF rNTEREST: Contractor needs to be aware of the fo llowing provisions 
regarding current or former state employees. If Contractor has any questions on the status of 
any person rendering services or involved with the Agreement, the awarding agency must be 
contacted immediately for clarification. 

Current State Employees (Pub. Contract Code § I 0410): 

I) . No officer or employee shall engage in any employment, activity or enterprise from which 
the officer or employee receives compensation or has a financial interest and which is 
sponsored or funded by any state agency, unless the employment, activity or enterprise is 
required as a condition of regu lar state employment. 

2). No officer or employee shall contract on his or her own behalf as an independent 
contractor with any state agency to provide goods or services. 

Former State Employees (Pub. Contract Code § I 0411 ): 

I). For the two-year period from the date he or she left state employment, no former state 
officer or employee may enter into a contract in which he or she engaged in any of the 
negotiations, transactions, planning, arrangements or any part of the dec ision-making process 
relevant to the contract while employed in any capacity by any state agency. 

2). For the twelve-month period from the date he or she left state employment, no former state 
officer or employee may enter into a contract with any state agency if he o r she was employed 
by that state agency in a policy-making position in the same genera l subject area as the 
proposed contract within the 12-month period prior to his or her leaving state service. 

If Contractor violates any provisions of above paragraphs, such action by Contractor shall 
render thi s Agreement void. (Pub. Contract Code § I 0420) 

Members of boards and commissions are exempt from thi s section if they do not receive 
payment other than payment of each meeting of the board or commission, payment fo r 



California Department of Education 
Attachment 2 
FY 16-17 
Page 11 of13 

preparatory time and payment for per diem. (Pub. Contract Code§ 10430 (e)) 

2. LABOR CODE/WORKERS' COMPENSATION : Contractor needs to be aware of the 
provi sions which require every employer to be insured against liability for Worker's 
Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the prov isions, and 
Contractor affirms to comply with such provisions befo re commencing the performance of 
the work of thi s Agreement. (Labor Code Section 3700) 

3. AM ERICANS WITH DISABILITI ES ACT: Contractor assures the State that it 
complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, which prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of disability, as well as all applicable regul ations and 
guidelines issued pursuant to the ADA. (42 U.S.C. 12 101 e t seq.) 

4. CONTRACTOR NAME CHANGE: An amendment is required to change the 
Contractor's name as lis ted on this Agreement. Upon receipt of legal documentation of the 
name change the State wi ll process the amendment. Payment of invoices presented with a 
new name cannot be paid prior to approval of said amendment. 

5. CORPORA TE Q UALIFICAT IONS TO DO BUSINESS IN CALIFORN IA: 

a. When agreements are to be performed in the sta te by corporations, the contracting 
agencies will be verifying that the contractor is currently qualified to do business in 
California in order to ensure that all obligations due to the state are fulfill ed. 

b. "Doing business" is defined in R&TC Section 23 101 as actively engaging in any 
transaction for the purpose of financial or pecuniary ga in o r profit. Although there are 
some statutory exceptions to taxation, rarely will a corporate contractor performing w ithin 
the state not be subject to the franchise tax. 

c. Both domestic and foreign corporations (those incorporated outside of Califo rnia) must be 
in good standing in order to be qua lified to do business in California. Agencies will determ ine 
whether a corporation is in good standing by calling the Office of the Secretary of State. 

6. RESOLUTION: A county, city, district, or other local public body must provide the State 
with a copy of a resolution, order, motion, or o rdinance of the local governing body which by 
law has authori ty to enter into an agreement, authoriz ing execution of the agreement. 

7. AIR OR WATER POLLUTION VIOLATION : Under the State laws, the Contractor shall 
not be: ( I) in vio lation of any order or resolution not subject to rev iew promulgated by the 
State Air Resources Board or an air po llution contro l district; (2) subject to cease and des ist 
order not subject to review issued pursuant to Section 13301 of the Water Code fo r vio lation 
of waste discharge requirements o r discharge prohibitions; or (3) fi na lly determined to be in 
vio lation of provisions of federal law relating to air or water pollution. 

8. PAYEE DATA RECORD FORM STD. 204: This fo rm must be completed by all 
contractors that are not another ~tate agency or other governmental entity. 



California Department of Education 
Attachment 2 
FY 16-17 
Page 12of13 

C0.8 (Jiit/. &07) FEDERAL CERT/FICA TIONS 

CERTIFICATIONS REGARDING LOBBYING; DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION AND OTHER 
RESPONSIBILllY MATIERS; AND DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS 

Applicants should re!er to the regulations cited below to detemiine the certification to which lhey are requftd to aMest. Atlplicants should also 
review 1he instructions for certification included n the regulations be!on! completing this form. Sign~ on this bm provides far compliance 
with certification requin!ments w¥ler 45 CFR Part 93. ""New restrictions on ~ •• and 45 CFR Part 76. "Gollem~de Debarment and 
SUspension (Na! procurement) and~ requirements f<x" Drug-Free Workplace (Grants): The certifications shall be treated as a 
materiill represeftillion of fact upon wtlich n!liance will be pbced when the Department of Education delll!nnines ID award the awered 
~saction. grant. « c:ooperaWe agreement. 

1. LOBBY1NG 

As requftd by Section 1352. rr11e 31 of the u.s_ Code. and 
mplemen11!d at 45 CFR Part Q3, for perscns entering into a grant« 
cooperative ~over $100.000 as defined at 45 CFR Part 
93. Sections 93. 105 and Q3.11 O. the applicant certifies !hat: 

{a) No~ appropriated funds tia- been paid er will be paid. by 
OI" on behalf of lhe undersigned, ID any person for influencSlg « 
altempmg to inftuence an officer« employee of any agency. a 
member of Congress in connection with lhe ma&lg d any federal 
grant. the entemg into of any aiopera6ve co-ment. and the 
extension, oontinuation. renewal, amendment, « modkation of 
any federal grant DI" cooperative agl1!t!ITlef1t: 

{b) If any funds other" than federal apprt:.piated funds haW! been « 
will be paid to any pers.on for influencing or ilttempting to intluenoe 
an E!f11IJloyee al Congress. er any ~ of a Member al 
Congn!ss n ODnnl!Clion wi1h 1his Federal grant« cooperative 
~. the w.dersigned shal ocmpletl? and submit Standard 
Fonn -lLL, "Disclosure Form to Report lobb)'inig,. n accardance 
with this instruction; 

{c) The l.Diersigned shall reqµire that the language of lhis 
certification be inclJded in the award documents fer" al 5dliawards 
at al tiers (nduding subgrants, contracts under grants and 
cooperative ag-eemen!S, and subcontracts) and lhat. al 
subrecipierll shall certify and cisdose actXllcfingly. 

2. DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION. AND OTHER 
RESPONSIBLITY MATTERS 

As requRd by executiwe Order 12549. Debarment and Suspension. 
and otlll!I" responsibilities implemenll!d at 45 CFR Part 76, for 
prospective participants in primary Dr" a lower tiet" covered 
~. as demed ilt 45 CFR Part 76. Sections 76. 105 and 
76.110. 

A. The applicant certifies that it and its pmapals.: 

{a) Are net pn!5el1tly debarred. suspended proposed for dl!bannent 
declared ineligible. Dr" YDluntariy excluded from OOllef1!d 
~ by any federal department Dr" agenc:v: 

(b) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application 
been convictE!d al« had a civil judgment A!nden!d against them fCI" 
commission of fraud «a aiminal offense in connection with 
obtaining. ahempling to otitain. or perfonning a public (feder.IA. 
state. Dr" local) transaction« contract under a public transaction 
violation of federal « State antitrust starutes er ocmmission of 
embe:zzieme111. theft, fofgely. bribery, falsification or deslruction of 
recol'ds, makng false ~. « receiving s!Dlen property; 

{c) Ne not presently indicted for or otherwise criminal)' Dr" civily 
charged by a gowmmenlal entity (federal. ~te. « local) with 
commission of any al the offenses enumerallE!d in paragraph (1) {b) 
of lhis cedificalion; and 

(d) Have not within a thr-.~ period proceeding this application 
had one « more public transactions (federal, state. or local) 
temmatE!d for cause or default and 

B. \-'fbere the applicant is Wliltlle ID certify to any of the s1all!men1S 
n llWs certification. he « she shall attach an explanalion to this 
application. 

3_ DRUG-FR.EE WORKPlAOE (GRANTEES OTHER THAN 
INDIVIDUALS) 

As required by the Orug,-Free WOOplace Ad of 1988. and 
Snplemented at 45 CFR Part 76, Subpart F. for grartees. as 
defined at45 CFR Part 76, Sections 76.605 and 76.610-

A. The applicant certifies that it will or will ccntDle to provide a 
drug-free wor1q>lace by. 

(a) PublislWlg a st.illement notifying E!fl1lloyees that lhe ISllawful 
manutacrure. distrbltion. dispensing. possession. Cl" use al a 
c::onlrokd smstance is prohibited in the grantee's wortplace and 
specifying the actions that d be tile.en against employees tor 
violation of such prohibition. 

{b) Establishflg an on-going drug-free awareness program to in!"oml 
employees about-

( 1) The danger of mug abuse in the wmtplace.; 

(2) The grantee·s policy of maintaining a drug-free worilpace; 

(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation. and employee 
assistance programs; and 

(4) The penalties lhilt may be if1ll05ed upon emplO)'E!eS for mug 
abuse violiltion.s OCaJrring in the WDBplaoe; 

{c) MaU!g it a~ thal each employee to be engaged n 
periofmance of the grant be given a copy of lhe statement requRd 
by paagraph (a); 

{d) lltotifying the employee in the statll!ment required by paragraph 
(a) that, as a condition of employment under the ganl. the 
employee will -

(1) Abide by the terms al the st.illement; and 

{2} Notify lhe employer in Miting of his « her conviction for a 
violation; 

(e) Noeifying the agency. in writing, wihin 10 calendar days after 
R!Ceivng notice Wider subparagraph (d ) (2) from an emplOl}'E!'e Dr" 
olheraise receiving actual notice of such ccnvi'*>n. Employers of 
comricted empoyees must providenolice, including position title. 



California Department of Education 
Attachment 2 
FY 16-17 
Page 13 of 13 

to: Dftctar. Grants, and Ccnirads Service, U.S. Department of 
Education. 400 Maryland Averue, S .W .• (Room 3124, GSA 
Regional Ollice Buiding Nie>. 3 ). Washington. DC 20202-4571 . 

Notice Shall include the identification runber(s) of each aftec:ted 
grant 

{f) Talliirlg one of the folowing actions. within 30 calendar days of 
n!Ceiving notice under subparagraph {d) (2 ). with l1!:Sped 1D any 
employee wtio is so convict.ed: 

{1) Taking~ personnel action againsl such an errPoYee. 
~ to and including termination, oonsisllent with the r:equirements of 
the Rehabilitation Actof 1g73, as amended'; or 

{2) Requiring such employee to palticipate satisfactoliy in a drug 
abuse assistance or n!habilitalion program appr'O'tlled fell" such 
p.wposes by .a federal, state. or local health. law enfcn:emenl, or 
04her appopriare agency: 

{g) Making a good faith effort to oonlinue to maintain a dru~ 
wor1lplace thnxq. ~entillion ofparag11'4Jlts {a). (b), {c), (d), 
(e). and (f). 

8 . The gran8!e shall insert in the space pr"CWided below the 
site(s) for the performance d wcr1t done in connection with the 
specific grant: 

Place of Perfonnance {Street address, c:ily. county, srat.e. zip code) 

Checll ( ] if lh8e are worilplaces on file that are not identified ~-

ORUG-FREE WORIKPlACE 
{GRANTEES WHO ARE INDIVIDUALS) 

As requRd by the Drug-Free Wortcplace Ad. d HISS, and 
Snplementecl at 45 CFR Part 76, Subpart F. for grattees.. as 
defined at 45 CFR Part 76, Sections 76.605 and 76_610-

a . As a condition of the grant, I certify ·that I will not engage ,... the 
lSllawful manufactwe. distrbllion. dispensing, possession. or use 
of a controlled substance in conducting any ac:tMty with the grant. 
and 

b . If con\licted of a criminal drug offense A!SUtting from a violation 
~during the conduct of any granl activity, I will repott the 
canviclion, in writing. wittWl 10 calendar days of the conw:taon. to: 
OirectDr", Grants and oon'trads Service, U.S. ~partment of 
Education. 400 Maryland Averue. S .W . (Room 3124. GSA 
Regional Ollice BUiding No. 3) W3.$hington. OC 20202-4571. 
Nobce shall include the identification nlSTibers{s) of each afl'iected 
grant. 

ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE ACT 

As requRd by the Pro-Children Act of 1 gg.c_ (also llnowr1 a.s 
Emriron~I Tobacco Smoke). and implernentl!d at Public l.aw 
103-277, Part C requires that 

The~ cer1ifies mat smoo.g is not permitted in any portion 
of any indoor facility ~ or leased or contracted and used 
routinely or regularly lfor the provision of health care seJVices. da.y 
care, and education to dlildren under the age of 18. Failure ID 
campy with the provisions of this law may result n the irrposi6on d 
a c::ivtl monetary penalty of~ ID S 1.000 per day. (The law does not 
apply to children's services provided in private residence, facilities 
funded solely by Medi~ or Medicaid finds, and ponions of 
facilities used fer in-patienl drug and alcohol ~t..) 

As the duly authoriz2d representaW.e of lhe applicant. I hereby certify lhat the applicant will comply with the abor.ie oeltitications. 

NAME OF APPUCANT {CONTRACTOR) c \ 
PRINTED NAME ANO TITLE OF AUTHORIZED ESENTATIVE 

{idf_j, \\'\~ \¥\111 \1, 
SIGNATURE 

(~ \Y\aVW¥V 
DATE 



Community Services 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

STAFF REPORT 

City Council  
Meeting Date:  7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number: 16-123-CC 

Consent Calendar: Authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract 
with Cardinal Rules in an amount not to exceed 
$68,013.00 for youth and adult sports officials for 
fiscal year 2016-17  

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the City Council authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract with Cardinal Rules 
in an amount not to exceed $68,013.00 for Youth and Adult Sports Officials for FY 2016-17. 

Policy Issues 
Supporting youth and adult sports programs with trained officials is consistent with existing City Council 
policies and goals. 

Background 
Cardinal Rules has provided the City of Menlo Park with sports officials since 2007. 

Analysis 
The scope of the work performed by Cardinal Rules includes youth volleyball, youth basketball and adult 
basketball officiating. Staff recommends the continuation of this scope of work through the coming fiscal 
year as approved in the 2016-17 City Budget. 

Impact on City Resources 
The cost of the Cardinal Rules officiating service is $68013.00 annually. There is sufficient funding allocated 
in the approved budget to cover the current scope of work for the Cardinal Rules contract. 

Environmental Review 
Youth and adult sports are not a project under CEQA. 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

AGENDA ITEM H-3



Staff Report #: 16-123-CC 

 
   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Attachments 
A. Professional Services Contract 
  
 
Report prepared by: 
Jarrod Harden 
Recreation Coordinator-Sports 
 



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
City Manager's Office 
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
tel 650-330-6620 

crrYOF 

MENLO PARK 

Contract#: 

AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES BElWEEN 
THE CITY OF MENLO PARK AND Cardinal Rules 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into at Menlo Park, California, this 30th day of June . 2016 , by 
and between the CITY OF MENLO PARK. a Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as "CITY", 
and Cardinal Rules, hereinafter referred to as "FIRST PARTY." 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, CITY desires to retain FIRST PARTY to provide certain professional services for CITY in 
connection with that certain project called: 

WHEREAS, FIRST PARTY is licensed to perform said services and desires to and does hereby 
undertake to perform said services. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL COVENANTS, PROMISES AND 
CONDITIONS of each of the parties hereto, it is hereby agreed as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF WORK 

In consideration of the payment by CITY to FIRST PARTY, as hereinafter provided, FIRST PARTY 
agrees to perform all the services as set forth in Exhibit "A", Scope of Services. 

2. SCHEDULE FOR WORK 

FIRST PARTY's proposed schedule for the various services required pursuant to this agreement will 
be as set forth in Exhibit "A", Scope of Services. CITY will be kept informed as to the progress of work 
by written reports, to be submitted monthly or as otherwise required in Exhibit "A". Neither party shall 
hold the other responsible for damages or delay in performance caused by acts of God, strikes, 
lockouts, accidents or other events beyond the control of the other, or the other's employees and 
agents. 

FIRST PARTY shall commence work immediately upon receipt of a "Notice to Proceed" from CITY. 
The "Notice to Proceed" date shall be considered the "effective date" of the Agreement, as used 
herein, except as otherwise specifically defined. FIRST PARTY shall complete all the work and deliver 
to CITY all project related files, records, and materials within one month after completion of all of 
FIRST PARTY's activities required under this Agreement. 

3. PROSECUTION OF WORK 

FIRST PARTY will employ a sufficient staff to prosecute the work diligently and 
continuously and will complete the work in accordance with the schedule of work approved by the 
CITY. (See Exhibit "A", Scope of Services). 

CC Rev 20160113 

ATTACHMENT A



2 

4. COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT 

A. CITY shall pay FIRST PARTY an all-inclusive fee that shall not exceed $68013.00 as described in 
Exhibit "A", Scope of Services. This compensation shall be based on the rates described in Exhibit 
"A". All payments, including fixed hourly rates, shall be inclusive of all indirect and direct charges to 
the Project incurred by FIRST PARTY. The CITY reserves the right to withhold payment if the City 
determines that the quantity or quality of the work performed is unacceptable. 

B. FIRST PARTY's fee for the services as set forth herein shall be considered as full compensation for all 
indirect and direct personnel, materials, supplies and equipment, and services incurred by FIRST 
PARTY and used in carrying out or completing the work. 

C. Payments shall be monthly for the invoice amount or such other amount as approved by CITY. As 
each payment is due, a statement describing the services performed shall be submitted to CITY by the 
FIRST PARTY. This statement shall include, at a minimum, the project title, Agreement Number, the 
title(s) of personnel performing work, hours spent, payment rate, and a listing of all reimbursable costs. 
CITY shall have the discretion to approve the invoice and the work completed statement. Payment 
shall be for the invoice amount or such other amount as approved by CITY. 

D. Payments are due upon receipt of written invoices. CITY shall have the right to receive, upon request, 
documentation substantiating charges billed to CITY. CITY shall have the right to perform an audit of 
the FIRST PARTY's relevant records pertaining to the charges. 

5. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

A. FIRST PARTY, with regard to the work performed by it under this Agreement shall not discriminate on 
the grounds of race, religion, color, national origin, sex, handicap marital status or age in the retention ! 

of sub-consultants, including procurement of materials and leases of equipment. 
B. FIRST PARTY shall take affirmative action to insure that employees and applicants for employment, 

are treated without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, national origin, marital status or handicap. 
Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or 
transfer; recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation and 
selection for training including apprenticeship. 

C. FIRST PARTY shall post in prominent places, available to employees and applicants for employment, 
notices setting forth the provisions of this non-discrimination clause. 

D. FIRST PARTY shall state that all qualified applications will receive consideration for employment 
without regard to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, marital status or handicap. 

E. FIRST PARTY shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and shall provide such reports 
as may be required to carry out the intent of this section. 

F. FIRST PARTY shall incorporate the foregoing requirements of this section in FIRST PARTY's 
agreement with all sub-consultants. 

8. ASSIGNMENT OF AGREEMENT AND TRANSFER OF INTEREST 

CC Rev 20160113 



A. FIRST PARTY shall not assign this Agreement, and shall not transfer any interest in the same 
(whether by assignment or novation), without prior written consent of the CITY thereto, provided, 
however, that claims for money due or to become due to the FIRST PARTY from the CITY under this 
Agreement may be assigned to a bank, trust company, or other financial institution without such 
approval. Notice of an intended assignment or transfer shall be furnished promptly to the CITY. 

B. In the event there is a change of more than 30% of the stock ownership or ownership in FIRST PARTY 
from the date of this Agreement is executed, then CITY shall be notified prior to the date of said 
change of stock ownership or interest and CITY shall have the right, in event of such change in stock 
ownership or interest, to terminate this Agreement upon notice to FIRST PARTY. In the event CITY is 
not notified of any such change in stock ownership or interest, then upon knowledge of same, it shall 
be deemed that CITY has terminated this Agreement. 

7. INDEPENDENT WORK CONTROL 

It is expressly agreed that in the performance of the service necessary for compliance with this 
Agreement, FIRST PARTY shall be and is an independent contractor and is not an agent or employee 
of CITY. FIRST PARTY has and shall retain the right to exercise full control and supervision of the 
services and full control over the employment, direction, compensation and discharge of all persons 
assisting FIRST PARTY in the performance of FIRST PARTY's services hereunder. FIRST PARTY 
shall be solely responsible for its own acts and those of its subordinates and employees. 

8. CONSULTANT QUALIFICATIONS 

It is expressly understood that FIRST PARTY is licensed and skilled in the professional calling 
necessary to perform the work agreed to be done by it under this Agreement and CITY relies upon the 
skill of FIRST PARTY to do and perform said work in a skillful manner usual to the profession. The 
acceptance of FIRST PARTY's work by CITY does not operate as a release of FIRST PARTY from 
said understanding. 

9. NOTICES 

All notices hereby required under this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered in person or sent by 
certified mail, postage prepaid or by overnight courier service. Notices required to be given to CITY 
shall be addressed as follows 

Jarrod Harden 
CSD 
City of Menlo Park 
701 Laurel St. 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 
650-330-2239 
jwharden@menlopark.org 
Notices required to be given to FIRST PARTY shall be addressed as follows: 
Michael Adam 
Cardinal Rules 
PO BOX 117643 
Burlingame, CA 94011 
650-270-6453 
cardinalrules@msn.com 
Provided that any party may change such address by notice, in writing, to the other party and 
thereafter notices shall be addressed and transmitted to the new address. 

10. HOLD HARMLESS 

3 

CC Rev 20160113 



The FIRST PARTY shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the CITY, its subsidiary agencies, their 
officers, agents, employees and servants from all claims, suits or actions that arise out of, pertain to, or 
relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the FIRST PARTY brought for, or on 
account of, injuries to or death of any person or damage to property resulting from the performance of 
any work required by this Agreement by FIRST PARTY, its officers, agents, employees and servants. 
Nothing herein shall be construed to require the FIRST PARTY to defend, indemnify or hold harmless 
the CITY, its subsidiary agencies, their officers, agents, employees and servants against any 
responsibility to liability in contravention of Section 2782.8 of the California Civil Code. 

4 

CC Rev 20160113 



11. INSURANCE 

A. FIRST PARTY shall not commence work under this Agreement until all insurance required under this 
Section has been obtained and such insurance has been approved by the City, with certificates of 
insurance evidencing the required coverage. 

B. There shall be a contractual liability endorsement extending the FIRST PARTY's coverage to include 
the contractual liability assumed by the FIRST PARTY pursuant to this Agreement. These certificates 
shall specify or be endorsed to provide that thirty (30) days' notice must be given, in writing, to the 
CITY, at the address shown in Section 9, of any pending cancellation of the policy. FIRST PARTY 
shall notify CITY of any pending change to the policy. All certificates shall be filed with the City. 
1. Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance: 

The FIRST PARTY shall have in effect during the entire life of this Agreement Worker's 
Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance providing full statutory coverage. In signing this 
Agreement, the FIRST PARTY makes the following certification, required by Section 18161 of the 
California Labor Code: "I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code 
which require every employer to be insured against liability for Worker's Compensation or to 
undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of the Code, and I will comply with such 
provisions before commencing the performance of the work of this Agreement" (not required if the 
FIRST PARTY is a Sole Proprietor). 

2. Liability Insurance: 
The FIRST PARTY shall take out and maintain during the life of this Agreement such Bodily Injury 
Liability and Property Damage Liability Insurance (Commercial General Liability Insurance) on an 
occurrence basis as shall protect it while performing work covered by this Agreement from any and 
all claims for damages for bodily injury, including accidental death, as well as claims for property 
damage which may arise from the FIRST PARTY's operations under this Agreement, whether such 
operations be by FIRST PARTY or by any sub-consultant or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by either of them. The amounts of such insurance shall be not less than One Million 
Dollars ($1 ,000,000) per occurrence and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), in aggregate or One 
Million Dollars ($1 ,000,000) combined single limit bodily injury and property damage for each 
occurrence. FIRST PARTY shall provide the CITY with acceptable evidence of coverage, including 
a copy of all declarations of coverage exclusions. FIRST PARTY shall maintain Automobile 
Liability Insurance pursuant to this Agreement in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) for each accident combined single limit or not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) for any one (1) person, and One Million Dollars ($1 ,000,000) for any one (1) accident, 
and Three Hundred Thousand Dollars, ($300,000) property damage. 

3. Professional Liability Insurance: 
FIRST PARTY shall maintain a policy of professional liability insurance, protecting it against claims 
arising out of the negligent acts, errors, or omissions of FIRST PARTY pursuant to this Agreement, 
in the amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per claim and in the aggregate. 
Said professional liability insurance is to be kept in force for not less than one ( 1) year after 
completion of services described herein. 

C. CITY and its subsidiary agencies, and their officers, agents, employees and servants shall be named 
as additional insured on any such policies of Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability 
Insurance, (but not for the Professional Liability and Worker's Compensation), which shall also contain 
a provision that the insurance afforded thereby to the CITY, its subsidiary agencies, and their officers, 
agents, employees, and servants shall be primary insurance to the full limits of liability of the policy, 
and that if the CITY, its subsidiary agencies and their officers and employees have other insurance 
against a loss covered by a policy, such other insurance shall be excess insurance only. 

D. In the event of the breach of any provision of this Section, or in the event any notice is received which 
indicates any required insurance coverage will be diminished or canceled, CITY, at its option, may, 
notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, immediately declare a material 
breach of this Agreement and suspend all further work pursuant to this Agreement. 

E. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to 
and approved by CITY. 

5 

I 
CC Rev 20160113 



6 

1 12. PAYMENT OF PERMITS/LICENSES 

Contractor shall obtain any license, permit, or approval if necessary from any agency whatsoever for 
the work/services to be performed, at his/her own expense, prior to commencement of said 
work/services or forfeit any right to compensation under this Agreement. 

13. RESPONSIBILITY AND LIABILITY FOR SUB-CONSULTANTS AND/OR SUBCONTRACTORS 

Approval of or by CITY shall not constitute nor be deemed a release of responsibility and liability of 
FIRST PARTY or its sub-consultants and/or subcontractors for the accuracy and competency of the 
designs, working drawings, specifications or other documents and work, nor shall its approval be 
deemed to be an assumption of such responsibility by CITY for any defect in the designs, working 
drawings, specifications or other documents prepared by FIRST PARTY or its sub-consultants and/or 
subcontractors. 

-
14. OWNERSHIP OF WORK PRODUCT 

Work products of FIRST PARTY for this project. which are delivered under this Agreement or which are 
developed, produced and paid for under this Agreement, shall become the property of CITY. The reuse 
of FIRST PARTY's work products by City for purposes other than intended by this Agreement shall be at 
no risk to FIRST PARTY. 

15. REPRESENTATION OF WORK 

Any and all representations of FIRST PARTY, in connection with the work performed or the information 
supplied, shall not apply to any other project or site, except the project described in Exhibit "A" or as 
otherwise specified in Exhibit "A". 

18. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

A CITY may give thirty (30) days written notice to FIRST PARTY, terminating this Agreement in whole or in 
part at any time, either for CITY's convenience or because of the failure of FIRST PARTY to fulfill its 
contractual obligations or because of FIRST PARTY's change of its assigned personnel on the project 
without prior CITY approval. Upon receipt of such notice, FIRST PARTY shall: 
1. Immediately discontinue all services affected (unless the notice directs 

otherwise); and 
2. Deliver to the CITY all data, drawings, specifications, reports, estimates, summaries. and such other 

information and materials as may have been accumulated or produced by FIRST PARTY in 
performing work under this Agreement, whether completed or in process. 

B. If termination is for the convenience of CITY, an equitable adjustment in the contract price shall be made, 
but no amount shall be allowed for anticipated profit on unperformed services. 

C. If the termination is due to the failure of FIRST PARTY to fulfill its Agreement, CITY may take over the 
work and prosecute the same to completion by agreement or otherwise. In such case, FIRST PARTY 
shall be liable to CITY for any reasonable additional cost occasioned to the CITY thereby. 

D. If, after notice of termination for failure to fulfill Agreement obligations, it is determined that FIRST 
PARTY had not so failed, the termination shall be deemed to have been effected for the convenience of 
the CITY. In such event, adjustment in the contract price shall be made as provided in Paragraph B of 
this Section. 

E. The rights and remedies of the CITY provided in this Section are in addition to any other rights and 
remedies provided by law or under this Agreement. 

F. Subject to the foregoing provisions, the CITY shall pay FIRST PARTY for services performed and 
expenses incurred through the termination date. 

CC Rev 201601 13 



7 

-· - - - ~ ~ 

" - -
17. INSPECTION OF WORK 

It is FIRST PARTY's obligation to make the work product available for CITY's inspections and periodic 
reviews upon request by CITY. 

18. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

It shall be the responsibility of FIRST PARTY to comply with all State and Federal Laws applicable to the 
work and services provided pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to compliance with 
prevailing wage laws, if applicable. 

-
19. BREACH OF AGREEMENT 

A. This Agreement is governed by applicable federal and state statutes and regulations. Any material 
deviation by FIRST PARTY for any reason from the requirements thereof, or from any other provision of 
this Agreement, shall constitute a breach of this Agreement and may be cause for termination at the 
election of the CITY. 

B. The CITY reserves the right to waive any and all breaches of this Agreement, and any such waiver shall 
not be deemed a waiver of any previous or subsequent breaches. In the event the CITY chooses to 
waive a particular breach of this Agreement, it may condition same on payment by FIRST PARTY of 
actual damages occasioned by such breach of Agreement. 

20. SEVERABILITY 

The provisions of this Agreement are severable. If any portion of this Agreement is held invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect 
unless amended or modified by the mutual consent of the parties. 

-
21. CAPTIONS 

-

The captions of this Agreement are for convenience and reference only and shall not define, explain, 
modify, limit, exemplify, or aid in the interpretation, construction, or meaning of any provisions of this 
Agreement. 

22. LITIGATION OR ARBITRATION 

In the event that suit or arbitration is brought to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party 
shall be entitled to litigation costs and reasonable attorneys' fees. The Dispute Resolution provisions are 
set forth on Exhibit "B", 'Dispute Resolution' attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein. 

23. RETENTION OF RECORDS 

Contractor shall maintain all required records for three years after the City makes final payment and all 
other pending matters are closed, and shall be subject to the examination and /or audit of the City, a 
federal agency, and the state of California. 

24. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall remain in effect for the period of July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017 unless 
extended, amended, or terminated in writing by CITY. 

CC Rev 20160113 



8 

125. ENTIRE AGREEMENT O=:J 
This document constitutes the sole Agreement of the parties hereto relating to said project and states the 

I rights, duties, and obligations of each party as of the document's date. Any prior Agreement. promises, 
negotiations, or representations between parties not expressly stated in this document are not binding. 

I All modifications, amendments, or waivers of the terms of this Agreement must be in writing and $igned 
by the appropriate representatives of the parties to this Agreement. 

21. STATEMENT OF ECONOMIC INTEREST 

Consultants, as defined by Section 18701 of the Regulations of the Fair Political Practices Commission, 
Title 2, Division 6 of the California Code of Regulations, are required to file a Statement of Economic 
Interests with 30 days of approval of a contract services agreement with the City of its subdivisions, on 
an annual basis thereafter during the term of the contract, and within 30 days of completion of the 
contract. 
Based upon review of the Consultant's Scope of Work and determination by the City Manager, it is 
determined that Consultant IS/ IS NOT required to file a Statement of Economic Interest. A statement of 

I 
Economic Interest shall be filed with the City Clerk's office no later than 30 days after the execution of 
the Agreement. J 

tN WITNESS WHER._E_O_F- .-t-he parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year."""fi_rs_t -ab_o_ve __ 

written. 

FIRST PARTY: 

L /) Obi-
Signatum 

> 
Name 

Tax ID# 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

William L. McClure. City Attorney 

~a 
Signature 

"k~text~~ 
Name 

ATTEST: 

Pamela Aguilar, City Clerk, City of Menlo Park 

Date 

Title 

Date 

d ick here to enter text h [i 4-/ .... l_b...__ __ 
Date 

Chooseoptio~Z> l?f ~ 
Title 

Date 

CC Rev 20160113 



Exhibit A

Adult Basketball League for fiscal Year 2016-17

1.  League will operated from July 2016- June 2017

Monday/Wednesday/Friday

There are 3 divisions 

2.  There are 3 games per league per night and either 6 or 7 teams per league

10 regular season games + playoffs

3.  2 referees per game for "B" level games on Monday and 40+ on Friday

     3 referee's per game "A" Level games on Wednesday

4.  Cost breakdown by League Per Game

B League and 40 + League 243 games $83 20,169.00$             

A League 90 games $130 11,700.00$             

 

TOTAL 31,869.00$    

EXHIBIT A



Exhibit B

Youth Basketball League for fiscal Year 2016-17

1.  League will operated from December 2016-April 2017

Monday - Saturday

3rd grade -7th grade

2.  There will be 8 regular season games + playoffs

3.  2 referees per game for 5th-7th grades

     1 referee's per game for 3rd/4th

4.  Cost breakdown by League per game

3rd and 4th grade 253 $36.00 9,108.00$               

5th-7th grade 297 $68.00 20,196.00$             

contingency

TOTAL 29,304.00$    

All numbers are based on same team numbers as last season 

Youth Volleyball League for fiscal Year 2016-17

1.  League will operated from September 2016-December 2016

Monday/Tuesday/Thursday

4th grade - 8th grade 

2.  There will be 8 regular season games + playoffs

3.  1 referee for all games 

     1 referee's per game for 3rd/4th

4.  Cost breakdown 

3rd and 4th grade 190 $36.00 6,840.00$               

 

TOTAL 6,840.00$      

GRAND TOTAL 36,144.00$        

EXHIBIT B



City Manager's Office 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

STAFF REPORT 

City Council  
Meeting Date:  7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number: 16-131-CC 

Consent Calendar: Adopt a resolution requesting action from the 
Federal Aviation Administration to reduce aircraft 
noise in Menlo Park  

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the attached resolution, which calls for the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) to take steps to reduce aircraft noise over Menlo Park. 

Policy Issues 
Click here to enter text. 

Background 
Residents from Menlo Park and the Peninsula area are currently subjected to aircraft noise caused by 
aircraft traveling to and from three major airports and several smaller airfields in the area. The FAA is 
currently implementing the Next Generation Air Transportation System (NextGen), a multibillion dollar 
modernization program that seeks to make the country’s airspace safer and more efficient. This would 
primarily be accomplished by switching from ground-based radar systems to satellite-based navigation and 
aircraft tracking. NextGen is targeted for full implementation by 2025 and involves redesigning many of the 
flight paths near major metropolitan areas, including the San Francisco Bay area. Over the last year, the 
FAA has been shifting to its newly designed flight paths, and in the process, has subjected Menlo Park and 
Peninsula area residents to increased aircraft noise. 

On April 4, 2016, U.S. Representatives Anna G. Eshoo, Sam Farr and Jackie Speier announced the 
formation of a Select Committee on South Bay Arrivals. The Select Committee is comprised of 12 local 
elected officials from San Mateo County, Santa Clara County and Santa Cruz County. The purpose of the 
Select Committee is to develop regional solutions to address aircraft noise. 

Councilmember Peter Ohtaki represents Menlo Park on the San Francisco Airport/Community Roundtable 
(SFO Roundtable) and was appointed by Representative Jackie Speier as an Alternate on the Select 
Committee. 

Analysis 
Recognizing that Menlo Park residents have been negatively affected by increased aircraft noise caused by 
the implementation of the FAA’s NextGen program, the City of Menlo Park is seeking regional solutions to 
this problem. 

AGENDA ITEM H-4



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Staff Report #: 16-131-CC 

Below are some of the issues that have been identified and recommended actions. 

1. Mid-Peninsula flight route
An increased number of flights using the BDEGA or Point Reyes West route over the Peninsula has
shifted more flights over noise-sensitive residential areas (Attachment A).

Recommendation: Request that the FAA reduce the arrivals into San Francisco International (SFO)
using the BDEGA or Point Reyes West route over the Peninsula and instead utilize the BDEGA East
route over the San Francisco Bay. If the BDEGA/Point Reyes West route must be utilized, that airplanes
be required to fly at a higher altitude over the mid-Peninsula before beginning their U-turn over Palo Alto.

2. Flight altitudes
The FAA previously agreed with Representative Eshoo in 2000 that the minimum altitude over the
MENLO waypoint be 5,000 feet under visual flight rules (clear weather). Under NextGen, the altitude
over the MENLO waypoint is 4,000 feet regardless of weather conditions in order to adhere to an
optimized profile descent of 2.85 degrees. The average altitude over the MENLO waypoint has therefore
decreased from 4,928 feet during September 2010 to 4,452 feet in September 2015.

Recommendation: Request that the FAA increase the minimum altitude over the MENLO waypoint
during visual flight conditions, as previously agreed to with Representative Eshoo.

3. Flight frequency/concentration
Several SFO arrival routes converge over the MENLO waypoint resulting in a steady increase from
approximately 3,900 airplanes in September 2010 to nearly 5,000 in September 2015.

Recommendation: Request that the FAA disperse arrivals by utilizing other waypoints in addition to
MENLO, preferably over the San Francisco Bay and away from residential areas as much as possible.

The attached resolution (Attachment B) includes these recommendations and expresses opposition to any 
route modifications that would have the effect of concentrating additional flights over Menlo Park. In 
particular, any route modification that might add additional aircraft to a route that approaches the MENLO 
waypoint would have a substantial noise impact on Menlo Park. 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

Attachments 
A. SFO Northern Arrivals Approach (BDEGA STAR Route) map 
B. Resolution 

Report prepared by: 
Clay J. Curtin, Assistant to the City Manager 



SFO Northern Arrivals Approach 
(BDEGA STAR Route) 

 
 

• Submitted to FAA for consideration on 10/9/2016. 
• Traffic on west leg (over populated areas) significantly increased and on east leg (over 

the bay) significantly decreased recently. 
• Not addressed in FAA iniatives. 

 
Source: Californians for Quiet Skies (Portola Valley) 

ATTACHMENT A



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



RESOLUTION NO.  
  
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK REQUESTING ACTION FROM THE FEDERAL AVIATION 
ADMINISTRATION TO REDUCE AIRCRAFT NOISE IN THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park desires to maintain a pleasant quality of life for our 
residents; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park will cooperate with all local, State and National 
agencies and provide its best efforts toward minimizing aircraft noise; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City participates in the San Francisco Airport/Community Roundtable 
(SFO Roundtable) in an effort to reduce the impacts of commercial flights over the city 
of Menlo Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, U.S. Representatives Anna Eshoo, San Farr and Jackie Speier have 
formed a Select Committee on South Bay Arrivals to develop regional solutions to 
address aircraft noise; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council seeks to have its position on aircraft noise articulated to 
the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), the Select Committee and the SFO 
Roundtable. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Menlo Park City Council as follows: 
 
1. Menlo Park residents have been negatively affected by increased aircraft noise 

caused by the implementation of the FAA’s Next Generation Air Transportation 
system (NextGen) in 2015.  

 
2. The City Council supports regional cooperation in addressing aircraft noise, and 

supports the efforts of the Select Committee and the SFO Roundtable to seek out 
and implement these solutions. 

 
3. The City Council requests that the FAA reduce the arrivals into San Francisco 

International (SFO) using the BDEGA or Point Reyes West route over the 
Peninsula and instead utilize the BDEGA East route over the San Francisco Bay. 

 
4. If the BDEGA/Point Reyes West route must be utilized, that airplanes be required to 

fly at a higher altitude over the mid-Peninsula before beginning their U-turn over 
Palo Alto. 

 
5. The FAA previously agreed with Representative Eshoo in 2000 that the minimum 

altitude over the MENLO waypoint be 5,000 feet under visual flight rules (VFR). 
Under NextGen, the altitude over the MENLO waypoint is 4,000 feet regardless of 

ATTACHMENT B



weather conditions in order to adhere to an Optimized Profile Descent (OPD) of 
2.85 degrees. The average altitude over the MENLO waypoint has therefore 
decreased from 4,928 feet during September 2010 to 4,452 feet in September 
2015. 

 
6. The City Council requests that the FAA increase the minimum altitude over the 

MENLO waypoint during visual flight conditions, as previously agreed with 
Representative Eshoo. 

 
7. Several SFO arrival routes converge over the MENLO waypoint resulting in a 

steady increase from approximately 3,900 airplanes in September 2010 to nearly 
5,000 in September 2015. 

 
8. The City Council requests that the FAA disperse arrivals by utilizing other waypoints 

in addition to MENLO, preferably over the San Francisco Bay. 
 
9. The City is vehemently opposed to any modifications to routes that would have the 

effect of concentrating additional flights over Menlo Park. In particular, any 
modification of routes which add additional aircraft to a route that approaches the 
MENLO waypoint would have a substantial noise impact on Menlo Park. 

 
10. After the Select Committee on South Bay Arrivals completes its work, the FAA must 

put in place a continuous mechanism for gaining feedback from mid-Peninsula 
communities affected or potentially affected by changes in aircraft routes and 
procedures. 

 
I, Pamela Aguilar, City Clerk of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above 
and foregoing City Council resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a 
meeting of said City Council on the nineteenth day of July, 2016, by the following votes: 

 
AYES:   

 
NOES:  

  
ABSENT:  

  
ABSTAIN:  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of 
said City on this nineteenth day of July, 2016. 

 
 

 
Pamela Aguilar, CMC 
City Clerk 
 



Human Resources 

 

City of Menlo Park  701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

City Council    
Meeting Date:   7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number:  16-132-CC 
 
Consent Calendar:  Approve a resolution to amend the City-wide 

salary schedule effective July 10, 2016  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve a Resolution to Amend the City’s Salary Schedule 
effective July 10, 2016. 
 

Policy Issues 
In accordance with the City personnel rules and regulations, the City Council is required to adopt changes 
to the City’s Salary Schedule.  

 

Background 
In July 2015, the City hired Koff & Associates to conduct a comprehensive classification and 
compensation study to achieve two primary goals. First, Koff & Associates was asked to work with staff to 
establish modern job descriptions that reflect both current laws and the duties and responsibilities of 
incumbent employees (Classification Study). Second, Koff & Associates was tasked with providing the City 
and bargaining units with a comprehensive market survey of total compensation for benchmark positions 
that could be used in a wage reopener in the AFSCME and SEIU labor contracts (Compensation Study). 
In February, 2016, the City Council received the Compensation Report data from staff and subsequently 
provided authority to the City’s negotiation team to meet and confer with AFSCME and SEIU on the wage 
reopener.  Those negotiations were finalized on June 2, 2016 and the Council took action at their June 21, 
2016 meeting to modify wages for those positions that were below market median total compensation. 
 
As part of the 2016-17 budget process, the City Council adopted a comprehensive City-wide salary 
schedule on June 21, 2016. The salary schedule included new salary ranges effective July 10, 2016 for 
members of the Menlo Park Police Officers Association which were agreed to in December 2015.  The 
salary schedule also included new salary ranges that reflected wage negotiations with the City’s non-
safety bargaining units, AFSCME and SEIU. 

 

Analysis 
The final aspect of the Classification Study that requires City Council action is in the area of incumbent 
employees who are currently performing duties at a level that is higher than what the current classification 
system provides. As part of their work on the Classification Study, Koff identified eight incumbent 
employees who perform job duties typically assigned to a higher level classification out of operational 
necessity for the City. Koff has prepared new job descriptions that clearly outline the duties performed by 

AGENDA ITEM H-5



Staff Report #: 16-132-CC 

 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel Street Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

the incumbent and those new classifications now require a City Council adopted salary range.  
 
It is important to note that the City’s current labor contracts require that employees be compensated for 
the level of work performed, commonly referred to as out-of-class pay.  Koff & Associates has worked with 
the City to establish the need for reclassifications, the City has discussed the impacts of the 
reclassifications with incumbent employees and their labor representatives, and this action, if approved by 
the City Council, will remedy the situation of employees working out-of-class at the earliest practical 
opportunity. As such, the recommendation is to implement the reclassifications for the pay period 
beginning July 10, 2016 which has a pay date of July 29, 2016. 
 

Impact on City Resources 
This action results in no change in the City’s authorized full-time equivalent employees or the operating 
surplus as approved in the 2016-17 budget.  

 

Environmental Review 
No environmental review is required. 

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 

Attachments 
A. Resolution to amend the Salary Schedule 
B. Citywide Employee Salary Schedule  
C. Classification report from Koff & Associates 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Lenka Diaz, Human Resources Manager  
 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK AMENDING THE SALARY SCHEDULE 

 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Personnel System Rules, the City Manager prepared a 
Compensation Plan; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the following compensation provisions 
shall be established in accordance with the City’s Personnel System rules. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any previous enacted compensation provisions 
contained in Resolution No. 6327 and subsequent amendments shall be superseded by 
this Resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the changes contained herein shall be effective July 
10, 2016. 
 
I, Pamela Aguilar, City Clerk of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above 
and foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by 
said Council on the nineteenth day of July 2016, by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of 
said City on this nineteenth day of July 2016. 
 
 
 
 
Pamela Aguilar, CMC 
City Clerk 

ATTACHMENT A



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



City of Menlo Park
Salary Schedule

Classification Title 
(Council approved 6/21/16)

New Classification Title 
(for Council approval on 7/19/16)

 Minimum 
(Step A) 

 Step B  Step C  Step D 
 Maximum 

(Step E) 
Accountant (deleted) 74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             85,743$             89,829$             
Accountant I 74,645$             78,378$             82,297$             86,412$             90,733$             
Accountant II 81,758$             85,623$             89,662$             93,974$             98,453$             

Accounting Assistant I 52,934$             55,443$             58,003$             60,713$             63,522$             
Accounting Assistant II 58,003$             60,713$             63,522$             66,491$             69,611$             

Administrative Assistant 58,177$             60,895$             63,713$             66,691$             69,820$             
Administrative Services Director 146,206$           182,756$           

Assistant City Manager 154,402$           203,616$           
Assistant Community Development Director 115,283$           150,619$           

(new) Assistant Community Services Director 117,939$           147,424$           
Assistant Director of Public Works Assistant Public Works Director 128,099$           160,124$           

Assistant Engineer 90,030$             94,320$             98,830$             103,548$           108,481$           
Assistant Planner 81,571$             85,407$             89,501$             93,766$             98,245$             

(new) Assistant Library Services Director 117,939$           147,424$           
(new) Associate Engineer 95,465$             100,035$           104,804$           109,867$           115,189$           

Associate Civil Engineer 101,021$           105,857$           110,903$           116,261$           121,893$           
Associate Planner 89,501$             93,766$             98,245$             102,946$           107,873$           

Associate Transportation Engineer 105,857$           110,903$           116,261$           121,893$           127,799$           
Branch Library Manager 86,019$             90,118$             94,427$             98,936$             103,648$           

Building Custodian 52,881$             55,388$             57,945$             60,652$             63,459$             
Building Inspector 86,717$             90,887$             95,219$             99,771$             104,535$           
Business Manager 87,905$             92,120$             96,509$             101,120$           105,958$           

Child Care Teacher I 47,317$             49,463$             51,703$             54,059$             56,616$             
Child Care Teacher II 52,881$             55,388$             57,945$             60,652$             63,459$             

Child Care Teacher's Aide 35,501$             37,107$             38,786$             40,523$             42,312$             
City Attorney n/a 108,000$           
City Clerk 97,715$             122,143$           

City Manager n/a 217,500$           
Code Enforcement Officer 74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             85,743$             89,829$             

Communications Dispatcher 75,641$             79,217$             82,954$             86,943$             91,087$             
Communications and Records Manager 103,648$           108,678$           113,898$           119,390$           125,132$           

Communications Training Dispatcher 79,217$             82,954$             86,943$             91,087$             95,442$             
Community Development Director 146,010$           182,511$           

60,652$             63,459$             66,425$             69,542$             72,809$             
63,442$             66,379$             69,481$             72,741$             76,159$             

Community Services Director 148,007$           185,008$           
Community Services Manager (deleted) 101,141$           105,962$           111,081$           116,463$           122,105$           
Community Services Officer 62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             71,180$             74,597$             

Community Services Superintendent (deleted) 92,908$             116,134$           
Construction Inspector 81,808$             85,743$             89,829$             94,124$             98,618$             

Contracts Specialist 65,504$             68,584$             71,760$             75,166$             78,774$             
Custodial Services Supervisor 60,848$             63,664$             66,639$             69,766$             73,044$             

Deputy City Clerk 67,947$             71,180$             74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             
Engineering Services Manager 128,099$           160,124$           

Engineering Technician I 68,194$             71,352$             74,739$             78,326$             82,029$             
Engineering Technician II 76,449$             80,046$             83,810$             87,828$             92,013$             

Equipment Mechanic 67,947$             71,180$             74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             
Executive Assistant 66,425$             69,542$             72,809$             76,234$             79,819$             

Executive Assistant to the City Mgr 70,764$             86,013$             
Facilities Maintenance Technician I 56,616$             59,223$             62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             
Facilities Maintenance Technician II 62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             71,180$             74,597$             

Finance & Budget Manager 115,260$           145,860$           
Gymnastics Instructor 37,882$             39,596$             41,384$             43,231$             45,219$             

Housing & Economic Development Manager 110,963$           138,704$           
Human Resources Analyst (deleted) 86,337$             102,156$           

Human Resources Manager 115,260$           145,860$           
Human Resources Technician 61,465$             64,373$             67,247$             70,528$             73,845$             

Information Technology Manager 115,260$           145,860$           
Information Technology Specialist I 64,528$             67,755$             71,143$             74,701$             78,437$             
Information Technology Specialist II 71,697$             75,066$             78,597$             82,293$             86,239$             
Information Technology Supervisor 85,680$             95,236$             100,248$           105,525$           111,078$           

Junior Engineer 72,627$             76,258$             80,071$             84,075$             88,279$             
Librarian I 63,459$             66,425$             69,542$             72,809$             76,234$             
Librarian II 71,180$             74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             85,743$             
Librarian III Senior Librarian 82,072$             86,019$             90,118$             94,427$             98,936$             

Library Assistant I 49,463$             51,703$             54,059$             56,616$             59,223$             
Library Assistant II 54,059$             56,616$             59,144$             62,030$             64,947$             
Library Assistant III 59,144$             62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             71,108$             

Library Clerk 34,674$             36,242$             37,882$             39,596$             41,384$             
Library Page 25,437$             26,586$             27,790$             29,048$             30,363$             

Library Services Director 142,396$           177,995$           
Literacy Program Manager 73,044$             76,480$             80,076$             83,915$             87,914$             

Maintenance Worker I 54,059$             56,616$             59,144$             62,030$             64,947$             
Maintenance Worker II 59,144$             62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             71,180$             
Management Analyst I 78,311$             82,227$             86,339$             90,656$             95,189$             
Management Analyst II 89,498$             93,802$             98,273$             102,972$           107,888$           

Management Analyst-Confidential 93,734$             121,520$           
Night Clerk (deleted) 37,107$             38,786$             40,523$             42,312$             44,250$             

Office Assistant 48,579$             50,794$             53,093$             55,609$             58,177$             
Parking Enforcement Officer 54,059$             56,616$             59,144$             62,030$             64,947$             

Permit Manager 101,804$           106,675$           111,781$           117,109$           122,767$           
Permit Technician 63,442$             66,378$             69,481$             72,741$             76,158$             

Plan Check Engineer 101,983$           106,865$           111,959$           117,368$           123,053$           
Planning Technician 72,741$             76,158$             79,741$             83,491$             87,494$             

Police Chief 157,760$           197,199$           
Police Commander 141,984$           177,480$           

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range
Open Range

Open Range
Open Range
Open Range

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range
Open Range

Open Range

Set by contract
Open Range

Open Range

Community Development Technician

Open Range
Open Range

Set by contract

Open Range

Page 1 of 2 Annual salaries based on 2,080 hours per year Resolution No.    

ATTACHMENT B



City of Menlo Park
Salary Schedule

Classification Title 
(Council approved 6/21/16)

New Classification Title 
(for Council approval on 7/19/16)

 Minimum 
(Step A) 

 Step B  Step C  Step D 
 Maximum 

(Step E) 
Police Corporal 99,412$             104,383$           109,602$           115,082$           120,836$           

Police Lieutenant 124,781$           155,976$           
Police Officer 92,369$             96,987$             101,836$           106,928$           112,275$           

Police Records Specialist 59,144$             62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             71,180$             
Police Recruit n/a 35.9707$           

Police Sergeant 108,147$           113,554$           119,232$           125,193$           131,453$           
Principal Planner 108,070$           114,836$           120,332$           126,068$           130,322$           

Program Aide/Driver 33,964$             35,501$             37,107$             38,786$             40,523$             
Program Assistant 48,386$             50,592$             52,881$             55,388$             57,945$             

Property and Court Specialist 62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             71,180$             74,597$             
Public Works Director 149,976$           187,468$           

Public Works Superintendent 92,908$             116,134$           
Public Works Supervisor - City Arborist 90,006$             94,321$             98,815$             103,536$           108,490$           

Public Works Supervisor - Facilities 90,646$             94,992$             99,518$             104,273$           109,262$           
Public Works Supervisor - Fleet 92,088$             96,503$             101,101$           105,931$           110,999$           
Public Works Supervisor - Park 85,682$             89,789$             94,068$             98,562$             103,278$           

Public Works Supervisor - Streets 85,682$             89,789$             94,068$             98,562$             103,278$           
Recreation Aide 32,494$             33,964$             35,501$             37,107$             38,786$             

Recreation Coordinator 63,664$             66,639$             69,766$             73,044$             76,480$             
Recreation Leader 25,437$             26,586$             27,790$             29,048$             30,363$             

Recreation Supervisor 78,375$             82,072$             83,514$             90,118$             94,427$             
Red Light Photo Enforcement Specialist 69,542$             72,809$             76,234$             79,819$             83,646$             

Revenue and Claims Manager 87,857$             92,082$             96,471$             101,084$           105,910$           
Senior Building Inspector 97,327$             101,983$           106,865$           111,959$           117,368$           

Senior Civil Engineer 111,260$           116,635$           122,286$           128,211$           134,458$           
Senior Communications Dispatcher 82,954$             86,943$             91,087$             95,442$             99,998$             

Senior Engineering Technician 82,029$             85,899$             90,030$             94,320$             98,830$             
(new) Senior Equipment Mechanic 74,759$             78,406$             82,094$             85,896$             89,972$             

Senior Facilities Maintenance Technician 67,947$             71,180$             74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             
Senior Library Page 34,674$             36,242$             37,882$             39,596$             41,384$             

Senior Maintenance Worker 67,947$             71,180$             74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             
Senior Office Assistant 53,093$             55,609$             58,177$             60,895$             63,713$             

Senior Planner 98,245$             102,946$           107,873$           113,015$           118,475$           
Senior Police Records Specialist 62,030$             64,947$             67,955$             71,180$             74,597$             

(new) Senior Program Assistant 58,762$             61,508$             64,395$             67,420$             70,592$             
Senior Recreation Leader 30,363$             31,736$             33,173$             34,674$             36,242$             

(new) Senior Sustainability Specialist 73,692$             77,217$             80,913$             84,770$             88,865$             
Senior Transportation Engineer 111,260$           116,635$           122,286$           128,211$           134,458$           
Senior Water System Operator 67,947$             71,180$             74,597$             78,123$             81,808$             

Sustainability Manager 92,114$             96,521$             101,141$           105,962$           111,081$           
Sustainability Specialist 63,459$             66,425$             69,542$             72,809$             76,234$             

Transportation Demand Management Coordinator 83,646$             87,631$             91,818$             96,211$             100,816$           
Transportation Manager 128,099$           160,124$           
Water Quality Specialist 72,809$             76,234$             79,819$             83,646$             87,631$             

Water System Operator II 63,381$             66,315$             69,414$             72,671$             76,085$             
Water System Supervisor 86,768$             90,903$             95,246$             99,803$             104,580$           

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range

Open Range

Hourly Rate

Page 2 of 2 Annual salaries based on 2,080 hours per year Resolution No.    



 
 
 

 

 

CLASSIFICATION STUDY	
 City of Menlo Park 
June 2016 

 
 
Submitted By: 
Koff & Associates 
 
Georg Krammer  
Chief Executive Officer 
 
2835 7th Street 
Berkeley, CA 94710 
www.KoffAssociates.com 
 
gkrammer@koffassociates.com 
Tel: 510.658.5633 
Fax: 510.652.5633 

ATTACHMENT C



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

INTRODUCTION 
 

Background 
 
In  2015,  the  City  of  Menlo  Park  (“the  City”)  contracted  with  Koff  &  Associates  (“K&A”)  to  conduct  a 
classification and total compensation study for all City classifications.  All classification and compensation 
findings, recommendations, and options for implementations are in Volumes I and II of this report.  
 
This classification review process was precipitated by: 
 

 The concern of management that the classification descriptions should reflect the level and scope 
of work performed; 

 To  ensure  that  classification  descriptions  reflect  current  operations,  responsibilities,  duties, 
qualifications, regulatory requirements, and technology; 

 To reflect past and allow for future organizational changes; and 
 The  desire  to ensure  that  the City has  adequate career paths and a classification  system  that 

fosters career growth and service within the organization. 
 

Goals and Objectives 
 
The goals and objectives of the study were to: 
 

 Recognize  the  scope  and  level  of  responsibility  of  various  positions  including  designing 
classifications  with  clearly  defined  differences  and  establishing  and  consistently  applying 
standards for specification language; 

 Develop recommendations that would be perceived as equitable by management and employees 
alike by maintaining regular and clear communication with employees and management, making 
classification  decisions  based  on  work  performed  (rather  than  individual  competencies  and 
experience),  avoiding  using  classifications  to  resolve  compensation  issues  and  to  reward 
performance, and documenting processes and procedures as appropriate; 

 Provide  for  growth  and  flexibility  of  assignment,  where  feasible,  in  recognition  that  some  job 
duties and responsibilities may evolve over time;    

 Provide adequate career paths that will foster career service within the City; 
 Develop  classification  descriptions  that  clearly  state  minimum  requirements  (i.e.  knowledge, 

skills, abilities, education, experience, certifications, and licenses) of each classification that are 
consistent with experience and training that is clearly obtainable by positions immediately below 
on the career ladder and clarify opportunities for promotion and/or cross training;  

 Provide a classification structure that ensures regulatory compliance, including allocation of each 
position to the correct classification with appropriate Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) designation, 
as well as, meeting Federal Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) regulations; and 

 Develop a Classification Plan that documents the classification study methodology, findings and 
recommendations and serves as a guide for the City to maintain the Plan in the future. 

 

Classification Study Methodology 
 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

The  following  provides  an  overview  of  the  classification  study  methodology  utilized  to  develop  the 
Classification Plan. 
 
A. Position Description Questionnaire (PDQ) Completion & Review 

 Employees completed PDQ forms and their supervisors and management reviewed, commented, 
and signed off on the forms. 

 
B. Employee and Supervisor Interviews  

 Employees were interviewed to clarify and supplement the PDQ data. 
 Supervisors  and  management  were  interviewed  to  clarify  and/or  confirm  the  information 

collected in the interviews with staff and to respond to potential perception differences regarding 
roles, tasks, and scope. 

 
C. Classification Concept and Position Allocation Development 

 Following  the  analysis  of  the  classification  information  gathered,  classification  concepts  and 
position allocations were developed and recommended.   
o Classification  concept  recommendations  may  include  expanding  or  collapsing  class  series 

and/or  separating  or  combining  classifications  assigned  to  different  functional  areas; 
identifying  and  defining  classification  levels  and  career  ladders;  and  updating  established 
titling guidelines for the studied classifications for appropriate and consistent titling. 

o Specific  position  allocation  recommendations  include  specifying  current  and  proposed 
classification title and  impact of the recommendations  (reclassification, title change, or no 
change (i.e., update of classification description format and/or content only)).   

o Recommendations for title change and reclassification are made to more clearly reflect the 
level and scope being performed, as well as establish consistency with the labor market and 
industry standards. 

 Appendix I contains the classification recommendations for each position studied. 
 
D. Draft Class Description Development 

 New and/or updated class descriptions were developed for each proposed classification, updating 
duties, responsibilities, and minimum qualifications of each class specification. 

 A consistent classification description format was developed including title, definition, supervision 
received/exercised,  class  (distinguishing)  characteristics,  examples  of  typical  functions, 
qualifications (knowledge and abilities, education and experience, and licenses and certifications), 
physical demands, and environmental conditions. 

 Compliance with FLSA and ADA requirements was reviewed and updated. 
 

E. Class Description Review and Update 
 Draft copies of the new classification descriptions were submitted to employees and management 

to provide comments and concerns regarding any modifications and  to ensure  that no  factual 
information was overlooked and that the recommendations were fair and consistent. 

 Allocation  recommendations  and/or  classification  descriptions  were  revised,  as  appropriate, 
based on employee and management feedback.  The final classification descriptions have been 
delivered to the City under separate cover. 

 
F. Final Report Development 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

 The Final Report was developed and contains: goals and objectives, classification methodology 
and recommendations; classification concepts; classification plan maintenance; and classification 
descriptions. 

 
 

CLASSIFICATION PLAN CONCEPTS 
 

The Purpose of a Classification Plan 
 
A Classification Plan  is a systematic framework for grouping  jobs  into common classifications based on 
similarities in duties, responsibilities, and requirements.   
 
The purpose of a Classification Plan  is  to provide an appropriate basis  for making a variety of human 
resources decisions such as the: 
 

 Development of job‐related recruitment and selection procedures; 
 Clear and objective appraisal of employee performance; 
 Development of career paths, training plans, and succession planning; 
 Design of an equitable and competitive compensation structure; 
 Organizational development and change management; and 
 Provision of an equitable basis for discipline and other employee actions. 

 
In addition  to providing  the  basis  for  various human  resources management and process decisions, a 
Classification Plan can also effectively support systems of administrative and fiscal control.  Grouping of 
positions  into an orderly classification system supports planning, budget analysis and preparation, and 
various other administrative functions. 
 
Within  a  Classification  Plan,  classifications  can  either  be  broad  (containing  a  number  of  positions)  or 
narrow (emphasizing individual job characteristics).  Broad classifications are developed when: 
 

 Employees can be hired with a broad spectrum of knowledge, skill,  licenses and certifications, 
and/or academic preparation and can readily learn the details of the City and the position on‐the‐
job; or 

 There is a need for flexibility of the assignment within an organization due to changing programs, 
technologies, or workload. 

 
Individualized classifications are developed when: 
 

 There is an immediate need to recruit for specialty knowledge and skills; 
 There is a minimum of time or capability for on‐the‐job training; or 
 There  is  an  organizational  need  to  provide  for  specific  job  recognition  and  to  highlight  the 

differences between jobs. 
 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

The approach taken in developing the City’s classification plan was to develop a combination of broader 
and more individualized classifications as this approach is the most practical taking into consideration the 
City’s size, changing environment, and service delivery expectations.   
 

Position vs. Classification 
 
“Position” and “Classification” are two terms that are often used interchangeably, but have very different 
meanings.  As used in this report: 
 

 A position is an assigned group of duties and responsibilities performed by one person.  A position 
can be full‐time, part‐time, regular, temporary, filled, or vacant.  Often the word “job” is used in 
place of the word “position.”   

 
 A classification or class may contain only one position or may consist of a number of positions.  

When you have several positions assigned to one class, it means that the same classification title 
is appropriate for each position; that the scope, level, duties, and responsibilities of each position 
assigned to the class are sufficiently similar (but not identical), and that the same core knowledge, 
skills, and other requirements are appropriate for all positions in the class. 

 
The description of a position often appears as a job description or working desk manual, going into detail 
regarding work process steps, while a classification description emphasizes the general scope and level of 
responsibilities, plus the knowledge, skills, and other requirements for successful performance.   
 
When positions are classified, the focus  is on assigned  job duties and the  job related requirements for 
successful performance, not on individual employee capabilities or amount of work performed.  Positions 
are thus evaluated and classified on the basis of such factors as knowledge and skill required to perform 
the work,  the complexity of the work, the authority delegated  to make decisions and take action,  the 
responsibility for the work of others and/or for budget expenditures, contacts with others (both inside 
and  outside  of  the  organization),  and  the  impact  of  the  position  on  the  organization  and  working 
conditions. 
 

Classification and Compensation 
 
Classification and the description of the work and the requirements to perform the work are separate and 
distinct  from determining  the worth of  that work  in  the  labor market and  to  the organization.   While 
recommending the appropriate compensation for the work of a class depends upon an understanding of 
what that work is and what it requires, compensation levels are often influenced by two factors: 
 

 The external labor market; and 
 Internal relationships within the organization. 

 
 

Classification Description Format 
 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

The classification descriptions are based upon the information gathered from the written PDQs completed 
by  each  employee  and  from  information provided  by  employees  and  management  during  the  review 
processes.  These descriptions provide: 
 

 A written summary documenting the work performed by the incumbents of these classifications; 
 Distinctions among the classes; and 
 Documentation of requirements and qualifications to assist in recruitment, selection, and career 

development. 
 

Just as there is a difference between a position and a classification, there is also a difference between a 
position  description  and  a  classification  description.    A  position  description,  often  known  as  a  “desk 
manual”, generally lists each duty an employee performs and may also have information about how to 
perform  that  duty.    A  classification  description  normally  reflects  several  positions  and  is  a  summary 
document that does not list each duty performed by every employee.  The classification description, which 
is broader and more general and  informational,  is  intended  to  indicate the general scope and  level of 
responsibility and requirements of the classification, not detail‐specific position responsibilities.  
 
The sections of each classification description are as follows: 
 

Title: This should be brief and descriptive of the classification and consistent with other titles in 
the classification plan and the occupational area. 
 
 The title of a classification is normally used for organization, classification, and compensation 

purposes within  the City.   Often working  titles are used  to differentiate an  individual.   All 
positions have a similar level of scope and responsibility; however, the working titles may give 
assurance to a member of the public  that they are dealing with an appropriate  individual.  
Working titles should be authorized by Human Resources to ensure consistency within the 
City. 

 
Definition: This provides a capsule description of the classification and should give an indication 
of the type of supervision received, the scope and level of the work, and any unusual or unique 
factors.  The phrase “performs related work as required” is not meant to unfairly expand the scope 
of the work performed, but to acknowledge that classifications change and that not all duties are 
included in the classification description. 

 
Supervision  Received  and  Exercised:  This  section  specifies  which  class  or  classes  provide 
supervision  to  the  classification  being  described  and  the  type  and  level  of  work  direction  or 
supervision provided to this classification.  The section also specifies what type and level of work 
direction or  supervision  the  classification provides  to other  classes.    This assists  the  reader  in 
defining where the class “fits” in the organization. 
 
Class Characteristics: This can be considered  the “editorial” section of the description, slightly 
expanding  the  Definition,  clarifying  the  most  important  aspects  of  the  classification  and 
distinguishing this classification from the next lower‐ and/or higher‐levels in a class series or from 
a similar classification in a different occupational series. 

 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

Examples of Typical Job Functions: This section provides a  list of the major and typical duties, 
intended  to  define  the  scope and  level of  the classification and  to  support  the  Qualifications, 
including  Knowledge  and  Abilities.    This  list  is  meant  to  be  illustrative  only.    It  should  be 
emphasized that the description is a summary document, and that duties change depending upon 
program requirements, technology, and organizational needs. 
 
Qualifications: This element of the description has several sections: 
 
 A listing of the job‐related knowledge and abilities required to successfully perform the work.  

They  must  be  related  to  the  duties  and  responsibilities  of  the  work  and  capable  of  being 
validated  under  the  Equal  Employment  Opportunity  Commission’s  Uniform  Guidelines  on 
Selection  Procedures.    Knowledge  (intellectual  comprehension)  and  Abilities  (acquired 
proficiency)  should  be  sufficiently  detailed  to  provide  the  basis  for  selection  of  qualified 
employees. 

 
 A listing of educational and experience requirements that outline minimum and alternative 

ways of gaining the knowledge and abilities required for entrance into the selection process.  
These elements are used as the basic screening technique for job applicants. 

 
 Licenses and certifications identify those specifically required in order to perform the work.  

These certifications are often required by an agency higher than the City (i.e., the State) and 
can therefore be appropriately included as requirements. 

 
Physical Demands: This section identifies the basic physical abilities required for performance of the 
work.    These  are  not  presented  in  great  detail  (although  they  are  more  specifically  covered  for 
documentation  purposes  in  the  PDQ’s)  but  are  designed  to  indicate  the  type  of  pre‐employment 
physical examinations (i.e., lifting requirements and other unusual characteristics are included, such 
as “bend, stoop, kneel, reach, and climb to perform work and inspect work sites”) and to provide an 
initial basis for determining reasonable accommodation for ADA purposes. 
 
Environmental  Elements:  These  can  describe  certain  outside  influences  and  circumstances  under 
which a job is performed; they give employees or job applicants an idea of certain risks involved in 
the job and what type of protective gear may be necessary to perform the job.  Examples are loud 
noise  levels, cold and/or hot  temperatures, vibration, confining workspace, chemicals, mechanical 
and/or electrical hazards, and other job conditions. 
 

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) 
 
A  major  component  of  the  job  analysis  and  classification  review  is  the  determination  of  each 
classification’s appropriate FLSA status,  i.e., exempt vs. non‐exempt from the FLSA overtime rules and 
regulations. 
 
As a note, although it is more common for all positions within a classification to be under the same FLSA 
status, potentially there could be both exempt and non‐exempt positions within a classification.  Thus it 
is important that each position be analyzed to determine FLSA status. 
 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

Data on each position’s typical  job functions collected from the PDQs and  interviews were analyzed to 
determine FLSA status.  There are three (3) levels for the determination of the appropriate FLSA status 
that  are  utilized  and  on  which  recommendations  are  based.    Below  are  the  steps  used  for  the 
determination of Exempt FLSA status: 
 

1. Salary Basis Test – The incumbents in a classification are paid at least $455 per week ($23,660 per 
year), not subject to reduction due to variations  in quantity/quality of work performed.   Note: 
computer professionals’ salary minimum is defined in hourly terms as $27.63 per hour. 

 
2. Exemption Applicability – The incumbents in a classification perform any of the following types of 

jobs: 
 

 Executive:  Employee  whose  primary  duty  is  to  manage  the  business  or  a  recognized 
department/entity and who customarily directs the work of two or more employees.   This 
also includes individuals who hire, fire, or make recommendations that carry particular weight 
regarding employment status.  Examples: executive, director, owner, manager, supervisor. 

 Administrative: Employee whose primary activities are performing office work or non‐manual 
work on matters of significance relating to the management or business operations of the 
firm or its customers and which require the exercise of discretion and independent judgment.  
Examples: coordinator, administrator, analyst, accountant. 

 Professional:  Employee  who  primarily  performs  work  requiring  advanced 
knowledge/education and which includes consistent exercise of discretion and independent 
judgment.   The advanced knowledge must be  in a field of science or learning acquired in a 
prolonged  course  of  specialized  intellectual  instruction.    Examples:  engineer,  attorney, 
statistician, architect, biologist. 

 Computer  professional:  Employee  who  primarily  performs  work  as  a  computer  systems 
analyst,  programmer,  software  engineer,  or  similarly  skilled  work  in  the  computer  field 
performing a) application of systems analysis techniques and procedures, including consulting 
with users to determine hardware, software, or system functional specifications; b) design, 
development,  documentation,  analysis,  creation,  testing,  or  modification  of  computer 
systems or programs,  including prototypes, based on and related to user or system design 
specification;  or  c)  design,  documentation,  testing,  creation,  or  modification  of  computer 
programs based on and related to user or system design specifications; or a combination of 
the  duties  described  above,  the  performance  of  which  requires  the  same  level  of  skills.  
Examples:  system  analyst,  database  analyst,  network  architect,  software  engineer, 
programmer. 

 
3. Job Analysis – A thorough job analysis of the job duties must be performed to determine exempt 

status.   An exempt position must pass both the salary basis and duties tests.   The  job analysis 
should include: 

 
 Review of the minimum qualifications established for the job; 
 Review of prior class descriptions, questionnaires, and related documentation; 
 Confirmation of duty accuracy with management; and 
 Review and analysis of workflow, organizational relationships, policies, and other available 

organizational data. 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

 
Non‐exempt  positions  work  within  detailed  and  well‐defined  sets  of  rules  and  regulations,  policies, 
procedures, and practices that must be followed when making decisions.  Although the knowledge base 
required to perform the work may be significant, the framework within which incumbents work is fairly 
restrictive  and  finite.    (Please  note  that  FLSA  does  not  allow  for  the  consideration  of  workload  and 
scheduling when it comes to exemption status). 
 
Finally, often times a position performs both non‐exempt and exempt duties, so analysis on time spent 
on each type of duties should be performed.  If a position performs mostly non‐exempt duties (i.e. more 
than 50% of time), then the position would be considered non‐exempt. 
 
 

CLASSIFICATION STRUCTURE AND ALLOCATION FACTORS 
 
The proposed classification plan provides the City with a systematic classification structure based on the 
interrelationship  between  duties  performed,  the  nature  and  level  of  responsibilities,  and  other  work‐
related requirements of the jobs.   
 
A classification plan is not a stable, unchanging entity.  Classification plans may be updated and revised 
by  conducting  classification  studies  that  are  organizational  wide  (review  of  the  all  classifications  and 
positions) or position‐specific.  The methodology used for both types of studies is the same, as outlined 
above.   
 
For either type of study, when identifying appropriate placement of new and/or realigned positions within 
the classification structure, there are general allocation factors to consider.  By analyzing these factors, 
the City will be able to change and grow the organization while maintaining the classification plan. 
 
1. Type and Level of Knowledge and Skill Required 
 

This factor defines the level of job knowledge and skill, including those attained by formal education, 
technical training, on‐the job experience, and required certification or professional registration.  The 
varying levels are as follows: 
 
A. The entry‐level into any occupational field   

This  entry‐level  knowledge  may  be  attained  by  obtaining  a  high  school  diploma,  completing 
specific technical course work, or obtaining a four‐year or advanced college or university degree.  
Little to no experience is required.  
 
 
 

B. The experienced or journey‐level (fully competent‐level) in any occupational field 
This  knowledge  and  skill  level  recognizes  a  class  that  is  expected  to  perform  the  day‐to‐day 
functions  of  the  work  independently,  but  with  guidelines  (written  or  oral)  and  supervisory 
assistance available.  This level of knowledge is sufficient to provide on‐the‐job instruction to a 
fellow  employee  or  an  assistant  when  functioning  in  a  lead  capacity.    Certifications  may  be 
required for demonstrating possession of the required knowledge and skills. 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

 
C. The advanced level in any occupational field 

This knowledge and skill level is applied in situations where an employee is required to perform 
or deal with virtually any job situation that may be encountered.  Guidelines may be limited and 
creative problem solving may be involved.  Supervisory knowledge and skills are considered in a 
separate factor and should not influence any assessment of this factor. 
 

2. Supervisory/Management Responsibility 
 

This  factor defines  the staff and/or program management responsibility,  including short and  long‐
range planning, budget development and administration, resource allocation, policy and procedure 
development, and supervision and direction of staff.   
 
A. No ongoing direction of staff 

The employee is responsible for the performance of his or her own work and may provide side‐
by‐side instruction to a co‐worker. 
 

B. Lead direction of staff or program coordination 
The employee plans, assigns, directs, and reviews the work of staff performing similar work to 
that performed by the employee on a day‐to‐day basis.  Training in work procedures is normally 
involved.    If  staff  direction  is  not  involved,  the  employee  must  have  responsibility  for 
independently coordinating one or more programs or projects on a regular basis.  

 
C. Full first‐line supervisor 

The employee performs  the  supervisory duties  listed above, and,  in addition, makes  effective 
recommendation  and/or  carries  out  selection,  performance  evaluation,  and  disciplinary 
procedures.    If  staff  supervision  is  not  involved,  the  employee  must  have  programmatic 
responsibility,  including  development  and  implementing  goals,  objectives,  policies  and 
procedures, and budget development and administration. 
 

D. Manager 
The  employee  is  considered  management,  often  supervising  through  subordinate  levels  of 
supervision.  In addition to the responsibilities outlined above, responsibilities include allocating 
staff and budget resources among competing demands and performing significant program and 
service delivery planning and evaluation.  This level normally reports to the General Manager. 
 

E. Executive Management 
The  employee  has  total  administrative  responsibility  for  the  City  and  reports  to  the  Board  of 
Directors.  
 

3. Supervision Received 
 

A. Direct Supervision 
Direct supervision is usually received by entry‐level employees and trainees, i.e., employees who 
are  new  to  the  organization  and/or  position  they  are  filling.    Initially  under  close  supervision, 
incumbents  learn  to  apply  concepts  and  work  procedures  and  methods  in  assigned  area  of 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

responsibility to resolve problems of moderate scope and complexity.  Work is usually supervised 
while in progress and fits an established structure or pattern.  Exceptions or changes in procedures 
are explained in detail as they arise.  As experience is gained, assignments become more varied and 
are performed with greater independence.   
 

B. General Supervision 
General  supervision  is  usually  received  by  the  experienced  and  journey‐level  employees,  i.e., 
employees who have been in a position for a period of time and have had the opportunity to be 
trained  and  learn  most,  if  not  all,  duties  and  responsibilities  of  the  assigned  classification.  
Incumbents  are  cross‐trained  to  perform  the  full  range  of  technical  work  in  all  of  the  areas  of 
assignment.   
 
At  the  experienced‐level,  positions  exercise  some  independent  discretion  and  judgment  in 
selecting and applying work procedures and methods.  Assignments and objectives are set for the 
employee and established work methods are followed. Incumbents have some flexibility in the 
selection of steps and timing of work processes.   
 
Journey‐level  positions  receive  only  occasional  instruction  or  assistance  as  new  or  unusual 
situations arise and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of assigned projects, 
programs,  and  team(s).    Assignments  are  given  with  general  guidelines  and  incumbents  are 
responsible for establishing objectives, timelines, and methods to deliver work products.  Work is 
typically reviewed upon completion for soundness, appropriateness, and conformity to policy and 
requirements, and the methodology used in arriving at the end results are not reviewed in detail. 
 

C. General Direction 
General direction is usually received by senior level or management positions.  Work assignments 
are typically given as broad, conceptual ideas and directives and incumbents are accountable for 
overall results and responsible for developing guidelines, action plans, and methods to produce 
deliverables on time and within budget. 
 

D. Administrative and Policy Direction 
Administrative  direction  is  usually  received  by  executive  management  classifications.    The 
incumbent  is  accountable  for  accomplishing  City‐wide  planning  and  operational  goals  and 
objectives within legal and general policy and regulatory guidelines.  The incumbent is responsible 
for the efficient and economical performance of the organization’s operations. 
 
 
 
 

4. Problem Solving 
 

This factor involves analyzing, evaluating, reasoning, and creative thinking requirements.  In a work 
environment, not only the breadth and variety of problems are considered, but also guidelines, such 
as supervision, policies, procedures, laws, regulations, and standards available to the employee. 

 
A. Structured problem solving 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

Employees  learn  to  apply  concepts  and  work  procedures  and  methods  in  assigned  area  of 
responsibility and to resolve problems and issues that are specific, less complex, and/or repetitive.  
Exceptions or changes in procedures are explained in detail as they arise. 
 

B.  Independent, guided problem solving 
Work situations require making independent decisions among a variety of alternatives; however, 
policies, procedures, standards, and regulations and/or management are available to guide the 
employee towards problem resolution.   
 

C. Application of discriminating choices 
Work situations require independent judgment and decision‐making authority when identifying, 
evaluating,  adapting,  and  applying  appropriate  concepts,  guidelines,  references,  laws, 
regulations, policies, and procedures to resolve diverse and complex problems and issues.    
 

D. Creative, evaluative, or critical thinking 
The  work  involves  a  high‐level  of  problem‐solving  requiring  analysis  of  unique  issues  or 
increasingly complex problems without precedent and/or structure and formulating, presenting, 
and implementing strategies and recommendations for resolution. 

 
5. Authority for Making Decisions and Taking Action 

 
This factor describes the degree to which employees have the freedom to take action within their job.  
The variety and frequency of action and decisions, the availability of policies, procedures, laws, and 
supervisory or managerial guidance, and the consequence or impact of such decisions are considered 
within this factor. 
 
A.  Direct, limited work responsibility 

The employee  is responsible for the successful performance of his or her own work with  little 
latitude for discretion or decision‐making.  Work is usually supervised while in progress and fits 
an established structure or pattern.  Direct supervision is readily available. 
 

B. Decision‐making within guidelines 
The  employee  is  responsible  for  the  successful  performance  of  their  own  work,  but  able  to 
prioritize and determine methods of work performance within general guidelines.  Supervision is 
available, although the employee  is expected to perform  independently on a day‐to‐day basis.  
Emergency or unusual situations may occur, but are handled within procedures and rules.  Impact 
of decisions is normally limited to the work unit, project, or program to which assigned. 
 
 

C. Independent action with focus on work achieved 
The employee receives assignments in terms of long‐term objectives, rather than day‐to‐day or 
weekly timeframes.  Broad policies and procedures are provided, but the employee has latitude 
for choosing techniques and deploying staff and material resources.  Impact of decisions may have 
significant program or City‐wide service delivery and/or budgetary impact. 
 

D. Decisions made within general policy or elected official guidance 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

The employee is subject only to the policy guidance of elected officials and/or broad regulatory 
or legal constraints.  The ultimate authority for achieving the goals and objectives of the City are 
with this employee. 

 
6. Interaction with Others 
 

This factor includes the nature and purpose of contacts with others, from simple exchanges of factual 
information to the negotiation of difficult issues.  It also considers with whom the contacts are made, 
from co‐workers and the public to elected or appointed public officials. 

 
A. Exchange of factual information 

The employee is expected to use ordinary business courtesy to exchange factual information with 
co‐workers and the public.  Strained situations may occasionally occur, but the responsibilities are 
normally not confrontational. 
 

B. Interpretation and explanation of policies and procedures 
The  employee  is  required  to  interpret  policies  and  procedures,  apply  and  explain  them,  and 
influence the public or others to abide by them.  Problems may need to be defined and clarified 
and  individuals  contacted  may  be  upset  or  unreasonable.    Contacts  may  also  be  made  with 
individuals at all levels throughout the City. 

 
C. Influencing individuals or groups 

The employee is required to interpret laws, policies, and procedures to individuals who may be 
confrontational or to deal with members of professional, business, community, or other groups 
or regulatory agencies as a representative of the City. 
 

D. Negotiation with organizations from a position of authority  
The employee often deals with the Board of Directors, elected officials, government agencies, and 
other outside agencies, and the public to advance and represent the priorities and interests of the 
City, provide policy direction, and/or negotiate solutions to difficult problems. 
 

7. Working Conditions/Physical Demands 
 

This  factor  includes  specific  physical,  situational,  and  other  factors  that  influence  the  employee’s 
working situation.   

 
A. Normal office or similar setting 

The work is performed in a normal office or similar setting during regular office hours (occasional 
overtime  may  be  required,  but  compensated  for).    Responsibilities  include  meeting  standard 
deadlines, using office and related equipment,  lifting materials weighing up to 25 pounds, and 
communicating with others in a generally non‐stressful manner. 
 

B. Varied working conditions with some physical or emotional demands 
The work is normally performed indoors, but may have some exposure to noise, heat, weather, 
or other uncomfortable conditions.  Stand‐by, call back, or regular overtime may be required.  The 
employee may have to meet frequent deadlines, work extended hours, and maintain attention to 



 Classification Study Memo 
 

 

 
2835 7th Street, Berkeley, California 94710 | 510.658.5633 | www.KoffAssociates.com 

   

detail at a computer or other machinery, deal with difficult people, or regularly perform moderate 
physical activity.  

 
C. Difficult working conditions and/or physical demands 

The work has distinct and regular difficult demands.  Shift work (24‐7 or rotating) may be required; 
there may be exposure to hazardous materials or conditions; the employee may be subject to 
regular  emergency  callback  and  extended  shifts;  and/or  the  work  may  require  extraordinary 
physical demands. 

 
Based on the above factors, in the maintenance of the classification plan when an employee is assigned 
an additional duty or responsibility and requests a change in classification, it is reasonable to ask: 
 

 What additional knowledge and skills are required to perform the duty? 
 How does one gain this additional knowledge and skills – through extended training, through a 

short‐term seminar, through on‐the‐job experience? 
 Does this duty or responsibility require new or additional supervisory responsibilities? 
 Is there a greater variety of or are there more complex problems that need to be solved as a result 

of the new duty? 
 Does the employee have to make a greater variety of or more difficult decisions as a result of this 

new duty? 
 Are the impacts of decisions greater because of this new duty (effects on staff, budget, City‐wide 

activities, and/or relations with other agencies)? 
 Are guidelines, policies, and/or procedures provided to the employee for the performance of this 

new duty? 
 Is the employee interacting with internal and external stakeholders others more frequently or for 

a different purpose as a result of this new assignment? 
 Have the working or physical conditions of the job changed as a result of this new assignment? 

 
The  analysis  of  the  factors  outlined  above,  as  well  as  the  answers  to  these  questions,  were  used  to 
determine recommended classifications for all City employees.  The factors above will also help to guide 
the  placement  of  specific  positions  to  the  existing  classification  structure  and/or  revision  of  entire 
classification structure in the future.   
 

CONCLUSION 
 
The revised classification descriptions serve as a general description of the work performed and provide 
a framework of the expectations of each position for the employee.   Requests for the addition of new 
positions and classifications and/or reclassification of an existing position should follow established City 
policies  and  procedures.    Any  decisions  related  to  the  addition  of  new  positions  and  classifications, 
reclassification of an existing position, and promotion of an existing position will depend on the needs and 
resources of the City and the availability of work, as well as the ability of existing positions to meet the 
qualifications of and perform the duties of the higher‐level class.   
 
Finally, as mentioned previously, a classification plan is not a static, unchanging entity.  The classification 
plan should be reviewed on a regular, on‐going basis and may be amended or revised as required.   
 



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

City Council 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES - DRAFT 

Date: 6/1/2016 
Time: 5:30 p.m. 
City Council Chambers 
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

A. Mayor Pro Tem Keith called the meeting to order at 5:43 p.m. 

B. Roll Call 

Present: Carlton, Cline (arrived at 6:04 p.m.), Keith, Mueller, Ohtaki  
Absent: None 
Staff: City Manager Alex McIntyre, City Attorney Bill McClure, Deputy City Clerk Jelena 

Harada 

C. Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Pro Tem Keith led the pledge of allegiance. 

D. Public Comment 

There were no public comments. 

E. Regular Business 

Mayor Pro Tem Keith called the item E2 out of order. 

E2. Approve the San Francisquito Creek Joint Powers Authority (SFCJPA) funding agreement 
amendment and appropriate funds (Staff Report# 16-086-CC)(Presentation) 

Assistant City Manager Chip Taylor introduced the item. 

ACTION: Motion and second (Othaki/Carlton) to approve the San Francisquito Creek Joint Power 
Authority funding agreement amendment and appropriate funds, passes 4-0-1 (Mayor Cline absent). 

E1. Approve the estimated $5.9 million budget and appropriate project funding for the Santa Cruz 
Avenue Sidewalk Project (Staff Report# 16-089-CC)(Presentation) 

Public Works Director Justin Murphy and Administrative Services Director Nick Pegueros made a 
presentation. Mayor Cline arrived at 6:04 p.m., during the introduction.  

Public comment was taken at this point. 

• Michael Duran encouraged the City Council to proceed with the project
• Betsy Nash was concerned about the quality of the bike lane surface on Santa Cruz and

crosswalk lighting on Olive Street

ACTION: Motion and second (Mueller/Carlton) to approve the estimated $5.9 million budget and 

AGENDA ITEM H-6

http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10316
http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10379
http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10315
http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10380


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Agenda Page 2 

 

appropriated project funding for the Santa Cruz Avenue Sidewalk Project.  
ACTION: Motion and second (Ohtaki/Carlton) to amend the motion to choose the Funding Option A 
as a funding solution, passes unanimously.  
 

F.  Informational Items 

 Staff was available to answer questions. 

F1. Quarterly Financial Review of General Fund Operations as of March 31, 2016                              
(Staff Report# 16-090-CC)  

F2. Review of the City’s Investment Portfolio as of March 31, 2016 (Staff Report# 16-080-CC) 

F3. Quarterly report on City Council Work Plan (Staff Report# 16-091-CC) 

G.  City Manager's Report 

City Manager Alex McIntyre reported on the traffic closures related to the Town of Atherton Marsh 
Road Retaining Wall Repair Project. Transportation Manager Nicole Nagaya gave an update on the 
communication between the Town of Atherton and the California Department of Transportation  
about the signs being installed along Highway 101. She reported that additional signs are installed in 
the Menlo Park Suburban Park and Lorelei Manor neighborhoods.  

H.  Councilmember Reports 

Mayor Cline reported that Mayor Fahy from Galway, Ireland, is visiting Menlo Park. Mayor Cline 
recognized the effort of community members, the Sister City Committee and staff who organized the 
visit.  

I.  Adjournment 

Mayor Cline adjourned the meeting at 7:12 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
Jelena Harada 
Deputy City Clerk 

http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10317
http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10318
http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10319


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

City Council 

 

 
 
SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING MINUTES - DRAFT   

Date:   6/21/2016 
Time:  6:30 p.m. 
City Council Chambers    
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

    
6:30 p.m. Closed Session (City Hall Administration Building, 1st floor conference room) 

Mayor Cline called the Closed Session to order at 6:40 p.m.  There was no public comment. 

CL1.  Closed Session pursuant to Government Code Section §54957.6 to confer with labor negotiators 
regarding current labor negotiations with the Menlo Park Police Sergeants’ Association (PSA) 

Attendees: City Manager Alex McIntyre, Administrative Services Director Nick Pegueros, Finance 
and Budget Manager Rosendo Rodriguez, Human Resources Manager Lenka Diaz, City Attorney 
Bill McClure, Labor Counsel Charles Sakai 

7:00 p.m. Regular Session 

A. Mayor Cline called the meeting to order at 7:25 p.m. 
 
B.  Roll Call 

Present:  Carlton, Keith, Mueller, Ohtaki, Cline  
Absent:  None 
Staff:  City Manager Alex McIntyre, City Attorney Bill McClure, City Clerk Pamela Aguilar 

C.  Pledge of Allegiance 

 Mayor Cline led the pledge of allegiance. 

D.  Report from Closed Session 

 Mayor Cline stated that there is no reportable action from the Closed Session held earlier.  

 ANNOUNCMENT 

Mayor Cline announced that an item has come to the City’s attention and the City Council is being 
requested to add the item to the meeting agenda as an urgency item.  City Attorney Bill McClure 
gave a brief overview of Assembly Bill 2788 (Gatto) and its potential impact.    

ACTION: Motion and second to add item H4 to the agenda as an urgency item passes unanimously. 

H4. Authorize the Mayor to sign a letter in opposition to AB2788 (Gatto) - Wireless 
Telecommunications Small Cells 

E.  Public Comment 



   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Draft Minutes Page 2 

 

• James Ruigomez, San Mateo Building Trade Council spoke in support of the Facebook 
expansion project 

• Bill Nack spoke in support of the Facebook expansion project 

• Chris Collins, Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 467, San Mateo County, spoke in support of the 
Facebook expansion project 

• Ernesto Reyes spoke regarding improvements in the Belle Haven neighborhood, public 
transportation, and secondary dwelling units 

 
F.  Consent Calendar 

F1. Adopt Resolution 6328 implementing a new water conservation plan (Staff Report# 16-118-CC) 

F2. Adopt Resolution 6329 authorizing the City Manager to sign an agreement with MidPen Housing for 
replacement of the existing water main at 1221-1275 Willow Road (Staff Report# 16-115-CC) 

F3. Adopt Resolution 6320 a) calling and giving notice of holding a general municipal election for two 
seats on the Menlo Park City Council b) requesting that the City Council consolidate the election 
with the Presidential Election to be held on November 8, 2016 and c) contracting with the San Mateo 
County Chief Elections Officer for election services (Staff Report# 16-109-CC) 

F4. Authorize the City Manager to execute a professional services agreement with R3 Consulting Group  
for a Zero Waste Plan in the amount of $50,000 and a Solid Waste Services Rate Study in the 
amount of $175,000 for a total of $225,000 (Staff Report# 16-110-CC)  

F5. Authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Bay Area Water Supply and 
Conservation Agency (BAWSCA) not to exceed $80,000 to provide direct rebates to residents and 
businesses for the Lawn Be Gone program (Staff Report# 16-111-CC) 

F6. Authorize the City Manager to execute an agreement for Kronos Workforce Ready Software as a 
Service in an amount not to exceed $160,000 over three fiscal years (Staff Report# 16-120-CC) 

F7. Accept dedication of a tree preservation access easement from Robert W. Armstrong Revocable 
Trust at 1010-1026 Alma Street and authorize the City Manager to sign agreements required by 
conditions of approval of the project (Staff Report# 16-117-CC) 

F8. Authorize the City Manager to accept a grant for fiscal year 2016-17 of up to $270,000 from Silicon 
Valley Community Foundation to implement The Big Lift at the Belle Haven Child Development 
Center, to execute a contract to enhance services to complete the scope of work and allocate 
matching funds of $13,500 from the General Fund (Staff Report# 16-108-CC) 

F9. Authorize the Mayor to sign a letter of opposition to Governor Jerry Brown’s proposal for by right 
approval for affordable housing (Staff Report# 16-122-CC)  

F10. Approve minutes for the City Council meetings of May 3 and June 7, 2016 (Attachment)  

ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) to approve all items on the Consent Calendar, excluding 
F10 passes unanimously.  

Councilmember Ohtaki requested the May 3rd City Council meeting minutes be edited to reflect that 

http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10578
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10579
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10580
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10581
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10582
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10583
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10584
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10585
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10586
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10587


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Draft Minutes Page 3 

 

he abstained on approving the March 31st City Council meeting minutes because he was not present. 

ACTION: Motion and second (Ohtaki/Keith) to approve item F10 as amended by Councilmember 
Ohtaki passes unanimously. 
  

G.  Public Hearing 

G1. Adopt a resolution overruling protests, ordering the improvements, confirming the diagram and 
ordering the levy and collection of assessments and increasing the tree assessment by 5% and no 
increase to the sidewalk assessment for the City of Menlo Park Landscaping Assessment District for 
Fiscal Year 2016-17 (Staff Report# 16-112-CC) 

 Assistant Public Works Director Ruben Nino made a brief presentation.  Mayor Cline opened the 
public hearing.  There was no public comment.   

 ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) and by acclamation, Mayor Cline closed the public 
hearing. 

 ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) to approve Resolution 6321 overruling protests, 
ordering the improvements, confirming the diagram and ordering the levy and collection of 
assessments and increasing the tree assessment by 5% and no increase to the sidewalk 
assessment for the City of Menlo Park Landscaping Assessment District for Fiscal Year 2016-17  

G2. Adopt a resolution to collect the regulatory fee at the existing rates to implement the City’s Storm 
Water Management Program for Fiscal Year 2016-17 (Staff Report# 16-113-CC) 

 Assistant Public Works Director Ruben Nino made a brief presentation.  Mayor Cline opened the 
public hearing.  There was no public comment.   

 ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) and by acclamation, Mayor Cline closed the public 
hearing. 

 ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) to adopt Resolution 6322 to collect the regulatory fee 
at the existing rates to implement the City’s Storm Water Management Program for Fiscal Year 
2016-17 passes unanimously. 

G3. Adopt a resolution recommending that the San Mateo County Flood Control District (District) impose 
basic charges at existing rates and increase the additional charges by 3.02 percent for funding the 
fiscal year (FY) 2016-17 Countywide National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
General Program and allow the District to collect these fees annually (Staff Report# 16-114-CC) 

 Assistant Public Works Director Ruben Nino made a brief presentation.  Mayor Cline opened the 
public hearing.  There was no public comment.   

 ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) and by acclamation, Mayor Cline closed the public 
hearing. 

 ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) to adopt Resolution 6323 recommending that the San 
Mateo County Flood Control District (District) impose basic charges at existing rates and increase 
the additional charges by 3.02 percent for funding the fiscal year (FY) 2016-17 Countywide National 

http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10588
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10589
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10590


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Draft Minutes Page 4 

 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General Program and allow the District to collect 
these fees annually 

H.  Regular Business 

H1. Consider approval of amendments to the agreement between the City of Menlo Park and Service 
Employees International Union, Local 521 (Staff Report# 16-104-CC)(Presentation) 

 Human Resources Manager Lenka Diaz made a presentation for Items H1 and H2. 

 ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) to approve amendments to the agreement between the 
City of Menlo Park and Service Employees International Union, Local 521 passes unanimously. 

H2. Consider approval of amendments to the agreement between the City of Menlo Park and American 
Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, Local 829 (Staff Report# 16-105-CC) 

 ACTION: Motion and second (Ohtaki/Carlton) to approve amendments to the agreement between 
the City of Menlo Park and American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, Local 
829 passes unanimously. 

H3. Approve resolutions: adopting the fiscal year 2016-17 Budget and Capital Improvement Program 
and appropriating funds; establishing the appropriations limit for fiscal year 2016-17; establishing a 
Consecutive Temporary Tax percentage reduction in Utility Users’ Tax rates through September 30, 
2017; and establishing City-wide Salary Schedule effective July 10, 2016                                     
(Staff Report# 16-119-CC)(Presentation) 

 Administrative Services Director Nick Pegueros made a presentation. 

 Public Comment: 

• Cecilia Taylor inquired about using Below Market Rate funds to purchase properties to use as 
affordable housing 

 

ACTION: Motion and second (Ohtaki/Carlton) to approve the following resolutions passes 
unanimously. 

Resolution 6324 adopting the fiscal year 2016-17 Budget and Capital Improvement Program 

Resolution 6325 establishing the appropriations limit for fiscal year 2016-17 

Resolution 6326 establishing a consecutive temporary tax percentage reduction in Utility Users’ 
Tax rates through September 30, 2016 

Resolution 6327 establishing City-wide salary schedule effective July 10, 2016  

H4. Authorize the Mayor to sign a letter in opposition to AB2788 regarding wireless telecommunications 
small cells 

 

http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10591
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10784
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10592
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10593
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10785


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Draft Minutes Page 5 

 

City Attorney Bill McClure introduced the item. 

ACTION: Motion and second (Ohtaki/Keith) to authorize the Mayor to sign a letter in opposition to 
AB2788 regarding wireless telecommunications small cells passes unanimously. 

I.  Informational Items 

I1. Update on the El Camino Real Corridor Study (Staff Report# 16-116-CC) 

 Transportation Manager Nikki Nagaya responded to Council questions regarding additional tasks 
discussed during the May 3rd City Council meeting meeting and regarding the Oak Grove bike 
boulevard. 

I2. Update on the status, schedule, required actions, and Development Agreement negotiation process 
for the Facebook Campus Expansion Project located at 301-309 Constitution Drive                     
(Staff Report# 16-107-CC) 

 Mayor Cline mentioned correspondence received from Menlo Park resident Pamela Jones 
requesting the schedule for this project be extended. 

I3. Belle Haven Child Development Center Self Evaluation Report for the Child Development Division of 
the California Department of Education for fiscal year 2015-16 (Staff Report# 16-106-CC) 

I4. Process for pursuing structured parking and other land use enhancements downtown                 
(Staff Report# 16-121-CC) 

J.  City Manager's Report 

City Manager McIntyre announced the 4th of July parade and that first phase of the City Hall remodel 
will begin on July 7th. 

K.  Councilmember Reports 

Councilmember Mueller mentioned resident concerns regarding traffic at Middlefield and Willow and 
cut through traffic in the neighborhood. He also inquired about water aerobics for seniors at the Belle 
Haven pool and reported that architectural design drawings for the Burgess snack bar are complete. 

Councilmember Carlton thanked the Chamber of Commerce for the block party and reported that 
trash cans in downtown need to be cleaned. 

Mayor Pro Tem Keith reported the challenges of getting out of the Willows neighborhood due to the 
Willow Road traffic. 

Councilmember Ohtaki reported that the SFO Roundtable Select Committee is meeting to make 
recommendations to the FAA regarding the noise and requested an item be placed on the next 
agenda. 

Mayor Cline reported that the Facebook Development Agreement Subcommittee met earlier and 
commended staff on the Electric Vehicle (EV) charger event.  He also reported there will be a Tri-
Cities meeting on June 9th with Palo Alto and East Palo Alto.   

http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10594
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10595
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10596
http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10597


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Draft Minutes Page 6 

 

L.  Adjournment 

Mayor Cline adjourned the meeting at 8:48 p.m. 
 
 
 
Pamela Aguilar, CMC 
City Clerk 

 



   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

City Council 

 

 
 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES - DRAFT   

Date:   7/12/2016 
Time:  9:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers    
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

    
9:00 p.m. Special Session 

A. Mayor Pro Tem Keith called the meeting to order at 9:02 p.m. 
 
B.  Roll Call 

Present:  Keith, Mueller, Ohtaki 
Absent:  Carlton, Cline 
Staff:  Assistant City Manager Chip Taylor, City Attorney Bill McClure, City Clerk Pamela 

Aguilar 

C.  Pledge of Allegiance 

 Mayor Pro Tem Keith led the pledge of allegiance. 

D.  Public Comment – see Item E1 

E.  Regular Business 

E1. Consider request to extend the 45-day review and public comment period for the Draft 
Environmental Impact Report for ConnectMenlo – Menlo Park General Plan Update 

Assistant City Manager Chip Taylor introduced the item.  Principal Planner Deanna Chow gave a 
brief overview of recent developments. 

 Public Comment 

• Ellen Hope,  League of Women Voters, spoke in support of extending the comment period and 
expressed concerns regarding jobs/housing balance, traffic and transportation and sea level rise 
(Handout)  

• Steve Van Pelt spoke in support of extending the comment period and regarding traffic 
• Pamela Jones spoke in support of extending the comment period and regarding the impact of 

additional housing on the Belle Haven neighborhood  
• Ernesto Reyes spoke regarding displacement, secondary dwellings and code enforcement in the 

Belle Haven neighborhood 
• Gita Dev, Sierra Club, spoke regarding solutions to the traffic, connectivity and other impacts 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Mueller/Ohtaki) to extend the 45-day review and public comment 
period for the Draft Environmental Impact Report for ConnectMenlo – Menlo Park General Plan 
Update passes 3-0 (Mayor Cline and Councilmember Carlton absent) 
 

http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10786


   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Draft Minutes Page 2 

 

Councilmember Mueller requested that an updated schedule be presented to City Council at its next 
meeting. 

 

F.  Adjournment 

Mayor Pro Tem Keith adjourned the meeting at 9:46 p.m. 
 
 
 
Pamela Aguilar, CMC 
City Clerk 

 



Community Development 

 
 

 
 

City of Menlo Park701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025tel650-330-6600www.menlopark.org 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

City Council   
Meeting Date:  7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number: 16-133-CC 
 
Regular Business: Provide direction on Facebook Campus Expansion 

Project and ConnectMenlo (General Plan and M-2 
Area Zoning update) schedules 

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council review and approve the revised Facebook and ConnectMenlo 
schedules, included as Attachments A and B.  

 

Policy Issues 
The General Plan and M-2 Zoning update process will consider a number of policy issues. There are no 
policy issues associated with this staff report.  

 

Background 
The General Plan serves as the City’s comprehensive and long range guide to land use and infrastructure 
development in the City, and is required by State law.  Since Summer 2014, the City has embarked on the 
General Plan update process known as ConnectMenlo. The City Council previously identified the 
completion of the General Plan and M-2 Zoning Update in two years as a City Council goal. In February 
2016, staff returned to the City Council for review and guidance on a revised schedule. At that time, the 
General Plan Advisory Committee (GPAC) had requested three additional topic sessions or “deep dives” 
and a follow-up GPAC meeting. The Council supported the additional meetings and subsequently, extended 
the targeted completion from Summer 2016 to October 2016 to conduct the extra meetings. 
 
Since February 2016, the ConnectMenlo team has continued its robust outreach efforts to help inform the 
public of the proposed project and to also receive feedback.  In March 2016, the team hosted three topic 
discussions on the subjects of 1) zoning regulations and design standards, 2) green and sustainable 
development regulations, and 3) community amenities.  These meetings were followed by guidance from 
the GPAC on the proposed M-2 Area zoning ordinances in April 2016 and a study session by the Planning 
Commission in May 2016. In early June, the Draft Environmental Impact Report (EIR) was released for a 
45-day comment review period.  On July 11, the ConnectMenlo team hosted a town hall meeting to provide 
an overview of the EIR process and findings.  This was also an opportunity for the public to ask questions 
prior to the Planning Commission meeting that followed the town hall discussion.  The purpose of the 
Planning Commission hearing was to receive public comments on the adequacy of the EIR.  The verbal 
comments received at the July 11 Planning Commission meeting, along with all written correspondence on 
the EIR, will be responded to in writing as part of the Final EIR.    
 
In response to concerns about the length of the EIR and the timing of the EIR with another large project in 
the City that was expressed in correspondence and at the July 11 meeting, the Planning Commission 
voiced general support for an extension of the EIR comment review period.  The Commission believed a 15-
day extension beyond the 45-day comment review period was appropriate. On July 12, the Housing 

AGENDA ITEM I-1



Staff Report #: 16-133-CC 

 
 

 
 

City of Menlo Park701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025tel650-330-6600www.menlopark.org 

Commission conducted a special meeting and also supported an extension of the EIR comment review 
period.  On that same day, the City Council also conducted a special meeting to consider whether to extend 
the 45-day comment review period for the EIR because the schedule could not be extended without 
approval from the Council. The Council approved a 15 day extension on the EIR comment review period, 
ending on Monday, August 1, 2016 at 5:30 p.m.  The extension of the comment review period has 
implications on the overall schedule, and the Council asked that a revised schedule be brought to the July 
19 meeting for review and consideration. 
 

Analysis 
The ConnectMenlo process thus far, has included approximately 60 meetings, events and activities to help 
educate and inform, share ideas, and gather input on the potential changes in the current M-2 Area of the 
City and citywide circulation. Members of the community, property owners and other interested parties from 
varying organizations have been involved, and broad community outreach continues to be a key aspect of 
the process. The General Plan Advisory Committee (GPAC), comprised of Council, Commission and 
community representatives has also played an important role in helping guide the process.  
 
As mentioned earlier in the report, the EIR is currently being circulated for public review and comment.  
Following the close of the comment review period on August 1, the EIR consultant will prepare responses to 
the comments and a Final EIR will be released at least 10 days prior to the Planning Commission public 
hearing on the proposed General Plan and M-2 Area Zoning Update and EIR.  After further review of the 
upcoming Planning Commission and City Council calendar, other development projects in the pipeline, and 
staff and consultant resources, staff has determined that a revised timeline would result in more than a 15 
day delay equivalent to the 15-day extension for the EIR comment review period.  A proposed revised 
schedule is included in Attachment B and is further discussed below. 
 
Facebook Campus Expansion Project Schedule 
The Council has been cognizant that the process schedule for ConnectMenlo has been on a separate, but 
close timing with the Facebook Campus Expansion project, with the review of ConnectMenlo following the 
Facebook Campus Expansion project. With the recent close of the EIR comment review period for the 
Facebook Campus Expansion project, staff is reevaluating the schedule given the number and complexity 
of the comments, and the additional time needed to adequately respond to the comments.  Staff believes 
that, at a minimum, an additional 30 to 60 days will be needed to prepare the Final EIR for the Facebook 
Campus Expansion project. As of now, staff anticipates that the Planning Commission will review and make 
a recommendation on the Facebook Campus Expansion project on September 26, 2016.  The City Council 
would then review and take action on the proposed project at its October 18, 2016 meeting, with the second 
reading of the Zoning Ordinance amendment on November 1, 2016.  Staff believes this is an optimistic 
timeline, and will keep the Council updated should circumstances arise that could alter the schedule. A 
revised schedule is included as Attachment A. 
 
ConnectMenlo Schedule  
The additional time needed to prepare Facebook’s Final EIR would impact the available staffing and 
consultant resources necessary to focus on ConnectMenlo, which would result in a delay beyond the 15 day 
extension of the EIR comment review period. In addition, given the existing and anticipated number and 
complexity of comments on the EIR (based upon the comments recently received for the Facebook Campus 
Expansion project EIR), staff believes that more time than originally anticipated will be needed to 
adequately prepare responses to the comments.  While the recent focus has been on the EIR, the 
ConnectMenlo team will also need to address other components of the project before bringing it to the 
Planning Commission for review.  One of those items is the Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA).  Staff anticipates 
bringing the FIA to the Planning Commission for discussion in August, which had previously been targeted 



Staff Report #: 16-133-CC 

 
 

 
 

City of Menlo Park701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025tel650-330-6600www.menlopark.org 

for late July. In the schedule, staff is also trying to accommodate another Town Hall meeting at the request 
of the Council to provide an overview of the project and key issues that have been raised during the process.  
Staff anticipates that the meeting can be accommodated in the late summer/early Fall period without further 
delay to the overall Schedule.   
 
At this time, the Planning Commission is scheduled to meet once during the month of October.  The 
Commission approved the calendar with the limited meeting dates in an effort to avoid conflicts with 
identified cultural and other holidays for the remaining four Mondays in the month. With an interest 
expressed by several Council Members to complete the General Plan Update by the end of the year, staff 
has identified that a special meeting will need to be conducted by the Planning Commission if two meetings 
are needed for the Planning Commission’s review and recommendation on the General Plan and M-2 Area 
Zoning Update.  The special meeting is anticipated to occur on a day other than Monday, but the 
Commission will need to be polled on their availability before a date can be confirmed.  As proposed in 
Attachment A, the Planning Commission would review the General Plan and M-2 Area Zoning Update on 
October 24, with a potential second meeting on October 25 or 26 (or October 19 or 20 if the previous two 
dates do not work).  The City Council would then review and take action on the proposed project at its 
meeting on November 15, 2016, with the second reading of the Zoning Ordinance amendments on 
December 13. The meeting of December 6 is typically ceremonially with the appointment of the new Mayor 
and Mayor Pro Tem, and therefore, did not schedule ConnectMenlo on that meeting date.  If a second 
meeting date is desired now by the City Council to review the General Plan and M-2 Area Zoning Update, 
the Council should review its calendar to determine a second meeting date, which would likely be a special 
meeting. Given the holiday season in the November/December timeframe, scheduling a special meeting 
may pose a challenge. The Council may wish to consider whether it would then be more appropriate to 
postpone its hearings on the item until the new year when two meetings could be scheduled in close 
proximity to each other. 
 
Both the Facebook and ConnectMenlo project schedules are estimates based on the information that we 
have available now. Once teams have had an opportunity to fully assess the EIR comments and the 
resources needed to address the comments, additional time to the schedule may be warranted.  Staff will 
keep the Council apprised of issues that could affect the overall schedule.  

 

Impact on City Resources 
The General Plan Update scope of services and budget was approved by the City Council on June 17, 2014. 
A modification in the schedule is not anticipated to impact the overall budget for the project. 

A fiscal impact analysis is being prepared for each of the projects and will be part of the Planning 
Commission’s and City Council’s consideration of each project.  

 

Environmental Review 
The General Plan and M-2 Zoning Update is subject to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
and an EIR has been prepared.  The EIR comment review period is currently underway and ends on August 
1, 2016.  

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 



Staff Report #: 16-133-CC 

 
 

 
 

City of Menlo Park701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025tel650-330-6600www.menlopark.org 

 

Attachments 
A. Revised Draft Facebook Campus Expansion Schedule 
B. Revised Draft General Plan and M-2 Area Zoning Update Schedule  
 
Report prepared by: 
Deanna Chow, Principal Planner 
 
 
 



Facebook Campus Expansion Project 
Upcoming Schedule 

Event Date Time Location 

Final EIR Release 
September 15, 2016 

Final EIR Review Period (10 days) Ends September 26, 2016 

Planning Commission Public Hearing on 
Final EIR/FIA and Proposed Project 

September 26, 2016 7 p.m. Council 
Chambers 

City Council Public Hearing on Final EIR/FIA 
and Proposed Project  October 18, 2016 7 p.m. Council 

Chambers 

City Council Second Reading of Zoning 
Ordinance Amendment and Rezoning  

November 1, 2016 
7 p.m. 

Council 
Chambers 

Note: For more information about the Facebook Campus Expansion Project process, please visit the project 
webpage at http://menlopark.org/995/Facebook-Campus-Expansion-Project. Actual meeting dates, times, and 
locations are subject to change. 

ATTACHMENT A



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



ConnectMenlo Upcoming Activities and Events 

Event Date Time Location 

EIR Review Period (60 days) Ends August 1, 2016 

Town Hall August/September 2016 

Planning Commission Meteting on Draft FIA August 2016 7:00 
p.m. 

Council 
Chambers 

Final EIR Release October 10, 2016 

Final EIR Review Period (10 days) Ends October 19, 2016 

Planning Commission Public Hearing on 
Final EIR/FIA and Draft Land Use and 

Circulation Elements and Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments 

October 24, 2016 
7 p.m. Council 

Chambers 

Planning Commission Public Hearing on 
Final EIR/FIA and Draft Land Use and 

Circulation Elements and Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments (Meeting #2 if needed) 

October 25, 2016 
7 p.m. Council 

Chambers 

City Council Public Hearing on Final EIR/FIA 
and Draft Land Use and Circulation Elements 

and Zoning Ordinance Amendments  
November 15, 2016 7 p.m. Council 

Chambers 

City Council Second Reading of Zoning 
Ordinance Updates and Rezonings  

December 13, 2016 
7 p.m. 

Council 
Chambers 

Note: For more information about the ConnectMenlo process, please visit the project webpage at 
www.menlopark.org/connectmenlo. Actual meeting dates, times, and locations are subject to change. 

ATTACHMENT B

http://www.menlopark.org/connectmenlo


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Community Development 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

City Council    
Meeting Date:   7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number:  16-127-CC 
 
Regular Business:  Consider the Term Sheet for the Development 

Agreement for the Facebook Campus Expansion 
Project Located at 301-309 Constitution Drive and 
authorize City Manager to modify Project Schedule 
and execute contracts with EIR consultants  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve the proposed Term Sheet for the Facebook Campus 
Expansion Project Development Agreement (Attachment A), authorize the City Manager to modify the 
project review schedule as necessary to complete the Final EIR, authorize the City Manager to modify and 
execute an amendment to the contract(s) with the EIR consultants as necessary to complete the Final EIR, 
and proceed with the project review process.  

 

Policy Issues 

The proposed project will require the City Council to consider the requested land use entitlements, such as 
the appropriateness of the proposed Zoning Ordinance text amendment, rezoning, conditional 
development permit (CDP), heritage tree removals, and below market rate (BMR) agreement, along with 
the public benefits associated with the Development Agreement. Simultaneously with the review of the 
project entitlements, the Council will need to consider the potentially significant and unavoidable impacts 
detailed in the Environmental Impact Report (EIR) and the accompanying statement of overriding 
considerations. After release of the Final EIR, the Planning Commission will provide a recommendation on 
the project entitlements and the Final EIR for the Council’s consideration. At this time, staff is requesting 
the Council’s input and approval of the Term Sheet for the Development Agreement associated with the 
proposed project. As a reminder, review of complex development projects is designated as Item #2 of the 
Council Work Plan for 2016. 

 

Background 
On March 31, 2015, Hibiscus Properties LLC, on behalf of Facebook, Inc. submitted an application for the 
proposed redevelopment of the former TE Connectivity Campus (TE). The approximately 58-acre campus 
is located at 301-309 Constitution Drive, along Bayfront Expressway, between Chilco Street and the 
recently completed Building 20 (formerly identified as the Facebook West Campus). Building 20 is 
currently a separate parcel, but would be merged with the project site. Building 23 is located on the project 
site, but previously received its entitlements for the conversion of a warehouse building to office uses in 
December 2014. For purposes of this staff report, Building 23 is included in the site development 
discussion, while Building 20 is excluded. 
 

AGENDA ITEM I-2



Staff Report #: 16-127-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

On July 11, 2016, the comment period for the Draft EIR closed. The City received a significant number of 
correspondence on the project, including numerous technical and legal comments. Due to this and the 
detailed content of the submitted comments, the timeline for preparation of the response to comments and 
Final EIR will need to be extended.  Staff is currently reevaluating the project schedule to accommodate 
the additional time that will be needed to respond to comments and complete the Final EIR. The current 
schedule was reviewed by the City Council most recently on May 3, 2016. The  schedule will likely be 
extended with the understanding that the schedule extension will be for the shortest time possible to 
complete the Final EIR, with the new schedule subject to approval of the City Manager and notification to 
the Council and public. 
 

Project Description 
The proposed Facebook Campus Expansion Project includes the demolition of the existing buildings at 
301-306 Constitution Drive and the construction of two new office buildings (Buildings 21 and 22), 
encompassing approximately 962,400 square feet of gross floor area. The two office buildings would 
increase the gross floor area of office uses at the site by 126,600 square feet. The project also includes a 
potential 200-room limited service hotel of approximately 174,800 square feet. With the hotel, the net 
increase in gross floor area for all uses at the site would be approximately 121,300 square feet for a total 
of 1,317,300 square feet, inclusive of Building 23. 
 
The proposed office buildings would be oriented east-to-west, similar to Building 20. Building 21 would be 
constructed in the first phase and would be connected to Building 20 through usable gross floor area. 
Building 22 and the hotel would be a second phase. Buildings 22 and 21 would be connected through an 
open air bridge. The hotel is anticipated to be located near the corner of Chilco Street and Bayfront 
Expressway. The project would include publicly accessible open space and a new pedestrian/bicycle 
bridge over Bayfront Expressway, providing a more direct connection from the campus and the Belle 
Haven neighborhood to the Bay Trail. The publicly accessible area would be located between Buildings 21 
and 22, adjacent to the bend in Chilco Street near the Dumbarton Rail Corridor. The most recent version 
of the project plans is available on the City-maintained project page (http://menlopark.org/1001/Project-
Plans). Previous staff reports provide more detail on the proposed development program 
(http://menlopark.org/1002/Presentations-and-Staff-Reports). 
 
The entitlement process for the Facebook Campus Expansion Project includes the following review and 
permit approvals: 
 
• Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment to include hotels as conditional uses within the M-2 zoning 

district. The text amendment would be consistent with the Limited Industry Land Use Designation of the 
existing General Plan; 

• Rezone entire site from M-2 (General Industrial) and M-2(X) (General Industrial, Conditional 
Development) to M-2(X) (General Industrial, Conditional Development) to allow for a Conditional 
Development Permit to permit the proposal to diverge from standard M-2 zoning district requirements; 

• Conditional Development Permit (CDP) to redevelop the approximately 58 acre site with 
approximately 962,400 square feet of offices and a 200 room hotel of approximately 174,800 square 
feet. Including the existing Building 23 (approximately 180,108 square feet), the maximum gross floor 
area for offices would be approximately 1.143 million square feet, which is within maximum 45 percent 
floor area ratio (FAR) for offices. With the hotel, the maximum gross floor area would be approximately 
1.318 million square feet, or 52 percent FAR, which is consistent with the FAR maximum of up to 55 
percent for all other uses. The CDP would permit maximum building heights of up to 75 feet and allow 
building coverage to potentially exceed 50 percent of the site, as well as to define all other development 

http://menlopark.org/1001/Project-Plans
http://menlopark.org/1001/Project-Plans
http://menlopark.org/1002/Presentations-and-Staff-Reports


Staff Report #: 16-127-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

standards, such as parking at the site. The CDP would also include the existing Building 20                 
(1 Facebook Way); 

• Development Agreement for the provision of overall benefits to the City and adequate development 
controls in exchange for vested rights for the Facebook Campus Expansion Project; 

• Heritage Tree Removal Permits to permit the removal of approximately 274 heritage trees associated 
with the proposed project; 

• Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Agreement, per the requirements of the City’s Municipal Code, 
which would help increase the affordable housing supply by requiring the applicant to provide monies 
for the BMR fund or by procuring off-site BMR units; 

• Lot Reconfiguration to modify the location of two legal lots or merge the legal lots that comprise the 
project site and the adjacent lot for Building 20; and 

• Environmental Impact Report to analyze the potential environmental impacts of the proposed project.  

 

Analysis 
A Development Agreement is a contract between the City of Menlo Park and a project sponsor that 
delineates the terms and conditions of a proposed development project.  A Development Agreement 
allows a project sponsor, in this case Facebook, to secure vested rights, and it allows the City to secure 
certain benefits that it might not otherwise be entitled to obtain.  The City Council is not obligated to 
approve a Development Agreement, but if the City Council does want to approve a Development 
Agreement, the terms of the Development Agreement need to be acceptable to both parties; one party 
cannot impose terms on the other party. 
 
In December 2015, the City Council created the Council Subcommittee for the Facebook Campus 
Expansion Project Development Agreement negotiation. The subcommittee includes Mayor Richard Cline 
and Mayor Pro Tem Kirsten Keith. After release of the Draft EIR, City staff, including the City Manager and 
City Attorney, met with the Council Subcommittee to determine the parameters for the negotiation of public 
benefits as part of the Development Agreement. Subsequently, over the last few weeks, staff has been 
negotiating with the Project Sponsor and consulting with the Council Subcommittee. The attached letter 
from Facebook and Term Sheet (Attachment A) is the outcome of the public benefit negotiation process. 
 

Development Agreement Term Sheet 
The Term Sheet reflects the mutually agreed upon terms between Facebook and the City’s negotiating 
team.  The term sheet outlines public benefits for the community and is in addition to the required 
mitigation measures, which were determined by the Draft EIR and would be included in the mitigation 
monitoring and reporting program for the development proposal.  The Council Subcommittee has reviewed 
and generally supports the proposed Term Sheet. 
 
The Term Sheet covers five main topics, each with multiple items that will be fleshed out with more details 
as part of the formal Development Agreement.  Some of the topics are potential conditions of approval that 
would appear in the Conditional Development Permit, along with an acknowledgement that projects that 
the Project Sponsor has been funding (e.g. the Dumbarton Corridor Study) are of benefit to Menlo Park.  
When considering the terms of the Development Agreement, it is important to remember that it reflects a 
negotiated package and any one aspect cannot be viewed in isolation. The proposed Term Sheet can be 
summarized as follows: 
 



Staff Report #: 16-127-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

1: Revenues 
The Term Sheet identifies a number of revenue guarantees for the City. Facebook has agreed to pay 
$300,000 yearly to the City for 20 years after occupancy of Building 21. This payment would be indexed 
based on the consumer price index (CPI) every five years. The Term Sheet also contains a guarantee of a 
$336,000 payment upon occupancy of Building 21 for up to 41 years. However, two years after TE 
vacates the site, this specific payment will increase to $1.25 million per year, as a transient occupancy tax 
(TOT) guarantee. If the hotel is built, TOT generated from the hotel would be credited toward the $1.25 
million TOT guarantee. In addition, Facebook has agreed to set the TOT rate for the hotel one basis point 
higher than the rate that would be otherwise applicable. While the hotel is a limited service hotel, 
Facebook has agreed that it will include a restaurant and hotel bar, which would generate additional sales 
tax revenue for the City and achieve higher room rates. 
 
The Term Sheet also includes a minimum assessed value guarantee for each building: $325 million for 
Building 21, $300 million for Building 22, and $70 million for the hotel. The assessed value would increase 
by the lessor of 2 percent or the CPI annually and the term would be 39 years.  
 
There is currently a cap on the utility users’ tax (UUT) at the site of $6,000 per year; however, the Term 
Sheet provides for a waiver of this cap, not only for the new buildings but for Building 20. Therefore, 
Facebook would pay the total applicable UUT for all utilities utilized on the site.  
 
The Term Sheet also requires Facebook to cooperate with the City’s sales and use tax consultant to 
ensure the maximum amount of use taxes from construction of the project are directed to the City.  
 
It is anticipated that if the three buildings are completed within ten years, the annual additional revenue 
generated by the development would be approximately $2.1 million for 10 years thereafter and more than 
$1.8 million for so long as Facebook is occupying the site. 
 
2: Infrastructure and Transportation 
As part of the Term Sheet, the City and applicant have negotiated a number of community benefits related 
to infrastructure and transportation. These benefits are above and beyond the mitigation measures 
required to reduce potentially significant impacts as determined by the Draft EIR.  
 
Facebook recently funded the Dumbarton Corridor Study through SamTrans for a total of $1 million. As 
part of the Term Sheet, Facebook has agreed to contribute funding future recommendations derived from 
the Dumbarton Corridor Study, which could include pre-design and/or environmental clearance of 
preferred corridor transit improvements, negotiations with Union Pacific Rail Road to remove freight track-
age rights and re-certify the corridor with the Federal Transportation Authority, or other studies or actions 
to activate this resource and support regional mobility options. Facebook would commit up to $1 million to 
fund these additional obligations related to the Dumbarton Corridor. The Term Sheet also identifies that 
Facebook will partner with the cities of Menlo Park and East Palo Alto to convene a forum to consider and 
evaluate innovative ways that the recommendations of the Dumbarton Corridor Study may be executed 
efficiently. This forum would concentrate on funding, operations, and construction strategies as well as 
innovations to facilitate an integrated execution of regional improvements to multi-modal transportation 
options. Facebook agrees to help develop the design, operations, and constructions strategies and spend 
up to $1 million on this commitment. Facebook will also continue to participate in projects that arise from 



Staff Report #: 16-127-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

the Dumbarton Corridor Study, but any additional monetary contribution would be at Facebook’s discretion. 
 
As a separate study, Facebook has committed to the funding of the design for the pedestrian and bicycle 
pathway along the Dumbarton Corridor from East Palo Alto to the Redwood City Caltrain Station. The 
study began in February 2016 and is expected to be completed in September 2016.  
 
The City is currently undergoing the ConnectMenlo General Plan Update, which focuses on the M-2 Area, 
north of Bayfront Expressway. As part of the negotiation process, Facebook agrees to partner with the City 
and other land-owners and employers in the study area of the General Plan Update to fund a 
Transportation Management Association (TMA) Feasibility and Implementation Strategy. The study is 
intended to identify potential implementation strategies and if funds remain, fund a portion of the TMA’s 
startup costs. Facebook agrees to cooperate with the City and stakeholders, including the sharing of 
Facebook’s best practices with the TMA. The financial commitment for this item is $100,000. 
 
Facebook recently completed the first phase of the Chilco Street frontage and streetscape improvements. 
The improvements are expected to be completed in six phases. Facebook previously agreed to complete 
Phases 1-4 at its sole cost. Per the Term Sheet, Facebook will complete phases 5 and 6 (also at its own 
cost), which include installation of bike lane improvements on the north side of Chilco Street and 
streetscape, sidewalk, and bike improvements on the southern side of Chilco Street across the rail 
crossing. In return for constructing these improvements, the City agrees to reduce the Building 
Construction Street Impact Fees assessed against the project by the actual cost of the additional 
improvements (estimated to be approximately $2.5 Million). 
 
3: Housing 
Per the Term Sheet, Facebook will collaborate with the cities of Menlo Park and East Palo Alto to conduct 
a Housing Inventory and Local Supply Study. The study would assess the conditions, occupancy, and 
resident profiles of the immediate vicinity, with the intent of establishing a baseline understanding of the 
housing conditions and facilitate the development of an informed regional housing strategy. Facebook will 
engage a consultant and provide $350,000 for the study. As an outcome of the Housing Study, Facebook 
would also establish a Housing Innovation Fund with a commitment of $1.5 million. 
 
In addition, Facebook would establish a Housing Preservation Fund pilot project to identify and purchase 
housing in the immediate area of the campus to protect at-risk populations. The monetary commitment for 
the fund would be $1 million. Facebook would also be required to initiate workforce housing by subsidizing 
rents for 22 units at 777 Hamilton Avenue. These subsidized rents would be for community serving 
professions such as teachers. Units would also be able to be occupied by employees in public safety 
professions and non-profits. The subsidy for the 22 units would be $430,000 per year for five years.  
 
Facebook is required to comply with the BMR ordinance of the City of Menlo Park. As such, Facebook 
intends to continue to work with the City to explore opportunities to develop the maximum number of units 
that can be procured with the estimated $6.3 million required in-lieu fee.  
 
If the ConnectMenlo General Plan update is approved, Facebook would commit to develop at least 1,500 
housing units on the Prologis Site, which would include 15 percent BMR units and/or workforce housing 
units (even if the BMR ordinance does not apply to rental units). 



Staff Report #: 16-127-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
4: Community Benefits 
The Term Sheet identifies the following community benefits from Facebook. Facebook would commit to 
fund pool operation and maintenance at the Belle Haven pool for five years for a cost of $60,000 annually. 
Facebook would also establish a scholarship program for residents of East Palo Alto and Menlo Park for 
10 years, with a commitment of $100,000 per year. After 10 years, Facebook agrees to consider extending 
the program. In addition, Facebook would continue to provide funding for the community fund at $100,000 
per year for five years. Consistent with the scholarship fund, Facebook agrees to consider extending 
funding after five years. 
 
The bicycle and pedestrian bridge over Bayfront Expressway is part of the project. However, Facebook 
agrees to operate and maintain the bridge and the public open space between Buildings 21 and 22. The 
path and bridge will be open for use by the public 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.  
 
5: Environmental benefits 
The office buildings are required, per the Term Sheet, to be built to LEED Gold Equivalency. Solar PV 
panels would be located at Building 21. Facebook would also install a recycled water system on-site, 
provided the system is approved by all applicable agencies and City departments. If West Bay constructs 
a recycled water system, Facebook will pay its proportionate share of costs for its future developments in 
the M-2 Area. Facebook also agrees to contribute $25,000 in seed funding for the feasibility studies for an 
M-2 Area recycled water system.  
 
6: Other 
In exchange for the negotiated benefits, the City agrees to provide Facebook assurances as to certain 
changes in fees and applicable laws similar to those included in previous development agreements. This 
protection expires after 20 years. In addition, the City agrees to expedite the construction permitting for the 
project internally and externally to the extent feasible. Facebook agrees that the development agreement 
for the East Campus will be amended to remove the ability for Facebook to reduce the annual payment. 

 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the 
City’s Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. For 
projects requiring consultants, such as environmental review, the Project Sponsor deposits money with the 
City and the City pays the consultants. 

 

Environmental Review 
A Draft EIR has been prepared for the project. The public comment period on the Draft EIR closed on July 
11, 2016 at 5:30 p.m. and staff and the consultant have begun to compile the responses to comments 
document, and will consider and respond to comments received on the Draft EIR. Repeat comments may 
be addressed in Master Responses, and portions of the EIR may be revised in strikethrough (deleted text) 
and underline (new text) format. Once the responses and revisions are complete, the Final EIR will be 
released, consisting of the Responses to Comments plus the Draft EIR. The Final EIR will be considered 
by the Planning Commission and City Council concurrent with the final project actions. 



Staff Report #: 16-127-CC 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 

Attachments 
A. Letter from Facebook and Development Agreement Term Sheet 
 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Kyle Perata, Senior Planner 
 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



ATTACHMENT A

July 14, 2016 

The Honorable Rich Cline 
Mayor of the City of Menlo Park 
And Members of the City Council 
701 Laurel Street 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 

RE: Facebook Campus Expansion Project - Development Agreement Term Sheet 

We are pleased to present you with the proposed Development Agreement 
Term Sheet for the Facebook Campus Expansion Project. It outlines the terms we 
negotiated with the City's team, and is the product of an extensive and collaborative 
dialogue that involved countless hours of work. 

In negotiating the Term Sheet, we were mindful of the difficult issues facing the 
City and the region and tried to prioritize public benefits that addressed those issues. To 
this end, we have proposed both short-term solutions that attempt to provide 
immediate support and long-term solutions that we hope will initiate broader, more 
transformative changes. 

The Facebook Campus Expansion Project is fully compliant with the existing 
General Plan, and conforms to the existing zoning and density limits in the M-2 area 
with the exception of building heights and a request to allow a 200-room hotel. It will 
add only approximately 126,000 net new square feet of commercial space, and, when 
completed, will be a significant public benefit transforming a closed and isolated 
industrial site into a vibrant campus that connects Belle Haven to the Bay. It also is being 
proposed in the context of Facebook's existing contributions to the community which 
have been ongoing since we first moved to Menlo Park in 2011. Facebook believes that 
the proposed terms for the Development Agreement confer generous and appropriate 
public benefits. We understand that the negotiating team and the Council 
Subcommittee have approved the proposed terms and are recommending approval to 
the full Council. 

To recap, the Development Agreement Term Sheet provides public benefits in six 
categories, including: 

1. Financial Benefits: 

• Recurring Public Benefit Payment of $300,000 per year for twenty years 
(increased by CPI every five years). 

• Commitment to pay four times the amount of sales tax historically captured 
from the site (totaling $336,000 per year) each year upon the occupancy of the 

Address: I Hacker Way 

facebook 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 



first office building until two years after the existing tenant at 305 Constitution 
(which forms part of the site for the proposed hotel) vacates that building. 

• Commitment to guarantee $1.25 million per year in transient occupancy taxes 
from the new hotel, beginning two years after the existing tenant at 305 
Constitution vacates that building. 

• Commitment to pay 1% higher TOT rate for the hotel than would otherwise be 
applicable. 

• Commitment to work with the City to maximize the capture of sales and use 
taxes arising from the purchase of construction materials, furniture, equipment 
and personal property. 

• Property tax guarantee assuring the City that the assessed value of the property 
following completion of the project will be $695 million (which is projected to 
generate new property taxes of approximately $550,000 per year for the City's 
General Fund). 

• Agreeing to waive the cap on the City's Utility User's Tax for the Project, as well 
as waiving the cap that currently applies to Facebook's Building 20. 

2. Transportation and Infrastructure Benefits: 

• $1 million contribution to SamTrans for funding the Dumbarton Corridor Study as 
a multi-modal transportation corridor. 

• $1 million contribution to fund future recommendations arising from the 
Dumbarton Corridor Study, and a commitment to participate in new projects that 
arise from the Dumbarton Corridor Study. 

• $100,000 commitment towards a Transportation Management Association 
(TMA) program serving the areas surrounding the Facebook campus and to share 
its best TDM practices with the City and other local landowners and employers. 

• $700,000 commitment to fund the design of a pedestrian/bicycle path between 
East Palo Alto and Redwood City Caltrain Station. 

• $1 million funding commitment to sponsor a regional forum with Menlo Park, 
East Palo Alto, San Mateo County, Santa Clara County, and regional stakeholders 
to evaluate innovative ways that the recommendations of the Dumbarton 
Corridor Study could be executed quickly and with minimal delays, and to help 
develop design, operational, and construction strategies to implement 
recommendations following the forum. 

• Commitment to complete Chilco Street Improvements, including extensive 
streetscape, pedestrian and bicycle improvements, at Facebook's sole cost. 
Facebook will also commit to constructing additional Chilco Street 
Improvements, which would include installation of bike lane improvements on 
the northern side of Chilco and streetscape, and sidewalk and bike 

2 



improvements on the southern side of Chilco across the rail crossing, in 
exchange for a reduction in construction street impact fees. 

3. Housing Benefits: 

• Commitment to explore opportunities and identify projects that can be directly 
financed and implemented as soon as is feasible in order to leverage 
approximately $6.3 million in BMR housing fees to create the maximum number 
of affordable units feasible. 

• $350,000 funding commitment to conduct a Housing Inventory and Local Supply 
Study in partnership with the City of Menlo Park and East Palo Alto to assess 
local housing conditions and facilitate development of a regional housing 
strategy. 

• $1.5 million funding commitment to establish a Housing Innovation Fund to 
identify near-term actions that can be taken within the local community as a 
direct outcome of the Housing Inventory and Local Supply Study. 

• $1 million commitment to establish a pilot Housing Preservation Fund to identify 
and purchase housing in the immediate vicinity of our campus to protect at-risk 
populations. 

• Commitment to initiate a pilot Workforce Housing Program in the Belle Haven 
community that will reduce rents for up to 22 units of workforce housing at 777 
Hamilton Avenue for five years (up to $430,000 per year for five years, or $2.15 
million) with priority being given to local teachers. 

• Commitment to the planning and design of at least 1,500 housing units on the 
Prologis Site consistent with the General Plan Update and agreement that any 
residential project on the Prologis Site must include 15% BMR units and/or 
workforce housing units (regardless of whether the units are for sale or rentals). 

4. Project Benefits: 

• A new, two-acre publicly accessible open space to be privately maintained by 
Facebook for use by Facebook and the community, with space for programming 
and events such as farmer's markets, movie-nights and food truck festivals. 

• A new, publicly-accessible, multi-use bridge across Bayfront Expressway that will 
provide a safe connection from Belle Haven to the Bay. 

5. Environmental Benefits: 

• Commitment to LEED Gold and development of a recycled water system to 
reduce water demand by approximately 20 million gallons annually. 

• Commitment to pay $25,000 to help fund a feasibility study for a Bayfront area
wide recycled water system. 

3 



• Funding a docent for two years, a new interpretive display associated with the 
multi-use bridge, realignment of the Bay Trail and a snowy plover enhancement 
study to benefit Bedwell Bayfront Park. 

6. Local Community Benefits: 

• Commitment to underwrite operating expenses for the year-round operation of 
the local Belle Haven Pool ($60,000 per year for five years) and fund the local 
community fund ($100,000 per year for five years). 

• Commitment to establish and fund a new scholarship program for students 
residing in Menlo Park and East Palo Alto ($100,000 per year for ten years). 

• Commitment to contribute $1 million to the Bedwell Bayfront Park Maintenance 
Fund for maintenance and operations. 

Facebook's obligations under the Development Agreement will be considerable. 
They are in addition to the significant resources we have previously contributed to the 
City and surrounding communities, not to mention the many other steps we have taken 
to minimize our impact such as our operation of a robust TDM program that prevents a 
significant proportion of our employees from driving alone to work. We have worked 
hard to be a good neighbor, and we think the items included in the Development 
Agreement Term Sheet continue this commitment. 

We thank you for your consideration of this matter, and welcome your questions 
and a further dialogue at our upcoming public hearing on July 19, 2016. 

oh Tenanes 
V , Global Facilities & Real Estate 

4 



Proposed Term Sheet for the Campus Expansion Project 

Revenues Facebook offers the following revenues and revenue guarantees: 

• Upon occupancy of Building 21; Facebook will pay the City $300k per year for 20 years, to be 
increased by CPI every 5 years. 

• Upon occupancy of Building 21, Facebook will pay the City $336k per year (4x the $84K in 
sales taxes that TE historically paid according to the City's Fiscal Impact Assessment) to be 
increased by CPI every 5 years. This obligation will continue until the earliest of (a) 2 years 
after TE vacates 305 Constitution, (b) 41 years after the first payment is made, or 
(c) Face book's vacating of the site. If TE vacates 305 Constitution and the hotel opens before 
this payment obligation expires, Facebook will be entitled to a credit for any TOT received by 
the City and payable with respect to the period of time that this in-lieu payment is payable. 

• 2 years after TE vacates 305 Constitution, Facebook will guarantee that the City receives TOT 
of at least $1.25M (increased by CPI every 5 years) per year. This obligation will continue 
until the earlier of Facebook's vacating of the site or 41 years after TE vacates 305 
Constitution (39 years + 2 years when the in-lieu sales tax is payable). Facebook will pay 
hotel rates consistent with then current standard rates, excepting block reservation 
discounts which will be permitted. TOT will be payable on extended stays. 

• Facebook agrees that the hotel's TOT rate will be set 1 basis point higher than the rate that 
would otherwise be applicable. 

• Facebook will guarantee the following assessed values on a building-by-building basis: 
(a) Building 21 - $325,000,000, (b) Building 22 - $300,000,000, and (c) Hotel - $70,000,000 
(each increased by the lesser of 2% or CPI annually). These guarantee obligations will 
commence upon occupancy for each respective building and will continue until the earlier of 
Facebook's vacating of the site or 39 years from receipt of a certificate of occupancy for the 
applicable building. 

• There will be no cap on the Utility Users Tax (UUT) at the TE site once TE vacates 305 
Constitution. There will be no cap on the UUT at Building 20 upon the earlier of January 1 or 
July 1, following the effective date of the Development Agreement. 

If all the buildings are completed within 10 years, the annual additional revenues generated by the 
project will be approximately $2.lM. 

Facebook will also cooperate with the City's sales and use tax consultant to ensure that the 
maximum amount of use taxes from construction of the project are directed to the City. 

The current vision for the hotel is a limited service hotel. Facebook agrees that the hotel must 
include a restaurant and a hotel bar. 

Infrastructure/ STUDY: 
Transportation 

1. Facebook has committed funding to SamTrans for the Dumbarton Corridor Study as a 
Multi-Modal Transportation Corridor. This study, begun in February, 2016, is scheduled 
to be made public in April 2017. The financial value of this commitment is $1M. 

5 



2. Facebook agrees to fund future recommendations arising from the Dumbarton Corridor 
Study. These may include: 

a. Pre-design and/or environmental clearance for preferred corridor transit 
improvements, 

b. Negotiations and/or payments to UPRR to extinguish freight trackage rights and 
re-certification of the corridor with the Federal Transportation Authority to allow 
multiple modes, or 

c. Other studies and actions to support the activation of this un-used resource to 
support regional mobility options. 

The financial value of this commitment is up to $1M. 

3. Facebook proposes to partner with the City and other land-owners and employers in the 
study area of the General Plan Update to fund a Transportation Management Association 
(TMA) Feasibility & Implementation Strategy. This study will review the hurdles to and 
triggers of service delivery and will identify potential implementation strategies, and, if 
sufficient funds remain, fund a portion of the TMA's startup costs. In addition, Facebook 
agrees to cooperate with the City and other landowners and employers in connection 
with the implementation of a TMA, and to share Facebook's best practices with the TMA. 
The financial value of this commitment is $100k. 

DESIGN: 

Face book has committed funding to Sam Trans for the Design of a Pedestrian/Bicycle Path 

between East Palo Alto and Redwood City Caltrain Station. This study, begun in February 

2016, is scheduled to be completed by September 2016, and will enable the shared p~th 

to be environmentally cleared if it is selected as a preferred solution by SamTrans in the 

Dumbarton Corridor Study. The financial value of this commitment is $700k. 

DEVELOP STRATEGY: 

Facebook recognizes that regional transportation issues require equitable regional 

partnerships. Facebook proposes to partner with Menlo Park, East Palo Alto, San Mateo 

County, Santa Clara County, and other key stakeholders to convene a forum to consider 

and evaluate innovative ways that the recommendations of the Dumbarton Corridor 

Study may be executed with minimal delays. Facebook envisions that this forum will 

concentrate on funding, operational and construction strategies as well as innovations 

intended to facilitate an integrated execution of regional improvements to multi-modal 

transportation options. In addition, and following the forum, Facebook agrees to help 

develop design, operational and construction strategies. Facebook agrees to spend up to 

$1M on this commitment. 

Facebook agrees to participate in new projects that arise from the Dumbarton Corridor 

Study, however, the amount of any financial contribution will be in Facebook's sole 

discretion. 

IMPROVEMENTS: 

Facebook will complete certain Chilco streetscape improvements (phases 1-4) at its sole 

cost. In addition, Facebook will complete certain additional Chilco streetscape 

6 



Housing 

improvements requested by the City (phases 5 and 6). These additional improvements 

include installation of bike lane improvements on the northern side of Chilco and 

streetscape, sidewalk and bike improvements on the southern side of Chilco across the 

rail crossing. As consideration for performing the additional Chilco streetscape 

improvements, the City agrees to reduce the Construction Street Impact Fees assessed 

against the Project by an amount equal to the actual costs for such additional 

improvements. 

To help ameliorate its impact ori regional housing, Facebook offers to provide the following housing 
benefits: 

STUDY: 

Facebook will collaborate with the cities of Menlo Park and East Palo Alto to conduct a Housing 
Inventory and Local Supply Study to assess the conditions, occupancy, and resident profiles of the 
immediate vicinity. The intent of this study is to establish a baseline understanding of the housing 
conditions in the area and facilitate the development of an informed regional housing strategy. 
Facebook will engage the consultant that performs the study. The value of this commitment is 
$350k. 

PILOT: 

1. Facebook will, in connection with a reputable affordable housing manager, seek to 
establish a Housing Preservation Fund pilot project. This pilot project will establish a fund 
to identify and purchase housing in the immediate vicinity of our campus to protect at
risk populations. The value of this commitment is $1M. 

2. Facebook proposes to initiate a Workforce Housing Pilot program in the Belle Haven 
community. This pilot will subsidize rents for up to 22 units of workforce housing at 777 
Hamilton Avenue for community serving professions such as teachers. Facebook will 
partner with an appropriate organization to administer the program. The allocation of 
the units will be prioritized as follows: (1) teachers employed by the Ravenswood City 
School District or a non-profit school that is located in the area encompassed by the 
Ravenswood City School District, (2) teachers employed by the Menlo Park City School 
District, the Las Lomitas School District or teachers directly employed by Menlo-Atherton 
High School, (3) persons engaged in public safety professions (e.g., police officers, fire 
fighters, etc.) and employed by the City or the Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and 
(4) persons employed by public interest non-profit organizations located in the cities of 
Menlo Park or East Palo Alto. The value of this commitment is up to $430k per year for 5 
years or up to $2.lSM. 

3. Facebook will establish a Housing Innovation Fund to identify near-term actions that may 
be taken with the community as a direct outcome of the Housing Inventory and Local 
Supply Study. The value of this commitment is $1.SM. 

BUILD/DESIGN: 

1. Facebook will explore opportunities that will allow it to use BMR housing fees payable in 
connection with the project to develop the maximum number of units that can be 
procured with those fees. The value of this commitment is $6.3M. 

2. If the General Plan Update is approved, Facebook will commit to the planning and design 

7 



Community 
Benefits 

Environmental 
Benefits 

Other 

of at least 1,500 housing units on the Prologis Site. Facebook agrees that any residential 
project on the Prologis site will include 15% BMR units and/or workforce housing units 
(regardless of whether the units are for sale or rentals). 

Face book will fund $60k per year for pool operation and maintenance for 5 years. 

Facebook will establish a scholarship program ($100k per year) for residents of East Palo Alto and 
Menlo Park for 10 years. Upon the expiration of the 10 year term, Facebook agrees to consider 
extending the program. 

Facebook will provide additional funding for the community fund ($100k per year) for 5 years. Upon 
expiration of the 5 year term, Facebook agrees to consider extending funding for the community 
fund. 

Facebook will pay the City $1M to fund maintenance and operations at Bedwell Bayfront Park by 
making a one-time payment to the Bedwell Bayfront Park Maintenance Fund. 

Facebook will build and operate a bike/ped bridge over Bayfront Expressway which will be 
accessible to the public and build, operate and maintain a public space between Buildings 21 and 22 
that will be open to the public but remain private property. The public space will be a passive open 
space. The public space will not be available for active recreation sports. Facebook will set 
reasonable daytime operational hours for the public space. Facebook will be responsible for the 
programming, maintenance, operation and scheduling of activities at the public space and may 
enact reasonable rules (e.g., no camping, no open flames, etc.). The City agrees to cooperate with 
Facebook to ensure it has reasonable control over the public open space (e.g., an easement will not 
be the appropriate means of conveying the right to use the public space). 

Face book agrees to keep the path connecting the bike/ped bridge and Chilco Street open 24/7 /365 
(except that Facebook will be permitted to close the path in cases of emergency). 

Facebook will build Buildings 21 and 22 to LEED Gold including provision of PV panels at Building 21. 

Given the industrial history of the site, redevelopment will likely require further soil remediation and 
cleanup (estimated cost of $2M). 

Facebook will install a recycled water system on its site. If a recycled water system is developed by 
West Bay, Facebook agrees to have future buildings it develops in the M-2 area pay their 
proportionate share of the systems' costs. In addition, Facebook agrees to contribute $25k in seed 
funding for feasibility studies for an M-2 area recycled water system. 

The City will provide Facebook assurances as to changes in fees and applicable law similar to those 
included in the previous DAs. This protection will run for 20 years. 

The City will do what it can to help expedite the project internally and externally (including with 
neighboring communities). This will include working with Facebook to create an expedited 
permitting plan for the construction phase of the project. 

Facebook agrees that the DA for the East Campus will be amended to remove the ability to reduce 
the annual payment. Facebook will, however, retain the right to revert to the previous employee 
cap and cease having to make the in-lieu payment. 

8 



Community Development 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

STAFF REPORT 

City Council  
Meeting Date:  7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number: 16-129-CC 

Regular Business: Appoint a City Council Subcommittee to assist with 
negotiation of a development agreement for the 
Station 1300 Project, and provide direction for the 
consideration of the subcommittee  

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the City Council take the following actions for the Station 1300 project (also known 
as the 1300 El Camino Real proposal): 
• Appoint two of its members to a City Council Subcommittee to assist the City negotiating team with and

provide feedback on a Development Agreement; and
• Provide direction, if any, on the proposed Public Benefit, for the consideration of the Subcommittee.

Policy Issues 
The creation of a Council Subcommittee and any direction on the proposed Public Benefit would be used to 
refine the project, which would be presented for future Council consideration.  

Background 

Project description 
Greenheart Land Company (“Greenheart”) is proposing to redevelop a multi-acre site on El Camino Real 
and Oak Grove Avenue with up to 217,000 square feet of non-residential uses and approximately 182 
dwelling units. A location map is included as Attachment A. The project would demolish the existing 
structures in the southern portion of the site and construct approximately 420,000 square feet of mixed uses. 
In total, the project would include three mixed-use buildings, a surface parking lot, an underground parking 
garage, onsite linkages, and landscaping. The uses at the project site would include approximately 188,900 
to 199,300 square feet of non-medical office space in two buildings, approximately 202,100 square feet of 
residential space in one building, and up to 29,000 square feet of community-serving space throughout the 
proposed office and residential buildings. The project would provide approximately 1,000 parking spaces 
within an underground parking garage and a small surface parking lot. Excerpts of the project plans are 
included for reference as Attachment B. The project plans are still undergoing refinement, and will change 
somewhat prior to final review.  

Analysis 

Public Benefit Bonus 
The primary focus of the July 19 meeting is the designation of two Council Members to a Subcommittee, 
which would assist staff in negotiating the Public Benefit associated with the project.  

AGENDA ITEM I-3



Staff Report #: 16-129-CC 

 
   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

The project would be consistent with the allowed development in the ECR NE-R District with a Public 
Benefit Bonus. The permitted Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is 1.10, but with a Public Benefit Bonus the FAR can 
increase to 1.50. In either scenario, non-medical office is limited to no more than one-half the maximum 
FAR. The maximum height in the ECR NE-R district is 38 feet, although 48 feet is permitted with a Public 
Benefit Bonus. In either scenario, building facades cannot exceed a height of 38 feet. The project would be 
constructed at the maximum FAR and height as permitted with a Public Benefit Bonus. 
 
The Public Benefit Bonus process allows additional development beyond the base intensity and height in 
exchange for providing additional benefits to the public. Potential examples of public benefits listed in the 
Specific Plan include publicly accessible open space, senior housing, additional affordable residential units, 
hotel facilities, preservation/reuse of historic resources, public parks/plazas, shuttle services, or a public 
amenity fund contribution.  
 
Applicant proposal 
The project has submitted a Public Benefit proposal, which is included as Attachment C. The proposal 
discusses a number of inherent project benefits, although the Public Benefit itself would take the form of a 
cash contribution to the pending El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan Public Amenity Fund, in the 
amount of $2,100,000. The applicant has requested that this be memorialized through a Development 
Agreement, in order to document the project’s contribution and vest any project entitlements ultimately 
approved by the City. 
 
Fiscal/economic analysis 
As required by the Specific Plan, staff has coordinated the preparation of an independent fiscal/economic 
analysis of both the project and its Public Benefit proposal, which is included respectively as two memos 
(Attachments D and E) by the City’s consultant BAE. BAE has prepared detailed ‘pro formas,’ which 
examine typical revenues and costs for both the Public Benefit Bonus proposal (Bonus Project), as well as a 
similar proposal at the Base-level development standards (Base Project). The Base Project has not been 
fully designed, but the applicant has described it in sufficient detail for BAE to analyze its relative value. 
Both pro formas take into account factors such as current construction costs, City fees, capitalization rates, 
and typical market rents. However, as noted in the document, such factors can change, which may 
substantively affect the conclusions of the analysis. For this case, BAE has determined that development of 
the proposed Bonus Project would create approximately $6,300,000 in additional project value compared to 
the Base Project. 
 
For the value of the proposed Public Benefit, the cash nature of the applicant’s proposal means that BAE 
does not need to provide possible estimates of its equivalent monetary value (as was done for other 
projects that proposed on-site benefits such as a community garden). However, BAE has provided analyses 
of the proposed $2.1 million payment’s relationship to other considerations. For example, at its most basic, 
the proposed payment would represent one-third of the estimated value increase for the proposed project 
($2.1 million / $6.3 million = 0.333). BAE has also included comparisons with how other jurisdictions are 
considering this topic, as well as a draft analysis of a “FAR-foot value” calculation method discussed by the 
Planning Commission during a previous discussion of the public benefit topic.  
 
The memo does not recommend acceptance or rejection of the applicant’s Public Benefit proposal, but 
provides context for consideration. The Public Benefit Bonus process allows for a wide range of 
discussion/direction on the topic, although the core question is whether the public benefits and the 
developer benefits are roughly aligned, or whether the public benefit proposal needs to be augmented or 
otherwise revised. The Specific Plan does not establish an explicit ratio for the value of the public benefit in 
relation to the developer benefit. However, it is implied that these values should not be orders of magnitude 
apart. For reference, the in-progress General Plan Update includes draft Zoning Ordinance updates that 



Staff Report #: 16-129-CC 

 
   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

would establish a “floor area-foot” value calculation for Bonus level projects, with a requirement that 
community amenities be valued at 50 percent of the increased project. 
 
Planning Commission review 
On March 21, 2016, the Planning Commission considered this topic in a study session. The Commission did 
not take any action, but provided individual comments for the consideration of the applicant and staff. The 
approved excerpt minutes are included as Attachment E. 
 
From staff’s perspective, the Commissioners generally appeared to consider the proposal favorably, with 
some caveats. Such individual comments included the following: 
 
• Additional residential units, in particular more BMR units, could be considered a public benefit (possibly 

in lieu of the proposed financial contribution, or possibly in addition to it); 
• The $6.3 million profit increase estimate may be conservative, in which case a higher contribution could 

be appropriate; 
• Public benefit could be considered more broadly, accounting for elements like the project’s on-site 

plaza/park spaces; 
• A contribution of one-half of the estimated profit increase may be more appropriate than the proposed 

one-third; and 
• Whatever the amount, a financial contribution from the applicant could be used toward a number of goals, 

including transportation and housing improvements in the Specific Plan area. 
 
City Council review and next steps 
At this point, staff recommends that the City Council appoint two members to a subcommittee. Such a 
subcommittee would be charged with providing input to a City negotiating team for the proposed 
Development Agreement. Similar subcommittees have been a productive mechanism for other projects 
(such as the various Facebook development proposals) to finalize details.  
 
Following the designation of a subcommittee, Council Members should also provide feedback on the Public 
Benefit Bonus. As part of this discussion, the Council may also note whether any additional 
information/analysis is needed to complete consideration of this topic.  
 
The intent would then be to bring a Development Agreement Term Sheet back to the Council for formal 
approval. For the proposed project, if the proposed financial contribution remains the primary Public Benefit, 
the Term Sheet could potentially be brought back to the Council on August 30, 2016. In the meantime, the 
overall project continues to undergo review and refinement, and is expected to be presented for 
Commission and Council review and action later this year.  

 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 



Staff Report #: 16-129-CC 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Attachments 
A. Location Map 
B. Project Plan Excerpts 
C. Station 1300 Public Benefit Proposal 
D. BAE Memorandum – Financial Modeling of Project 
E. BAE Memorandum – Evaluation of Proposed Public Benefit 
F. Planning Commission – March 21, 2016 Approved Excerpt Minutes 

Report prepared by: 
Thomas Rogers, Principal Planner 



1300

555

550

11
00

1010

1300

330

1261

720
1010

1377

1040

1100

402450

714

1436

1235

1018

530

611

1133

1101

517
409

1308

643

568

610

1315

1295

510

1275 1257

70
0

550

1100

1041

1325

550

1171

9

1080

1508

1047

580

1466

1435

11
70

440

13
80

1350

430

51
0

1258

55
6

400

1190

1044

1249 1243

1540

1465

1257

69
0

1035

1273

1280
1281

1535

1300

14
50

1019

70
2

1200

1449

1485

6

8

2

5

4

7

1

3

1251

460

725

42
4

1220

58
5

41
7

1220

1425

1272

1455

385

41
6

67
1

42
8

68
1

70
8

71
6

42
5

54
8

44
9

43
9

1533

1531

1270

1311

1464

50
8

1284

65
0

1071

1294

1300

1420

4
2 1

3

70
5

1140

12
46

1452

14
10

67
0

1430

1239

63
0

1281

1283

1279

1450

1240

65
0

1340

12501249

1440

13
70

560

64
2

1417

1260

1150

1448

1019

1261

1265

1261

1425

1273

1449

1166

1311

1281

1435

1301

1517

1035

1041

1130

1309 1309

1445

1401

1029

1320

1031

1045

13251330

11
27

65
4

1333

62
6

65
5

64
0

1341

13
45

10

1340

56
0

73
5

57
0

10
50

1025

1104

1179

11
61

11
41

1118

1160

1110

1438

1450

1400

1422

1451

14
15

14
60

1023

70
5

695

1409

1231

1264

1160

1341

13
57

1245

1305

1243

1230

1111

10
20

1119

1050

1537

71
5

70
5

71
9

63
5

63
9

72
5

62
0

65
1

1103

12
38

12
36

1047

1083

1330

1340

1125

1225

11

718

720

1161

1346

13

1036

1090

57
0

71
7 1189

1066

1150

1350

605

62
5

1074

10
75

1035

12
34

1137

63
0

64
0

64
4

64
8

65
0

1153

1164
1149

11
75

1195

1001

1075

1142

365
657

622

385

707

1081

501

451
451

451
451

724
718

625633 989

1529

1324

451
451

451
451

1326
1326

671

445
445

445
445

445
445

445
445503

704702

1309

445

705

1355 1347

1313

1326
1326

719

1330

715

710712

704

1332

14231444

671

1334

445

718

1259

1319 1317

1335

711

1326
1331

721

1266

1326

723

1337

715

1332

1236

718

1268

1234

1244

1244

1246

1238

1244

1242

1244

723 721 701 697 675

1257

727 631

523

1333

1329

521

706

707
709

615

1315

445

132313251317

1307

1516

14321432

1518

12291233

735

750

LA
U

R
E

L 
S

T

E
L 

C
A

M
IN

O
 R

E
A

L

OAK GROVE AVE
M

IL
LS

 S
T

A
L

M
A

 S
T

H
O

O
V

E
R

 S
T

A
L

M
A

 L
N

GLENWOOD AVE

NOEL DR

M
E

R
R

IL
L 

S
T

G
A

R
W

O
O

D
 W

A
Y

SANTA CRUZ AVE

VALPARAISO AVE
V

IC
T

O
R

IA
 D

R

DOUGLAS WY

M
IL

LS
 C

T

D
O

Y
LE

 S
T

S
A

N
 A

N
T

O
N

IO
 S

T

M
A

LO
N

E
Y

 L
N

C
U

R
T

IS
 S

T

DERRY LN

JO
H

N
S

O
N

 L
N

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 S
T

BASSETT LN

CITY OF MENLO PARK
LOCATION MAP

STATION 1300 (1300 El CAMINO REAL)

´

DRAWN: THR CHECKED: THR DATE: 03/21/16 SCALE: 1" = 300' SHEET: 1

PROJECT
LOCATION

ATTACHMENT A



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



COMMUNITY SERVING 
USES

COMMUNITY SERVING 
USES OR OFFICE

COMMUNITY SERVING 
USES OR OFFICE

Community Serving Uses include Restaurants, Retail & Personal/Business Services

COMMUNITY SERVING 
USES

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y
 S

E
R

V
IN

G
 

U
S

E
S

ATTACHMENT B



edge of sidewalk

property line

min. setback

max. setback

8’

10’

10’

edge of sidewalk

property line

min. setback

max. setback

8’

10’

10’

20’ 50’

100’

50’minor 
modulation

major 
modulation

50’
50’

major 
modulation

major 
modulation





2
5

’-
0

”

3
3

’-
0

”

1
8

’

1
0

’



175’ max.

upper 
floor 

setback

minor modulation

<100’

major 
modulation

100’

50’

max. setback

min. setback

city plan

prop. line

major 
modulation

















621 High Street, Palo Alto, CA, 94303

ATTACHMENT C



Public Benefit Proposal 
for 

Station 1300 

Prepared for: 
City of Menlo Park 

Prepared by: 
Greenheart Land Company 

January 27, 2016



Public Benefit Proposal 
for Station 1300 

1	

Greenheart Land Co. (“GLC”) has proposed to develop a mixed-use project at Public Benefit 
density at the properties located at 1258 and 1300 El Camino Real and the adjacent Derry Lane 
parcels. Preliminary drawings of the proposal have been submitted to the City. The following 
summarizes benefits of Station 1300 to Menlo Park. 

There are two categories of benefits: (1) intrinsic community benefits, those that are integral to 
the development itself, and (2) Public Benefits, those that are proposed to achieve the public 
benefit density as specified in the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan (“Plan”). Station 
1300 will be a dramatic improvement to a prominent and long blighted site and, by its nature, 
bring extraordinary benefits that will be enjoyed by many. Station 1300 will be more than a place 
to work and live; it will offer the people of Menlo Park new venues to shop, eat and gather. 
Further, the intrinsic benefits to the community will include such things as new bike routes; 
sorely needed rental housing; revenues for the City, schools, and other public entities; and 
fulfillment of the Plan Vision. 

At the public benefit density (“Public Benefit Case”), the intrinsic community benefits of Station 
1300 will far exceed those of the base density (“Base Case”). For example, there will be more 
and larger public spaces; more greatly needed residential units; greater stimulus to the 
downtown; and more revenue to the City, schools, fire department and other governmental 
entities. 

In addition to these intrinsic community benefits, GLC will make a Public Benefit cash 
contribution of $2,100,000 to the Downtown Amenity Fund. This is one third of the incremental 
financial benefit that the City’s consultant BAE has determined will accrue to GLC from the 
Public Benefit Case. 

The Public Benefit Case and Base Case developments are described below in Section I. The 
intrinsic community benefits are detailed in Section II, and the Public Benefit is described further 
in Section III.  

I. Development Description 

At base density (i.e., floor area ratio – FAR – 110%), Station 1300 would consist of 310,000 sf in 
the form of two 2-story office buildings totaling 155,000 sf; a 3-story rental residential structure; 
10,000 sf of community serving businesses (such as restaurants and retail) spread among the 
three buildings; and a 5-level above ground parking structure. The public benefit density (i.e., 
FAR 150%) development would consist of 420,000 sf, which would include about 190,000 sf of 
office buildings at 3-stories; 202,000 sf of apartments at 4-stories; about 30,000 sf of space for 
community serving businesses; and one and one-half floors of underground parking. The Public 
Benefit Case would have more open space, more residences, and more space devoted to 
community serving businesses. The two development scenarios are described further in  
Exhibit A.



2	

II. Intrinsic Community Benefits

Station 1300 will benefit Menlo Park in numerous ways, and the Public Benefit Case 
development has several advantages over the Base Case development. The benefits of the Base 
and Public Benefit cases are compared in Exhibit B and described in detail below. The costs of 
the community benefits for each case are summarized in Exhibit C. 

Those benefits that are equally afforded by both alternatives are described below in Section IIA. 
By most measures the Public Benefit Case offers substantially more intrinsic community benefits 
as described in Section IIB. 

A. Similar Benefits of Public Case and Base Case 

Of the twelve Plan goals, Station 1300 fulfills all that are applicable. Some will be met to an 
equal degree by both cases.  

1. Improve circulation and streetscape conditions on El Camino Real: Greenheart will build
a new public street on its property to connect Glenwood Ave with Oak Grove Ave.
Ownership of the land and improvements will be deeded to the City. The new street will
complete the connection between Encinal Ave and Ravenswood Ave, and improve access to
the Caltrain station, and remove some cars from El Camino. With the missing link in place,
Garwood will become a safe alternative bike route to El Camino Real for travel to the
Caltrain station and Santa Cruz Ave. The cost to construct the new public street is estimated
to be $2,300,000 (excluding land and design costs) and will be borne by Greenheart.

Another important circulation program will be robust GLC Transportation Demand 
Management (TDM) program which will reduce the number of vehicular trips of employees 
and residents. These TDM’s include Caltrain Go-Passes (free 24/7 train use) for every 
apartment and office employee, extensive bike parking, showers and changing rooms in the 
office buildings, preferential car pool parking, and pay parking, an economic incentive to not 
drive. 

The El Camino streetscape at the site of Station 1300 has been a community embarrassment 
for more than a decade. Station 1300 will fulfill the long held citywide desire for 
improvement.  

2. Ensure that El Camino Real development is sensitive to and compatible with adjacent
neighborhoods:  The architecture of Station 1300 draws from the Spanish Eclectic that is
enjoyed at the revered Allied Arts complex and many structures throughout Menlo Park.  The
apartments will face Garwood and Oak Grove and thereby provide an attractive façade to the
residential neighborhoods to the east and the 1155 Merrill condominiums. Further, the
apartments will be separated by over 100 ft. from the residential neighborhood to the east by
the intervening Garwood extension and the railroad right-of-way.



3	

3. Revitalize the under-utilized parcels and buildings: Station 1300 will revitalize one of the
two most significant under-utilized areas on El Camino Real in Menlo Park.

4. Provide an integrated, safe and well-designed pedestrian and bicycle network:
Currently Garwood terminates at the rear of Station 1300 at the border of the former Derry
Property. With the extension of Garwood to Oak Grove and the provision of a sidewalk and
bicycle route, the link between neighborhoods to the north, including the two new hotels, to
the Caltrain Station, downtown, and beyond, will be completed to provide a route safer and
more pleasurable than the El Camino alternative. Additionally, at GLC’s expense, Oak Grove
will be widened to accommodate a bike route, thereby improving the important connector
between West Menlo and Menlo-Atherton High School.

B. Enhanced Benefits of the PB Case 

Under the Public Benefit Case, many of the Plan goals will be met to a greater degree of than 
with the Base Case. In addition, the Public Benefit Case will generate more revenues for the 
City, schools and other governmental entities. 

1. Maintain Village Character: Station 1300 will include the elements that define Menlo
Park’s “Village” character: street level activity, scale of buildings, open space, and eclectic
and inviting architecture. The El Camino and Oak Grove frontages will have ground level
shops and restaurants consistent with the areas around it. Even at the Public Benefit height,
Station 1300 will be consistent with many of the buildings in the El Camino corridor,
including the adjacent condominiums at the corner of Oak Grove and Merrill. Further, the
buildings are highly articulated to break up the mass and to continue the varied shapes and
forms that characterize the Plan area.

One dimension of Menlo’s “Village” character is its open spaces. The Plan requires that new 
development in the Plan area have 20% open space. The Base Case alternative would barely 
achieve this objective because of the above ground parking structure. The Public Benefit 
Case would devote over 49% of the site to at grade open space. Underground parking (Public 
Benefit Case only) is a considerable benefit to the community because it eliminates the need 
for an above ground parking structure (Base Case) and thereby reduces building coverage 
and increases the amount of open space. Underground parking will cost GLC over 
$26,000,000 more than above ground parking according to the BAE study done for the City. 
In addition, village character is enhanced by the elimination of the 5-level Base Case parking 
structure. 

2. Improve circulation and streetscape condition on El Camino Real: In addition to the
improvements described previously (e.g., extension of Garwood), Station 1300 will
contribute nearly $1,300,000 in traffic impact fees to improve circulation. (This is $350,000
more than with the Base Case.)

3. Activate the train stations: Station 1300 is the “poster-child” for mixed-use transit oriented
development. The importance of the proximity to the Caltrain station is emphasized in the



4	

name of the development, Station 1300. The train station area will be activated by increasing 
train ridership and creating a center of activity at the Oak Grove Plaza. 

Business and residential tenants will be attracted to Station 1300 because they want to get out 
of their cars and commute by train, as well as walk to downtown amenities. Further, GLC 
will issue Caltrain Go-Passes to all tenants to incentivize rail use. 

The main entry of the residential building and Oak Grove Plaza will be oriented toward and 
have a line of sight connection with the train station. This node will be activated by the 
convergence of many uses: leasing office, adjacent retail, plaza café with outdoor dining, the 
grand entry to the apartments, and in the Public Benefit Case, the pedestrian entry to the 
under ground parking. The Public Benefit Case will have 35% more floor area, and therefore 
35% more people than the Base Case. Thus, it will bring 35% more activity to the train 
station than the Base Case.

4. Expand shopping, dining and neighborhood services to ensure a vibrant downtown:
Along the El Camino Real frontage, the Public Benefit Case would offer two restaurants as
well as community serving businesses. It is contemplated that Oak Grove businesses will
include casual dining and other food related products. The Public Benefit Case will devote
18,600 sf to 29,000 sf to these uses. The Base Case will designate 10,000 sf for community
serving uses.

In addition, activity in downtown will increase when there is a greater daytime and evening 
population to support existing and new businesses: restaurants, retail, and services. This in 
turn will attract more Menlo Park residents to downtown. Station 1300 office workers will be 
daytime patrons and new residents will enliven downtown in the evening. Like with the 
increased activity in the Caltrain Station area described above, the Public Benefit Case can 
reasonably be expected to bring 35% more stimulus, not counting the multiplier effect, to the 
downtown than the Base Case. 

5. Provide residential opportunities in the Vision Plan Area: Menlo Park homes are among
the most expensive in a region that itself is one of the most expensive in the U.S. The average
sales price for a single family home in Menlo Park in 2015 was $2,340,000. All residences at
Station 1300 will be for rent, not purchase. Even at market rate, Station 1300 will add a
significant number of relatively affordable units (when compared to purchasing a home) to
the city housing stock. These units will appeal to a younger demographic that cannot afford
to buy in Menlo Park and will, thereby, increase diversity. In addition, it is this demographic
that will be especially drawn to Station 1300 because of the proximity of downtown
resources. Under the Public Benefit Case, there will be 182 units, 10 of which will be below
market rate (BMR). The Base Case development would have a total of about 130 units, 7 of
which would be BMR. (GLC is proposing a BMR plan that could provide considerably more
BMR units within the City, but in any event the Public Benefit Case will result in
proportionally more BMRs.)



5	

6. Provide plaza and park space: Much of the increased open space afforded by underground
parking will be made available to the public in the form of two plazas, an amphitheater plaza,
and a park. These amenities are depicted in Exhibit D.

Unlike Alma Station, there is no plan to cordon off these spaces to prevent public access. 
Indeed, it is GLC’s desire for the community to energize the spaces.  

Central Plaza: Between the office buildings, there will be a large (approximately one-half 
acre) plaza that will be a central feature of Station 1300. (The Base Case Central Plaza would 
be considerably smaller.) This will be a multi-use gathering place for the community. The 
pedestrian entry off El Camino will be through a colonnade with restaurants on each side. 
The Garwood entry will take the visitor through a landscaped corridor, past Garwood Park, 
and through the amphitheater. At the western end will be family restaurant dining that will 
flow into the Plaza. The courtyard at the center will be bordered by landscaped islands that 
are 18 inches above the plaza surface, which will serve as seating. Café tables in the tree-
shaded islands will be for non-restaurant dining or hanging out with friends or a laptop. 
Children, in particular, will enjoy the “play art” sculptures in the islands. The central 
courtyard will accommodate larger gatherings such as concerts, presentations, social 
gatherings, and the like. The design of the Central Plaza is intentionally flexible to allow uses 
as varied as reading in the shade to a reception for hundreds of people. 

Oak Grove-Garwood Plaza: GLC will provide an approximately 3,600 sf plaza at the corner 
of Oak Grove and the new Garwood extension. (The Base Case plaza would be smaller.) The 
plaza will feature decorative paving, outdoor seating, and landscaping. It will be adjacent to 
food and retail services. This plaza is oriented to the Caltrain station to enliven the station 
area and is intended for outdoor dining in the spirit of Café Borrone’s Plaza.  

Garwood Park: GLC will provide an approximately 18,000 sf park near the northeast portion 
of the development along Garwood Avenue. This will be a place of recreation, both active 
and passive. Proposed amenities include bocce courts, ping pong tables, BBQs, picnic tables, 
and park seating. The park will be highly landscaped and have a shade trellis. (Garwood Park 
is not included in the Base Case.) 

Plaza Amphitheater: Between Garwood Park and the Central Plaza will be an 8,200 sf 
amphitheater area for public presentations, musical or otherwise, at a scale more intimate 
than the Central Plaza. (The Base Case does not include the amphitheater.) 

The construction cost of the park and plazas is estimated to be $3,380,000. The plazas are 
priced at $57 per square foot, which is the amount estimated for the Alma Station Public 
Benefit. At $85 per square foot, Garwood Park will be somewhat more expensive because of 
the higher level of improvements (e.g., trellis, BBQ facilities, permanent game tables, and 
bocce courts). Refer to Exhibit C. 

7. Financial Benefits: Both the Base Case and Public Benefit Case developments will generate
annual tax revenues to the City and other public entities, as well as one-time fees to the City



6	

and schools. Those residing and working at 1300 ECR will also spend in the Menlo Park 
economy.  

In summary, the Public Benefit development will provide the City and other public agencies, 
with over $8,000,000 in impact fees, $1,700,000 more than the Base Case development. The 
Public Benefit development will also spur over $21,000,000 in annual retail sales in Menlo 
Park, which is $10,000,000 more than the Base Case development.  

Further, the Public Benefit Case will increase annual revenues to the City by $550,000, 
which is $170,000 more than the Base Case development. The Public Benefit development 
will provide $1,700,000 per year in tax revenues to schools, which is $425,000 per year more 
than the Base Case. The total annual revenues to all public agencies generated by the Public 
Benefit Case will be about $5,000,000 or $1,700,000 more than the Base Case.  

8. Promote Sustainability—A Downtown Plan guiding principle is to incorporate a
“comprehensive approach to sustainability and carbon emissions reduction, utilizing
standards integrated with best practices and guidelines.”   Station 1300 has established the
goal of LEED Platinum certified office buildings as well as LEED Gold certification for the
residential building.  In addition, the office building will attempt to be certified as a Net Zero
Energy building by employing over 3,000 solar photovoltaic panels on the roofs as well as
incorporating an Open Loop Ground Source Heat Exchange heating/cooling system that will
utilize deep groundwater to heat/cool both the office and residential buildings.   Reaching
these goals will be a first by a privately funded speculative development in California.
LEED Silver is the goal for the Base Case residential and office buildings.

III. Public Benefits

A. Introduction 

As described previously, the Public Benefit Case offers the community intrinsic benefits that 
exceed those of the Base Case (e.g., greater revenues, more housing, more public open space). In 
addition, GLC will provide a Public Benefit that recognizes the value created by the increased 
floor ratio. 

The Plan encourages Public Benefits that are on-site (e.g., parks, plazas, and common rooms, pg. 
E17) and off-site (e.g., shuttle services, public amenity funds, pg. E17). The goal of the Plan is to 
encourage project sponsors to incorporate on-site Public Benefits that improve project quality 
and long-term utility to the public. GLC has sought to design Station 1300 to fulfill the vision of 
the Plan in all respects and to be an enduring asset to the community. GLC believes that the 
Public Benefit Case includes, as intrinsic benefits, many on-site features that address the Plan’s 
goals for public amenities. 

B. Proposal 

GLC proposes, beyond the on-site benefits noted above, to contribute $2,100,000 to the 
Downtown Amenity Fund for use in the Plan area in a manner decided by the people of Menlo 



7	

Park. This could include anything from a downtown parking structure, to downtown 
beautification, to whatever is deemed needed. The cash contribution would be one-third of the 
$6,300,000 value calculated by BAE and nearly two times the 18% cash Public Benefit provided 
by Alma Station. Refer to Exhibit E for further explanation. 

One major difference between the Public Benefit Case and the Base Case is the underground 
parking, which because of the high cost and additional time to construct increases development 
risk considerably. The amount of the contribution to the Downtown Amenity Fund reflects this 
added risk and the significant community benefits (e.g. open space and plazas) that are the 
consequence of locating the parking underground.  

IV. Summary

The GLC Public Benefit consist of a $2,100,000 contribution to the Public Amenity Fund. In 
addition, Station 1300 community benefits will include a park and plazas (1.2 acres) that are 
open to the public (costs $3,380,000); the extension of Garwood for vehicles, bikes, and 
pedestrians (cost $2,300,000); and for the Public Benefit Case additional impact fees 
($1,700,000) and additional annual revenues to the schools ($425,000 per year), as well as other 
intrinsic benefits. 



Exhibit	A

Development	Summary:	Base	and	Public	Benefit	Cases
Station	1300

Public	Benefit
Land	Use/Description Base	Case Case Difference
Office

No.	of	buildings 2 2 0
Height	 38	ft 48	ft 10	ft
Façade	height 38	ft 38	ft 0	ft
Stories 2 3 1
Space	(sf)

Office 155,000 188,900 33,900
Community	serving	(CS)	(maximum)* 5,000 21,100 16,100
Total 160,000 210,000 50,000

Residential
No.	of	buildings 1 1 0
Height	 38	ft 48	ft 10	ft
Façade	height 38	ft 38	ft 0	ft
Stories 3 4 1
Space	(sf)

Apartments 145,000 202,100 57,100
Community	serving 5,000 7,900 2,900
Total 150,000 210,000 60,000

Apartments
Market	rate 123 172 49
Below	market	rate 7 10 3
Total 130 182 52

Office+Residential+CS
Floor	area	ratio 1.10 1.50 0.40
Total	area 310,000	sf 420,000	sf 110,000	sf

Parking
Type Above	grnd Below	grnd N/A
Levels

Above	ground 4 0 4
Below	ground 1 2 1
Total 5 2 5

Parking	spaces 813 980 167

Open	Space	at	grade	(Percentage	of	Site	area)	 20% 49% 29%

*	The	minimum	amount	of	space	for	community	serving	businesses	in	the	office	buildings	would	be	10,700	sf,	which	
would	result	in	199,300	sf	of	office	space.



Exhibit	B

Intrinsic	Community	Benefits
Comparison	of	Base	and	Public	Benefit	Cases

Benefit Base	Case PB	Case Comments
Downtown	Specific	Plan	Vision

Maintain	village	character X XX PB	Case:	29%	more	of	the	site	in	open	space

X X Extend	Garwood,	Cost	$2,300,000

ECR	neighborhood	compatability X X
Revitilize	underutilized	parcels X X
Activate	train	station X XX PB	Case:	more	transit	patrons	and	activity
Expand	shopping	and	vibrancy X XX PB	Case:	35%	more	people	and	economic	activity
Provide	residential	opportunities	 X XX PB	Case:	52	more	units	(3	more	BMR	units)

Provide	plazas	and	park	space X XX PB	Case:	more	plaza	and	park	space	at	an	
additional	cost	of	$2,670,000

Central	plaza X XX PB	Case:	larger	plaza
Oak	Grove-Garwood	Plaza X XX PB	Case:	larger	plaza
Garwood	Park 0 X Base	Case:	no	park
Amphitheater	Plaza 0 X Base	Case:	no	amphitheater

Provide	pedestrian	and	bike	network X X
Financial	benefits

X XX PB	Case:	@1,700,000	per	year	more	revenue

Annual	tax	rev.	to	schools X XX PB	Case:	$425,000	per	year	more	revenue
Impact	and	connection	fees X XX PB	Case:	$1,700,000	more	fees

Sustainability
PB	Case:	seek	to	attain	LEED	Platinum	and	Net	Zero	
Energy
Base	Case:	LEED	Silver
PB	Case:	LEED	Gold
Base	Case:	LEED	Silver

Legend
0	=	benefit	not	present	
X	=	benefit	present
XX	=	greater	or	enhanced	benefit	

Residential	buildings X XX

Improve	ECR	circulation	and	
streetscape

Annual	tax	rev.	to	all	public	agencies	
including	schools

Office	buildings X XX



Exhibit	C

Cost	of	Intrinsic	Community	Benefits

Community	Benefit Base	Case PB	Case Difference

Garwood	Extension $2,300,000 $2,300,000 $0
New	Bike	Routes NIC NIC
Open	Space		(additional	cost	for	underground	parking) $0 $26,000,000 $26,000,000
Park	and	plazas (sf) ($/sf)

Central	plaza* 20,930 $57 $570,000 $1,193,010 $623,010
Oak	Grove/Garwood	plaza* 3,620 $57 $142,500 $206,340 $63,840
Amphitheater	plaza 8,224 $57 $0 $468,768 $468,768
Garwood	Park 17,850 $85 $0 $1,517,250 $1,517,250

Total 50,624 $712,500 $3,385,368 $2,672,868

Downtown	Vibrancy	 NIC NIC NIC
Rental	Housing	(more	affordable	than	for	sale	housing) NIC NIC NIC
Financial	Benefits	

Annual	tax	revenue	to	public	agencies
$3,300,000	
per	year

$5,000,000	
per	year

$1,700,000	
per	year

Impact	fees	&	Connection	fees $6,500,000 $8,200,000 $1,700,000
Fulfill	El	Camino	Real/Downtown	Specific	Plan	Vision NIC NIC NIC

* Under	the	Base	Case	the	Central	Plaza	will	be	about	10,000	sf	and	the	Oak	Grove	Plaza	2,500	sf.

Cost	to	GLC



Exhibit	D	

Site	Plan	and	Renderings	



Site Plan

EL CAMINO REAL

GARWOOD WAY

OAK GROVE
PLAZA

O
A

K
 G

R
O

V
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

P
O

O
L

CENTRAL
PLAZA

AMPHITHEATER

DINING

HOTEL

HOTEL

PA
R

K
IN

G

PA
R

K
IN

G

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 
SE

R
V

IN
G

 B
U

SI
N

E
SS

E
S

OFFICE
SOUTH

OFFICE
NORTH

COMMUNITY 
SERVING 

BUSINESSES

COMMUNITY 
SERVING

BUSINESSES

RESIDENTIAL
PA

R
K

IN
G

CALTRAIN
STATION

GARWOOD PARK



Shops, restaurants, and o�ces on El Camino Real



Shops on Oak Grove



Apartment courtyard



Central plaza and north o�ce building



Oak Grove at Garwood



Exhibit	E

Public	Benefits

%	of	Cost	of	Public	
Benefit	Attributed	
by	City	to	Public	

Value

Cost	of	Public	
Benefit	as	%	of	
Increased	Project	

Profit

On-site	
Plazas 100% 22%
Coffee	Kiosk 100% 19%
Electric	Vehicle	
Charge 100% 3%
Total: 44%

Off-Site
Contribution	to	
Amenity	Fund 100% 18%

Alma	Station	Public	Benefits



	
	

621	High	Street	w 	Palo	Alto,	CA	94301	

July 6, 2016 
 
Alex McIntyre 
City Manager 
City of Menlo Park 
701 Laurel Street 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 
RE: Station 1300 
 
Dear Alex: 
 
As you know, Greenheart submitted a public benefit proposal for the Station 1300 Project 
to the City on January 27, 2016.  The Planning Commission held a study session on that 
proposal on March 21st, and we received feedback at that time.  We would now like to 
schedule a City Council study session about the Station 1300 public benefit proposal on 
July 19th in order to obtain input on that proposal. 
 
Subsequent to the Planning Commission study session, we have concluded that it may be 
useful to enter into a development agreement with the City to document the Station 1300 
Project’s public benefit contribution and vest any project entitlements ultimately 
approved by the City.  Therefore, in addition to the study session, we also request that the 
Council on July 19 appoint a City Council subcommittee to negotiate such a development 
agreement, to be brought back to the Council for discussion, presumably on August 30. 
 
Please contact me if you have any questions about our public benefit proposal or the 
potential development agreement. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Greenheart Land Company 
 

Rober t  M. Burke 
 
Robert Burke, 
Principal 
 
cc:   Steve Pierce 
       Tim Tosta 
 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



bae urban economics 

San Francisco Sacramento Los Angeles Washington DC New York City 
1285 66th St. 803 2nd St., Suite A 706 South Hill St., Suite 1200 1400 I St. NW, Suite 350 49 West 27th St., Suite 10W 
Emeryville, CA 94608 Davis, CA 95616 Los Angeles, CA 90014 Washington, DC 20005 New York, NY 10001 
510.547.9380 530.750.2195 213.471.2666 202.588.8945 212.683.4486

www.bae1.com 

Memorandum 

To: Thomas Rogers, City of Menlo Park 

From: Ron Golem, Stephanie Hagar, BAE 

Date: March 14, 2016 

Re: Financial modeling of public benefit bonus for potential 1300 El Camino Real project 

Overview: Purpose of the Analysis 

This memorandum presents the results of BAE’s modeling of the value of a proposed 
horizontal mixed-use development project at 1300 El Camino Real in Menlo Park, which would 
utilize the public benefit program outlined in the El Camino Real / Downtown Specific Plan.  
This memorandum evaluates the potential developer profit from a project with the base 
entitlements versus one with a public benefit bonus.  Based on the findings presented in this 
memorandum, BAE has prepared a separate memorandum to evaluate the developer’s 
proposed public benefit contribution relative to the increase in value attributable to the public 
benefit bonus.  

The potential project as conceived to date by the developer (“base project”), consistent with 
the base entitlements in the Specific Plan, would consist of a two-story office building of 
approximately 150,000 gross square feet with a parking structure behind it; and 137 rental 
residential units in a 3-story building above a podium structure that would contain parking. 
Approximately 15,000 square feet of retail would be provided between both buildings. The 
base project is not the developer’s preferred option, and has not been designed in detail, other 
than what is needed to conduct this analysis. 

The potential project with the public benefit bonus allowed by the Specific Plan (“bonus 
project”) would place all parking in a two-level underground parking garage beneath the 
development. The site would then accommodate two three-story office buildings with 
approximately 218,000 gross square feet; and 182 rental residential units in a four-story 
building. Ground floor community serving uses would comprise approximately 7,900 square 
feet in the residential building and 10,700 to 21,100 square feet in the office building. The 
bonus project is the developer’s preferred scenario, and has been currently the subject of 
more design work. 

ATTACHMENT D



2 

 

Key Findings 
 
Pro forma analysis was conducted to estimate the profit from the two alternative development 
programs, using information provided by the developer as well as BAE’s independent research 
and evaluation of development costs and market conditions (the pro formas are attached to 
this memorandum). Sensitivity analysis was also conducted to test how these findings might 
change based on changes in cost or market conditions. Key findings include: 

 The bonus project would result in approximately $78.2 million of profit to the developer 
(with development cost of $275 million including land with carrying costs), compared to 
approximately $71.9 million of profit for the base project (with development cost of $200 
million including land with carrying costs). This means that the bonus project realizes $6.3 
million in additional profits compared to the base project. 

 Based on the pro forma assumptions, both projects are feasible, with the base project 
achieving a strong adjusted 43 percent return on total costs (a standard metric for return 
used by developers), and the bonus project achieving strong adjusted 30 percent return on 
costs).  

 
Because development returns are sensitive to changes in project costs, interest rates, market 
rental rates and other factors, a sensitivity analysis of selected risk factors as conducted to 
identify how changes could impact the above findings. The results of this analysis are shown in 
the table below: 
 
Sensitivity Analysis for Potential 1300 El Camino Real Project Profit ($ millions) 
Scenario Base Project Profit Bonus Project Profit Profit Increase 
BAE Estimate $71.9 $78.2 + $6.3 

Underground Parking Cost Shift    

 10% Cost Increase $69.7 $72.6 +$2.9 
Construction Hard Cost Shift 
 10% Cost Increase $62.5 $65.2 +$2.7 
Change in Capitalization Rate 
(Corresponds to Interest Rate 
Hike, Lower Project Value) 

   

 0.25% Rise $59.1 $61.5 +$2.4 
 0.50% Rise $47.5 $46.4 -$1.1 
Increase in Rental Rates    
 5% rent increase $87.3 $98.3 $11.0 
Source: BAE, 2015. 
 
The sensitivity analysis shows that the estimate of $6.3 million increase in profit from the 
bonus project falls within a range of potential outcomes from an increase in project profit of 



3 

 

$0 million to $11.0 million. All projects remain feasible, and generate an increase in value for 
the bonus project, except for a 0.5 percent increase in cap rates, which causes a decrease in 
value between the base and bonus project because the increase in project value no longer 
exceeds the increase in total project cost (the lower bound value for the value of the bonus is 
treated as $0). 
 
The cost of underground parking is a key factor because it is the most expensive way to 
provide parking ($42,500 per space versus $21,000 for above-ground parking structures), 
and it is necessary to fully take advantage of the public benefit bonus. Underground parking 
costs can vary substantially based on site geotechnical conditions.  
 
Capitalization rates are used to estimate the value of income properties and move in tandem 
with changes in interest rates (capitalization rates are a measure of project net operating 
income relative to project value, since income is constant a rise in rates means a property is 
worth less). A significant increase in interest rates will make the finished project worth less, 
and shrink the profit from the bonus project.  
 
Finally, local residential rental rates have spiked in the current cycle, and to avoid overstating 
potential rents they are based on the mid-range of rents in new local area high-end rental 
residential developments. Profit will increase if rents continue to rise and/or top of market 
rents can be realized. 
 
Limiting Conditions 
 
The above analysis is based on cost and valuation factors along with market rental rates 
provided by the potential developer and identified by BAE in its independent research during 
the Second Quarter of 2015. The project is in pre-development, and as design and 
development work proceeds it is possible that changes in design, building code requirements, 
construction costs, market conditions, interest rates, or other factors may result in significant 
changes in costs and profits. Depending upon these changes, the project as built may become 
more profitable, or could become less profitable or even infeasible. The figures in this analysis 
should not be relied upon beyond the next three month to six month period, and may be 
superseded before then. 
 
For these initial findings, BAE used an estimate of land value based on partial property 
records. This land value represents a top of market estimate for development sites in Northern 
Santa Clara County, and is supported by the high office rents and residential rents that can be 
realized. To the extent that the actual cost of land for the project differs, it would change the 
total profit from the base or bonus project. However, because it is a fixed cost for both 
projects, it would not be expected to change the difference in profit between the base and 
bonus project. 
 



4 

 

The impact fee calculation does not include sewer connection fees because these are based 
on flow calculations that are not available at present. These, however, should be proportional 
between the base project and bonus project, and therefore should not substantially affect the 
calculation of the increase in profit for the bonus project. 
 
Methodology 
 
BAE met with City staff and the potential developer for 1300 El Camino Real to review the 
proposed site plan and development program and review the developer’s assumptions 
regarding costs, rental rates, operating costs, capitalization rates, and other factors. BAE 
subsequently conducted independent research to verify these figures. This included interviews 
with area developers of office space and rental residential projects to confirm construction 
costs, operating costs, and capitalization rates. Confidential project cost information for other 
proposed projects under consideration by the City was reviewed. A review of cost figures for 
the appropriate construction types as published in the R.S. Means Company construction cost 
guides was conducted. Rental rates for comparable projects were researched for two recently 
built high-end rental residential projects in Mountain View (no recently built market rental 
residential projects in their initial lease up period were identified in Menlo Park or Palo Alto). 
Published reports on local market area capitalization rates were reviewed. Review of other 
assumptions, such as acceptable developer returns, was based on BAE’s experience with 
other projects in the local market area. 
 
This information was then used to prepare a project pro forma (projection) model for the base 
project and the bonus project. The pro formas consist of Excel worksheets that show 
assumptions for the development program, development costs, income, operating expenses, 
and financing costs. The worksheets then show the calculation of project cost by category, and 
an analysis of the value of the new development by component, and profit and return. The 
model is set up to calculate project profit as the residual value, by deducting total 
development costs (including land) from the market value of the completed project. To confirm 
feasibility, the “return on costs” was calculated (profit divided by total development costs 
excluding land); the current market range is between eight and 12 percent return on cost, 
depending upon the project type, local market condition, and overall project risk. 
 
The pro forma models are attached to this memorandum, with the base project shown first, 
followed by the bonus project. Each model consists of two pages: the first page is a summary 
of development costs and the analysis of project value, profit and return; the second page 
contains all the assumptions used to calculate cost and return. 
 



5 

 

Key Assumptions 
 
The pro formas set forth all assumptions used in the analysis. Following is a summary of key 
assumptions that were used for both models: 
 The residential units mix includes studios, junior one-bedroom units, one-bedroom units, 

two-bedroom units, and a small number of three-bedroom units. Approximately two-thirds 
of the units are one-bedroom or two-bedroom units, reflecting market demand. 

 Unit sizes range from 535 square feet for junior one-bedroom units, to 713 square feet for 
one-bedroom units, to 1,096 square feet for two-bedroom units, to 1,549 square feet for 
the three-bedroom units.  

 Monthly rental rates range from $3,300 for a junior one-bedroom unit, to $3,600 for a 
one-bedroom unit, to $4,300 for a two-bedroom unit, to $6,200 for the three-bedroom 
units. 

 Below market-rate (BMR) units are included pursuant to the City’s BMR requirements for 
commercial development. Rental rates for the BMR units are assumed per City policy, and 
range from $1,643 for a studio or junior one-bedroom unit, to $1,878 for a one-bedroom 
unit, to $2,113 for a two-bedroom unit. 

 Rental rates for the office space are assumed to be $66 per square foot per year, triple-
net. The rental rate for retail space is assumed to be $36 per square foot per year, triple-
net, reflecting locations that are not as directly accessible to El Camino Real as other 
retail. 

 Hard construction costs range between $240 per square foot for commercial to $250 per 
square foot for the residential. By comparison, the residential construction cost is 
approximately one-third higher than a standard multifamily project, reflecting a much 
higher quality of design and greater building amenities. 

 Parking hard costs range, on a per space basis, from $21,000 for structured spaces and 
$31,000 for podium spaces in the base project, to $42,500 per space for underground 
parking in the bonus project. 

 All City impact fees were calculated and included, except for the sewer connection fee (as 
noted in the limiting conditions section of this memorandum). 

 
 



Pro  Forma  for  Mixed-Use  Development  with  Base  Case  per  Specific  Plan
Proposed  Project  at  1300  El  Camino  Real,  Menlo  Park  CA ADMIN  DRAFT

Development  Program  Assumptions Cost  and  Income  Assumptions

Characteristics  of  Project Development  Costs
Site  -  gross  acres  /  square  feet  (sf) 7.11 309,712 Demolition  costs,  per  site  sf $2.42
Site  area  net  of  Garwood  Ave  -  acres  /  sf 6.43 280,091 Environmental  remediation  cost,  per  site  sf $10.33
Garwood  Way  extension,  sf 42,100 On-site  utilities  and  landscaping,  per  site  sf $25.18
Office  rentable  area,  sf 149,380 Construction  hard  costs,  per  sf  -  resid/office/retail $250 $240 $240
Retail  gross  leasable  area,  sf 14,550 Road  construction  -  Garwood  Ave,  per  sf  of  road $64
Dwelling  units  (du) 137 Off  site  utility  construction  cost $750,000
Jr  1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 17 535 Appliance  costs,  per  du $4,000
1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 52 713 Impact  fees  (b) $3,846,453
2  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 55 1,096 Tenant  improvements,  per  sf  of  office  /  retail $60 $50
3  Bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 5 1,549 Soft  costs,  %  of  hard  costs 20%
BMR  Jr  1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 1 535 Parking  construction  cost,  per  space:
BMR  1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 3 713 Surface  parking  cost,  per  space N/A  (c)
BMR  2  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 4 1,096 Above-grade  garage  spaces $21,000

Parking: Podium  parking  spaces $31,000
Surface  parking  spaces 25 Underground  parking  spaces $42,500
Above-grade  garage  spaces 586 Developer  fee  %  of  total  project  costs 0%
Podium  parking  spaces 170
Underground  parking  spaces -                       Revenues  and  Operating  Expenses
Total  parking  spaces 781 Office  rental  rate,  sf/yr,  NNN $66.00

Common  area  sf  -  residential  /  office  /  retail  (a) 17,746 4,620 450 Retail  rental  rate,  sf/yr,  NNN $36.00
Total  sf  -  residential  /  office  /  retail 139,000 154,000 15,000 Residential  rental  rate  per  du/mo:
Dwelling  units/acre 21 Jr  1  bedroom $3,300

1  bedroom $3,600
Notes 2  bedroom $4,300
(a)  Common  area  %  resid'l  /  office  /  retail: 12.8% 3% 3% 3  Bedroom $6,200
(b)  Includes  the  following  impact  fees  City  impact  fee  schedule:  Storm BMR  Jr  1  bedroom $1,643
Drainage  Connection  Fee,  Building  Construction  Road  Impact  Fee,  Water BMR  1  bedroom $1,878
Capital  Facilities  Charge,  Traffic  Impact  Fee,  ECR/Downtown  Specific   BMR  2  bedroom $2,113
Plan  Preparation  Fee,  Supplemental  Transportation  Impact    Fee,    Sequoia   Annual  op.  cost  -  per  du  /  per  office  sf  /  per  retail  sf $11,000 $1.80 $1.80
Union  High  School  District  Impact  Fees,  Menlo  Park  City  Elementary  School   Vacancy  rate  -  residential  /  office  /  retail 5% 5% 5%
District  Impact  Fee.    Fee  calculation  per  report.  Excludes  sewer  
connection  fee,  pending  flow  calculations.    Supplemental  Transportation   Financing
Impact  Fee  estimated  pending  calculations  from  City. Construction  loan  to  cost  ratio 70%

(c)  Cost  of  surface  parking  is  included  in  site  development  costs. Loan  fees  (points) 2%
(d)  Estimate  by  BAE  based  on  review  of  recorded  sales  data  for  parcels Interest  rate 5.5%
comprising  the  project  site. Construction  period  (months) 14

(e)  Consists  of  property  tax  payments  on  half  of  the  property  between Drawdown  factor 60%
March  2012  and  June  2015  and  property  tax  on  the  remaining  half  of  the Total  hard  +  soft  construction  costs $144,665,253
property  between  Dec.  2012  and  August  2015  at  $21,800  per  month. Total  loan  amount $101,265,677

(f)  Adjusted  to  include  5%  developer  fee  separate  from  investor  return, Capitalization  Rate  -  Residential  /  Office  /  Retail 4.25% 5.75% 6.00%
even  though  unlike  most  developers,  applicant  does  not  collect  this.

Source:  BAE,  2015.



Pro  Forma  for  Mixed-Use  Development  with  Base  Case  per  Specific  Plan
Proposed  Project  at  1300  El  Camino  Real,  Menlo  Park  CA ADMIN  DRAFT

Development  Costs Value  Analysis

Development  Costs  (Excludes  Land) Projected  Income
Demolition  costs $750,000 Residential
Environmental  remediation  cost $3,200,000 Gross  scheduled  rents $6,318,348
On-site  utilities  and  landscaping $7,800,000 Less  vacancy ($315,917)
Residential  construction  costs $35,298,000 Gross  annual  rents $6,002,431
Office  construction  costs $36,960,000 Less  operating  expenses ($1,507,000)
Retail  construction  costs $3,600,000 Net  operating  income  (NOI) $4,495,431
Garwood  Ave  construction  costs $2,685,000
Off  site  utility  construction  cost $750,000 Office
Tenant  improvements $8,730,000 Gross  scheduled  rents $9,859,080
Parking  costs $17,576,000 Less  vacancy ($492,954)
Soft  costs $23,469,800 Gross  annual  rents $9,366,126
Impact  fees $3,846,453 Less  operating  expenses ($277,200)
Total  construction  costs $144,665,253 Net  operating  income  (NOI) $9,088,926
Total  cost,  per  rentable  sf $470

Retail
Interest  on  construction  loan $3,898,729 Gross  scheduled  rents $523,800
Points  on  construction  loan $2,025,314 Less  vacancy ($26,190)
Total  financing  costs $5,924,042 Gross  annual  rents $497,610

Less  operating  expenses ($27,000)
Total  development  costs $150,589,295 Net  operating  income  (NOI) $470,610

Total  net  operating  income $14,054,967

Development  Feasibility
Capitalized  value $271,686,616
Less  development  costs ($150,589,295)
Less  land  cost  -  estimate  (d) ($47,637,500)
Less  Property  taxes  during  holding  period  (e) ($1,591,400)
Project  profit $71,868,421
Adjusted  return  as  %  of  hard  cost  (f) 43%



Pro  Forma  for  Mixed-Use  Development  with  Public  Benefit  Bonus  per  Specific  Plan
Proposed  Project  at  1300  El  Camino  Real,  Menlo  Park  CA ADMIN  DRAFT
Development  Program  Assumptions Cost  and  Income  Assumptions

Characteristics  of  Project Development  Costs
Site  -  gross  acres  /  square  feet  (sf) 7.11 309,712 Demolition  costs,  per  site  sf $2.42
Site  area  net  of  Garwood  Ave  -  acres  /  sf 6.43 280,091 Environmental  remediation  cost,  per  site  sf $10.33
Garwood  Way  extension,  sf 42,100 On-site  utilities  and  landscaping,  per  site  sf $25.18
Office  rentable  area,  sf 188,277 Construction  hard  costs,  per  sf  -  resid/office/retail $250 $240 $240
Retail  gross  leasable  area,  sf 23,086 Road  construction  -  Garwood  Ave,  per  sf  of  road $64
Dwelling  units  (du) 182 Off  site  utility  construction  cost $750,000
Jr  1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 22 535 Appliance  costs,  per  du $4,000
1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 68 713 Impact  fees  (c) $5,272,860
2  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 75 1,096 Tenant  improvements,  per  sf  of  office  /  retail $60 $50
3  Bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 7 1,549 Soft  costs,  %  of  hard  costs 20%
BMR  Jr  1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 1 535 Parking  construction  cost,  per  space:
BMR  1  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 4 713 Surface  parking  cost,  per  space N/A  (d)
BMR  2  bedroom  -  number  /  average  size 5 1,096 Above-grade  garage  spaces $21,000

Parking: Podium  parking  spaces $31,000
Surface  parking  spaces 50                     Underground  parking  spaces $42,500
Above-grade  garage  spaces -                           Developer  fee  %  of  total  project  costs 0%
Podium  parking  spaces -                          
Underground  parking  spaces 1,036           Revenues  and  Operating  Expenses
Total  parking  spaces 1,086           Office  rental  rate,  sf/yr,  NNN $66.00

Common  area  sf  -  residential  /  office  /  retail  (a) 39,936 5,823 714 Retail  rental  rate,  sf/yr,  NNN $36.00
Total  sf  -  residential  /  office  /  retail  (b) 202,100 194,100 23,800 Residential  rental  rate  per  du/mo:
Dwelling  units/acre 28 Jr  1  bedroom $3,300

1  bedroom $3,600
Notes 2  bedroom $4,300
(a)  Common  area  %  resid'l  /  office  /  retail: 19.8% 3% 3% 3  Bedroom $6,200
(b)  Retail  sf  based  on  7,900  sf  of  community  serving  uses  in  the  residential BMR  Jr  1  bedroom $1,643
building  and  10,700  -  21,100  sf  of  retail  space  in  the  office  building.    The   BMR  1  bedroom $1,878
analysis  uses  the  midpoint  of  the  range  of  potential  retail  sf  in  the  office  space. BMR  2  bedroom $2,113

(b)  Includes  the  following  impact  fees  City  impact  fee  schedule:  Storm  Drainage Annual  op.  cost  -  per  du  /  per  office  sf  /  per  retail  sf $11,000 $1.80 $1.80
Connection  Fee,  Building  Construction  Road  Impact  Fee,  Water  Capital  Facilities Vacancy  rate  -  residential  /  office  /  retail 5% 5% 5%
Charge,  Traffic  Impact  Fee,  ECR/Downtown  Specific  Plan  Preparation  Fee,
Supplemental  Transportation  Impact    Fee,    Sequoia  Union  High  School  District Financing
Impact  Fees,  Menlo  Park  City  Elementary  School  District  Impact  Fee.    Fee Construction  loan  to  cost  ratio 70%
calculation  per  report.  Excludes  sewer  connection  fee,  pending  flow Loan  fees  (points) 2%
calculations.    Supplemental  Transportation  Impact  Fee  per  estimates  from  City. Interest  rate 5.5%

(d)  Cost  of  surface  parking  is  included  in  site  development  costs. Construction  period  (months) 21
(e)  Estimate  by  BAE  based  on  review  of  recorded  sales  data  for  parcels Drawdown  factor 60%
comprising  the  project  site. Total  hard  +  soft  construction  costs $214,078,341

(f)  Consists  of  property  tax  payments  on  half  of  the  property  between Total  loan  amount $149,854,839
March  2012  and  June  2015  and  property  tax  on  the  remaining  half  of  the Capitalization  Rate  -  Residential  /  Office  /  Retail 4.25% 5.75% 6.00%
property  between  Dec.  2012  and  August  2015  at  $21,800  per  month.

(g)  Adjusted  to  include  5%  developer  fee  separate  from  investor  return,  even
though  unlike  most  developers,  applicant  does  not  collect  this.

Source:  BAE,  2015.



Pro  Forma  for  Mixed-Use  Development  with  Public  Benefit  Bonus  per  Specific  Plan
Proposed  Project  at  1300  El  Camino  Real,  Menlo  Park  CA ADMIN  DRAFT
Development  Costs Value  Analysis

Development  Costs  (Excludes  Land) Projected  Income
Demolition  costs $750,000 Residential
Environmental  remediation  cost $3,200,000 Gross  scheduled  rents $8,436,240
On-site  utilities  and  landscaping $7,800,000 Less  vacancy ($421,812)
Residential  construction  costs $51,253,000 Gross  annual  rents $8,014,428
Office  construction  costs $46,584,000 Less  operating  expenses ($2,002,000)
Retail  construction  costs $5,712,000 Net  operating  income  (NOI) $6,012,428
Garwood  Ave  construction  costs $2,685,000
Off  site  utility  construction  cost $750,000 Office
Tenant  improvements $11,240,568 Gross  scheduled  rents $12,426,282
Parking  costs $44,030,000 Less  vacancy ($621,314)
Soft  costs $34,800,914 Gross  annual  rents $11,804,968
Impact  fees $5,272,860 Less  operating  expenses ($349,380)
Total  construction  costs $214,078,341 Net  operating  income  (NOI) $11,455,588
Total  cost,  per  rentable  sf $510

Retail
Interest  on  construction  loan $8,654,117 Gross  scheduled  rents $831,096
Points  on  construction  loan $2,997,097 Less  vacancy ($41,555)
Total  financing  costs $11,651,214 Gross  annual  rents $789,541

Less  operating  expenses ($42,840)
Total  development  costs $225,729,555 Net  operating  income  (NOI) $746,701

Total  net  operating  income $18,214,717

Development  Feasibility
Capitalized  value $353,141,530
Less  development  costs ($225,729,555)
Less  land  cost  -  estimate  (e) ($47,637,500)
Less  Property  taxes  during  holding  period  (f) ($1,591,400)
Project  profit $78,183,075
Adjusted  return  as  %  of  hard  cost  (g) 30%



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



bae urban economics 

San Francisco Sacramento Los Angeles Washington DC New York City 
1285 66th St. 803 2nd St., Suite A 706 South Hill St., Suite 1200 1400 I St. NW, Suite 350 49 West 27th St., Suite 10W 
Emeryville, CA 94608 Davis, CA 95616 Los Angeles, CA 90014 Washington, DC 20005 New York, NY 10001 
510.547.9380 530.750.2195 213.471.2666 202.588.8945 212.683.4486

www.bae1.com 

Memorandum 

To: Thomas Rogers, City of Menlo Park 

From: Stephanie Hagar, BAE 

Date: March 14, 2016 

Re: Evaluation of proposed public benefit for 1300 El Camino Real (Station 1300) project 

This memorandum presents an evaluation of the proposed public benefit contribution for 
Station 1300, a development project at 1300 El Camino Real in Menlo Park.  The site is in a 
location eligible for a public benefit bonus pursuant to the Specific Plan, which establishes the 
formula for the additional built area that is allowed in return for public benefits acceptable to 
the City. This memorandum builds on BAE’s separate analysis modeling the increase in value 
of the project due to the increase in density from the public benefit bonus. 

The public benefit bonus program outlined in the Specific Plan anticipates that public benefits 
provided pursuant to the program can take the form of on-site improvements, offsite 
improvements, monetary payment to the City for future use toward public improvements, or a 
mixture.  The developer is proposing to provide a monetary contribution to the City. 

Development Proposal 

The potential project with the public benefit bonus allowed by the Specific Plan (“bonus 
project”) would place all parking in a two-level underground parking garage beneath the 
development. The site would then accommodate two three-story office buildings with 
approximately 218,000 gross square feet; and 182 rental residential units in a four-story 
building. Ground floor community serving uses would comprise approximately 7,900 square 
feet in the residential building and 10,700 to 21,100 square feet in the office building. The 
bonus project is the developer’s preferred scenario, and has been the subject of more design 
work.  The developer’s proposed public development contribution is a one-time $2.1 million 
monetary payment to the City. 

The potential alternate base-level project as conceived to date by the developer (“base 
project”) would consist of a two-story office building of approximately 150,000 gross square 
feet with a parking structure behind it; and 137 rental residential units in a 3-story building 
above a podium structure that would contain parking. Approximately 15,000 square feet of 
retail would be provided between both buildings. The base project is not the developer’s 

ATTACHMENT E



2 

 

preferred option, and has not been designed in detail, other than what is needed to conduct 
this analysis. 
 
Summary of Pro Forma Findings 
 
BAE conducted a pro forma analysis to estimate the profit from the two alternative 
development programs, using information provided by the developer as well as BAE’s 
independent research and evaluation of development costs and market conditions.  The full 
pro forma analysis, methodology, and assumptions are detailed in a separate memorandum.  
Key findings include: 

 The bonus project would result in approximately $78.2 million of profit to the developer 
(with development cost of $275 million including land with carrying costs), compared to 
approximately $71.9 million of profit for the base project (with development cost of $200 
million including land with carrying costs). This means that the bonus project realizes $6.3 
million in additional profits compared to the base project. 

 Based on the pro forma assumptions, both projects are feasible, with the base project 
achieving a strong adjusted 43 percent return on total costs (a standard metric for return 
used by developers), and the bonus project achieving strong adjusted 30 percent return on 
costs).  

 
Evaluation of Proposed Public Benefit Contribution 
 
Jurisdictions use a variety of metrics to establish the desired value of the public benefit 
contributions that developers provide in exchange for additional density.  Many of these 
metrics base the value of the contribution on the difference in value between a project 
developed at the base level density and a project developed at the community benefit level 
density, either on a project-by-project basis according the specifics of individual projects, or on 
a more generalized basis using an analysis of project prototypes.  The value of the community 
development contribution is typically expected to total some share of that difference.  Possible 
methods for determining the value of the contribution based on this type of analysis include: 

 Negotiation:  On a project-by project basis, the City negotiates with the developer to 
determine the benefit contribution.  This is the method that the City of Menlo Park 
currently uses to assess developer contributions for projects seeking the public benefit 
density in the Specific Plan area.  The City has also undertaken this type of negotiation 
for projects in other areas, when a Development Agreement is proposed.  

 Flat dollar charge per square foot:  Developers are assessed a flat fee (e.g., $20) per 
square foot of development in excess of the base level density.  The fee rate is 
determined based on analysis of prototype projects and the same fee rate applies to 
all projects. 



3 

 

 Charge based on percent of value:  Developers are assessed a fee based on a percent 
of the difference in value between the base level density and the community benefit 
level density, as assessed on a project-by-project basis. 

 
A fourth potential metric to determine the desired value of a public benefit contribution could 
be based on the value of land, expressed as the land cost per square foot of building area (i.e., 
the cost per FAR-foot) under the base level density.  For example, a 10,000 square foot site 
with a base level FAR of 1.1 allows for a total of 11,000 square feet of built area at the base 
level.  If the land cost is $1.65 million, the cost per FAR-foot would be $150 ($1.65 
million/11,000 of buildable area).  Using this method, the value of the public benefit 
contribution would total a portion of the FAR-foot land cost for square footage that exceeds the 
base level density.  For example, if the FAR-foot value is $150, the value of the public benefit 
contribution to the City might be $75 per square foot of development that exceeds the base 
level density. 
 
During the public benefit bonus review for some initial project proposals, there were individual 
Planning Commissioner suggestions that Menlo Park consider the FAR-foot value of new 
development when evaluating community benefits contributions provided under the Specific 
Plan.  Under such a proposal, the Planning Commission could use the methodology described 
above as one metric to assess the appropriateness of proposed public benefits contributions.  
It can be noted that this type of analysis may not accurately account for non-linear costs, such 
as a taller development needing a different construction type, or a larger project featuring 
more expensive underground parking instead of cheaper above-ground parking.  These issues 
in valuation, however, can be addressed through an appraisal process that utilizes comparable 
land sales for projects with similar characteristics. 
 
Although no jurisdictions in California have implemented a FAR-foot method for evaluating 
public benefit contributions, this method has been adopted and considered by jurisdictions 
elsewhere.  For example, the City of Chicago allows additional square footage in some zoning 
districts in exchange for either on-site affordable units or by making a monetary contribution to 
the City’s Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund.  The amount of the financial contribution is 
equal to the bonus floor area multiplied by 80 percent of the median land price per base FAR-
foot in the submarket where the proposed development is located.  A January 2014 report for 
the City of Toronto recommended that the City value community benefits contributions based 
on a percent of the appraised land value per square meter of buildable floor area, but the City 
has not yet adopted this method. 
 
Station 1300 Proposed Public Benefit Contribution 
The developer’s proposed public benefits contribution for Station 1300 is a $2.1 million 
monetary payment to the City.  In addition, the developer has cited several non-monetary 
benefits of the project, but is not asking that the City consider these benefits as part of the 
developer’s public benefit contribution.  These additional benefits as identified by the 



4 

 

developer include an extension of Garwood Way through the project site, an improved 
streetscape along El Camino Real, 10 below-market-rate residential units, and three plazas 
and a park that would be open to the public. 
 
Comparison to Sample Jurisdictions 
Table 1 below shows the developer’s proposed monetary contribution for Station 1300, 
expressed in terms of each of the four methods outlined above for determining the desired 
value of public benefit contributions.  The table also shows a comparison to rates established 
in a sample of other California jurisdictions. 
 
This analysis shows that the proposed contribution is generally consistent with fee rates that 
are charged on a per-square foot basis, but lower than the rates established based on a 
percent of the increase in value.  The developer’s contribution totals $19 per square foot for 
the square footage that exceeds the base level density.  This is slightly lower than the charge 
per square foot in Mountain View and the charge per square foot for commercial development 
in the San Francisco Eastern Neighborhoods Plan Area, but slightly higher than the charge per 
square foot in San Diego and the charge per square foot of residential uses in the San 
Francisco Eastern Neighborhoods Plan Area.  The developer’s contribution totals 33 percent of 
the increase in project value attributable to the public benefit bonus, lower than the rate 
charged in Culver City and lower than the proposed rate for San Francisco’s Central SOMA 
Plan. 
 



5 

 

Table 1: Comparison of Proposed Benefit to Rates Charged in a Sample of 
California Cities with Public or Community Benefits Programs 

Method for 
Determining Benefit 
Value 

Value of Proposed Benefit 
for Station 1300 (a) 

Comparison 
Jurisdictions 

Comparison Jurisdiction 
Rate 

Negotiation N/A Menlo Park (El Camino 
Real / Downtown 
Specific Plan) 

N/A 

Palo Alto 

Berkeley (Downtown 
Specific Plan) (b) 

Santa Monica 

Flat fee per sq. ft. of 
increment 

$19 Mountain View (El 
Camino Real Precise 
Plan, San Antonio 
Precise Plan) 

$20 

San Diego (select 
areas in Downtown) (c) 

$17 

San Francisco (Eastern 
Neighborhoods) (d) 

Residential: $12 - $16 
Commercial: $20 -$24 
Additional inclusionary 
requirements also apply 

Percent of Value of 
Increment 

33% Culver City 50% 

San Francisco (Central 
SOMA Plan) (e) 

66%-75% (proposed) 

Cupertino Investigated; 
has not been adopted 

N/A 

Percent of Land Value 
per FAR-foot 

12% N/A  N/A 

Notes: 
(a) Calculations for Station 1300 are based on the assumptions and site characteristics shown in Table 3. 
(b) Berkeley is considering a proposal to allow developers to choose to either include benefits related to  
affordable housing, labor, and other benefits from a menu of options or to pay a flat fee.  The flat fee 
rate has not been determined. 
(c) Rate shown is an estimate; fee was set at $15 per square foot in 2007 and inflated annually 
based on CPI.  Developers can also provide benefits directly in exchange for increase in FAR. 
(d) San Francisco uses a tiered approach, with lower fees for a 1- to 2-story increase in height and higher fees for 
a 3-story increase in height. 
(e) Basis for valuing Community Benefits contributions for the Central SOMA Plan is still under consideration.  A 
recent presentation by the City’s Planning Department used the rates shown in the table as a target (see  
http://www.sf-planning.org/ftp/files/Citywide/Central_Corridor/20150625_Central_SoMa_Presentation_Final.pdf) 

 
Comparison to Sample Projects with Negotiated Public Benefits 
Table 2 shows the proposed public benefit for Station 1300 compared to the monetary 
contribution proposed for two other projects with negotiated public benefits, based on the 
three quantified methods described above (i.e., per square foot charge, percent of value 
increment, and FAR-foot methods).  The first comparison project is 1020 Alma Street in the 
Specific Plan Area, which was recently approved by the Menlo Park Planning Commission.  The 
public benefits contribution from this project consisted of a one-time payment of $185,816 
and public plaza spaces, one of which will include a coffee kiosk.  The second comparison 
project is currently under review in Berkeley at 2211 Harold Way.  While Berkeley currently 
negotiates community benefits in the Downtown Specific Plan Area, the Berkeley City Council 
is evaluating more formulaic approaches to assessing community benefits contributions.  For 
projects currently in the pipeline, including the project at Harold Way, the City Council has 



6 

 

proposed a fee rate of $100 per square foot for square footage between 75 and 120 feet in 
height and $150 per square foot for square footage that exceeds 120 feet in height. 
 
The proposed contribution for Station 1300 is generally consistent with the contribution 
provided by the developer of the project at 1020 Alma Street in Menlo Park.  While the 
proposed contribution for Station 1300 is lower than the contribution for 1020 Alma on a per-
square foot basis, the proposed contribution is similar if calculated based a percent of the 
FAR-foot value and higher if calculated based on a percent of the increase in value from the 
public benefit bonus.  The proposed public benefit contribution for Station 1300 would be 
lower than the contribution for 1020 Alma after accounting for the non-monetary public 
benefit contributions from the 1020 Alma project.  However, Station 1300 will provide similar 
public benefits in the form of plazas and a park that will be accessible to the public. 
 
On a per-square foot basis, the proposed contribution for Station 1300 is considerably lower 
than the proposed per-square foot charge for 2211 Harold Way in Berkeley.  In considering the 
proposed fee rates for the project on Harold Way, the City Council noted that these rates may 
be higher than in any other city in California.  In addition, the fee for the project at Harold Way 
would permit the construction of 45 additional feet in height, which could be considered a 
fundamentally different project concession than the Specific Plan’s FAR increase. 
 

Table 2: Monetary Public Benefit Contributions from Projects with Negotiated 
Public Benefits 

Method for Determining 
Benefit Value 

Value of Proposed 
Benefit for Station 1300 

1020 Alma St, Menlo Park 2211 Harold Way, 
Berkeley 

Monetary Public Benefit 
Contribution 

$2,100,000 $185,816  Unknown 

$ per sq. ft. of 
increment 

$19 $32 $100 from 75' to 120' in 
building height; $150 
above 120'. 

Percent of Value of 
Increment 

33% 18% Unknown 

Percent of Land Value 
per FAR-foot 

12% 12% Not applicable; site does 
not have a maximum FAR. 

Comments Calculations are based on 
the assumptions and site 
characteristics shown in 
Table 3.  The developer 
has noted that the project 
will include additional 
non-monetary public 
benefits, but is not asking 
that these be considered 
as part of the public 
benefit contribution. 

In addition to the monetary 
contribution shown in this 
table, the public benefit 
contribution for the project 
at 1020 Alma Street 
includes public plaza 
space and a coffee kiosk.  
Land value estimated 
based on the net present 
value of the ground lease. 

Fee rate shown is still 
under consideration.  
Project will provide 
additional non-monetary 
community benefits. 

 
  



7 

 

Key Assumptions 
 
Key assumptions and project and site characteristics incorporated into the preceding analysis 
are as shown in the following table. 
 

Table 3: Station 1300 Project Characteristics 
  
Selected Project Characteristics Station 1300 

Base level FAR 1.1 
Site size (sq. ft.) 280,091 
Allowable square footage at base FAR 308,100 
Bonus level project size (sq. ft.) 420,000 
Square footage above base level FAR 111,900 
Land Cost $47,637,500 
Land Value per FAR-foot (at base level FAR) $155 
Additional value from Public Benefit Bonus $6,314,654 
Proposed monetary Public Benefit contribution $2,100,000 
Note: 
Site square footage for Station 1300 excludes the land used to 
extend Garwood Way.  Land cost estimated based on BAE review 
of public records. 

 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 Planning Commission 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES - EXCERPTS 

 Date: 3/21/2016 
Time: 7:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers 
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

A. Call To Order 

Chair John Onken called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

B. Roll Call 

Present: Andrew Combs, Katie Ferrick, John Kadvany, Larry Kahle, John Onken (Chair), Katherine 
Strehl (Vice Chair - arrived 7:30 p.m.) 

Absent: Susan Goodhue 
Staff:  Thomas Rogers, Principal Planner, Kyle Perata, Senior Planner, Michele Morris, Assistant 

Planner 

G. Study Session 

G1. Study Session/Greenheart Land Company/Station 1300 Project (1258-1300 El Camino Real, 550-
580 Oak Grove Avenue, and 540-570 Derry Lane) 
Study session to receive comments on the Station 1300 proposal (also known as the 1300 El 
Camino Real project) to redevelop a multi-acre site on El Camino Real and Oak Grove Avenue 
with up to 217,000 square feet of non-residential uses and up to 202 dwelling units. The study 
session will allow Planning Commissioners and the public to provide feedback on the overall 
project, including the proposed Public Benefit (Staff Report #16-022-PC).   

Staff Comment:  Principal Planner Rogers said the Commission was asked to particularly comment 
on public benefit bonus in addition to the typical elements considered in a study session.  He said 
the City has done the public benefit bonus proposal process fully for two project applications: the 
Marriott Residence Inn that converted a former senior retirement living community that was a 
change in use requiring Planning Commission review and City Council approval; and the 1020 
Alma Street project.  He said the public benefit for the hotel project was the inherent transient 
occupancy tax (TOT) that recurs annually and for the 1020 Alma Street office project it was a one-
time payment to the City and provision of an active public plaza with retail and café use.  

Principal Planner Rogers said a financial analysis was prepared by Bay Area Economics (BAE) for 
this proposed project.  He said the report projected approximately $6.3 million in extra profit for the 
bonus density based on current rents, construction costs and other factors.  He said the applicant 
has proposed a public benefit to the City that would consist of a one-time payment of $2.1 million.  
He said BAE in another memo looked at land value and if the development was limited to the base 
level how much extra land would need to be purchased to accommodate the additional square 

ATTACHMENT F

http://menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/9908


Approved Excerpt Minutes Page 2 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

footage being requested. He noted that related to a prior Commission discussion about public 
benefit and determining value. He asked the Commission during its comment period to address 
whether the proposed public benefit was on the right track.  He said if the public benefit being 
proposed was completely unacceptable that the applicant would have to reconsider the project 
proposal.   

Applicant Presentation: Mr. Steve Pierce, principal, Greenheart Land Company, introduced his 
colleague Bob Burke.  He said they wanted the project to be in total conformance with the Specific 
Plan and to follow through with the Plan’s visions and goals; for it to be as environmentally 
sensitive as possible; and to create something that would be a great asset to the community.  He 
said beyond a beautiful building they wanted to create a place where people would go and interact. 
He said to do that they needed reasons for people to come to the site or activity magnets, which 
were restaurants, shops, and recreational opportunities.  He said the place had to be welcoming 
and comfortable so that once people came there they would like to spend time there.  He said they 
needed open space to accomplish those goals. 

Mr. Bob Burke, principal, Greenheart Land Company, said the project was two, three-story office 
buildings on El Camino Real.  He said one of their goals was to provide more space as their 
businesses grew to incubator companies currently using their property on Willow Road.  He said in 
2014 for the Environmental Impact Review (EIR) they were asked how many apartments were 
planned.  He said they posited 202 units as the high number for the purposes of the EIR, but with 
plan design they settled on 182 units, which number because of the stairwell, probably was now 
181 units.  He said the four-story residential building was the same height as the office buildings.  
He said the units were rental with half of the units being 900 square foot one-bedroom units, and 
there would be 10 below market rate units.  He said community services use included retail, food, 
restaurants, and personal services such as a salon and/or pilates studio.  He said that with their 
underground parking they would have 48% open space which was double the requirement under 
the Specific Plan.  He said there would be an amphitheatre and Garwood Park with numerous 
amenities. Toward lessening traffic congestion, he said that two ingress/egress points on Garwood 
and one on El Camino Real were planned and apartment tenants and workers would pay for their 
parking spaces.  He said their TDM plan was aggressive with GoPasses for Caltrain and Zipcars 
on site.  He said they were working on Bike Share which was not yet available in Menlo Park.  He 
said they have one-to-one bicycle storage for the apartments and double what was required for 
secure bicycle storage in the office buildings.  He said there would be bicycle repair stops, showers 
in the office buildings, and electric bikes for the apartment dwellers.  He said the Facebook and 
Marguerite shuttle would stop at or close to this location.  He said they were also very focused on 
sustainability and were seeking LEED Gold for the apartments and LEED Platinum for the office 
buildings and going for net zero.   He said there was not enough roof space on the apartment 
buildings for those buildings to be net zero. He said additionally toward net zero they would use a 
geo-thermal system.  He then showed a video of the proposed Station 1300 project.  

Mr. Pierce said regarding public benefit that there was intrinsic benefit in taking a derelict property 
and developing it into productive use.  He said explicit benefit was what they would do to achieve 
the bonus density.  He said a goal of the Specific Plan was to create residential opportunities and 
with the bonus density they were able build 50 more units. He said with the bonus density, the 
project would generate about $1.7 million a year for schools and at base development level about 
50% less.  He said the City engaged an outside consultant to look at the costs as well as the 
revenues and with the increased square forage arrived at a value of $6.3 million.  He said a major 
part of that metric was the underground garage which would cost $26 million.  He said having 



Approved Excerpt Minutes Page 3 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

underground parking allowed for more open space and enabled them to reach their goal of 
creating more community resources.  He said to identify public benefits they polled many people 
and looked at the list in the Specific Plan.  He said they had as example the Alma Street project 
whose public benefit was a public plaza fenced off from the private plaza, a community resource in 
the form of a coffee kiosk, as well as a contribution to the downtown amenity fund that represented 
18% of the additional value created by the additional square footage.  He said they were proposing 
to contribute $2.1 to the public amenity fund and in talking to people they did not think they should 
be the arbitrators of where the money should go.  He said regarding plazas and open spaces they 
did not want to create a private and a public space rather a central square that could be used by 
everybody.  He said that was possible because of the underground parking and it would cost them 
about $2 million to do the open space areas.  He said they had up to 30,000 square feet for 
hopefully two anchor restaurants and other shops.  He said the rent for those would be half what 
the office use rent would be and noted that retail required more parking than office.  He said their 
public benefit proposal was the $2.1 million and the open space and public resources they would 
provide. 

Public Comment: 

• Patti Fry said this project was on the busiest stretch of El Camino Real, would bring the worst
impacts to traffic and did not provide enough residential as targeted by the Specific Plan.  She
said the Derry Project, which was smaller than this, had offered a public benefit of $2 million.
She said the intrinsic benefits were vague and assurances needed to be made regarding those.
She said office buildings were dead space and did not create vibrancy.

• Mr. Viera said he was with Local Carpenter’s Union 217 representing 1,451 carpenters in San
Mateo County.  He said they oppose the project as Greenheart Land Company continues to
use W. L. Butler as their contractor, who fails to require its subcontractors to pay standard
carpenter wages and benefits on projects and for whom they don’t require state licensure.

• Skip Hilton said he was a Menlo Park resident and a tech employee.  He commended the
applicants for extensive community outreach.  He said the project is in a prime place for transit
oriented residential and business.  He said the 48% open space was possible because of the
underground parking.  He said this development would add to the City’s vibrancy.  He
complimented the project for its sustainability and said he supported the project.

Chair Onken closed the public comment period. 

Commission Comment:  Chair Onken said he thought prior Planning Commission discussions 
about public benefit seemed evident in what was being proposed.  He asked about the Garwood 
parking for the Marriott Residence Inn project.  Principal Planner Rogers said that project with its 
approval received a formal license agreement with the City for the use of those parking spaces.  
He said at that time the Council and Commission were aware that something was proposed on this 
subject property and that Garwood Way would be extended if a project went through like this one, 
and that some contingencies had been built into the approval.  He said he recalled that the Marriott 
owner was encouraged to work with any redevelopment on this site for relocating those parking 
spaces.  He said the City however could not necessarily require an owner to negotiate in a certain 
way with another private property.  He said there was an allowance for what the City would need to 
see if there was not such an agreement.  He said he believed if the hotel met certain revenue 



Approved Excerpt Minutes Page 4 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

targets they would not need to pay extra rent for those spaces but if they fell below standards they 
would.  He said this project could not make those spaces go away as it was public right-of-way.   

Commissioner Kadvany complimented the BAE analysis.  He said the proposed project was great 
and would be even greater as it moved along and transformed.  He said the project met many of 
the Specific Plan goals but he encouraged the applicants to look critically toward meeting even 
more, noting that the Alma Street project was much different from this project.  He said it appeared 
that most of the use of the open spaces would be by the tenants of the surrounding offices and 
apartments.  He said the project should get some credit for the open space but the cost of doing 
the plaza and park was not really a benefit for the City.  He said the estimated $6.3 million value 
was a conservative amount.  He said rather than $2.1 million public benefit he thought $3 even $4 
million was more realistic.  He said the number of residential units was the same as it would be at 
the base level.   

Chair Onken said if they wanted to be aggressive about the residential, more units could be added 
in the area designated as Garwood Park. He said it was a tradeoff of wanting more density. 

Commissioner Combs said if residential was increased above the 202 units studied in the EIR they 
would have to modify the EIR.  He said he met with people from Greenheart Land Company noting 
that he has met with other applicants and people regarding projects upon request in the past.  He 
asked what the applicant’s obligation was with how the space was built out and how it would 
actually be used.   

Principal Planner Rogers said the project was at the public bonus level and allowed discretion 
whether the project was providing public benefit to the City.  He said land use could be part of that 
discussion.  He said one of the themes of the Specific Plan was clustering restaurants and retail in 
the downtown and from that looking at uses that support the downtown core.  He said once the 
project was out of the downtown and on El Camino Real there were no requirements for base line 
level for retail restaurant and personal services.  

Chair Onken asked about uses under community services.  Principal Planner Rogers said under 
the defined uses that businesses could change without Planning Commission or other review.  He 
said conditional and different uses would require discretionary or administrative review depending 
upon the proposed use.  He noted that there was an allowance for a real estate office within the 
community services portion of the project for the property owner’s use and that square footage was 
captured in the overall office square footage.   

Commissioner Strehl said she also met with representatives of Greenheart Land Company and 
has met with other project developers in the past when requested.  She said the BAE report 
seemed to indicate that the developer would get a 40% return on a base level project but for the 
public benefit bonus level they would only get a 30% return.  She said there were things the 
developer was doing that were not being calculated in any of the discussion and that was the $6 
million in improvements that would be made. She said public benefit should be looked at more 
broadly.  She said she thought Garwood Park over time would be an attraction to residents in 
Menlo Park particularly if the community services attracted people beyond the apartments and 
office buildings. She said she thought it was going to be an incredibly handsome development.  
She said she was not sure what the right number was for the public benefit cash amount but she 
felt they had to recognize that the applicant was assuming a lot of risk in this project.  She said 



Approved Excerpt Minutes Page 5 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

there should be a certain amount of reward for this assumed risk so the applicant would actually 
made money.  She said without the public benefit bonus the project would not be as handsome 
and she did not think as many community amenities could be provided.  She said their 
transportation measures and roadwork to make this development work were outstanding and they 
were not asking for credit for any of that. She said they had to look more broadly than just the $2.1 
million in how they calculate public benefit.   
 
Commissioner Kahle said he had also met with the applicant.  He said he thought it was going to 
be a really nice project.  He said related to Commissioner Kadvany’s comments about the central 
plaza surrounded by office buildings that he too thought it would serve those uses primarily and 
questioned particularly who would use it at night.  He said perhaps there was a way to make this 
more of a mixed-used plaza as well with residential use.  He said regarding a one-time payment of 
$2.1 million he suggested they request 50% of the $6.3 million as a starting point for negotiations. 
 
Commissioner Ferrick said the design and overall composition were exceptional and vastly 
exceeded the template of what it could be in the Specific Plan.  She said there were a balance of 
uses and suggested that the sustainability features beyond LEED Silver should be considered as 
public benefit.  She agreed with Commissioner Kadvany that they should continue to look at public 
benefit and suggested that there might be more below market rate housing units, which she would 
like provided at a 10% rate.  She said the TDM plan was exceptional.  She said previously they 
had identified an undercrossing at Middle Avenue as a priority item and suggested that might be a 
consideration for public benefit. She said the greater public benefit was the open space on the 
project as well as the underground parking.  She said regarding the community service businesses 
that she agreed with Ms. Fry’s comments that more specificity about the mix of uses was 
important.  She said the way to activate the central plaza would be to extend the community 
services into that space.   
 
Chair Onken suggested looking at the net loss for another below market rate unit and to consider 
funding that with the proposed $2.1 million. 
 
Commissioner Goodhue suggested taking the $2.1 million or whatever the amount of cash 
payment was and investing that in more housing.  She asked if the Housing Commission was 
looking at the project. 
 
Principal Planner Rogers said the Housing Commission had reviewed the project at their last 
meeting with a focused review for the enforceable below market rate requirements which currently 
relate to commercial uses.  He said since the project is a rental project there was no below market 
rate requirement deriving from the rental component.  He said looking at the net increase of 
commercial, the project was required to provide 9.9 below market rate units and the applicant was 
proposing to do 10 such units onsite.  He said individually Housing Commissioners said they would 
like to see more below market rate units. 
 
Commissioner Goodhue said she figured the restaurant use would extend into the central plaza 
and would draw people into that space.  She said she did not know whether it would be feasible to 
bring residential uses into that area as that would impact the design. 
 
Commissioner Kadvany said based on the BAE report, the cost of the project was around $225 
million.  He said Specific Plan revenue was intended to fund public improvements such as the 
Middle Avenue tunnel and parking garages.  He said the public benefit should be commensurate 



Approved Excerpt Minutes Page 6 

 

   City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 
 

with the project value.  He said he was sure more below market rate units was the best use.  
 
Commissioner Combs said he could be supportive of the project.  He said it would be helpful for 
the Commission to decide whether they prefer more below market rate housing or cash. 
 
Commissioner Strehl said in reviewing the Housing Element they did not have as many below 
market rate units as indicated were needed but that had not taken into account more recent 
projects and their contributions to that such as the Midpen project on Willow Road.  She asked if 
staff might provide an update when this project came back as to how many below market rate units 
were achieved and what number remained to do. 
 
Chair Onken said it was important to look at what this project would be if it did not go to the bonus 
level.  He said the project has a lot going for it with its frontage and that whether the outdoor space 
could be definitely used more broadly or not, it was good to have it. 
 

I.  Adjournment 

Chair Onken adjourned the meeting at 10:24 p.m. 
 
 
Staff Liaison:  Thomas Rogers, Principal Planner 
 
Recording Secretary:  Brenda Bennett 
 
Approved by the Planning Commission on May 9, 2016 



Public Works 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

STAFF REPORT 

City Council  
Meeting Date:  7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number: 16-128-CC 

Informational Item:  Update on proposed process to establish a new citywide 
crosswalk policy 

Recommendation 
This is an informational item and does not require City Council action. 

Policy Issues 
This Project is consistent with the 2016 Work Plan approved by City Council on February 9, 2016 
and the policies stated in the 1994 City General Plan Circulation Element. These policies seek to 
maintain a circulation system using the Roadway Classification System that will provide for a safe 
and efficient movement of people and goods throughout Menlo Park for residential and commercial 
purposes. 

Background 
The City regularly receives requests to install or enhance marked crosswalks from residents, businesses 
and institutions.  However, designing a safe roadway crossing for pedestrians is a complex process as the 
installation of crosswalk striping alone does not necessarily constitute a safe pedestrian crossing.  City 
Council directed staff to develop a set of guidelines to prescribe a formal and transparent process for 
marked crosswalk implementation. 

Analysis 
Staff will utilize state and federal guidelines as well as industry standards from neighboring cities to develop 
a set of standards that will guide the decision to install a marked crosswalk, and the recommended design 
and potential enhancements for pedestrian crossings based on the number of pedestrians crossing, location 
visibility, and traffic volume and speeds.  The draft Policy will be presented to the Transportation 
Commission on August 10 and is tentatively scheduled to be brought back to Council on August 30.  

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

Attachments 
No Attachments. 

AGENDA ITEM J-1



Staff Report #: 16-128-CC 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 
Report prepared by: 
Michael Tsai, Assistant Engineer 
 
Report reviewed by:  
Kristiann Choy, Senior Transportation Engineer 



Public Works 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

STAFF REPORT 

City Council  
Meeting Date:  7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number: 16-130-CC 

Informational Item: Update on Willow Road transportation improvement 
options   

Recommendation 
This is an informational item and does not require City Council action. 

Policy Issues 
The City Council’s 2016 Work Plan includes a project to study and prioritize Willow Road transportation 
improvement options. This Project is also consistent with the policies stated in the 1994 City General Plan 
Circulation Element. These policies seek to maintain a circulation system using the Roadway Classification 
System that will provide for a safe and efficient movement of people and goods throughout Menlo Park for 
residential and commercial purposes. 

Background 
Willow Road is a two- to four-lane roadway connecting Alma Street with Bayfront Expressway. The City of 
Menlo Park and Caltrans have jurisdiction over different sections of Willow Road, and the City of East Palo 
Alto also has right-of-way along Willow near Newbridge Street. The section of Willow Road from Bay Road 
to Bayfront Expressway is under Caltrans jurisdiction and is classified as State Route (SR) 114.  

This work effort was prioritized as part of the Fiscal Year (FY) 2015-16 Capital Improvement Program as a 
result of increasing traffic congestion along Willow Road and in the region. Residents and local employees, 
emergency responders including the Menlo Park Fire Protection District and observations from staff have 
identified traffic congestion on Willow Road as a significant concern. This project complements other 
ongoing work efforts to improve travel conditions along the Willow Road corridor:  

• Bayfront Expressway/Willow Road Intersection Improvements – Facebook East & West Campus
traffic mitigation to add a third northbound right-turn lane from Willow Road to Bayfront, add bicycle
and pedestrian accommodations. Completed in June 2016.

• Willow Road Traffic Signal Interconnect – Federal grant funded project to install traffic signal
interconnect at Gilbert Avenue and Coleman Avenue. Added emergency vehicle pre-emption at both
intersections. Substantially complete in July 2016.

• Newbridge Street/Willow Road Intersection Improvements – Facebook East & West Campus traffic
mitigation to add a third southbound through lane on Willow Road approaching Newbridge Street
connecting to US 101 North, replace bicycle lane and add pedestrian accommodations. Under
construction.

AGENDA ITEM J-2



Staff Report #: 16-130-CC 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Analysis 
Current Traffic Conditions 
Willow Road is a two- to four-lane roadway connecting Alma Street with Bayfront Expressway. The street 
classification and traffic volume varies along the street, lowest near Alma Street and increases towards US 
101, as summarized below:  

Table 1: Willow Road Traffic Volumes, 2014 
Roadway Segment  Street Classification Average Daily 

Traffic (ADT) 
Volume1

Alma Street to Laurel Street Collector 3,400 

Laurel Street to Middlefield Road Collector 5,200 
Middlefield Road to Gilbert 
Avenue 

Minor Arterial 24,300 

Gilbert Avenue to Coleman 
Avenue 

Minor Arterial 24,400 

Coleman Avenue to Durham 
Street 

Minor Arterial 41,200 

Durham Street to US 101 Minor Arterial  34,100 

US 101 to Bayfront Expressway Primary Arterial 36,000 

1 Average 24-hour traffic volume. Counts obtained by the City of Menlo Park (fall 2014) or via 
Caltrans 2014 Traffic Census available: 
http://www.dot.ca.gov/trafficops/census/2014all/Route103-116.html  

As shown, traffic volumes are highest on Willow Road approaching the US 101 interchange, near Durham 
Street. Historical trends in traffic volumes were also reviewed, dating back to 2000. The average daily traffic 
volume for Willow Road between US 101 and Bayfront Expressway annually is summarized in the chart 
below. The early 2000s were observed to have the highest traffic volumes, with decreases occurring 
through the late 2000s, and most recent increases as economic conditions improved in 2011 through 
current conditions.  

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

50,000

55,000

60,000

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014

Willow Road (US 101 to Bayfront) 
Average Traffic Volume 

http://www.dot.ca.gov/trafficops/census/2014all/Route103-116.html


Staff Report #: 16-130-CC 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

As shown, the traffic volume based on most recent traffic counts is approximately 36,000 vehicles per day, 
significantly below the maximum traffic volume observed along this segment in the early 2000s. Based on 
staff observations, the traffic counts have decreased since 2012 due to congested conditions during 
commute hours along the corridor, US 101, and the approach to the Dumbarton Bridge.  

Based on estimates prepared as part of the City’s work on ConnectMenlo, approximately 75-80 percent of 
peak traffic is regional in nature – i.e., the trip does not start or end in Menlo Park. Willow Road serves as a 
connection route between downtown Palo Alto and points south and US 101, as well as Bayfront 
Expressway and the Dumbarton Bridge. In the morning commute period, traffic congestion builds primarily 
in the southbound direction at each of the following points:  

• US 101 interchange: short merging area for freeway traffic contributes to congestion
• Durham Street: Willow Road narrows from two lanes to one lane
• Middlefield Road: Heavy left-turn from southbound Willow to Middlefield Road towards Palo Alto

This congestion causes stop-and-go conditions on Willow Road, backing up to Bayfront Expressway, 
towards University Avenue and the Dumbarton Bridge, and limits access from the Belle Haven 
neighborhood towards US 101 and causes cut-through traffic in Belle Haven (primarily Carlton Avenue and 
streets paralleling Willow Road) and Willows neighborhoods, as well as on Bay Road, Coleman Avenue, 
and Ringwood Avenue.  

In the evening commute period, traffic congestion builds primarily in the northbound direction at each of the 
following points:  

• University Avenue and Willow Road intersections: heavy traffic on Bayfront Expressway merging
with University and Willow traffic spills back on to each street

• US 101 interchange: short merging area for freeway traffic contributes to congestion
• Middlefield Road to Durham Street: Willow Road widens at Durham Street to two lanes, cut through

traffic exits the Willows neighborhood at Durham Street and Chester Street exacerbating congestion
on Willow Road

Staff will be conducting the City’s bi-annual traffic counts this coming fall, and will continue to monitor traffic 
patterns and conditions on Willow Road.   

Potential Considerations for Improvement 
Staff has identified a series of potential improvement options for Willow Road traffic conditions and 
secondary effects, which can be summarized in four (4) categories – emergency response support, near-
term, mid-term, and long-term improvement options – as summarized in the following table.  



Staff Report #: 16-130-CC 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Table 2: Summary of Potential Improvement Options 

Category Description Examples 

1. Emergency
Response 
Support 

Measures that could help 
emergency vehicles 
maneuver Willow Road, 
especially during congested 
peak conditions 

A. Removal of four curb-side bulbouts 

B. Creation of rolled curb area at ends of median islands between 
Middlefield Road and Durham Street to allow large vehicles to 
maneuver better around congested conditions 

2. Near-Term
Improvement 
Options 

Measures that could be 
pursued in the short-term 
(next three to 12 months), 
either in the City’s jurisdiction 
or in collaboration with 
Caltrans 

A. Installation of protected left-turn signals to improve access and 
safety to Willows neighborhood  

B. Pursue signal timing and cycle length adjustments at 
Newbridge Street, O’Brien Drive, Ivy Drive and Hamilton Avenue 
to improve egress from Belle Haven neighborhood during 
congested conditions 

C. Evaluate Newbridge Street approach to Willow Road to modify 
Keep Clear area and improve traffic operations 

D. Hamilton Avenue intersection approach modifications to 
address queuing and safety  

E. Expand free mid-day shuttle service to provide improved 
service on Willow Road  

3. Mid-Term
Improvement 
Options 

Measures that would require 
ongoing community 
engagement, coordination 
with Caltrans or other 
agencies for planning, 
permitting, design, or 
construction support 

A. Evaluate and identify neighborhood traffic calming in Belle 
Haven (proposed Facebook traffic mitigation) 

B.  Construction of the US 101/Willow Road interchange project 

C. Install adaptive signal interconnect between Bayfront 
Expressway and Middlefield Road  

D. Support ongoing work on Dumbarton Corridor Study, led by 
Samtrans 

E. Support for congestion pricing on the Dumbarton Bridge 

F. Support for improved Dumbarton Express Bus Service 

4. Long-Term
Improvement 
Options 

Measures that would require 
significant planning by the 
City or other efforts by other 
agencies 

A. Install adaptive signal interconnect on Bayfront Expressway 

B. Evaluate grade separations at Bayfront Expressway at 
University Avenue and Willow Road 

C. Evaluate measures to expand capacity of Willow Road (see 
2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study1) 

D. Evaluate measures to reduce travel time on Bayfront 
Expressway and US 101 to reduce demand on Willow Road 

1 2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study included evaluation and prioritization of traffic improvements on the 
approach to the Dumbarton Bridge. A copy of the study linked in Attachment A.   

http://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/2020-Gateway-Final-Report-Jul08c.pdf


Staff Report #: 16-130-CC 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Next Steps 

A study session on Willow Road transportation improvement options is scheduled for a late August Council 
meeting. At that meeting, staff plans to request further Council direction to:  

• Gather feedback on current traffic conditions and issues identified

• Provide feedback on potential improvement options

• Prioritize potential improvement options

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

Attachments 
A. 2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study (http://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/2020-

Gateway-Final-Report-Jul08c.pdf) 

Report prepared by: 
Nicole H. Nagaya, P.E., Transportation Manager 

http://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/2020-Gateway-Final-Report-Jul08c.pdf
http://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/2020-Gateway-Final-Report-Jul08c.pdf
http://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/2020-Gateway-Final-Report-Jul08c.pdf


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

ATTACHMENT A



2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study

Final Report

Prepared for:

Prepared by:

July 29, 2008



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page i

Contents Page
I. The Problem and Potential Solutions ..................................................................................................... 1

A. Study Objectives ................................................................................................................................... 1
B. Definition of Problem ............................................................................................................................ 1
C. Future “No-Build” Conditions ............................................................................................................... 2
D. Public Outreach ..................................................................................................................................... 2
E. Development of Universe of Potential Solutions .................................................................................... 3
F. Assessment of Universe of Potential Solutions ....................................................................................... 9

II. Detailed Evaluation of Certain Solutions.............................................................................................. 11
A. Definition and Engineering of Solutions .............................................................................................. 11
B. Concept Level Cost Estimates ............................................................................................................. 15
C. Future Traffic Forecasts....................................................................................................................... 16
D. Traffic Benefits ................................................................................................................................... 16
E. Potential Environmental and Social Impacts ........................................................................................ 18
F. Comparison of Solutions ..................................................................................................................... 23

III. Findings and Next Steps ...................................................................................................................... 25
A. Findings .............................................................................................................................................. 25
B. Next Steps ........................................................................................................................................... 25
C. Categorization ..................................................................................................................................... 26
D. Phase 2 Activities ................................................................................................................................ 29

 Illustrations Follows Page

Figure 1:  Project Vicinity 1
Figure 2:  Study Area 1
Figure 3:  Traffic Issues Within Study Area 2
Figure 4a:  Congestion Maps (AM) 2
Figure 4b:  Congestion Maps (PM) 2
Figure 5A: Universe of Alternatives Highway 101 9
Figure 5B: Universe of Alternatives Connecting Bridge and Highway 101 9
Figure 5C: Universe of Alternatives Willow Road 9
Figure 5D: Universe of Alternatives University Avenue 9
Figure 5E: Universe of Alternatives ITS and Other Projects 9
Figure 6:  Alternative 1 - Route 101 Auxiliary Lanes and Interchange Improvements 11
Figure 7:  Alternative 2 - Route 101 Elevated Express Lanes 11
Figure 8:  Alternative 3 - Grade Separations at Bayfront/Willow and Bayfront/University 12
Figure 9:  Alternative 6/7 - Willow Road Elevated/Depressed Express Lanes 13
Figure 10:  Alternative 9 - University Avenue Depressed Express Lanes 14
Figure 11:  Traffic Paths Evaluated 17

Tabulations Follows Page

Table 1A: Assessment of Benefits, Costs, and Impacts (Universe of Alternatives)  9
                  Highway 101
Table 1B: Assessment of Benefits, Costs, and Impacts (Universe of Alternatives)  10
                  Connection between Dumbarton Bridge and Highway 101



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page ii

Table 1C: Assessment of Benefits, Costs, and Impacts (Universe of Alternatives)  10
                  Willow Road
Table 1D: Assessment of Benefits, Costs, and Impacts (Universe of Alternatives) 10
                  University Avenue
Table 1E: Assessment of Benefits, Costs, and Impacts (Universe of Alternatives) 10
                  Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS)
Table 1F: Assessment of Benefits, Costs, and Impacts (Universe of Alternatives) 10
                  Other
Table 2:    Comparison of Environmental Impacts by Alternative 18
Table 3:    Comparison of Benefits, Costs, and Impacts for Alternatives Studied in Detail 23
Table 4:    Categorization Results 25

Acknowledgements

Appendices (On Enclosed CD)

Appendix A: Data Collection and Existing Conditions
Appendix B:  Public Input
Appendix C:  Conceptual Definition & Engineering of Alternatives
Appendix D:  Conceptual Cost Estimates
Appendix E:   Travel Forecasting
Appendix F:    ALPS Modeling Assumptions



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 1

This report presents the procedures and findings of the 2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study, which

was conducted by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (KHA) under contract to the City/County Association

of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG) in partnership with the San Mateo County Transportation

Authority (SMCTA) and Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority (VTA). This document is organized

as follows.

I. The Problem and Potential Solutions

II. Detailed Evaluation of Certain Solutions

III. Findings and Next Steps

I. The Problem and Potential Solutions

A. Study Objectives

The objective of this study was to define and evaluate alternative traffic improvements in the

study area that address the Study Goals, which are listed below:

Facilitate access to communities within the study area;

Enhance economic opportunities;

Optimize use of existing infrastructure;

Reduce congestion and local community impacts caused by commute traffic; and

Minimize environmental impacts on sensitive resources.

The study area, as defined in Figures 1 and 2, encompasses Highway 101 from just north of

SR 84 (Woodside Road) to just south of the Route 85 (Stevens Creek Freeway) junction, as

well as SR 84 (Bayfront Expressway) from the Dumbarton Bridge landing to Highway 101

and beyond to Middlefield Road including the connecting streets between the Bayfront

Expressway and Highway 101.

This study was consciously focused on traffic improvements and did not address transit and

multimodal challenges and opportunities.  Its findings will be used as appropriate to inform

other traffic-oriented efforts addressing the Highway 101 corridor, like the Freeway

Performance Initiative Program underway by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission

(MTC) and the Corridor System Management Plan (CSMP) sponsored by Caltrans. Sub-

regional transit and multimodal issues are being addressed in several current efforts,

including the VTA 2035 Plan and Short-Range Transit Plan, the Caltrain Strategic Plan and

Short-Range Transit Plan, the Samtrans Short-Range Transit Plan, the Strategic Plan for San

Mateo County Measure A, and the Dumbarton Rail Corridor project.

B. Definition of Problem

The State highways within the study area all experience substantial traffic demand and poor

operating conditions during the peak commute periods. Several important findings from the



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

280

101

280

82

82

82

82

237

85

17 82

87

87

185

185

238

238

1

1

1

1

1

35

35

35

35

92

92

92

80

380

880

880

880

880

880

238
580

580

580980

260

61

61

112

101

280

280

280

680

680

680

680

101

101

101

101

84

84

84

84

84

84

109
114

92

San Bruno

Daly City

South San Francisco

Millbrae

Half Moon Bay

Palo Alto

Menlo Park

Atherton

Mountain
View

Sunnyvale

Milpitas

Pleasanton

Dublin
San Leandro

San Ramon
San Francisco

San Mateo

Foster City

Redwood City

Santa Clara San Jose

Union City

Hayward

Fremont

Oakland

East
Palo Alto

San Bruno

Daly City

South San Francisco

Millbrae

Half Moon Bay

Palo Alto

Menlo Park

Atherton

Mountain
View

Sunnyvale

Milpitas

Pleasanton

Dublin
San Leandro

San Ramon
San Francisco

San Mateo

Foster City

Redwood City

Santa Clara San Jose

Union City

Hayward

Fremont

Oakland

East
Palo Alto

Oakland Int’l
Airport

San Francisco Int’l Airport

San Jose Int’l Airport

Project
Vicinity

Figure  1 
Project Vicinity



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

VE
TE

R
A

N
S

BL
VD

TU
NTSEHC

TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDI
M

RR NOTRAB
MUD

EGDIRB
WEN TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .
W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

DR YAB

A SAGL UP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRAB
ME

DR OR

Y WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSGNER

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

EI FELDDI
M DLO

Y
W  DL

I
NEVA L

AD

IAF
D DLI HCR

R
RD ALI

NA
M

S SI LLET

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

VA HT5

A
WDAORB

Y

L B TROPAESDV

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

IUQ
MOLB

TS TS

WOODSID
ERD

OHSYAB . E
DR ER

 
NEVAH

VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA M

A DOO WGNI R
V

VA 
NA

MELOC

LLI W
DR WO

NEROLF
DR EC

Y
WXE T

NORFYAB

Y WXE T NORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

I C
NARF 

NAS

YAB OCS
EGUFER EFI L DLI

W L A
NOI TA

N

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

SD
NALYAB

ERUTA
N

EVRESERP

LAP
O OTLA

LAPI CI
NU

M
FL OG

ESRUOC

A E
NI LEROHS

WEI V 
NI AT

NUO
M T

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENSCREEKFRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI WLOWRD

I NU
EVRSITY

AV

.E BAYSH OR
E RD

DVLB E
NILEROHS

Y
WKP ERTAEHTIHP

MA

ST
UD

Y 
AR

EA

Figure  2 
Study Area



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 2

review of existing conditions are summarized below and illustrated in Figure 3. Appendix A

contains details of the assessment of existing conditions.

The unconventional connection between the Dumbarton Bridge (SR 84) and Highway
101 creates congestion on arterial highways SR 109 (University Avenue) and SR 114
(Willow Road) and the interchanges with Highway 101.

Congestion of arterial highways approaching and departing the Dumbarton Bridge
creates neighborhood traffic impacts in Menlo Park, Palo Alto and East Palo Alto.

Older full cloverleaf interchanges without collector-distributor roads create short weave
conditions resulting in pockets of congestion, which have upstream effects on traffic flow.

The beginning point of the High Occupancy Vehicle (HOV) lane north of Whipple Avenue
coincides with a mixed-flow lane reduction and these changes in combination create
notable weaving on southbound Highway 101, friction and upstream congestion.

Select high volume freeway ramps with short merge areas create bottlenecks that cause
upstream congestion.

Lack of auxiliary lanes between closely spaced interchange ramps creates merging
conflicts throughout the corridor, exacerbating highly congested conditions.

Accident rates on certain segments of State highways in the study area are significantly
higher than the statewide average for similar facilities.

Poorly configured off-ramp intersections with surface streets, combined with high traffic
volumes, create back-ups that extend onto Highway 101.

C. Future “No-Build” Conditions

After confirming that existing problems were substantial and very few projects were

programmed in the short term, the study emphasized future no-build conditions, with only a

few improvements slated for completion from the present  through 2025 (the Highway

101/Willow Road interchange and Auxiliary Lanes from Marsh Road to the Santa Clara

County Line).  In other words, it was felt that existing conditions would only worsen and it was

more effective to focus on a long-term horizon as the basis to identify needed traffic

improvements.

The anticipated congestion levels for 2025 as well as the percentage change in congestion

from present day to 2025 are depicted in Figures 4A (AM Peak Period) and 4B (PM Peak

Period).  By observation, today’s big problem will be tomorrow’s bigger problem under a “No-

Build” scenario.

D.  Public Outreach

Feedback was obtained from the public during five formal open meetings and from other

sources, including written and electronic correspondence. Staff from C/CAG organized the

public forums and received other inputs directly. A PowerPoint presentation and handout

were prepared to summarize the study objectives, issues, and potential kinds of

improvements that might be considered. The formal meetings involved a 25-minute



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

VE
TE

RA
N

S
BL

VD TS TU
NTSEHC

CA
LT

RA
IN

M
ID

DL
EF

IE
LD

 R
D

DU
M

BA
RT

ON
 R

R

NE
W

BR
ID

GE
ST

E.
 B

AY
SH

OR
E 

RD

W
. B

AY
SH

OR
E R

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

BA
Y 

RD

PULGAS AV

CLARKE AV

EM
BA

RC
AD

ER
O 

RD

OREGON EXWY
CHARLE

STO
N RDFABIAN WY

RENGSTORFF AV

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

OL
D 

M
ID

DL
EF

IE
LD

  W
Y

L 
AV

EN
ID

A

IAF
RD DLI HCR

RD ALI
NA

M

ELLIS ST

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

5TH AV

BR
OA

DW
AY

SEAPORT BLVD

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

BL
OM

QU
IS

T 
ST

WOODSID
ERD

E.
 B

AY
SH

OR
E 

RD
HA

VE
N

 A
V

DR YAB

BA
Y 

RD

MARSH RD

RINGWOOD AV

CO
LE

M
AN

 A
V

WILLOW RD

DR EC
NEROLF

BA
YF

RO
N

T 
EX

W
Y

BAYFRONT EXWY

BA
YF

RO
N

T

PA
RK

SA
N

 F
RA

N
CI

SC
O 

BA
Y

N
AT

IO
N

AL
 W

IL
DL

IF
E 

RE
FU

GE
RA

VE
N

SW
OO

D

OP
EN

SP
AC

E

PR
ES

ER
VE

RA
VE

N
SW

OO
D

OP
EN

SP
AC

E

PR
ES

ER
VE

BA
YL

AN
DS

N
AT

UR
E

PR
ES

ER
VE

SH
OR

EL
IN

E 
AT

 M
OU

N
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENS CREEK FRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

10
1

10
1

10
1

10
1

84

84

84

11
4

84

85

10
9

10
1

WILLOWRD
UNIVERSITY

AV

E. BAYSH OR
E RD

SH
OR

EL
IN

E 
BL

VD

AM
PH

IT
HE

AT
RE

 P
KW

Y

WOO
DL

AN
D

AV

W
. B

AY
SH

OR
E 

RD

PA
LO

AL
TO

M
UN

IC
IP

AL

GO
LF

CO
UR

SE

County Lin
e

ST
UD

Y
AR

EA

1 2 3 4 5 6

7 8 9 10 11

1

2

3

4
6

6

9

6

10
7

11

8
5

U
nc

on
ve

nt
io

na
l c

on
ne

ct
io

n 
be

tw
ee

n 
D

um
ba

rt
on

 B
rid

ge
 a

nd
 

U
S 

10
1 

w
ith

 s
ev

er
e 

co
ng

es
tio

n.

C
on

ge
st

io
n 

on
 U

S 
10

1 
ca

us
es

 tr
af

fic
 to

 d
iv

er
t i

nt
o 

Ea
st

 P
al

o 
A

lto
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
ds

. (
e.

g.
 P

ul
ga

s 
an

d 
C

la
rk

e 
A

ve
.)

W
ill

ow
 R

oa
d 

ex
pe

rie
nc

es
 s

ev
er

e 
co

ng
es

tio
n 

be
tw

ee
n 

Ba
yf

ro
nt

 E
xp

w
y 

an
d 

U
S 

10
1.

H
ig

h 
on

-r
am

p 
vo

lu
m

es
 fr

om
 E

m
ba

rc
ad

er
o 

R
oa

d 
cr

ea
te

s 
bo

ttl
en

ec
k 

on
 N

B 
U

S 
10

1.

H
ig

h 
on

-r
am

p 
vo

lu
m

es
 fr

om
 S

ho
re

lin
e 

Bl
vd

. c
re

at
es

 
bo

ttl
en

ec
k 

on
 S

B 
U

S 
10

1.

C
lo

ve
rle

af
 s

ty
le

 in
te

rc
ha

ng
es

 c
re

at
e 

w
ea

vi
ng

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
on

 
m

ai
nl

in
e.

Tr
an

si
tio

ns
 to

/fr
om

 H
O

V
 la

ne
s 

cr
ea

te
 w

ea
vi

ng
 is

su
es

 

La
ck

 o
f a

ux
ili

ar
y 

la
ne

s 
be

tw
ee

n 
cl

os
el

y 
sp

ac
ed

 in
te

rs
ec

tio
ns

 
cr

ea
te

s 
po

or
 m

er
ge

 a
nd

 d
iv

er
ge

 c
on

di
tio

ns
.

C
on

ge
st

io
n 

on
 U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 A
ve

nu
e 

di
ve

rt
s 

tr
af

fic
 to

 W
oo

dl
an

d 
R

oa
d.

U
nc

on
ve

nt
io

na
l i

nt
er

ch
an

ge
 c

re
at

es
 s

ur
fa

ce
 s

tr
ee

t 
co

ng
es

tio
n 

(e
.g

. f
iv

e-
le

g 
in

te
rs

ec
tio

n 
of

 
W

oo
ds

id
e/

Br
oa

dw
ay

/ra
m

ps
)

St
ud

y 
ar

ea
 h

as
 li

m
ite

d 
"c

ro
ss

-U
S 

10
1"

 c
ap

ac
ity

, 
co

nc
en

tr
at

in
g 

tr
af

fic
 o

nt
o 

a 
fe

w
 k

ey
 s

tr
ee

ts
. (

e.
g.

 W
ill

ow
 

R
oa

d 
an

d 
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 A
ve

nu
e)

Figure  3 
Traffic Issues Within Study Area



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

VETERANS BLVL D

TS TUNTSEHC

CALTRAIN

MIDDLEFIELD RD

DUMBARTON RR

NEWBRIDGE
T

E. BAYSHORE RD

ONOD EOH

A AGOTARAS V
BAY R

PULGAS AV

CLARKE AV

EMBARCADERO RD

OR
EG

ON
 E

XW
Y

CHARLE
STO

N RD

ABIAN W
Y

RE
N

GS
TO

RF
F 

AV

E MIDDLEFIELD RD

OLD MIDDLEFIELD  WY
L AVENIDA

IAF RD DLIHCR
RD ALINAM

EL
LI

S 
ST

TSEW NAMSAT
YS LIAR THGIL METS

5T
H 

AV

WAY

SE
AP

OR
T 

BL
VD

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

BLOMQUIST ST

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

E. BAYSHORE 
HAVEN A

DR YAB

BAY RD

M
AR

SH
 R

D

RI
N

GW
OO

D 
AV

COLEMAN AV

W
IL

LO
W

 R
D

DR ECNEROLF

BAYFRONT EXWY

BA
YF

RO
NT

 EX
W

Y

BAYFRONT

PARK

SAN FRANCISCO BAY

NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

BAYLANDS

NATURE

PRESERVE

SHORELINE AT MOUNTAIN VIEW

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
A

B
YA S

E

STEVENS
CREEK

FRW
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VL
D

101

101

84

85

UN
IV

ER
SI

TY
AV

E. BAYA SH

SHORELINE BLVD

AMPHITHEATRE PKWY

W

OODLAND
AV

PALO
ALTO

MUNICIPAL

GOLF

COURSE

Co
un

ty 
Lin

e

STUDY AREA

E. BAYSHORE RD
VA NEVAH

01 84

AV 84AV

BAYSHORE RD

E. B

FAB

WY

W. BAYSHORE RD

10

10

LANNND W. BAYSHORE RD
SHORE R

HORE RD

BROADWAY

XWY
8BAYFRONT EXW

V 1

NE
ST

R

4

4

W
IL

LO
W

RRD

8

RD

109

B
AYA SHOR E PKWKK

YWW

01
AYA SH

ORE RD

PULGAS AV

IAF RDDLIHCR

Year 2025 AM Peak Period Congestion

Legend
> 1.2 v/c

1.0 - 1.19 v/c

0.90 - 0.99 v/c

0.0 - 0.89 v/c

East Bayshore Road Detail

VETERANS BLVD

TS TUNTSEHC

CALTRAIN

MIDDLEFIELD RD

DUMBARTON RR

NEWBRIDGEST

E. BAYSHORE RD

W. BAYSHORE RD

ONOD EOH

A AGOTARAS V
BAY R

PULGAS AV

CLARKE AV

EMBARCADERO RD

OR
EG

ON
 E

XW
Y

CHARLE
STO

N RD

FABIAN W
Y

RE
N

GS
TO

RF
F 

AV

E MIDDLEFIELD RD

OLD MIDDLEFIELD  WY
L AVENIDA

IAF RD DLIHCR
RD ALINAM

EL
LI

S 
ST

TSEW NAMSAT
YS LIAR THGIL METS

5T
H 

AV

BROADWAY

SE
AP

OR
T 

BL
VD

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

BLOMQUIST ST

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

E. BAYSHORE RD
VA NEVAH

DR YAB

BAY RD

M
AR

SH
 R

D

RI
N

GW
OO

D 
AV

COLEMAN AV

W
IL

LO
W

 R
D

DR ECNEROLF

BAYFRONT EXWY

BA
YF

RO
NT

 EX
W

Y

BAYFRONT

PARK

SAN FRANCISCO BAY

NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

BAYLANDS

NATURE

PRESERVE

SHORELINE AT MOUNTAIN VIEW

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
AYSHOR E PKWY

STEVENS
CREEK

FRW
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VL
D

101

101

101

84

84

114

85

W
IL

LO
W

R
UN

IV
ER

SI
TY

AV

E. BAYA SH

ORE RD

SHORELINE BLVD

AMPHITHEATRE PKWY

W

OODLAND
AV W. BAYSHORE RD

PALO
ALTO

MUNICIPAL

GOLF

COURSE

Co
un

ty 
Lin

e

STUDY AREA

Change in Congestion Year 2000 to Year 2025
AM Peak Period

Legend

East Bayshore Road Detail

E. BAYSHORE RD 01 84
V BAYFRONTT EXWY

RRD

E

RD

4

109

%

PULGAS AV

W. BAYSHORE RD
HORE R

ORE RD

01

H

ORE RD

WY

D

Note: Locations with no visible change shown are in the range of -10% < change < 10%

over 30%

10% to 30%

-10% to -30%

Under -30%

Figure  4A 
Congestion Maps (AM)



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Figure  4B 
Congestion Maps (PM)

VETERANS BLVD

TS TUNTSEHC

CALTRAIN

MIDDLEFIELD RD

DUMBARTON RR

NEWBRIDGE
T

ONOD EOH

A AGOTARAS V
BAY R

PULGAS AV

CLARKE AV

EMBARCADERO RD

OR
EG

ON
 E

XW
Y

CHARLE
STO

N RD

ABIAN W
Y

RE
N

GS
TO

RF
F 

AV

E MIDDLEFIELD RD

OLD MIDDLEFIELD  WY
L AVENIDA

IAF RD DLIHCR
RD ALINAM

EL
LI

S 
ST

TSEW NAMSAT
YS LIAR THGIL METS

5T
H 

AV

WAY

SE
AP

OR
T 

BL
VD

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

BLOMQUIST ST

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

E. BAYSHORE 
HAVEN A

DR YAB

BAY RD

M
AR

SH
 R

D

RI
N

GW
OO

D 
AV

COLEMAN AV

W
IL

LO
W

 R
D

DR ECNEROLF

BAYFRONT EXWY

BA
YF

RO
NT

 EX
W

Y

BAYFRONT

PARK

SAN FRANCISCO BAY

NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

BAYLANDS

NATURE

PRESERVE

SHORELINE AT MOUNTAIN VIEW

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
A

B
YA S

E

STEVENS
CREEK

FRW
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VL
D

101

101

84

85

UN
IV

ER
SI

TY
AV

E. BAYA SH

SHORELINE BLVD

AMPHITHEATRE PKWY

W

OODLAND
AV

PALO
ALTO

MUNICIPAL

GOLF

COURSE

Co
un

ty 
Lin

e

STUDY AREA

E. BAYSHORE RD
VA NEVAH

01 84

AV 84AV

1

FAB

WY

W. BAYSHORE RD

BROADWAY

10

10

LANNND W. BAYSHORE RD
SHORE R

HORE RD

XWY
8BAYFRONT EXW

V 1

NE
ST

4

4

W
IL

LO
W

RRD

RD

109

B
AYA SHOR E PKWKK

YWW

E. BAYSHORE RD

01
AYA SH

ORE RD

PULGAS AV

IAF RDDLIHCR

Year 2025 PM Peak Period Congestion

Legend
> 1.2 v/c

1.0 - 1.19 v/c

0.90 - 0.99 v/c

0.0 - 0.89 v/c

East Bayshore Road Detail

4

8

4

VETERANS BLVD

TS TUNTSEHC

CALTRAIN

MIDDLEFIELD RD

DUMBARTON RR

NEWBRIDGEST

E. BAYSHORE RD

W. BAYSHORE RD

ONOD EOH

A AGOTARAS V
BAY RD

PULGAS AV

CLARKE AV

EMBARCADERO RD

OR
EG

ON
 E

XW
Y

CHARLE
STO

N RD

FABIAN W
Y

RE
N

GS
TO

RF
F 

AV

E MIDDLEFIELD RD

OLD MIDDLEFIELD  WY
L AVENIDA

IAF RD DLIHCR
RD ALINAM

EL
LI

S 
ST

TSEW NAMSAT
YS LIAR THGIL METS

5T
H 

AV

BROADWAY

SE
AP

OR
T 

BL
VD

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

BLOMQUIST ST

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

E. BAYSHORE RD
VA NEVAH

DR YAB

BAY RD

M
AR

SH
 R

D

RI
N

GW
OO

D 
AV

COLEMAN AV

W
IL

LO
W

 R
D

DR ECNEROLF

AYFRONT EXWY

BA
YF

RO
NT

 EX
W

Y

BAYFRONT

PARK

SAN FRANCISCO BAY

NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

RAVENSWOOD

OPEN

SPACE

PRESERVE

BAYLANDS

NATURE

PRESERVE

SHORELINE AT MOUNTAIN VIEW

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
AYSHOR E PKWY

STEVENS
CREEK

FRW
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VL
D

101

101

101

84

84

84

114

84

85

101

W
IL

LO
W

RD
UN

IV
ER

SI
TY

AV

E. BAYSH

ORE RD

SHORELINE BLVD

AMPHITHEATRE PKWY

W

OODLAND
AV W. BAYSHORE RD

PALO
ALTO

MUNICIPAL

GOLF

COURSE

Co
un

ty 
Lin

e

STUDY AREA

Change in Congestion Year 2000 to Year 2025
PM Peak Period

Legend
over 30%

10% to 30%

-10% to -30%

Under -30%

East Bayshore Road Detail

VD

101

BROADWAY

V BAYFRONT EXWYW

RD

1 9

PULGAS AV

Note: Locations with no visible change shown are in the range of -10% < change < 10%



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 3

presentation.  Each meeting lasted approximately two hours. Details of this process are

contained in Appendix B.

A separate two-phase effort called the “Dumbarton Dialogue Project” was undertaken with

funding from the City of East Palo Alto and Caltrans (Community-Based Transportation

Planning). The first phase of work involved the Dumbarton Dialogue team reaching out to

East Palo Alto community members to 1) inform them about transportation planning through

the “University 101 Traffic Academy,” and 2) solicit their participation in the first formal

meeting of the series cited above.  The second phase of work involved a series of

informational meetings, one in each of the communities in the 2020 Peninsula Gateway study

area, to discuss local issues and priorities and formulate a collective position for

consideration by the 2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study committees and sponsors.

This position statement, called the “Dumbarton Dialogue Credo,” was presented to the PAC

in June 2007 and contained specific criteria supporting overriding objectives including Quality

of Life, Reduce Impact of Commuter Traffic upon East Palo Alto and Eastern Menlo Park,

Reduce Traffic Through Transit Alternatives, and Environmental Protection. The “Credo” is

included in Appendix B.  (See www.dumbartondialogue.org for details.)

E. Development of Universe of Potential Solutions

The alternatives summarized in this report evolved from a series of interim products

describing the possible “universe” of alternatives that could potentially address the traffic

issues in the corridor in the context of the Study Goals.  These were combined with the

evaluation of existing conditions and feedback from the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC)

and the Policy Advisory Committee (PAC) into a list of potential solutions. A series of themes

and their corresponding issues were developed to describe the corridor characteristics.

Potential solutions were then brainstormed relating to each theme. Improvements that would

complement the solutions, if applicable, were also generally identified. The themes are

summarized below and subsequently described with respect to issues and potential

solutions.

1. Improve connection (i.e. increase traffic capacity) between Dumbarton Bridge

touchdown and Highway 101 North

2. Improve connection (i.e. increase traffic capacity) between Dumbarton Bridge

touchdown and Highway 101 South

3. Expand capacity on Highway 101 South (County line to Shoreline Blvd.)

4. Expand capacity on Highway 101 North (County Line to Woodside Road)

5. Divert commuter traffic from East Palo Alto neighborhoods (east/south of University)

6. Divert commuter traffic from University Avenue

7. Traffic calming on local residential streets

8. Improve freeway access

9. Accommodate traffic impacts of major developments

10. Improve traffic management

11. Improve local access across Highway 101.

http://www.dumbartondialogue.org


Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 4

THEME 1: Improve connection (i.e. increase traffic capacity) between Dumbarton

Bridge touchdown and Highway 101 North

ISSUES:

Congestion at intersections on Bayfront Expressway with University Ave., Willow Road,
and Marsh Road

Conflicting traffic movements at Marsh Road/Highway 101 interchange

Willow Road, although a State Highway, is only a four-lane arterial primarily serving local
uses and lacks capacity

University Avenue is a four-lane arterial serving many local uses and lacks capacity

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Direct flyover connections between Bayfront/Marsh and Highway 101 (north of Marsh)

Bayfront Expressway extension to Woodside Road Interchange

Elevated roadway over Dumbarton RR between University and Highway 101 (south of
Marsh)

Grade separate University/Bayfront Expressway intersection

Grade separate Willow/Bayfront intersection

An aerial braided roadway connection leaving southbound Highway 101 downstream of
Dumbarton Railroad Bridge, proceeding to Willow Road and merging with the northbound
Highway 101 to eastbound Willow Road connection.

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) (e.g. closed circuit television (CCTV),
changeable message signs (CMS), lane control signalization, upgraded communication
and detection elements)

 Congestion pricing

Combine improvements addressing connection to Highway 101 South

THEME 2:  Improve connection (i.e. increase traffic capacity) between Dumbarton
Bridge touchdown and Highway 101 South

ISSUES:

Congestion at intersections on Bayfront Expressway with University Ave. and Willow
Road

Willow Road, although a State Highway, is only a four-lane arterial primarily serving local
uses and lacks capacity

University Avenue is a four-lane arterial serving many local uses and lacks capacity



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 5

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

New south connection (various alignment options)

Tunnel beneath East Palo Alto between (roughly) the Dumbarton Bridge and Highway
101, beneath the Ravenswood Industrial Area and the residential neighborhoods on East
Palo Alto’s residential subdivisions.

Aerial braided roadway connections leaving northbound on Highway 101 upstream of
Oregon/Embarcadero, aligned over E. Bayshore Road and crossing University Avenue,
proceeding to Willow Road and continuing over Willow Road to Bayfront Expressway,
continuing over Bayfront Expressway to touchdown just west of the Dumbarton Bridge;

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

ITS (e.g. closed circuit television (CCTV), changeable message signs (CMS), lane control
signalization, upgraded communication and detection elements)

Congestion pricing

Combine improvements addressing connection to Highway 101 North

THEME 3:  Expand capacity on Highway 101 South (County line to Shoreline Blvd.)

ISSUES:

Heavy congestion and vehicle delay in both directions of Highway 101 (LOS F)

Relatively high accident rates on Highway 101

No southbound on-ramp at San Antonio Rd. forces traffic to Charleston Road on-ramp,
which merges to Highway 101 slightly upstream of the Rengstorff Avenue off-ramp and
therefore is limited in capacity; also, the increased concentration of traffic at the
Rengstorff Avenue southbound on-ramp further worsens the operation on this segment of
Highway 101

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Auxiliary lanes on Highway 101 from Embarcadero Rd. to Shoreline Blvd.

Widen Highway 101 to ten through lanes (4 mixed flow, 1 HOV each direction) and
reconstruct interchanges at Embarcadero Rd/Oregon Expwy, San Antonio Rd., and
Rengstorff Ave., and perhaps Old Middlefield Way

Widen Highway 101 to 12 lanes (4 mixed flow, 1 auxiliary, 1 HOV each direction)

Reconstruct Embarcadero/Oregon interchanges to provide room for ultimate 10-12 lanes

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

Convert HOV lanes to High Occupancy Toll (HOT) lanes

ITS (e.g. closed circuit television (CCTV), changeable message signs (CMS), trailblazer
signs for detour directions, upgraded communication and detection elements)



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 6

DISCUSSION:

Complements SR 85/Highway 101 North project and SMCTA Auxiliary Lanes Project
(Marsh Rd. to County line)

SR 85/Highway 101 North project will construct 12 lane cross section at Shoreline Rd.
that narrows to 11 lanes at Old Middlefield Way and then to 8 lanes north of Old
Middlefield Way

THEME 4:  Expand capacity on Highway 101 North (County Line to Woodside Road)

ISSUES:

Extreme congestion during long a.m. and p.m. peak periods, in both directions

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Widen Highway 101 to 12 lanes (4 mixed flow, 1 auxiliary, 1 HOV each direction), which
would require reconstruction of interchanges at Woodside Road, Marsh Road, Willow
Road, and University Avenue

Put HOV lanes on structure, use remaining available space for one added through lane
each direction; HOV lanes may need to be express to bypass local interchanges; also,
this would limit HOV access to University Avenue and Willow Road, which now provide a
bridge connection for many HOVs

Build elevated deck to accommodate 2 (or more) added mixed flow lanes above Highway
101, which could be reversible

Reversible lanes on Highway 101; it is noted that this solution would be compatible with a
condition where there is substantial directional demand that reverses in one peak period
versus another, which is not the case on Highway 101 in the corridor

Reconstruct selected interchanges in phases, to provide clear width for future widening

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

ITS (e.g. closed circuit television (CCTV), changeable message signs (CMS), trailblazer
signs for detour directions, upgraded communication and detection elements)

Congestion pricing

DISCUSSION:

Limited capacity at study boundaries of Highway 101 corridor would indicate that these
improvements may simply “move” an existing bottleneck

THEME 5:  Divert commuter traffic from East Palo Alto neighborhoods (east/south of
University)

ISSUES:

Heavy commuter traffic (cut-through) volumes and congestion on East Bayshore, Pulgas,
Clarke, and Bay in East Palo Alto



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 7

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

New south connection (various alignment options)

Increase University Avenue capacity (remove parking, widen or two-level roadway, or
tunnel and surface roadway, grade separated intersections, or reversible lanes)

Increase Willow Road capacity (grade separated intersections, “fast lane,” tunnel,
reversible lanes, expressway)

Traffic calming (prohibit movements, prohibit non-resident traffic, etc.) on affected streets;

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

Close neighborhood streets to through traffic in combination with above capacity
increases

Pricing/tolls on new connection

ITS (e.g. closed circuit television (CCTV), changeable message signs (CMS), lane control
signalization, traffic signal coordination, upgraded communication and detection
elements)

THEME 6:  Divert commuter traffic from University Avenue

ISSUES:

Heavy congestion on University Avenue due to through traffic

Street is essentially a barrier that divides the community resulting in safety and quality of
life challenges

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

New south connection (various alignment options)

Increase Willow Road capacity

Streetscape and traffic calming improvements on University Avenue

Roundabouts at Donohoe, Bay, other intersections

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

Close neighborhood streets (Pulgas, Clarke, Bay) to through traffic

Pricing/tolls on new connection

ITS (e.g. closed circuit television (CCTV), changeable message signs (CMS), lane control
signalization, traffic signal coordination, upgraded communication and detection
elements)

THEME 7:  Traffic calming on local residential streets

ISSUES:

Congestion on University Avenue west of Highway 101 induces diversion to Woodland
Avenue in Menlo Park



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 8

Heavy commuter cut-through traffic in East Palo Alto (E. Bayshore to Pulgas or Clarke to
Bay to University)

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Modify Woodland Avenue to maintain access to University Palms/Four Seasons Hotel
and impede commuter cut-through traffic

Close Pulgas, Clarke, and Bay to cut-through traffic using traffic calming improvements

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

ITS (e.g. CMS, CCTV, traffic speed detection)

THEME 8:  Improve freeway access

ISSUES:

No southbound Highway 101 on-ramp at San Antonio Avenue puts pressure on low-
capacity on-ramp at Charleston Road

Southbound connections at Woodside Road create congestion, limit access to Highway
101

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Add southbound on-ramp at San Antonio Avenue and remove on-ramp at Charleston
Road

Reconstruct Highway 101/Woodside Road interchange

THEME 9:  Accommodate traffic impacts of major developments

ISSUES:

Planned development projects in Redwood City (e.g. Abbott Labs and Peninsula Park)
will add peak hour vehicle trips to the Seaport Boulevard/Woodside Road/Highway 101
interchange

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Reduce parking supply and increase transit service at new developments

Widen the planned Blomquist Street Extension from 2 to 4 lanes, creating a  4-lane
parallel arterial between Seaport Boulevard and Whipple Road

Reconstruct Woodside Road interchange

Widen Woodside Road

THEME10:  Improve traffic management

ISSUES:

The lack of traffic management elements in the study area results in poor driving habits
and reactionary driving create unnecessary friction, congestion, and incidents



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 9

Without management, traffic flows to fill available capacity regardless of size or nature of
street systems

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Metering westbound traffic at the west touchdown of the Dumbarton Bridge to introduce
more orderly flow on University Avenue, Willow Road, Bayfront Expressway, and vehicle
input at Highway 101

Active traffic management throughout the corridor

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

ITS (e.g. incident management system/protocol, closed circuit television (CCTV),
changeable message signs (CMS), trailblazer signs for detour directions, upgraded
communication and detection elements)

Pricing/tolls

THEME 11:  Improve local access across Highway 101

ISSUES:

Highway 101 interchanges, especially those at Marsh, Willow, and University, act as
bottlenecks and therefore barriers to local traffic desiring to cross Highway 101

POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS:

Restricted-access, limited capacity tunnel or aerial connections across Highway 101
corridor that would serve only crossing traffic, not traffic entering/leaving Highway 101

COMPLEMENTARY IMPROVEMENTS:

ITS (e.g. signage, CMS, CCTV, lane control signalization, possibly electronic Fastrak-like
access control systems that would be programmed to recognize local vehicles and
identify (and cite) vehicles not technically permitted to use the restricted-access facilities)

F. Assessment of Universe of Potential Solutions

The potential themes were reviewed in several meetings with the Technical Advisory

Committee (TAC) and the Policy Advisory Committee (PAC).  This culminated in a list of 71

alternative improvements.  These were compiled in a chart with respect to pros and cons,

potential fatal flaws, relative costs, and implementation horizons, which were in turn reviewed

with the TAC and the PAC. These alternatives are shown in Figures 5A through 5E and are

grouped geographically.

Once the list of all possible alternatives was brainstormed, an assessment of relative

benefits, costs, and impacts was conducted.  The following tables summarize the

assessment that utilized a simple “high-medium-low” approach.

Table 1A: Highway 101

Projects A and D1:

Both have 10-lane mainline cross-section



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Figure  5A 
Universe of Alternatives Highway 101

VE
TE

R
A

N
S

BL
VD

TU
NTSEHC

TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDI
M

RR NOTRAB
MUD

EGDIRB
WEN TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .
W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

DR YAB

A SAGL UP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRAB
ME

DR OR

Y WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSGNER

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

EI FELDDI
M DLO

Y
W  DL

I
NEVA L

AD

IAF
D DLI HCR

R
RD ALI

NA
M

S SI LLET

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

VA HT5

A
WDAORB

Y

L B TROPAESDV

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

IUQ
MOLB

TS TS

WOODSID
ERD

OHSYAB . E
DR ER

 
NEVAH

VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA M

A DOO WGNI R
V

VA 
NA

MELOC

LLI W
DR WO

NEROLF
DR EC

Y
WXE T

NORFYAB

Y WXE T NORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

I C
NARF 

NAS

YAB OCS
EGUFER EFI L DLI

W L A
NOI TA

N

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

SD
NALYAB

ERUTA
N

EVRESERP

LAP
O OTLA

LAPI CI
NU

M
FL OG

ESRUOC

A E
NI LEROHS

WEI V 
NI AT

NUO
M T

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENSCREEKFRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI WLOWRD

I NU
EVRSITY

AV

.E BAYSH OR
E RD

DVLB E
NILEROHS

Y
WKP ERTAEHTIHP

MA

ST
UD

Y 
AR

EA

OHSYAYY B. E
DR

ER
101

101

48

D

ORE
PK

WK
Y

W

101

OR
E RD

P
R

O
JE

C
T

S

Y
W

Y

REROH
YAYYB.

W

EROH
AB.

W

RB
A

W
A

DA

S HORE
PK

WK
Y

WW
Y

W

HORE

D

1

Y
W

Y

REROHSYAYB
W

D

0101

Y WNAYY W

E
DL

IA
R

EF
IE

LD
RD

D

OR

W

AI B

BL
VL

DE

NEROLF
DR

EC

NOT

EGDIR

GL UP

C

Y
W

411

E

WW

L E

C

A
 

R
o

u
te

 1
01

 A
u

xi
lia

ry
 L

an
es

 

B
 

R
ec

o
n

st
ru

ct
 E

m
b

ar
ca

d
er

o
/

O
re

g
o

n
 In

te
rc

h
an

g
e

C
 

R
ec

o
n

st
ru

ct
 S

an
 A

n
to

n
io

 in
te

rc
h

an
g

e 
an

d
 

el
im

in
at

e 
so

u
th

b
o

u
n

d
 o

n
-r

am
p

 a
t 

C
h

ar
le

st
o

n

D
1 

W
id

en
 f

re
ew

ay
 t

o
 1

0 
la

n
es

 
(C

o
u

n
ty

 L
in

e 
to

 S
h

o
re

lin
e)

D
2 

W
id

en
 f

re
ew

ay
 t

o
 1

0 
la

n
es

 +
 A

u
x 

L
an

es
 

(C
o

u
n

ty
 L

in
e 

to
 S

h
o

re
lin

e)

E
 

W
id

en
 f

re
ew

ay
 t

o
 1

0 
la

n
es

 +
 A

u
x 

L
an

es
 

(W
h

ip
p

le
 t

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
in

e)

F
 

R
o

u
te

 1
01

 E
le

va
te

d
 E

xp
re

ss
 L

an
es

G
 

Im
p

ro
ve

 lo
ca

l a
b

ili
ty

 t
o

 c
ro

ss
 1

01



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Figure  5B 
Universe of Alternatives Connecting Bridge and Highway 101

VE
TE

R
A

N
S

BL
VD

TU
NTSEHC

TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDI
M

RR NOTRAB
MUD

EGDIRB
WEN TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .
W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

DR YAB

A SAGL UP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRAB
ME

DR OR

Y WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSGNER

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

EI FELDDI
M DLO

Y
W  DL

I
NEVA L

AD

IAF
D DLI HCR

R
RD ALI

NA
M

S SI LLET

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

VA HT5

A
WDAORB

Y

L B TROPAESDV

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

IUQ
MOLB

TS TS

WOODSID
ERD

OHSYAB . E
DR ER

 
NEVAH

VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA M

A DOO WGNI R
V

VA 
NA

MELOC

LLI W
DR WO

NEROLF
DR EC

Y
WXE T

NORFYAB

Y WXE T NORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

I C
NARF 

NAS

YAB OCS
EGUFER EFI L DLI

W L A
NOI TA

N

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

SD
NALYAB

ERUTA
N

EVRESERP

LAP
O OTLA

LAPI CI
NU

M
FL OG

ESRUOC

A E
NI LEROHS

WEI V 
NI AT

NUO
M T

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENSCREEKFRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI WLOWRD

I NU
EVRSITY

AV

.E BAYSH OR
E RD

DVLB E
NILEROHS

Y
WKP ERTAEHTIHP

MA

ST
UD

Y 
AR

EA

P
R

O
JE

C
T

S

H
 

G
ra

d
e 

S
ep

ar
at

io
n

s 
o

n
 B

ay
fr

o
n

t 
E

xp
re

ss
w

ay

I 
E

xt
en

d
 B

ay
fr

o
n

t 
E

xp
re

ss
w

ay
 t

o
W

o
o

d
si

d
e 

R
o

ad

J 
C

o
n

st
ru

ct
 d

ir
ec

t 
fl

yo
ve

r 
co

n
n

ec
ti

o
n

 b
et

w
ee

n
 

B
ay

fr
o

n
t/

 M
ar

sh
 a

n
d

 1
01

 n
o

rt
h

 o
f 

M
ar

sh

K
 

"E
le

va
te

d
 D

ir
ec

t 
C

o
n

n
ec

ti
o

n
s 

b
et

w
ee

n
 

B
ay

fr
o

n
t 

an
d

 1
01

 a
lo

n
g

 W
ill

o
w

 R
o

ad
 C

o
rr

id
o

r"

L 
E

le
va

te
d

 r
o

ad
w

ay
 a

lo
n

g
 D

u
m

b
ar

to
n

 
R

R
 c

o
rr

id
o

r 
b

et
w

ee
n

 U
n

iv
er

si
ty

 a
n

d
 1

01

M
 

N
ew

 1
01

 S
o

u
th

 c
o

n
n

ec
ti

o
n

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 E
as

t 
P

al
o

 
A

lt
o

 (
E

xp
re

ss
w

ay
 s

o
u

th
 o

f 
U

n
iv

er
si

ty
)

N
 

N
ew

 1
01

 S
o

u
th

 c
o

n
n

ec
ti

o
n

 s
ki

rt
in

g
 E

as
t 

P
al

o
 

A
lt

o
 (

E
xp

re
ss

w
ay

/v
ia

d
u

ct
 a

lo
n

g
 e

d
g

e 
o

f 
b

ay
)

O
 

Tu
n

n
el

 b
en

ea
th

 E
as

t 
P

al
o

 A
lt

o

P
 

S
an

 F
ra

n
ci

sq
u

it
o

 C
re

ek
 D

iv
er

si
o

n
 S

tr
u

ct
u

re
 

an
d

 R
o

ad
w

ay
 (

d
u

al
 u

se
 t

u
n

n
el

  f
ac

ili
ty

)

P
1 

R
o

u
te

 1
01

 f
lo

o
d

 c
o

n
tr

o
l p

ro
je

ct
 p

o
te

n
ti

al
ly

 
d

o
w

n
 W

ill
o

w
 R

o
ad

.

VAVV

11
41

LO LI WLOWRD

48

E
EEE

O O
APAA

E

RD

SD E

W
OO

WW

E

A

V

I C D

ESES RRPR

RRDR

ABA
ERURR TUU A
E

TO
 B

AY



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Figure  5C 
Universe of Alternatives Willow Road

VE
TE

R
A

N
S

BL
VD

TU
NTSEHC

TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDI
M

RR NOTRAB
MUD

EGDIRB
WEN TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .
W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

DR YAB

A SAGL UP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRAB
ME

DR OR

Y WXE NOGERO
DR NOTSELRAHC

Y W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSGNER

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

EI FELDDI
M DLO

Y
W  DL

I
NEVA L

AD

IAF
D DLI HCR

R
RD ALI

NA
M

S SI LLET

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

VA HT5

A
WDAORB

Y

L B TROPAESDV

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

IUQ
MOLB

TS TS

WOODSID
ERD

OHSYAB . E
DR ER

 
NEVAH

VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA M

A DOO WGNI R
V

VA 
NA

MELOC
LLI W

DR WO

NEROLF
DR EC

Y
WXE T

NORFYAB

Y WXE T NORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

I C
NARF 

NAS

YAB OCS
EGUFER EFI L DLI

W L A
NOI TA

N

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

SD
NALYAB

ERUTA
N

EVRESERP

LAP
O OTLA

LAPI CI
NU

M
FL OG

ESRUOC

A E
NI LEROHS

WEI V 
NI AT

NUO
M T

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENSCREEKFRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI WLOWRD

I NU
EVRSITY

AV

.E BAYSH OR
E RD

DVLB E
NILEROHS

Y
WKP ERTAEHTIHP

MA

ST
UD

Y 
AR

EA

LI WLOWRD

Z

BA
YS

HO
RE

 E
XP

Y

HA
MI

LT
ON

 

IV
Y 

O’
BR

IE
N 

AL
BE

RN
I 

NE
W

BR
ID

GE
 

P
R

O
JE

C
T

S

Q
-Y

 
O

p
er

at
io

n
 Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

Z
 

W
id

en
 W

ill
o

w
 R

d
.

A
A

 &

E
E

 
G

ra
d

e 
S

ep
ar

at
io

n
 a

t 
In

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

B
B

 
P

ed
. O

ve
rc

ro
ss

in
g

 a
t 

Iv
y 

D
r.

C
C

1-
 

A
lt

er
n

at
iv

es
 o

f 
E

xp
re

ss
w

ay
/E

xp
re

ss
 L

an
es

D
D

4,
 

A
lo

n
g

 W
ill

o
w

 R
d

.

F
F,

G
G

 



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

VE
TE

R
A

N
S

BL
VD

TU
NTSEHC

TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDI
M

RR NOTRAB
MUD

EGDIRB
WEN TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .
W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

DR YAB

A SAGL UP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRAB
ME

DR OR

Y WXE NOGERO
DR NOTSELRAHC

Y W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSGNER

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

EI FELDDI
M DLO

Y
W  DL

I
NEVA L

AD

IAF
D DLI HCR

R
RD ALI

NA
M

S SI LLET

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

VA HT5

A
WDAORB

Y

L B TROPAESDV

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

IUQ
MOLB

TS TS

WOODSID
ERD

OHSYAB . E
DR ER

 
NEVAH

VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA M

A DOO WGNI R
V

VA 
NA

MELOC
LLI W

DR WO

NEROLF
DR EC

Y
WXE T

NORFYAB

Y WXE T NORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

I C
NARF 

NAS

YAB OCS
EGUFER EFI L DLI

W L A
NOI TA

N

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

SD
NALYAB

ERUTA
N

EVRESERP

LAP
O OTLA

LAPI CI
NU

M
FL OG

ESRUOC

A E
NI LEROHS

WEI V 
NI AT

NUO
M T

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENSCREEKFRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI WLOWRD

I NU
EVRSITY

AV

.E BAYSH OR
E RD

DVLB E
NILEROHS

Y
WKP ERTAEHTIHP

MA

ST
UD

Y 
AR

EA

P
R

O
JE

C
T

S

H
H

-P
P

 
O

p
er

at
io

n
 Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

Q
Q

 
W

id
en

 U
n

iv
er

si
ty

 A
ve

.

R
R

, U
U

 G
ra

d
e 

S
ep

ar
at

io
n

 a
t 

In
te

rs
ec

ti
o

n

S
S

1-
 

A
lt

er
n

at
iv

es
 o

f 
E

xp
re

ss
w

ay
/E

xp
re

ss
 L

an
es

T
T

4,
 

A
lo

n
g

 W
ill

o
w

 R
d

.

V
V,

W
W

 

DR

A SAGL UP
VAA

VAVV EKRALC

WS
N

SS
ENN VVEE ARAA

DOOOO
WW NENN PEE O

ECAPAA S
EEVVEEEE RERR SESS RRPPRRR

SD
N

DD
ALAA YLL ABAA

ERURRUTUU A
N

AA
EVEE RERR SESS RPRR

LAPAA
O OTOO LA

LAPAA IPP CI
N

II
UNN

M
FL OG

ESRURR OC

E
N

EE
IINNLEELL ROHS

901

E

HS

EE

OH

UNIVERSITYAVE
EEERR

BA
YF

RONTEXWY

DO
NO

HO
E

BE
LL

RU
NN

YM
ED

EBA
Y

MI
CH

IG
AN

NO
TR

E 
DA

ME

PU
RD

UE

Figure  5D 
Universe of Alternatives University Avenue



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Figure  5E 
Universe of Alternatives ITS and Other Projects

VE
TE

R
A

N
S

BL
VD

TU
NTSEHC

TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDI
M

RR NOTRAB
MUD

EGDIRB
WEN TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .
W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

DR YAB

A SAGL UP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRAB
ME

DR OR

Y WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSGNER

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

EI FELDDI
M DLO

Y
W  DL

I
NEVA L

AD

IAF
D DLI HCR

R
RD ALI

NA
M

S SI LLET

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

VA HT5

A
WDAORB

Y

L B TROPAESDV

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

IUQ
MOLB

TS TS

WOODSID
ERD

OHSYAB . E
DR ER

 
NEVAH

VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA M

A DOO WGNI R
V

VA 
NA

MELOC

LLI W
DR WO

NEROLF
DR EC

Y
WXE T

NORFYAB

Y WXE T NORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

I C
NARF 

NAS

YAB OCS
EGUFER EFI L DLI

W L A
NOI TA

N

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

SD
NALYAB

ERUTA
N

EVRESERP

LAP
O OTLA

LAPI CI
NU

M
FL OG

ESRUOC

A E
NI LEROHS

WEI V 
NI AT

NUO
M T

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENSCREEKFRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI WLOWRD

I NU
EVRSITY

AV

.E BAYSH OR
E RD

DVLB E
NILEROHS

Y
WKP ERTAEHTIHP

MA

ST
UD

Y 
AR

EA

P
R

O
JE

C
T

S

X
X

 
In

st
al

l t
ra

ff
ic

 s
ig

n
al

 in
te

rc
o

n
n

ec
t/

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s 
in

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re
 b

et
w

ee
n

 M
id

d
le

fi
el

d
 R

o
ad

 a
n

d
 1

01

Y
Y

 
In

st
al

l t
ra

n
si

t 
si

g
n

al
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 h
ig

h
-p

at
ro

n
ag

e 
b

u
s 

ro
u

te
s.

Z
Z

 
In

st
al

l t
ra

ilb
la

ze
rs

 a
n

d
/o

r 
ar

te
ri

al
 C

M
S

 t
o

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
ro

u
te

 
g

u
id

an
ce

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

A
A

A
 

P
re

p
ar

e 
In

ci
d

en
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

an
d

 T
ra

ve
le

r 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
 

P
la

n
 f

o
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r

B
B

B
 

S
tu

d
y 

th
e 

p
o

ss
ib

le
 d

es
ig

n
at

io
n

 o
f 

E
as

t 
B

ay
sh

o
re

 
(S

an
 A

n
to

n
io

 t
o

 U
n

iv
er

si
ty

) 
as

 a
 r

el
ie

ve
r 

ro
u

te
 t

o
 

p
ro

vi
d

e 
co

n
g

es
ti

o
n

 r
el

ie
f 

an
d

 f
o

r 
in

ci
d

en
t 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

o
n

 R
o

u
te

 1
01

C
C

C
 

Im
p

ro
ve

 1
01

/U
n

iv
er

si
ty

 in
te

rc
h

an
g

e

D
D

D
 

D
ef

in
e 

re
si

d
en

ti
al

 t
ra

ff
ic

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

el
em

en
ts

 t
h

at
 

co
m

p
le

m
en

t 
h

ig
h

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
 c

ap
it

al
 im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

E
E

E
 

E
xt

en
d

 C
en

tr
al

 E
xp

re
ss

w
ay

 t
o

 S
an

d
 H

ill
 R

o
ad

H OR
E RD

XX
, Y

Y,
 Z

Z,
 A

AA
, D

DD



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

Table  1A 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

HIGHWAY 101

ID
Code Alternative

Location Traffic Benefits

Construction 
Cost 

(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in 
Roadway Congestion 

(Expressed in ranges of travel 
time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on 

residential streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise Environment Right-of-Way

A Route 101 Auxiliary Lanes MV, PA See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 1)

B
Reconstruct Embarcadero/Oregon 
Interchange

MV, PA   $$$    

C
Reconstruct San Antonio interchange 
and eliminate southbound on ramp 
at Charleston

MV, PA  - $$$    

D1
Widen freeway to 10 lanes (County 
Line to Shoreline)

MV, PA  - $$$$$    

D2
Widen freeway to 10 lanes + Aux 
Lanes (County Line to Shoreline)

MV, PA  - $$$$$    

E
Widen freeway to 10 lanes + Aux 
Lanes (Whipple to County Line)

RC, MP, EPA, 
PA  - $$$$$    

F Route 101 Elevated Express Lanes
MV, PA, EPA, 

MP, RC
See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 2)

G Improve local ability to cross 101
MV, PA, EPA, 

MP, RC
- - $$ - -  

 



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 10

D1 requires reconstruction of interchanges

Projects D2 and E require substantial right-of-way, disruption

Project F may require right-of-way at conform locations

Table 1B: Connection between Dumbarton Bridge and Highway 101

Project H would have visual impact

Projects I and J would have similar benefits

Projects M and N would have significant impacts

Project P1 is not a traffic project so no traffic benefits are shown

Table 1C: Willow Road

Several projects have small benefits and significant Environment impact

Widening and grade-separations, while beneficial, have significant impacts

Difference between CC and GG (express lanes) is primarily visual

Table 1D: University Avenue

Several projects have small benefits and significant Environment impacts

Widening and grade-separations, while beneficial, have significant impacts

Difference between SS and WW (express lanes) is primarily visual

Table 1E: Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS)

Complementary to physical expansion projects

Incident Management Study is nearing completion (sponsored by C/CAG).

Table 1F: Other

Two projects are studies

Central Expressway extension, while beneficial, would have significant impacts



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

Table  1B 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

CONNECTING BRIDGE AND HIGHWAY 101

ID 
Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits

Construction 
Cost 

(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in Roadway 
Congestion 

(Expressed in ranges of travel 
time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on  

residential streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise Environment Right-of-Way

 
H

Grade Separations on 
Bayfront Expressway

EPA, MP See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 3)

I
Extend Bayfront Expressway to 
Woodside Road

MP, RC   $$$    

J
Construct direct flyover connection 
between Bayfront/ Marsh and 101 
north of Marsh

MP, RC   $$$    

K
Elevated Direct Connections  
between Bayfront and 101 along 
Willow Road Corridor 

EPA, MP This project has been replaced by improvement CC

L
Elevated roadway along Dumbarton 
RR corridor between University 
 and 101

EPA, MP   $$$$    

M
New 101 South connection through 
East Palo Alto (Expressway south  
of University)

EPA, MP   $$$$$    

N
New 101 South connection skirting 
East Palo Alto (Expressway/viaduct 
along edge of bay)

EPA, PA   $$$$$    

O Tunnel beneath East Palo Alto EPA   $$$$$    

P
San Francisquito Creek Diversion 
Structure and Roadway (dual use 
tunnel  facility)

EPA, PA   $$$$    

P1
Route 101 flood control project 
potentially down Willow Road.

EPA, MP - - $$$$    



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Table  1C 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

WILLOW ROAD

ID 
Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits

Construction 
Cost 

(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in Roadway 
Congestion 

(Expressed in ranges of 
travel time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on 

residential streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise Environment Right-of-Way

Q Short-term operational 
improvements on Willow Road EPA, MP

See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 4)

R
Prohibit left turns during peak travel 
periods

EPA, MP
  $ - -  -

S
Prohibit local cross traffic during peak 
travel periods

EPA, MP
  $ - -  -

T
Exit/Entrance Right Turn pockets on 
Willow

EPA, MP
  $ - - - 

U
Set back curb line one lane width 
from traveled way at driveways

EPA, MP
  $ - -  

V Eliminate driveway access on Willow EPA, MP   $ - -  -

W

Eliminate selected signalized 
intersections: 
·     Newbridge St  
·     Ivy Dr  
·     Hamilton Ave  

EPA, MP   $ - -  -

X
Eliminate signalized intersections and 
allow right turns only on/off Willow

EPA, MP   $ - -  -

Y
Eliminate signalized intersections and 
prohibit any access from local streets

EPA, MP   $ - -  -

Z Widen Willow one lane each direction EPA, MP   $$$    

AA

Grade separations at selected 
intersections: 
·     Newbridge St  
·     Ivy Dr  
·     Hamilton Ave 

EPA, MP   $$$$    

BB
Pedestrian over crossing at Ivy Dr 
(near Mid-Peninsula High School)

EPA, MP - - $$  - - 



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Table  1C (cont’d) 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

WILLOW ROAD (CONT’D)

ID 
Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits

Construction 
Cost 

(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in Roadway 
Congestion 

 
(Expressed in ranges of travel 

time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on  

residential streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise Environment Right-of-Way

CC1
Elevated viaduct expressway structure 
• 2 lanes in each direction

EPA, MP   $$$$    

CC2 
(Alt 6)

Elevated viaduct expressway structure 
• 1 lane in each direction

EPA, MP See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 6)

CC3
Elevated viaduct expressway structure 
• Reversible 2 lanes

EPA, MP   $$$$    

CC4
Elevated viaduct expressway structure 
• 3 lanes with reversible middle lane

EPA, MP   $$$$    

DD1
Depressed expressway 
• 2 lanes in each direction

EPA, MP   $$$$    

DD2
Depressed expressway 
• 1 lane in each direction

EPA, MP   $$$$    

DD3
Depressed expressway 
• Reversible 2 lanes

EPA, MP   $$$$    

DD4
Depressed expressway 
• 3 lanes with reversible middle lane

EPA, MP   $$$$    

EE
Grade separations at all intersections 
(over crossings or under crossings)

EPA, MP   $$$$$    

FF
Tunnel Expressway (maintaining 
existing facility at grade)

EPA, MP   $$$$    

GG Willow Road Depressed/Cantilevered 
Express Lanes

EPA, MP See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 7)



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Table  1D 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

UNIVERSITY AVENUE

ID 
Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits

Construction 
Cost 

(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in Roadway 
Congestion 

(Expressed in ranges of travel 
time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on residential 

streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise Environment Right-of-Way

HH 
Short-term operational 
improvements on University Avenue EPA

See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 8)

II
Prohibit left turns during peak travel 
periods

EPA   $ - -  -

JJ
Prohibit local cross traffic during peak 
travel periods

EPA   $ - -  -

KK
Entrance/Exit Right Turn pockets on 
University

EPA   $ - - - 

LL
Set back curb line one lane width 
from traveled way at driveways

EPA   $ - -  

MM
Eliminate driveway access on 
University

EPA   $ - -  -

NN

Eliminate selected signalized 
intersections: 
·     Bell 
·     Runnymeade 
·     Kavanaugh

EPA   $ - -  -

OO
Eliminate signalized intersections 
and allow right turns only on/off 
University

EPA   $ - -  -

PP
Eliminate signalized intersections and 
prohibit any access from local streets

EPA   $ - -  -

QQ
Widen University one lane each 
direction

EPA   $$$    

RR

Grade separations at selected 
intersections: 
·      Donohoe 
·      Bay 

EPA   $$$$    



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Table  1D (cont’d) 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

UNIVERSITY AVENUE (CONT’D)

ID 
Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits

Construction 
Cost 

(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in Roadway 
Congestion 

(Expressed in ranges of 
travel time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on 

residential streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise

Environ-
ment Right-of-Way

SS1
Elevated expressway/viaduct along 
University corridor 
·      2 lanes each direction

EPA   $$$$    

SS2
Elevated viaduct expressway structure 
·      1 lane in each direction

EPA   $$$$    

SS3
Elevated viaduct expressway structure 
·      Reversible 2 lanes

EPA   $$$$    

SS4
Elevated viaduct expressway structure 
·      3 lanes with reversible middle lane

EPA   $$$$    

TT1
Depressed expressway 
·      2 lanes each direction

EPA   $$$$$    

TT2
Depressed expressway 
·     1 lane in each direction

EPA   $$$$$    

TT3
Depressed expressway 
·      Reversible 2 lanes

EPA   $$$$$    

TT4
Depressed expressway 
·      3 lanes with reversible middle lane

EPA   $$$$$    

UU
Grade separations at all intersections 
(over crossings or under crossings)

EPA   $$$$$    

VV
Tunnel Expressway, (maintain existing 
facility at grade)

EPA   $$$$$    

WW University Avenue Depressed/ 
Cantilevered Express Lanes EPA

See “Comparison” Chart (ALT 9)



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

Table  1E 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

INTELLIGENT TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS (ITS)

ID 
Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits

Construction 
Cost 

(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in Roadway 
Congestion 

(Expressed in ranges of travel 
time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on 

residential streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise

Environ-
ment Right-of-Way

XX
Install traffic signal interconnect/ 
communications infrastructure on 
arterials between Middlefield Road 
and 101

ALL   $$ - - - -

YY Install transit signal priority to 
support high-patronage bus routes. ALL

  $$ - - - -

ZZ
Install trailblazers and/or arterial 
CMS to provide route guidance 
information ALL

  $$ - - - -

AAA Prepare Incident Management and 
Traveler Information Plan for Corridor ALL

  $ - - - -



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Construction Cost Key

$$$$$   >$500M $$$$   $200M-$500M $$$   $50M-$200M $$   $1M-$50M $   <$1M

Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

ASSESSMENT KEY

TRAFFIC BENEFITS POTENTIAL IMPACTS

 Improvement Less-Than-Significant

 Small Improvement Less-Than-Significant  
(w/ MITIGATION)

 Degrade Significant

- No Change None

Table  1F 
Assessment of Benefits, Cost and Impacts | Universe of Alternatives

OTHER

ID 
Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits

Construction Cost 
(2006$)

Potential Impacts

Change in Roadway 
Congestion 

(Expressed in ranges of travel 
time savings (min))

Decrease commute 
traffic on  

residential streets? 
(Expressed in ranges of peak 

period traffic volume)

Visual/ 
Aesthetics Noise Environment Right-of-Way

BBB

Study the possible designation of East 
Bayshore (San Antonio to University) 
as a reliever route to provide 
congestion relief and for incident 
management on Route 101
· Improve operations at 

intersections
·  Install directional signage 

to help keep commuters off 
residential streets

PA, EPA - - $ - - - -

CCC1

Improve 101/University interchange
· Construct Phase 2 improvements 

(Part A = SB direct connect off-
ramp, Part B = Bike access) 

PA, EPA   $$    

CCC2
Improve 101/University interchange
· Improve on-off connections for 

northbound traffic
PA, EPA   $$$    

DDD
Define residential traffic management 
elements that complement high 
priority capital improvements ALL

-  $ - -  -

EEE Extend Central Expressway to Sand 
Hill Road PA

  $$$$$    



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 11

II. Detailed Evaluation of Certain Solutions

A. Definition and Engineering of Solutions

Eight specific improvements were defined by consensus of the TAC and the PAC as

representative of the range of improvements that would address the study goals and should

therefore be studied in more detail.  These are summarized below.  Appendix C contains

conceptual sketches of most of the alternatives.

[Note:  This study defines Highway 101 as north-south and intersecting streets as east-west.

Bayfront Expressway is also defined as east-west.]

Alternative 1:  Highway 101 Auxiliary Lanes and Interchange Improvements – This

proposed alternative would provide commuters with a new auxiliary lane in each

direction along Highway 101 from Oregon Expressway to Shoreline Boulevard.

Figure 6 illustrates the location of this improvement and Appendix C includes a

conceptual sketch of the layout and cross section of this option. The roadway

widening would require ramp modifications at existing interchanges, soundwalls, and

the installation of longitudinal storm drainpipes on both sides of the highway to

accommodate runoffs. These improvements would succeed the newly constructed

auxiliary lanes from Hillsdale Boulevard to Marsh Avenue and also the future

extension of the auxiliary lanes to Embarcadero Road proposed by the San Mateo

County Transportation Authority.

This alternative will include improvements to the existing Highway 101/San Antonio

Road interchange.  Currently there are no on-ramps to Highway 101 for commuters

to San Jose. Commuters are forced to use Charleston Road, a local road that

connects to Highway 101 at the Rengstorff Interchange.

One option is to remove the existing southbound loop off-ramp to provide room for a

new southbound diagonal on-ramp onto Highway 101. A “T” intersection/ramp

connection to San Antonio Road would accommodate a left turn movement for

westbound commuters wanting to exit onto the highway. The impacts of this option

will include the widening of the existing bridge crossing to allow for the left-turn lane.

The addition of new storage lanes would require eastbound commuters on San

Antonio Road to merge sooner prior to connecting to the southbound diagonal on-

ramp to avoid backing up through traffic. Right-of-way would also be required along

the west side of Highway 101 to allow room for the diagonal on-ramp connection.

In addition, the existing diagonal off-ramp from Highway 101 would be modified to

also have a “T” intersection/ramp connection to the local road to provide left- and

right-turn movements onto San Antonio Road.

Alternative 2: Highway 101 Elevated Express Lanes – This alternative would

provide commuters with elevated express lanes through the Highway 101 corridor

from Woodside Road Interchange to Old Middlefield Way. Figure 7 illustrates the



VETERANS BLVD

TUNTSEHC TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDIM

RR NOTRABMUD

EGDIRBWEN
TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHONOD

ARAS VA AGOT DR YAB

A SAGLUP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRABME

DR OR

Y
WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y
W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSG
NER

DR DLEIFELDDIM E

EIFELDDIM DLO

YW  DL

INEVA L
AD

IAF D DLIHCR R
RD ALINAM

S SILLE
T SEW NAMSAT T

SYS LIAR THGIL MET

VA HT5
AWDAORB Y

LB TROPAES
DV

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

IUQMOLB TS TS

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

OHSYAB .E DR ER
 NEVAH VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA
M A DOO

WG
NIR

V

VA NAMELOC

LLI
W

DR 
WO

NEROLF DR EC

YWXE TNORFYAB

Y
WXE TNORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

ICNARF NAS

YAB OCS EGUFER EFILDLIW LANOITAN

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

SDNALYAB ERUTAN EVRESERP

LAP O
OTLA LAPICINUM FLOG ESRUOC

A ENILEROHS

WEIV NIATNUOM T

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
AYSHOR E PKWY

S
TE

VE
NS

CR
EE

K
FR

W
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI
W

LO
W

RD

INU
EV
RS

ITY
AV

.E BAYSH

ORE RD

DVLB ENILEROHS

YWKP ERTAEHTIHPMA

STUDY AREA

AYA SHOR E PKWKK
YWW

Y

SHOR E PKWK
YW

101

ORE RD

Alternative 1:  
Route 101 Auxiliary Lanes and Interchange Improvements

Provide commuters with a new auxiliary lane in each direction along •	
Highway 101 from Oregon Expressway to Shoreline Boulevard 

Includes improvements to the existing Highway 101/ •	
San Antonio Road interchange

Figure 6 

Alternative 1: Route 101 Auxiliary Lanes and Interchange Improvements

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY



 Figure 7 
Alternative 2: Route 101 Elevated Express Lanes

 2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

VETERANS BLVD

TUNTSEHC TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDIM

RR NOTRABMUD

EGDIRBWEN
TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHONOD

ARAS VA AGOT DR YAB

A SAGLUP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRABME

DR OR

Y
WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y
W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSG
NER

DR DLEIFELDDIM E

EIFELDDIM DLO

YW  DL

INEVA L
AD

IAF D DLIHCR R
RD ALINAM

S SILLE
T SEW NAMSAT T

SYS LIAR THGIL MET

VA HT5
AWDAORB Y

LB TROPAES
DV

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

IUQMOLB TS TS

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

OHSYAB .E DR ER
 NEVAH VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA
M A DOO

WG
NIR

V

VA NAMELOC

LLI
W

DR 
WO

NEROLF DR EC

YWXE TNORFYAB

Y
WXE TNORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

ICNARF NAS

YAB OCS EGUFER EFILDLIW LANOITAN

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

SDNALYAB ERUTAN EVRESERP

LAP O
OTLA LAPICINUM FLOG ESRUOC

A ENILEROHS

WEIV NIATNUOM T

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
AYSHOR E PKWY

S
TE

VE
NS

CR
EE

K
FR

W
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI
W

LO
W

RD

INU
EV
RS

ITY
AV

.E BAYSH

ORE RD

DVLB ENILEROHS

YWKP ERTAEHTIHPMA

STUDY AREA

DREROHSYAYYB.W

REROHSYAYY
B.W

D

EDACRA

DROR

Y
WXE

N

Y
W

NA

V
AWAADAORB YAA

DRYAY

DRYAYYB

D

A
D

VAA

VAVVNAMELOC

DR

NEROLF DREC

1

01

SI
TYT

AVA

Y

SHOR E PKWK
YW

O

ORE RD

DREO

OHSYAYYB.E DRER 101

101

48

101

Alternative 2:  
Route 101 Elevated Express Lanes

Elevated express lanes through the Highway 101 corridor from •	
Woodside Road interchange to Old Middlefield Way 

Structure would run down the center of Highway 101 •	

The elevated structure would have one lane plus a shoulder in each •	
direction with a concrete median divider



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 12

location of this improvement, which is shown in more detail in Appendix C. The

elevated structure would run down the center of Highway 101, about 6 meters above

grade at stretches between the interchanges, and would raise above all existing

interchanges and railroad overcrossing to an approximated grade of 12 meters. The

elevated structure would have one lane plus a shoulder in each direction with a

concrete median divider.

At the north end connection, commuters going southbound would enter a widened

Highway 101 off ramp to Woodside Road and connect via flyover ramp to the

elevated structure. Commuters going northbound on the elevated structure would

touch down via flyover ramp to Highway 101 just after the Woodside Road

Interchange, merging into the existing auxiliary lane.

At the south end, commuters going northbound would connect via flyover ramp from

the Old Middlefield Way Overcrossing to the elevated structure. Commuters going

southbound on the elevated structure would touch down via flyover ramp to Highway

101, below the Old Middlefield Way Overcrossing and merging to an existing auxiliary

lane.

Additional right-of-way would be required where the flyover ramps touch down and

merge to Highway 101.

Alternative 3:  Grade Separations at Bayfront/Willow and Bayfront/University. This

alternative would grade separate both Willow Road and University Avenue

intersections below the existing expressway, essentially creating a freeway segment

with full control of access that would benefit regional traffic connecting between the

Dumbarton Bridge and Highway 101 in both directions. The location of this

improvement is shown in Figure 8. Additional details are available in a sketch in

Appendix C.  The alternative would provide a direct express connection on Bayfront

Expressway between Highway 101 and the Dumbarton Bridge, with uninterrupted

traffic flow on the stretches of highway that would normally be delayed by signalized

intersections at Willow Road and University Avenue. Also, this alternative would

provide a direct connection from westbound Bayfront Expressway to Willow Road

and Bayfront to University Avenue via flyover ramps. Although this alternative only

includes a railroad grade separation on Willow Road at the Union Pacific/Dumbarton

Rail tracks, a similar facility could be included at University.  All other traffic would

utilize the depressed intersections to make similar movements as they would now.

Alternative 4: Short-term Operational Improvements on Willow Road – An

evaluation of existing peak hour traffic conditions confirmed that Willow Road traffic

operates satisfactorily (LOS D or better) between Newbridge Street and the Bayfront

Expressway, although cross-street traffic experiences significant delays at all

intersections.  However, traffic conditions at Newbridge Street are poor (LOS E)

during a.m. and p.m. peak hours, and at Bayfront Expressway are poor (LOS F)

during the p.m. peak hour. Traffic signals are coordinated, which provides some

benefit in both directions during both peak hours.



Figure 8 
Alternative 3: Grade Separations at Bayfront/Willow and Bayfront/University

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

VETERANS BLVD

TUNTSEHC TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDIM

RR NOTRABMUD

EGDIRBWEN
TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHONOD

ARAS VA AGOT DR YAB

A SAGLUP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRABME

DR OR

Y
WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y
W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSG
NER

DR DLEIFELDDIM E

EIFELDDIM DLO

YW  DL

INEVA L
AD

IAF D DLIHCR R
RD ALINAM

S SILLE
T SEW NAMSAT T

SYS LIAR THGIL MET

VA HT5
AWDAORB Y

LB TROPAES
DV

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

IUQMOLB TS TS

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

OHSYAB .E DR ER
 NEVAH VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA
M A DOO

WG
NIR

V

VA NAMELOC

LLI
W

DR 
WO

NEROLF DR EC

YWXE TNORFYAB

Y
WXE TNORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

ICNARF NAS

YAB OCS EGUFER EFILDLIW LANOITAN

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

SDNALYAB ERUTAN EVRESERP

LAP O
OTLA LAPICINUM FLOG ESRUOC

A ENILEROHS

WEIV NIATNUOM T

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
AYSHOR E PKWY

S
TE

VE
NS

CR
EE

K
FR

W
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI
W

LO
W

RD

INU
EV
RS

ITY
AV

.E BAYSH

ORE RD

DVLB ENILEROHS

YWKP ERTAEHTIHPMA

STUDY AREA

4

1

LI
W

LO
W

RRD

48

901

LI
W

LO
W

RD

Alternative 3:  
Grade Separations at Bayfront/Willow and Bayfront/University

Grade separations of Willow Road and University Avenue intersections •	
below the existing Bayfront Expressway 

Provide a direct express connection on Bayfront Expressway between •	
Route 101 and the Dumbarton Bridge



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 13

Additional operational analysis indicated that signal timing could be modified to

reduce delay to certain critical movements at all signalized intersections, thereby

improving traffic conditions during the peak periods. Most of the benefit would come

from reducing cycle length from 130 seconds to 100 seconds at four intersections

(Hamilton, Ivy, O’Brien, and Newbridge). In addition, allowing Willow left turns to

operate in permitted mode (i.e. not protected as current) at Hamilton would reduce

delay for these movements. Also, restriping and minor widening on the southbound

Ivy approach to Willow and implementing overlap phasing would reduce delay for this

movement and the Willow left turn movements.

Alternative 6:  Willow Road Elevated Express Lanes – This alternative would include

an aerial structure over Willow Road to provide two express lanes (one each

direction) and shoulders, beginning with an aerial connection at Highway 101 and

ending with an aerial connection on Bayfront Expressway east of Willow Road.  It is

noted that the capacity of the express lanes was defined for testing purposes, and

future analyses would be necessary to evaluate whether additional express lane

capacity would be required. Figure 9 shows the location of this improvement and the

sketch in Appendix C provides more details. The intent of this improvement is to

remove some bridge traffic from Willow Road, which would enhance local traffic

access and operations as well as improve travel time for bridge traffic by reducing

delay at intersections. The initial definition has the existing Willow Road remaining

much the same as it is now (four lanes with turn lanes), which is conservative given

that four lanes at-grade may not be needed to serve local traffic.

Right-of-way acquisition for this alternative would be minimal along Willow Road,

although some property will be required near the Highway 101 and Bayfront

Expressway conforms to provide for the aerial connections.

Alternative 7:  Willow Road Depressed Express Lanes - This alternative, a variation

of Alternative 6, would include a depressed trench structure below Willow Road to

provide two express lanes (one each direction) and shoulders, beginning with

underground portals at Highway 101 and ending with underground portals on

Bayfront Expressway east of Willow Road. It is noted that the capacity of the express

lanes was defined for testing purposes, and future analyses would be necessary to

evaluate whether additional express lane capacity would be required.  The intent of

this improvement is to remove some bridge traffic from Willow Road, which would

enhance local traffic access and operations as well as improve travel time for bridge

traffic by reducing delay at intersections. The initial definition has the existing Willow

Road remaining much the same as it is now (four lanes with turn lanes), which is

conservative given that four lanes at-grade may not be needed to serve local traffic.

This cross-section will require acquisition of right-of-way strips on each side of Willow

Road, and near Highway 101 and Bayfront Expressway conforms to provide for the

underground connections.



VETERANS BLVD

TUNTSEHC TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDIM

RR NOTRABMUD

EGDIRBWEN
TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHONOD

ARAS VA AGOT DR YAB

A SAGLUP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRABME

DR OR

Y
WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y
W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSG
NER

DR DLEIFELDDIM E

EIFELDDIM DLO

YW  DL

INEVA L
AD

IAF D DLIHCR R
RD ALINAM

S SILLE
T SEW NAMSAT T

SYS LIAR THGIL MET

VA HT5
AWDAORB Y

LB TROPAES
DV

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

IUQMOLB TS TS

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

OHSYAB .E DR ER
 NEVAH VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA
M A DOO

WG
NIR

V

VA NAMELOC

LLI
W

DR 
WO

NEROLF DR EC

YWXE TNORFYAB

Y
WXE TNORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

ICNARF NAS

YAB OCS EGUFER EFILDLIW LANOITAN

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

SDNALYAB ERUTAN EVRESERP

LAP O
OTLA LAPICINUM FLOG ESRUOC

A ENILEROHS

WEIV NIATNUOM T

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
AYSHOR E PKWY

S
TE

VE
NS

CR
EE

K
FR

W
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI
W

LO
W

RD

INU
EV
RS

ITY
AV

.E BAYSH

ORE RD

DVLB ENILEROHS

YWKP ERTAEHTIHPMA

STUDY AREA

WEN
TS

4

LI
W

LO
W

RRD

411

LI
W

LO
W

RD

Figure 9 
Alternative 6/7:  Willow Road Elevated/Depressed Express Lanes

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Alternative 6/7:  
Willow Road Elevated/Depressed Express Lanes

Structure built over or below Willow Road to provide two express lanes •	
(one in each direction) and shoulders 

Begins with a connection at Highway 101 and ends with a connection •	
on Bayfront Expressway east of Willow Road



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 14

A second option, aimed at reducing right-of-way acquisition, would slide the surface

lanes on each side of the viaduct partly over the viaduct via a cantilevered concrete

“shelf” atop each retaining wall.

Alternative 8: Short-term Operational Improvements on University Avenue – The

City of East Palo Alto received a grant from MTC under the Regional Signal Timing

Program (RTSP) to evaluate the University Avenue corridor. The preliminary findings

of this study indicate coordination of all signals on University Avenue is desirable and

should be implemented (TY LIN International/CCS, University Avenue Signal Timing

Project, Draft Recommendations Report, December 28, 2004). Therefore, signal

coordination will be included in this alternative.

KHA focused additional inspection of the a.m. and p.m. peak period traffic analysis

on University Avenue between Donohoe Street and O’Brien Drive, where peak hour

traffic conditions are generally satisfactory (LOS C or better), with the exception of

the Bay Road intersection, which exhibits LOS F in the a.m. peak hour.  It was noted

that cross-street movements and left turn movements from University Avenue were

generally poor (LOS E or worse).

Additional operational analysis indicated that signal timing could be modified to

reduce delay to certain critical movements at all signalized intersections, thereby

improving traffic conditions during the peak periods. Most of the benefit would come

from reducing cycle length from 120 seconds to 60 seconds at all intersections

except Bay Road, and leaving Bay Road at its current cycle length of 120 seconds.

This practice of “half-cycling” some of the intersections is a customary way to

improve traffic conditions where long cycles are not necessary to serve relatively

small critical traffic movements. In addition, modifying the signal phasing to allow

eastbound left turns at O’Brien, Notre Dame, and Kavanaugh to operate in permitted

mode would reduce delay for these movements.  Finally, at Bay Road, changing the

configuration for northbound Bay Road to eliminate the shared through/left lane

(replace with a through lane) would reduce delay for westbound movements.

Alternative 9: University Avenue Depressed Express Lanes – This alternative would

include a depressed viaduct through the University Avenue corridor would provide

commuters with a direct express connection (one lane each direction) between the

Dumbarton Bridge and Highway 101 south. It is noted that the capacity of the

express lanes was defined for testing purposes, and future analyses would be

necessary to evaluate whether additional express lane capacity would be required.

The location of this alternative is shown in Figure 10, and additional details are

contained in a sketch in Appendix C. The depressed viaduct would run down the

center of University Avenue, about 6 meters below grade, from the Dumbarton Rail

Corridor in the north to Bell Street in the south. At the north end, the depressed

viaduct would rise up to grade between the railroad tracks and Bayfront Expressway

and connect to Bayfront east via on and off direct-connect flyover ramps. At the south

end, the viaduct would rise up to grade between Bell Street and Donohoe Street and



Figure 10 
Alternative 9: University Avenue Depressed Express Lanes

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

VETERANS BLVD

TUNTSEHC TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDIM

RR NOTRABMUD

EGDIRBWEN
TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHONOD

ARAS VA AGOT DR YAB

A SAGLUP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRABME

DR OR

Y
WXE NOGERO

DR NOTSELRAHC

Y
W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSG
NER

DR DLEIFELDDIM E

EIFELDDIM DLO

YW  DL

INEVA L
AD

IAF D DLIHCR R
RD ALINAM

S SILLE
T SEW NAMSAT T

SYS LIAR THGIL MET

VA HT5
AWDAORB Y

LB TROPAES
DV

W MIDDLEFIELD RD

IUQMOLB TS TS

W
OO

DS
ID

E
RD

OHSYAB .E DR ER
 NEVAH VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA
M A DOO

WG
NIR

V

VA NAMELOC

LLI
W

DR 
WO

NEROLF DR EC

YWXE TNORFYAB

Y
WXE TNORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

ICNARF NAS

YAB OCS EGUFER EFILDLIW LANOITAN

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

WSNEVAR
DOO

NEPO
ECAPS EVRESERP

SDNALYAB ERUTAN EVRESERP

LAP O
OTLA LAPICINUM FLOG ESRUOC

A ENILEROHS

WEIV NIATNUOM T

SA
N

AN
TO

N
IO

AV

B
AYSHOR E PKWY

S
TE

VE
NS

CR
EE

K
FR

W
Y

M
OF

FE
TT

BL
VD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI
W

LO
W

RD

INU
EV
RS

ITY
AV

.E BAYSH

ORE RD

DVLB ENILEROHS

YWKP ERTAEHTIHPMA

STUDY AREA

D

910

Alternative 9:  
University Avenue Depressed Express Lanes

Depressed viaduct would provide commuters with a direct express •	
connection between the Dumbarton Bridge and Highway 101 south 

One lane plus a shoulder in each direction with a concrete median divider •	

No local access to the express lanes•	



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 15

connect to Highway 101 south via on and off direct-connect flyover ramps.  Local

streets would cross over the viaduct on at-grade bridges.

The viaduct would have one lane plus a shoulder in each direction with a concrete

median divider. No local access would be provided to the viaduct. Due to the narrow

public right-of-way along the University Avenue corridor, the depressed viaduct would

require vertical retaining walls on each side. At the surface there would be a second

lane in each direction, immediately adjacent to the top of each retaining wall, with

shoulder and sidewalk for local traffic traveling along the University Avenue corridor.

The local lanes would still connect directly to Bayfront Expressway and Donohoe

Street to allow for local access to the Dumbarton Bridge and Highway 101 as

currently exists today.

With this configuration, a narrow strip of additional right-of-way would be required on

each side of the existing University Avenue corridor. Right of way would also be

required along the West Bayshore frontage road just south of the Highway

101/University Avenue interchange to allow room for the southbound flyover ramp to

touch down. East Bayshore Road on the opposite side of Highway 101 would have to

be narrowed to allow room for the northbound flyover ramp to exit Highway 101 on its

way to the viaduct. At the north end of the viaduct, additional right-of-way would be

required in the southeast quadrant of the University/Bayfront intersection for the

flyover ramps. Some minor impacts would be expected on property that may be

wetland where the flyover ramps touch down on either side of Bayfront Expressway.

A second option, evaluated to eliminate right-of-way take on University Avenue,

would slide the surface lane on each side of the viaduct partly over the viaduct via a

cantilevered concrete “shelf” atop each retaining wall.  With this option, the right-of-

way takes along University Avenue could be eliminated, but the right-of-way takes at

each end would still be required.

B. Concept Level Cost Estimates

The Cost Estimate Summary Table summarizes the concept level cost estimates for the

alternative projects in Year 2006 dollars. The cost estimate is broken down into three primary

categories:  (1) construction cost, (2) right of way cost, and (3) engineering support cost.

Details of the cost estimating procedures and findings are included in Appendix D.



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 16

Cost Estimate Summary Table

Alternative Name Construction
Cost

R/W
Cost

Support
Cost

Total
Project

Cost
2006 $

1. Route 101 Auxiliary
Lanes

$57 M $20 M $28 M $105 M

2. Route 101 Elevated $900 M $80 M $230 M $1,210 M
3. Bayfront Expressway
Grade Separations

$180 M $67 M $86 M $333 M

4. Willow Rd.
Short Term

$0.09 M $0 M $0.03 M $0.12 M

6. Willow Rd.
Elevated Express Lanes

$96 M $33 M $46 M $175 M

7. Willow Rd.
Depressed w/ Cantilever

$230 M $33 M $110 M $373 M

8. University Ave.
Short Term

$0.18 M $ 0 M $0.09 M $0.27 M

9. University Ave.
Depressed w/ Cantilever

$440 M $64 M $200 M $704 M

C. Future Traffic Forecasts

A series of traffic forecasts, prepared by C/CAG through its Consultant, Hexagon

Transportation Consultants, were conducted to establish no-build and build peak period traffic

volumes and volume-to-capacity ratios for year 2025. The intent was to provide enough data

to help evaluate the relative differences between alternatives and not provide all the details of

the travel model network that Caltrans, for example, would need to evaluate no-build and

build conditions for specific improvements in a formal Project Study Report (PSR) or Project

Approval/ Environmental Document (PA/ED) process. For reference, Appendix E includes

details of the travel model results and a summary of the validation of base year conditions

and future year 2025 results.

D. Traffic Benefits

The traffic forecasts were analyzed and reviewed with the TAC. The following points highlight

the forecasted volumes and volume/capacity ratio changes under each “Build” alternative

relative to “No-Build” conditions.

Alternative 1 would increase traffic volumes on Highway 101 where the auxiliary lanes
are added and the net increase in capacity there would result in small reductions in v/c
ratios. On balance, this indicates a net benefit.

Alternative 2 would increase Highway 101 traffic demand by 8,000 to 9,000 peak period
vehicles in each direction -- in the express lanes -- and draw additional traffic demand to



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 17

Highway 101. Like in the at-grade lanes, volumes would exceed capacity in the express
lanes. Small changes in volumes and v/c ratios are shown for the at-grade lanes on
Highway 101. The increase in throughput would be a benefit, but the v/c ratios indicate
continued delay for all vehicles. There is evidence that the model diverted some traffic
from cross streets to the express lanes, which is  to be expected given the express lanes
provide enhanced travel time through a long segment of Highway 101 (see University
Avenue, Embarcadero Road, and Oregon Expressway). One concern that would have to
be addressed in future project development activities is the potential for this kind of
project to move a bottleneck to a point downstream of the express lane touchdown.

Alternative 3 would increase in peak period traffic on Bayfront Expressway east of
University, on Willow Road during both peak periods, and on University Avenue in the
a.m. peak period. The model also projected increases in peak period traffic on Clarke and
Pulgas, which is evidence that additional capacity at the Bayfront Expressway
intersections will draw traffic through residential streets as well as University Avenue.
Corresponding changes in v/c ratios were noted.

Alternative 6 or 7 would result in a net increase in traffic on Willow Road due to the
express lanes but decreases or small increases in at-grade traffic. Corresponding
improvements are shown in v/c ratios for the at-grade facility. The express lanes do
generate strong peak direction demands that exceed capacity, which suggests that
additional capacity should be considered in the peak direction. Also noted are the
reductions in peak period traffic and v/c ratios on University under these alternatives,
which would be beneficial.  Also notable are some small decreases in peak period traffic
on Clarke and Pulgas.

Alternative 9 shows similar impacts on University as found for Willow under Alternatives
6/7 – net increases in total peak period traffic due to the express lanes and reductions in
peak period traffic for the at-grade facility.  Also noted are the reductions in traffic
volumes and v/c ratios on Willow, which also are seen as beneficial, and more important
to East Palo Alto, reductions in peak period traffic on Clarke and Pulgas.

Generally, each alternative shows beneficial impacts compared to the no-build condition.

To further understand the potential impacts and benefits of these alternatives, a special traffic

analysis tool called ALPS2000, which was developed by KHA, was used to evaluate typical

performance measures, such as travel times, speeds, and delay, for key travel paths in the

Study Area for a 24-hour period. Figure 11 illustrates the travel paths that were evaluated,

which reflect the key movements that this Study is addressing.

The preliminary results of this operational analysis indicated that travel time was the most

important and easily understood measure. The following points summarize preliminary

observations drawn from the travel time comparisons.  Appendix F provides additional

information and details of this analysis.

Alternatives 1 and 2 show benefits on Highway 101.

Alternative 3 shows benefits for movements to and from the bridge.

Alternatives 6 & 7 show benefits for Willow Road traffic using the bridge.

Alternative 9 shows benefits for University Avenue traffic using the bridge.



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Figure  11 
Travel Paths Evaluated

VE
TE

R
A

N
S

BL
VD

TU
NTSEHC

TS 

NIL NIARTLAC

E

DR DLEIFELDDI
M

RR NOTRAB
MUD

EGDIRB
WEN TS

DR EROHSYAB .E

DR EROHSYAB .
W

R EROHSYAB .
W

D

EOHO
NOD

ARAS
VA AGOT

DR YAB

A SAGL UP
V

VA EKRALC

EDACRAB
ME

DR OR

Y WXE NOGERO
DR NOTSELRAHC

Y W NAI BAF

VA FFROTSGNER

DR DLEIFELDDI
M E

EI FELDDI
M DLO

Y
W  DL

I
NEVA L

AD

IAF
D DLI HCR

R
RD ALI

NA
M

S SI LLET

SE
W 

NA
MSAT

T
SYS LIAR THGIL

MET

VA HT5

A
WDAORB

Y

L B TROPAESDV

W
M

ID
DL

EF
IE

LD
RD

IUQ
MOLB

TS TS

WOODSID
ERD

OHSYAB . E
DR ER

 
NEVAH

VA

DR YAB

DR YAB

DR HSRA M

A DOO WGNI R
V

VA 
NA

MELOC
LLI W

DR WO

NEROLF
DR EC

Y
WXE T

NORFYAB

Y WXE T NORFYAB

NORFYAB
T

KRAP

I C
NARF 

NAS

YAB OCS
EGUFER EFI L DLI

W L A
NOI TA

N

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

WS
NEVAR

DOO NEPO
ECAPS

EVRESERP

SD
NALYAB

ERUTA
N

EVRESERP

LAP
O OTLA

LAPI CI
NU

M
FL OG

ESRUOC

A E
NI LEROHS

WEI V 
NI AT

NUO
M T

SANANTONIOAV

B AYSHORE
PK

W
Y

STEVENSCREEKFRWY

MOFFETTBLVD

101

101

101

101

48

48

48

411

48

58

901

101

LI WLOWRD

I NU
EVRSITY

AV

.E BAYSH OR
E RD

DVLB E
NILEROHS

Y
WKP ERTAEHTIHP

MA

ST
UD

Y 
AR

EA

H
ig

h
w

ay
 1

01

H
ig

h
w

ay
 1

01
 N

o
rt

h
 to

/f
ro

m
 D

u
m

b
ar

to
n

 B
ri

d
g

e 
vi

a 
M

ar
sh

H
ig

h
w

ay
 1

01
 N

o
rt

h
 to

/f
ro

m
 D

u
m

b
ar

to
n

 B
ri

d
g

e 
vi

a 
W

ill
o

w

H
ig

h
w

ay
 1

01
 S

o
u

th
 to

/f
ro

m
 D

u
m

b
ar

to
n

 B
ri

d
g

e 
vi

a 
W

ill
o

w

H
ig

h
w

ay
 1

01
 S

o
u

th
 to

/f
ro

m
 D

u
m

b
ar

to
n

 B
ri

d
g

e 
vi

a 
U

n
iv

er
si

ty

LE
G

EN
D



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 18

E. Potential Environmental and Social Impacts

This section discusses the potential environmental and social impacts of each

alternative and Table 2 summarizes these issues in a matrix form for easy

comparison.

Alternative 1: Highway 101 Auxiliary Lanes. This alternative would construct

auxiliary lanes on Highway 101 between Embarcadero Road in Palo Alto and

Shoreline Boulevard in Mountain View. It would include modifications to the existing

Highway 101/San Antonio Road interchange to allow access to southbound Highway

101 from San Antonio Road. Except at the San Antonio Road interchange, the work

would occur within the existing freeway and adjacent frontage road rights-of-way.

Auxiliary lane projects of this type are quite common and typically result in non-

significant environmental impacts or impacts that can be readily mitigated. Noise

impacts are typically minimal. Existing soundwalls may be reconstructed or, where no

soundwalls are present to protect sensitive receptors (e.g., residences), new

soundwalls would be built.

Visual impacts would be negligible because no new structures would be constructed.

Additional right-of-way would be required to construct the new on-ramp to

southbound Highway 101 at San Antonio Road. This right-of-way may impact an

existing commercial building on Transport Street in Palo Alto.

This alternative may require the widening of the existing Highway 101 bridges over

Adobe Creek and Matadero Creek. Depending upon the scope of the widening and

the degree of impact existing vegetation, some replacement habitat may be required.

Such mitigation is a standard requirement on many bridge widening projects and

should not pose a significant constraint to this alternative.

Alternative 2: Highway 101 Elevated Express Lanes. This alternative would

construct elevated express lanes on Highway 101 between Woodside Road in

Redwood City and Old Middlefield Way in Mountain View. The elevated express

lanes would be located above the median of the freeway, with an approximate height

of 20 feet above existing grade between interchanges, rising to an approximate

height of 40 feet above existing grade at interchanges and railroad crossings. Flyover

ramps would be required at each end of the express lanes to provide a transition

to/from the lanes. Except where the flyover ramps touch down and merge onto the

Highway 101 freeway, the work would occur within the existing freeway and adjacent

frontage road rights-of-way.

Construction of an elevated structure, roughly eight miles in length, with heights

ranging from 20 to 40 feet, would create a significant and unmitigable visual impact.

The visual impact would occur, not only for thousands of people who live and work

along the Highway 101 corridor, but also for the users of the existing lanes on the

freeway. The elevated structure would be visible well above the tops of existing



2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

Table  2 
Comparison of Environmental Impacts By Alternative

ID
 

Co
de

Al
te

rn
at

ive
Vi

su
al

 an
d

Ae
st

he
tic

No
ise

Bi
ol

og
ica

l
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ri
gh

t-o
f- 

W
ay

Ot
he

r I
ss

ue
s/

No
te

(s)

1
Ro

ut
e 1

01
 Au

xil
iar

y L
an

es
Ne

gli
gib

le 
im

pa
ct

M
ini

m
al 

im
pa

ct
Po

ssi
ble

 im
pa

ct 
at

 cr
os

s-
ing

 of
 Ad

ob
e &

 M
at

ad
er

o 
Cr

ee
ks

On
e b

uil
din

g m
ay

 be
 

im
pa

cte
d a

t 1
01

/S
an

 
An

to
nio

 in
te

rch
an

ge
W

ou
ld 

lik
ely

 qu
ali

fy 
fo

r a
 M

iti
ga

te
d N

eg
at

ive
 D

ec
lar

at
ion

.

2
Ro

ut
e 1

01
 El

ev
at

ed
 Ex

pr
es

s L
an

es
Sig

nifi
ca

nt
 an

d  
un

m
iti

ga
ble

 im
pa

ct

Sig
nifi

ca
nt

 im
pa

ct;
 

wo
uld

 re
qu

ire
 so

un
d-

wa
lls

 on
 el

ev
at

ed
 

str
uc

tu
re

Po
ssi

ble
 im

pa
ct 

at
 cr

os
s-

ing
 of

 Ad
ob

e &
 M

at
ad

er
o 

Cr
ee

ks

M
ini

m
al 

im
pa

ct;
 no

 
ac

qu
isi

tio
n o

f b
us

ine
sse

s 
or

 re
sid

en
ce

s

M
ajo

r e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l is
su

es
; s

tro
ng

 op
po

sit
ion

 lik
ely

; fu
ll E

IR
 

re
qu

ire
d.

3
Gr

ad
e S

ep
ar

at
ion

s o
n B

ay
fro

nt
 

Ex
pr

es
sw

ay
Le

ss-
th

an
-si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 
im

pa
ct

Le
ss-

th
an

-si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 

im
pa

ct
Im

pa
cts

 to
 w

et
lan

ds
 at

 
ed

ge
 of

 Ba
y

Re
co

nfi
gu

ra
tio

n o
f a

c-
ce

ss 
an

d p
ar

kin
g a

t S
un

 
M

icr
os

ys
te

m
s

W
ou

ld 
im

pa
ct 

re
cre

at
ion

al 
tra

il a
lon

g B
ay

fro
nt

; B
CD

C p
er

m
it 

ne
ed

ed
; fu

ll E
IR

 lik
ely

 re
qu

ire
d.

4
Sh

or
t-t

er
m

 op
er

at
ion

al 
im

pr
ov

e-
m

en
ts 

on
 W

illo
w 

Ro
ad

No
ne

No
ne

No
ne

No
ne

W
ou

ld 
lik

ely
 qu

ali
fy 

fo
r a

 Ca
te

go
ric

al 
Ex

em
pt

ion

6
W

illo
w 

Ro
ad

 El
ev

at
ed

 Ex
pr

es
s 

La
ne

s
Sig

nifi
ca

nt
 an

d  
un

m
iti

ga
ble

 im
pa

ct

Sig
nifi

ca
nt

 im
pa

ct;
 

wo
uld

 re
qu

ire
 so

un
d-

wa
lls

 on
 el

ev
at

ed
 

str
uc

tu
re

Le
ss-

th
an

-si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 

im
pa

ct

M
ini

m
al 

im
pa

ct;
 no

 
ac

qu
isi

tio
n o

f b
us

ine
sse

s 
or

 re
sid

en
ce

s

M
ajo

r e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l is
su

es
; s

tro
ng

 op
po

sit
ion

 lik
ely

; fu
ll E

IR
 

re
qu

ire
d.

7
W

illo
w 

Ro
ad

 D
ep

re
sse

d/
 

Ca
nt

ile
ve

re
d E

xp
re

ss 
La

ne
s

Le
ss-

th
an

-si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 

im
pa

ct
Le

ss-
th

an
-si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 
im

pa
ct

Le
ss-

th
an

-si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 

im
pa

ct

M
ini

m
al 

im
pa

ct;
 no

 
ac

qu
isi

tio
n o

f b
us

ine
sse

s 
or

 re
sid

en
ce

s

W
ou

ld 
im

pa
ct 

He
tch

-H
et

ch
y p

ipe
lin

es
; p

re
se

nc
e o

f B
ay

 m
ud

 w
ill 

aff
ec

t t
re

nc
h d

es
ign

/co
st;

 tr
en

ch
 w

ill 
ne

ed
 a 

sy
ste

m
 fo

r d
ew

at
er

ing
 

of
 st

or
m

wa
te

r &
 gr

ou
nd

wa
te

r; 
fu

ll E
IR

 m
ay

 be
 re

qu
ire

d.

8
Sh

or
t-t

er
m

 op
er

at
ion

al 
im

pr
ov

e-
m

en
ts 

on
 U

niv
er

sit
y A

ve
nu

e
No

ne
No

ne
No

ne
No

ne
W

ou
ld 

lik
ely

 qu
ali

fy 
fo

r a
 Ca

te
go

ric
al 

Ex
em

pt
ion

9
Un

ive
rsi

ty
 Av

en
ue

 D
ep

re
sse

d/
 

Ca
nt

ile
ve

re
d E

xp
re

ss 
La

ne
s

Le
ss-

th
an

-si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 

im
pa

ct
Le

ss-
th

an
-si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 
im

pa
ct

So
m

e i
m

pa
ct 

to
 w

et
-

lan
ds

 at
  

ed
ge

 of
 Ba

y

M
ini

m
al 

im
pa

ct;
 no

 
ac

qu
isi

tio
n o

f b
us

ine
sse

s 
or

 re
sid

en
ce

s

W
ou

ld 
im

pa
ct 

He
tch

-H
et

ch
y p

ipe
lin

es
; p

re
se

nc
e o

f B
ay

 m
ud

 w
ill 

aff
ec

t t
re

nc
h d

es
ign

/co
st;

 tr
en

ch
 w

ill 
ne

ed
 a 

sy
ste

m
 fo

r d
ew

at
er

ing
 

of
 st

or
m

wa
te

r &
 gr

ou
nd

wa
te

r; 
fu

ll E
IR

 m
ay

 be
 re

qu
ire

d.



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 19

soundwalls (maximum soundwall heights are 16 feet), and would block or interfere

with views from numerous locations. The elevated structure, in combination with the

existing freeway, soundwalls, and overpasses, would constitute a significant visual

and aesthetic barrier in the portions of Redwood City, Menlo Park, East Palo Alto,

Palo Alto, and Mountain View through which the Highway 101 freeway passes.

Signs and lighting on the structure would increase this impact, as would soundwalls,

which are discussed in the following paragraph.

This alternative would likely result in significant noise impacts along the entire length

of the express lanes because the lanes would be elevated substantially above the

tops of existing soundwalls. Noise from traffic using these high-speed lanes would

have a direct and generally unobstructed path into adjacent areas, such areas that

include thousands of residences, as well as schools and parks. Soundwalls with

heights of up to 12 feet could be constructed on the elevated structure, but such

walls would exacerbate the above-described significant visual and aesthetic impacts

of this alternative.

The additional right-of-way necessary at the two ends of the express lanes is not

expected to require the acquisition of any residences or businesses.

This alternative may require the widening of the existing Highway 101 bridges over

Adobe Creek and Matadero Creek. Depending upon the scope of the widening and

the degree to which any existing vegetation may be impacted, some replacement

habitat may be required. Such mitigation is a standard requirement on many bridge

widening projects and should not pose a significant constraint to this alternative.

Alternative 3: Grade Separations on Bayfront Expressway. Alternative 3 would

grade-separate the Bayfront Expressway intersections with Willow Road and

University Avenue. The two intersections would be depressed below the existing

expressway. Connections between the expressway and the local streets would be

made with a combination of flyover ramps, ramps, and frontage roads. The entrances

to the Sun Microsystems campus would be reconfigured to improve access to/from

that facility. The existing crossing of the UPRR on Willow Road would be grade-

separated.

The improvements contemplated under this alternative would occur in a non-

residential area where the existing uses are industrial and open

space/wetlands/parks. Right-of-way needed for the improvements would, as noted

above, require a reconfiguration of access and parking at Sun Microsystems. Right-

of-way required to grade-separate the University Avenue/Bayfront Expressway

intersection and construct the necessary flyover ramps would most likely affect the

adjacent wetlands. Given the ecological importance of these wetlands along the edge

of San Francisco Bay, including the presence of several threatened/ endangered

species, such impacts would be significant. Mitigation, typically in the form of

replacement habitat, would be required. Wetlands impacts will require permits from

and/or coordination with the Army Corps of Engineers (ACOE), U.S. Fish & Wildlife



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 20

Service (USFWS), California Department of Fish & Game (CDFG), and the Regional

Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB).

The noise impacts of this alternative are not likely to be significant. This statement is

based on 1) the lack of sensitive receptors adjacent to the improvements, and 2) the

fact that portions of Willow Road and University Avenue will be depressed, which

tends to reduce noise impacts.

Visual impacts will occur due to the need to construct flyover ramps at both Willow

Road and University Avenue. However, such impacts would not likely be significant

due to the lack of public vantage points in the area. For example, there are no

adjacent residential areas where scenic views would be blocked by the elevated

ramps.

The inclusion of pump stations at the depressed intersections will prevent roadway

flooding.

There are existing paved recreational paths along both side of Bayfront Expressway

in the vicinity of Willow Road and University Avenues. These paths would be

impacted by the proposed improvements. Replacement paths will be required.

Portions of the improvements that are part of this alternative appear to be within the

jurisdiction of the Bay Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC). BCDC

jurisdiction includes all areas within 100 feet of the shoreline of San Francisco Bay.

Therefore, a BCDC permit may be required in order to construct this alternative.

Alternative 4: Short-Term Improvements on Willow Road. Alternative 4 would

consist of minor improvements on Willow Road between Route 101 and the Bayfront

Expressway to improve traffic operations.  Improvements would include modification

of traffic signal timing, restriping of lanes, and minor widening at one approach to the

Willow/Ivy intersection.

The environmental effects of these improvements would be negligible because the

improvements can be categorized as minor modifications to existing facilities. The

only physical component of the project would be minor widening within the existing

right-of-way at the Willow/Ivy intersection. Such widening would not adversely affect

adjacent land uses. The only impact of the other components of this alternative (i.e.,

signal timing and restriping) would be a beneficial effect on traffic operations.

Alternative 4 improvements would likely qualify for a Class 1 (Existing Facilities)

Categorical Exemption (CE) under CEQA.

Alternative 6: Willow Road Elevated Express Lanes. This alternative would construct

elevated express lanes on Willow Road between Highway 101 and the Bayfront

Expressway. The elevated express lanes would be located on a structure above the

median of Willow Road. The height of the structure would be approximately 20 feet

above existing grade, except at the Highway 101/Willow interchange where a greater

height would be required. Flyover ramps would be required at each end of the

express lanes to provide a transition to/from the lanes. With the exception of where



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 21

the flyover ramps touch down and merge onto Highway 101 and the Bayfront

Expressway, the work would require only minimal right-of-way.

Similar to Alternative 2, construction of an elevated structure along Willow Road,

roughly one mile in length, would create a significant and immitigable visual impact.

The visual impact would occur, not only for people who live and work along the

Willow Road corridor, but also for the users of the existing lanes on Willow Road. The

elevated structure would be visible from the residences in Menlo Park and East Palo

Alto that are located along Willow Road. The elevated structure would also be visible

from the residences in Menlo Park and East Palo Alto that are located along Highway

101 near the Highway 101/Willow Road interchange. In addition to the visual effect,

such structures tend to exacerbate the “divided feeling” that occurs when major

transportation facilities transect local communities. Signs and lighting on the structure

would increase this impact, as would soundwalls, which are discussed in the

following paragraph.

This alternative would likely result in significant noise impacts along the entire length

of the express lanes because the lanes would be elevated substantially above

existing grade. Noise from traffic using these high-speed lanes would have a direct

and generally unobstructed path into adjacent areas, such areas which include

hundreds of residences. Soundwalls with heights of up to 12 feet could be

constructed on the elevated structure, but such walls would emphasize the above-

described significant visual and aesthetic impacts of this alternative.

The additional right-of-way necessary at the two ends of the express lanes is not

expected to require the acquisition of any residences or businesses.

Alternative 7: Willow Road Depressed Express Lanes with Cantilevered Frontage.

This alternative would construct depressed express lanes on Willow Road, partly

sliding the surface lanes over the top of the trench containing the express lanes,

which is presently the median of Willow Road. The cantilevering of the lanes partially

over the trench would reduce the cross-section, which in turn, would reduce right-of-

way requirements.

A substantial loss of parking along both sides of Willow Road would be largely

avoided with this alternative given the cantilever design. Further, impacts to existing

trees and landscaping would also be reduced.

Noise impacts would be largely self-mitigating because the walls of the trench would

function like soundwalls. This is based also on the fact that the lanes carrying local

traffic would not be as close to the adjacent land uses.

By depressing the express lanes, there would be no significant visual and aesthetic

impact. However, the depressed express lanes would conflict with the Hetch-Hetchy

Water Lines, which cross under Willow Road at Ivy Drive. The water lines would need

to be relocated. A trench would require a system of drains and pump stations for the

removal of stormwater, as well as to mitigate for the effects of high groundwater.



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 22

The presence of Bay muds along the alignment, soils that are relatively unstable,

means that additional measures will need to be considered for the purpose of

engineering a safe facility. Although this condition would not preclude the

construction of this alternative, the engineering solutions could be costly.

Any archaeological sites located along this corridor would likely sustain greater

impacts with a depressed alternative than with an elevated design. According to the

regional clearinghouse located at Sonoma State University, there are such sites

located in the area. However, the importance of these sites, as well as any impacts to

them, cannot be ascertained without further study.

Alternative 8: Short-Term Improvements on University Avenue. For the purpose of

improving traffic operations, Alternative 8 would consist of minor improvements on

University Avenue between Route 101 and the Bayfront Expressway. Improvements

would include the interconnection of traffic signals, signal timing modifications, and

the restriping of various turning lanes at intersections.

The environmental effects of these improvements would be negligible because the

improvements can be categorized as minor modifications to existing facilities. There

are no physical components of this alternative (e.g., street widening). The only impact

of this alternative would be a beneficial effect on traffic operations.

Alternative 8 improvements would qualify for a Class 1 (Existing Facilities)

Categorical Exemption (CE) under CEQA.

Alternative 9: University Avenue Depressed Express Lanes with Cantilevered

Frontage. This alternative would construct depressed express lanes on University

Avenue, partly sliding the surface lanes over the top of the trench containing the

express lanes. The cantilevering of the lanes partially over the trench would reduce

the cross-section, which in turn, would reduce right-of-way requirements.

Noise impacts would be largely self-mitigating because the walls of the trench would

function like soundwalls. This is based also on the fact that the lanes carrying local

traffic would not be as close to the adjacent land uses.

By depressing the express lanes, there would be no significant visual and aesthetic

impact. However, the depressed express lanes would conflict with the Hetch-Hetchy

Water Lines, which cross under University Avenue east of Bay Road. The water lines

would need to be relocated.  A trench would require a system of drains and pump

stations for the removal of stormwater, as well as to mitigate for the effects of high

groundwater.

Depending upon the footprint and design of the new ramps that will connect the

express lanes to Bayfront Expressway, some impacts to adjacent wetlands may

occur. Although such impacts would not likely be extensive, the filling of any wetlands

at this location would be significant and mitigation would be required.  Wetlands

impacts will require permits and/or coordination with the ACOE, USFWS, CDFG, and

the RWQCB.



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 23

The presence of Bay muds along the alignment, soils that are relatively unstable,

means that additional measures will need to be considered for the purpose of

engineering a safe facility.  Although this condition would not preclude the

construction of this alternative, the engineering solutions could be costly.

Any archaeological sites located along this corridor would likely sustain greater

impacts with a depressed alternative than with an elevated design. According to the

regional clearinghouse located at Sonoma State University, there are such sites

located in the area.  However, the importance of these sites, as well as any impacts

to them, cannot be ascertained without further study.

The eastern portion of this alternative appears to be within 100 feet of the shoreline

of the Bay. Therefore, a BCDC permit will likely be required.

F. Comparison of Solutions

Having completed assessments of traffic benefits, cost estimates, and potential

environmental impacts, a comparison chart was created to show contrast between the

alternatives. This comparison is summarized in Table 3.

The following points summarize observations drawn from this effort.

Highway 101 Auxiliary lanes show benefit in the northbound direction and with respect to
commute traffic on residential streets, and minimal environment impacts.

Highway 101 Express Lanes show significant travel time benefits, high costs and some
significant visual/aesthetic impacts.

Grade separations on Bayfront Expressway show benefits for traffic using Bayfront
Expressway but some disbenefit relative to commute traffic on residential streets.

Short-term improvements on Willow and University show minor traffic benefits, low cost,
and no environmental impacts.

Willow Road Express Lanes show travel time benefits and residential commute traffic
benefits; the depressed variation shows minimal environment impacts but does indicate
some potential sub-grade issues.

University Avenue Depressed Express Lanes show benefits relative to travel time and
commute traffic on residential streets, minimal environmental impacts but some potential
sub-grade impacts. Travel time benefits were found to be substantially lower than for the
Willow Road Express lanes, apparently due to the combined effect of longer arterial
length and overall surface (local access) capacity reduction.



Location Key
EPA  East Palo Alto MP Menlo Park MV Mountain View PA Palo Alto RC Redwood City

-- = No Data Available

na = not applicable

Table 3 
Comparison of Benefits, Costs and Impacts for Alternatives Studied in Detail

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

ID Code Alternative Location

Traffic Benefits Cost Estimate Summary (2006$) Potential Environmental Impacts by Alternative

Change in Vehicle 
Hours of Travel 

(Typical weekday,  
6 a.m. to 6 p.m.))

Decrease commute traffic  
on residential streets? 

(Expressed change in peak period traffic volume) Construction Cost
Right-of-Way 

Cost Support Cost
Total Project 

Cost
Visual/ 

Aesthetics Noise Biological Resources Right-of-Way Other Issues

Clarke Pulgas

1 Route 101 Auxiliary Lanes MV, PA -4,135
  -200 

 (-10%)
  -100 

 (-10%)
$57 M $20 M $28 M $105 M Negligible Impacts Minimal Impact

Possible impact at crossing of Adobe 
& Matadero Creeks

One building may be impacted at 
101/San Antonio interchange

Would likely qualify for an Mitigated 
Negative Declaration

2
Route 101 Elevated  
Express Lanes

MV, PA, EPA, 
MP, RC

-18,472 0 0 $900 M $80 M $230 M $1,210 M
Significant and 

unmitigable 
impact

Less than significant impact given 
soundwalls would be built on 
elevated structure

Possible impact at crossing of Adobe 
& Matadero Creeks

Minimal impact; no acquisition of 
businessess or residences

Major environmental issues; strong 
opposition likely; full EIR required

3
Grade Separations on  
Bayfront Expressway

EPA, MP -7,811
  +200 

 (+10%)
  +100 

 (+10%)
$180 M $67 M $86 M $333 M

Less-than-
significant impact

Less-than-significant impact Impacts to wetlands at edge of Bay
Reconfiguration of access and 
parking at Sun Microsystems

Would impact recreational trail 
along Bayfront; BCDC permit 
needed; full EIR likely required

4
Short-term operational 
improvements on Willow Road

EPA, MP minor minor minor $0.09 M $0 M $0.03 M $0.12 M None None None None
Would likely qualify for a Categorical 
Exemption

6
Willow Road Elevated  
Express Lanes

EPA, MP -4,945
  -100 
 (-5%)

  -100 
 (-10%)

$96 M $33 M $46 M $175 M
Significant and 

unmitigable 
impact

Significant impact; would require 
soundwalls on elevated structure

Less-than-significant impact
Minimal impact; no acquisition of 
businessess or residences

Major environmental issues; strong 
opposition likely; full EIR required

7
Willow Road Depressed/
Cantilevered Express Lanes

EPA, MP Same as Alt 6 Same as Alt 6 Same as Alt 6 $230 M $33 M $110 M $373 M
Less-than-

significant impact
Less-than-significant impact Less-than-significant impact

Minimal impact; no acquisition of 
businessess or residences

Would impact Hetch- Hetchy 
pipelines; presence of Bay mud will 
affect trench design/cost; trench 
will need a system for dewatering of 
storm water & groundwater; full EIR 
may be required

8
Short-term operational 
improvements on  
University Avenue

EPA minor minor minor $0.18 M $0 M $0.09 M $0.27 M None None None None
Would likely qualify for a Categorical 
Exemption

9
University Avenue Depressed/
Cantilevered Express Lanes

EPA -1,313
  -200 

 (-10%)
  -200 

 (-20%)
$440 M $64 M $200 M $704 M

Less-than-
significant impact

Less-than-significant impact
Some impact to wetlands at edge 
of Bay

Minimal impact; no acquisition of 
businessess or residences

Would impact Hetch- Hetchy 
pipelines; presence of Bay mud will 
affect trench design/cost; trench 
will need a system for dewatering of 
storm water & groundwater; full EIR 
may be required



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 24

One more measure was created to provide a preliminary indication of benefits versus costs.

In this case, a ratio of 12 hour travel time benefits to $ million of total cost was calculated for

the high-capital alternatives. The results of the calculations are summarized in the table

below (number shown is the ratio of 12 hour travel time benefits to total alternative cost).

ESTIMATED BENEFITS PER $ MILLION OF TOTAL COST

ALTERNATIVE DESCRIPTION BENEFITS

PER $M
TOTAL

COST1

1 Highway 101 Auxiliary Lanes and Interchange Improvements 40

2 Highway 101 Elevated Express Lanes 15

3 Grade Separations at Bayfront/Willow and Bayfront/University 23

6 Elevated Express Lanes on Willow Road 28

7 Depressed/Cantilevered Express Lanes on Willow Road 13

9 Depressed/Cantilevered Express Lanes on University

Avenue

 2

1 Value is the ratio of [change in vehicle travel time over 12 hours] to [total project cost in $M].



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 25

III. Findings and Next Steps

A. Findings

Several improvements were defined and evaluated that would address the Study Goals.

One project, Highway 101 Auxiliary Lanes, is now under project development based on the

analysis conducted in this Study. The two Short-Term Operational Improvements are

considered very positive and worthy of early implementation with fairly small investments.

Each of the projects in the “Universe of Alternatives” has been developed to the level of

understanding necessary to complete the assessment of traffic benefit, level of cost, potential

impacts due to visual, noise, environmental and right-of-way. With this information a

prioritization process called next steps was undertaken and ideas for a Phase 2 study were

documented.

B.  Next Steps

The project sponsors were asked to comment on their desire regarding the next step for each

of the 71 alternatives. The consensus was to place each alternative improvement into one of

the following categories.

1. An opinion that the alternative should be referred to a specific agency and not

considered directly by this group. This will require a follow-up and monitoring process

to help maintain progress toward implementation.

2. An opinion that the alternative needed to proceed to Project Development and
preliminary design. Project Development means that the project has sufficient
support to proceed to a project study report in which alternatives and costs are
further defined. Further categorization reflected the importance of certain projects in
terms of implementation timing. If short-term development is desired, monies will
need to be found to pursue the project. If long-term development is desired, then
project funding is not as imminently necessary.

3. An opinion that the alternative should be studied further in Phase 2 of this study.
Phase 2 study means that additional information is needed now to be able to make a
recommendation to further develop this project concept. It may require some
alternatives to be further developed, including deriving specific cost estimates or
benefit/cost assessments, prior to recommending it for further development.

4. An opinion that the alternative should to be studied further before making an opinion
as to whether to begin project development. There is not enough information about
the project at this point to be able to refer it as a specific project for short-term or
long-term development. This too may require some alternatives to be further
developed, including deriving specific cost estimates or benefit/cost assessments,
prior to recommending it for further development. This opinion was not an indication
that there was not enough interest to promote this project concept to a Phase 2 study
as a group; rather, it indicated a lower priority than improvements placed in Category
3.



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 26

5. An opinion that the alternative was not in keeping with the study objectives and

should be removed from consideration by this group.

After the sponsors determined that there was sufficient information to share with the TAC,

the same exercise was repeated with the TAC. Knowing the TAC’s suggested

categorization, the same exercise was performed for the PAC without sharing the TAC’s

opinions. The results were summarized in a second session with the PAC and the TAC

reconciled the findings where there had been differences. The final results of this

categorization process, based on feedback from the PAC, are summarized in the next

section of this report.

C.  Categorization

The TAC and PAC completed categorizing the 71 projects identified in the “Universe of
Alternatives.” One project has already been forwarded to Project Development. Several other
projects are being recommended for Project Development. The “Universe of Alternatives” has
been categorized as shown in Table 4.

Table 4

CATEGORIZATION RESULTS

ID CATEGORY 1 IMPROVEMENTS COMMENT

A Route 101 Auxiliary Lanes Referred to VTA; Studied as
Alternative 1

D1 Widen freeway to 10 lanes (County Line to Shoreline) Referred to VTA

I Extend Bayfront Expressway to Woodside Road Referred to Redwood City

BB Pedestrian Overcrossing at Ivy Dr. (Willow Road) Referred to Menlo Park

YY Install transit signal priority to support high-patronage bus routes Referred to VTA and
SamTrans

G Improve local access across Highway 101 Intent is to separate local and
regional traffic using existing
interchanges and address
pedestrian and bicycle
linkages across 101

ID CATEGORY 2 IMPROVEMENTS COMMENT

Q Signal timing during peak travel periods (Willow) Studied as Alternative 4

R Prohibit left turns during peak travel periods (Willow)

T Exit/entrance right turn pockets on Willow (Willow)

HH Signal timing during peak travel periods (University) Studied as Alternative 8



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 27

II Prohibit left turns during peak travel periods (University)

KK Exit/entrance right turn pockets on Willow (University)

XX Install traffic signal interconnect/communications infrastructure
between Middlefield Road and Highway 101

ZZ Install trailblazers and/or arterial CMS to provide route guidance
information

AAA Prepare Incident Management and Traveler Information Plan for
Corridor

BBB Study the possible designation or East Bayshore (San Antonio to
University) as reliever route to provide congestion relief and for
incident management on Highway 101

CCC 1 Improve 101/University Interchange – Construct Phase 2
Improvements

CCC 2 Improve 101/University Interchange – Improve on-off connections for
northbound traffic

DDD Define residential traffic management elements that complement
high-priority capital improvements

ID CATEGORY 3 IMPROVEMENTS COMMENT

B Reconstruct Embarcadero/Oregon Interchange

C Reconstruct San Antonio Interchange Included in study with
Alternative 1

H Grade separations at Bayfront/Willow and Bayfront/University Studied as Alternative 3;
consider both together and
separate.

J Construct direct flyover connection between Bayfront/Marsh and
Highway 101 north of Marsh

DD 1 Depressed express lanes : 2 lanes each direction (Willow)

DD 2 Depressed express lanes : 1 lane each direction (Willow)

DD 3 Depressed express lanes : Reversible 2 lanes (Willow)

DD 4 Depressed express lanes : 3 lanes with reversible middle lane
(Willow)

FF Tunnel express lanes (maintain existing surface street) (Willow)

GG Modified depressed express lanes: 1 lane each direction (surface
street cantilevered inboard to minimize frontage impacts) (Willow)

Studied as Alternative 7

TT 1 Depressed express lanes : 2 lanes each direction (University)

TT 2 Depressed express lanes : 1 lane each direction (University)

TT 3 Depressed express lanes : Reversible 2 lanes (University)



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 28

TT 4 Depressed express lanes : 3 lanes with reversible middle lane
(University)

VV Tunnel express lanes (maintain existing surface street) (University)

WW Modified depressed express lanes: 1 lane each direction (surface
street cantilevered inboard to minimize frontage impacts)
(University)

Studied as Alternative 9

ID CATEGORY 5 IMPROVEMENTS COMMENT

D2 Widen Highway 101 to 10 Lanes plus Auxiliary Lanes  (County Line
to Shoreline)

E Widen Highway 101 to 10 Lanes plus Auxiliary Lanes (Whipple to
County Line)

F Build elevated lanes above Highway 101 from Woodside Road to
Route 85/Highway 101 North Interchange Conform

Studied as Alternative 2

L Elevated roadway along Dumbarton Rail Corridor between University
and Highway 101

M New Route 84 to Highway 101 Connection through East Palo Alto
(surface expressway through East Palo Alto)

N New Route 84 to Highway 101 Connection skirting East Palo Alto
(expressway viaduct along edge of Bay)

O Tunnel beneath East Palo Alto (University Ave. to Highway 101)

S Prohibit local cross traffic during peak periods (Willow)

U Set back curb line one land width from current traveled way at
driveways(Willow)

V Eliminate driveway access (Willow)

W Eliminate selected signalized intersections: Newbridge, Ivy, and
Hamilton (Willow)

X Eliminate signalized intersections and allow right turns only at
intersections (Willow)

Y Eliminate signalized intersections and prohibit any access from local
streets (Willow)

Z Widen Willow Road one lane in each direction

AA Grade separations at selected intersections:  Newbridge, Ivy, and
Hamilton (Willow)

CC 1 Elevated viaduct express lanes: 2 lanes in each direction (Willow)

CC 2 Elevated viaduct express lanes: 1 lane in each direction (Willow)



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008 Page 29

CC 3 Elevated viaduct express lanes: Reversible2 lanes (Willow)

CC 4 Elevated viaduct express lanes: 3 lanes with reversible middle lane
(Willow)

EE Grade separations at all intersections (over crossings or
undercrossings) (Willow)

JJ Prohibit local cross traffic during peak periods (University)

LL Set back curb line one lane width from current traveled way at
driveways (University)

MM Eliminate driveway access (University)

NN Eliminate selected signalized intersections: Bell, Runnymede,
Kavanaugh (University)

OO Eliminate signalized intersections and allow right turns only at
intersections (University)

PP Eliminate signalized intersections and prohibit any access from local
streets (University)

QQ Widen University Avenue one lane in each direction

RR Grade separations at selected intersections:  Donohoe, Bay
(University)

SS 1 Elevated viaduct express lanes: 2 lanes in each direction (University)

SS 2 Elevated viaduct express lanes: 1 lane in each direction (University)

SS 3 Elevated viaduct express lanes: Reversible2 lanes (University)

SS 4 Elevated viaduct express lanes: 3 lanes with reversible middle lane
(University)

UU Grade separations at all intersections (over crossings or under
crossings (University)

EEE Extend Central Expressway to Sand Hill Road

D. Phase 2 Activities

The study sponsors are presently developing an Action Plan that provides a framework for

advancing projects to implementation and further project development (engineering analysis).

Projects that are being considered for Implementation include “Smart Corridors” that are

geared toward managing traffic flows and managing incidents, operational improvements on

Willow Road and University Avenue (in both cases, east of Highway 101), minor interchange

improvements, and residential traffic management. Projects that are being considered for

further engineering analysis include interchange reconstructions and expansions, grade-

separated intersections, and express lanes.



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008

Acknowledgements
The study sponsors are grateful for the participation and contributions by the following current and former
members of the PAC and TAC.

Agency Policy Advisory
Committee

Technical Advisory
Committee

Current Members

City of Atherton James Janz Duncan Jones

City of East Palo Alto Patricia Foster Anthony Docto

City of Menlo Park John Boyle Kent Steffens
Chip Taylor

City of Mountain View Greg Perry Mike Vroman

City of Palo Alto Yoriko Kishimoto Gayle Likens
Shahla Yazdy

City of Redwood City Alicia Aguirre Chu Chang
Rich Haygood

Caltrans Bijan Sartipi Erik Alm
Zachary Chop
Gene Gonzalo
Lance Hall
David Seriani
Lee Taubeneck

Mid Peninsula Regional Open Space
District

Nonette Hanko
Larry Hassett

Ana Ruiz

Metropolitan Transportation
Commission

Sue Lempert Danielle Stanislaus

San Mateo County Transportation
Authority

Rich Gordon Joe Hurley
Pat Dixon

Silicon Valley Manufacturing Group Catherine Tompkison-Graham
Paul Shepard

Valley Transportation Authority Scott Haywood Murali Ramanujam

City/County Association of
Governments

Rose Jacobs-Gibson Richard Napier
Sandy Wong
John Hoang
Jim Bigelow



Final Report

2020 PENINSULA GATEWAY CORRIDOR STUDY

July 29, 2008

Former Members

City of East Palo Alto Duane Bay

City of Menlo Park Nicholas Jellins
Mickie Winkler

City of Mountain View Nick Galiotto
Tom Means

City of Palo Alto Dena Mossar Joe Kott

City of Redwood City Ira Ruskin

Metropolitan Transportation
Commission

John McLemore Jeff Georgevich
Doug Johnson

San Mateo County Transportation
Authority

Ira Ruskin Shahla Yazdy

Valley Transportation Authority David Casas
Breene Kerr

Carolyn Gonot

City/County Association of
Governments

Walter Martone



2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study

Final Report

Appendices (on enclosed CD)
A: Data Collection and Existing Conditions

 B: Public Input
 C: Conceptual Definition & Engineering of Alternatives
 D: Conceptual Cost Estimates
 E: Travel Forecasting
 F: ALPS Modeling Assumptions

Prepared for:

Prepared by:

July 29, 2008



Public Works 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

STAFF REPORT 

City Council  
Meeting Date:  7/19/2016 
Staff Report Number: 16-126-CC 

Informational Item: Update on the Oak Grove Avenue, Crane Street, and 
University Drive bicycle improvement project  

Recommendation 
This is an informational item and does not require City Council action. 

Policy Issues 
On February 9, 2016, the City Council approved the 2016 Work Plan. On May 3, 2016, City Council 
provided direction to amend the Work Plan to prioritize evaluation of bicycle improvements on Oak Grove 
Avenue, Crane Street and University Drive.  This Project is also consistent with the policies stated in the 
1994 City General Plan Circulation Element. These policies seek to maintain a circulation system using 
the Roadway Classification System that will provide for a safe and efficient movement of people and 
goods throughout Menlo Park for residential and commercial purposes. 

Background 
In 2015, the Bicycle Commission proposed inclusion of a new priority project in the Commission’s two-year 
work plan. The proposed project was to identify a key bicycle route connection to provide access to key 
destinations in the City, including schools, the downtown, and connecting residential neighborhoods. The 
resulting project proposal for bicycle improvements to Oak Grove Avenue was developed, and presented to 
the City Council in a joint meeting with the Transportation Commission on January 26, 2016, and again to 
the City Council in a regular meeting on April 12, 2016.  

On May 3, 2016, the City Council provided direction to amend the Work Plan to prioritize evaluation of 
bicycle improvements on Oak Grove Avenue, Crane Street and University Drive.  A link to the staff report 
from May 3 is provided in Attachment A (as a hyperlink).  

Analysis 
Following City Council approval, staff initiated work on developing a work plan for the project and budgeting 
resources into the 2016-17 budget. As a first task, staff identified potential bicycle planning and design firms 
that could assist with the work in order to expedite the planning and design. Staff reviewed qualifications of 
firms that have completed past projects with the City, and requested a proposal from Alta Planning & 
Design to assist with this effort. Alta is a national leading transportation planning firm with expertise in 
complete streets projects, especially those involving bicycle and pedestrian improvements.  

Staff worked with Alta to develop a scope of work, schedule, and fee estimate for the project. It is 
anticipated that installation would occur in two phases: the first phase within the City’s jurisdiction, and the 
second crossing at El Camino Real. Caltrans has jurisdiction over El Camino Real (State Route 82), and 

AGENDA ITEM J-3

http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10127


Staff Report #: 16-126-CC 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

Caltrans review and approval is needed to make changes to Oak Grove Avenue as it approaches El 
Camion Real. The scope of work includes planning and design support for the first phase, with an optional 
future task for the second phase. The proposed task list includes: 
 
1. Project Management 
2. Data Collection 
3. Existing Conditions  
4. Needs Assessment 
5. Prepare Concept Plans & Cost Estimate 
6. Stakeholder Meetings 
7. Council Review 
 
This scope would allow the project to advance forward with conceptual level-design and cost estimates 
before advancing to detailed engineering level design. Staff anticipates concept plans would include bicycle 
lanes in both directions along the route. Considering the limited roadway width available, Alta will determine 
if parking removal is required on one or both sides of the corridor as concept plans are developed.  
Community engagement is anticipated to include targeted meetings with affected stakeholders (e.g., 
Chamber of Commerce and downtown businesses, Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and Nativity School) 
and electronic communication and materials (including a video, concept plans, and project website to 
facilitate feedback). Staff anticipates Council review and approval of concept plans prior to advancing into 
detailed design. Adequate funds for this phase are incorporated into the 2016-17 budget.  

Proposed Project Schedule & Future Tasks 
The proposed project schedule is summarized in Table 1 below, beginning in July 2016. It is anticipated that 
concept plans could be brought forward for review by City Council in October 2016. At that time, staff also 
anticipates bringing forward a request to allocate funds for design and construction and to authorize the City 
Manager to enter into agreements for design plans.  
 
Following City Council review and approval, future tasks are anticipated to include preparation of design 
plans, awarding a construction contract, and construction as described below. On this schedule, staff 
anticipates that weather-pending, the project could be operational by spring 2017, in time for Bike Month 
(May) events such as Bike to Work Day. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 1: Proposed Project Schedule 

 Task Schedule 

1 Project Management Ongoing 

2 Data Collection July – August 2016 

3 Existing Conditions July – August 2016 

4 Needs Assessment  July – August 2016 

5 Prepare Concept Plans and Cost Estimate August – September 2016 

6 Stakeholder Meetings September 2016 

7 Council Review October 2016 

 Future Tasks Estimated Schedule 

8 Prepare Design Plans October – December 2016 

9 Award Construction Contract January 2017 

10 Construction February – April 2017 



Staff Report #: 16-126-CC 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.org 

 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 

Attachments 
A. Staff Report from May 3, 2016 City Council Meeting (menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10127) 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Nicole H. Nagaya, P.E., Transportation Manager 
 

http://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/10127


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



L E AG U r 1400 K Street, Suite 400 • Sacramento, California 95814
Phone: 916.658.8200 Fax: 916.658.8240

()F CALf FORNIA

C I T I E S
www.cacities.org

Council Action Advised by July 31, 2016

June 10, 2016

TO: Mayors, City Managers and City Clerks

RE: DESIGNATION OF VOTING DELEGATES AND ALTERNATES
League of California Cities Annual Conference — October 5 — 7, Long Beach

The League’s 2016 Annual Conference is scheduled for October 5 — 7 in Long Beach. An
important part of the Annual Conference is the Annual Business Meeting (during General
Assembly), scheduled for noon on Friday, October 7, at the Long Beach Convention Center. At
this meeting, the League membership considers and takes action on resolutions that establish
League policy.

In order to vote at the Annual Business Meeting, your city council must designate a voting
delegate. Your city may also appoint up to two alternate voting delegates, one of whom may vote
in the event that the designated voting delegate is unable to serve in that capacity.

Please complete the attached Voting Delegate form and return it to the League’s office
no later than Friday, September 23, 2016. This will allow us time to establish voting
delegate/alternate records prior to the conference.

Please note the following procedures that are intended to ensure the integrity of the voting
process at the Annual Business Meeting.

Action by Council Required. Consistent with League bylaws, a city’s voting delegate
and up to two alternates must be designated by the city council. When completing the
attached Voting Delegate form, please attach either a copy of the council resolution that
reflects the council action taken, or have your city clerk or mayor sign the form affirming
that the names provided are those selected by the city council. Please note that
designating the voting delegate and alternates must be done by city council action and
cannot be accomplished by individual action of the mayor or city manager alone.

• Conference Registration Required. The voting delegate and alternates must be
registered to attend the conference. They need not register for the entire conference; they
may register for Friday only. To register for the conference, please go to our website:
www.cacities.org. In order to cast a vote, at least one voter must be present at the

AGENDA ITEM L-1



Business Meeting and in possession of the voting delegate card. Voting delegates and
alternates need to pick up their conference badges before signing in and picking up
the voting delegate card at the Voting Delegate Desk. This will enable them to receive
the special sticker on their name badges that will admit them into the voting area during
the Business Meeting.

• Transferring Voting Card to Non-Designated Individuals Not Allowed. The voting
delegate card may be transferred freely between the voting delegate and alternates, but
only between the voting delegate and alternates. If the voting delegate and alternates find
themselves unable to attend the Business Meeting, they may not transfer the voting card
to another city official.

• Seating Protocol during General Assembly. At the Business Meeting, individuals with
the voting card will sit in a separate area. Admission to this area will be limited to those
individuals with a special sticker on their name badge identifying them as a voting delegate
or alternate. If the voting delegate and alternates wish to sit together, they must sign in at
the Voting Delegate Desk and obtain the special sticker on their badges.

The Voting Delegate Desk, located in the conference registration area of the Long Beach
Convention Center, will be open at the following times: Wednesday, October 5, 8:00 a.m. — 6:00
p.m.; Thursday, October 6, 7:00 a.m. — 4:00 p.m.; and Friday, October 7, 7:30—10:00 a.m. The
Voting Delegate Desk will also be open at the Business Meeting on Friday, but will be closed
during roll calls and voting.

The voting procedures that will be used at the conference are attached to this memo. Please
share these procedures and this memo with your council and especially with the individuals that
your council designates as your city’s voting delegate and alternates.

Once again, thank you for completing the voting delegate and alternate form and returning it to
the League office by Friday, September 23. If you have questions, please call Kayla Gibson at
(916) 658-8247.

Attachments:
• Annual Conference Voting Procedures
• Voting Delegate/Alternate Form



Annual Conference Voting Procedures

1. One City One Vote. Each member city has a right to cast one vote on matters pertaining to
League policy.

2. Designating a City Voting Representative. Prior to the Annual Conference, each city
council may designate a voting delegate and up to two alternates; these individuals are
identified on the Voting Delegate Form provided to the League Credentials Committee.

3. Registering with the Credentials Committee. The voting delegate, or alternates, may
pick up the city’s voting card at the Voting Delegate Desk in the conference registration
area. Voting delegates and alternates must sign in at the Voting Delegate Desk. Here they
will receive a special sticker on their name badge and thus be admitted to the voting area at
the Business Meeting.

4. Signing Initiated Resolution Petitions. Only those individuals who are voting delegates
(or alternates), and who have picked up their city’s voting card by providing a signature to
the Credentials Committee at the Voting Delegate Desk, may sign petitions to initiate a
resolution.

5. Voting. To cast the city’s vote, a city official must have in his or her possession the city’s
voting card and be registered with the Credentials Committee. The voting card may be
transferred freely between the voting delegate and alternates, but may not be transferred to
another city official who is neither a voting delegate or alternate.

6. Voting Area at Business Meeting. At the Business Meeting, individuals with a voting card
will sit in a designated area. Admission will be limited to those individuals with a special
sticker on their name badge identifying them as a voting delegate or alternate.

7. Resolving Disputes. In case of dispute, the Credentials Committee will determine the
validity of signatures on petitioned resolutions and the right of a city official to vote at the
Business Meeting.



LEAGUE
OF CALIFORNIA

CITIES

Please complete this form and return it to the League office by Friday, September 23, 2016.
Forms not sent by this deadline may be submitted to the Voting Delegate Desk located in
the Annual Conference Registration Area. Your city council may designate one votin2
delegate and up to two alternates.

In order to vote at the Annual Business Meeting (General Assembly), voting delegates and alternates must
be designated by your city council. Please attach the council resolution as proof of designation. As an
alternative, the Mayor or City Clerk may sign this form, affirming that the designation reflects the action
taken by the council.

Please note: Voting delegates and alternates will be seated in a separate area at the Annual Business
Meeting. Admission to this designated area will be limited to individuals (voting delegates and
alternates) who are identified with a special sticker on their conference badge. This sticker can be
obtained only at the Voting Delegate Desk.

1. VOTING DELEGATE

Name:

_________________________________

Title:

2. VOTING DELEGATE - ALTERNATE

Name:

Title:

Name:

3. VOTING DELEGATE - ALTERNATE

Name:

Title:

Mayor or City Clerk
(ciróle one)

Date:

_____________

League of California Cities
ATTN: Kayla Gibson
1400 K Street, 4th Floor
Sacramento, CA 95814

FAX: (916) 658-8240
E-mail: kgibsoncacities.org
(916) 658-8247

2016 ANNUAL CONFERENCE
VOTING DELEGATE/ALTERNATE FORM

PLEASE ATTACH COUNCIL RESOLUTION DESIGNATING VOTING DELEGATE
AND ALTERNATES.

OR

ATTEST: I affirm that the information provided reflects action by the city council to
designate the voting delegate and alternate(s).

E-mail

(signature)
Phone:

Please complete and return by Friday, September 23, 2016


	F1 - Study Session on Nexus Studies - ALL
	H1 - Wells 2 & 3 Consultant Agreement - All
	H2 - Staff Report State Contract 2016-17 - ALL
	H3 - Staff Report Cardinal - All
	ATT A - Cardinal Agreement.pdf
	Exhibit A Cardinal Rules Adult Basketball 16-17.pdf
	Sheet1

	Exhibit B Cardinal Rules youth volleyball and hoops 16-17.pdf
	Sheet1



	H4 - Aircraft Noise resolution - ALL
	H5 - Salary Schedule Amendment Staff Report  - ALL
	H6 - Minutes - All
	I1 - ConnectMenlo and Facebook Schedule
	I2 - FB Campus Expansion Project (301-309 Constitution) DA Term Sheet
	I3 - Station 1300 Public Benefit - ALL
	J1 - City Crosswalk Policy Info Item - ALL
	J2 - Willow Road Study - ALL
	Att A - 2020 Peninsula Gateway Corridor Study.pdf
	Final Report 072908 word text v3 DW.pdf
	I.The Problem and Potential Solutions
	A. Study Objectives
	B. Definition of Problem
	C. Future “No-Build” Conditions
	D.  Public Outreach
	E. Development of Universe of Potential Solutions
	F. Assessment of Universe of Potential Solutions

	II.Detailed Evaluation of Certain Solutions
	A. Definition and Engineering of Solutions
	B. Concept Level Cost Estimates
	C. Future Traffic Forecasts
	D. Traffic Benefits
	E. Potential Environmental and Social Impacts
	F. Comparison of Solutions
	III.Findings and Next Steps
	A.Findings
	B.  Next Steps
	C.  Categorization
	D. Phase 2 Activities

	Acknowledgements
	Final Report 072908 DW 34.pdf
	Final Report 072908 DW 35.pdf
	Final Report 072908 DW 37.pdf
	Final Report 072908 DW 39.pdf
	Final Report 072908 DW 41.pdf


	Final Report 072908 appendices page temp v3.pdf


	J3 - Oak Grove Bike Blvd - ALL
	L1 -LCC Voting Delegate

